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STATE OF NEW HAMPSHIRE

DEPARTMENT OF HEALTH AND HUMAN SERVICES

mWHAMPSHIRE HOSPITAL

36 CLINTON STREET, CONCORD, NH 03301
603-271-5300 1-800-852-3345 Ext. 5300

Fax: 603-271-5395 TDD Access: 1-800-735-2964

www.-dbhs.nh.gov

April 18, 2025

Her Excellency, Governor Kelly A. Ayotte
and the Honorable Council

State House

Concord, New Hampshire 03301

REQUESTED ACTION

Authorize the Department of Health and Human Services, New Hampshire Hospital, to
enter into an amendment to an existing contract with Mary Hitchcock Memorial Hospital (VC
#177160), Lebanon, NH. which was a result of a competitive procurement, for the provision of
Neuropsychology Services at New Hampshire Hospital (NHH), including the planned New
Hampshire Hospital High Security Unit, by exercising a contract renewal option by increasing the
price limitation by $253,639 from $682,374 to $936,013 and extending the completion date from
June 30, 2025 to June 30, 2027, effective upon Governor and Counci! approval. 30% General
Funds. 70% Other Funds (Provider Fees and Agency Income).

The original agreement was approved by the Governor and Executive Council on March
23, 2022 (Item #32) and amended on May 31, 2023 (Item #38).

Funds are anticipated to be available in the following accounts in State Fiscal Years 2026
and 2027, upon the availability and continued appropriation of funds in the future operating
budget, with the authority to adjust budget line Items within the price limitation and encufnbrances
between state fiscal years through the Budget Office, if needed and justified.

05-95-94-940010-87500000 HEALTH AND SOCIAL SERVICES, HEALTH AND HUMAN

SERVICES DEFT OF, HHS: NEW HAMPSHIRE HOSPITAL, NEW HAMPSHIRE HOSPITAL,
ACUTE PSYCHIATRIC SERVICES

State

Fiscal

Year

Class /

Account
Class Title

Job

Number

Current

Budget

Increased

(Decreased)
Amount

Revised

Budget

2022
102-

500731

Contracts for

Operation Services
94058000 $108,192 $0 $108,192

2023
102-

500731

Contracts for

Operation Services
94058000 $334,313 $0 $334,313

2024
102-

500731

Contracts for

Operation Services
94058000 $117,009 $0 $117,009
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2025
102-. ■

500731

Contracts for.

Operation Services
:94K8b0O'

& «

■  ,$122,860 >  $0 $:122.860-

2026
102-

500731 ■

Contracts for

Operation Services
94058000 $0' ,  $124,945 $124,945

2027
.102-

500731 ■

Contracts for

Operation Services
.94058000 $o' $128,694 $128,694

..

Total $682,374 $253,639 $936,013

EXPLANATION

The purpose of this request is to exercise a renewal option for the Contractor to continue
.  - to deliver neuropsychology services to patients at New Hampshire Hospital and the High Security

-.Unit, when it opens. The Contractor will continue-to provide a 0.5 full-time equivalent
■  neuropsycholpgist who Is physically present at New Hampshire Hospital Monday through Friday

during normal business" • hours." unless othenvise approved by- the Department. ■ The
neuropsychologlst will continue to meet with inpatient. patients to conduct neuropsychological

'.assessments and testing, analyze results of neuropsychology assessments, and ;cbmplete
reports. ' ' • '

The. Contractor will continue to support the Department with the developing arid refining
ari integrated mental health care system within NHH. by applying principles of managed'care for

■  ' clinical treatment. . ■

■  Approxirriately 1,000 patients will be served each state fiscal year through June 30, 2027.

The Department will continue to monitor services by. reviewing patient neuropsychology
progress and summary reports, and monthly, staff reports provided by the Contractor."

.. .. .. , As referenced in Exhibit A, Revisions'to Standard Agreement Provisions, bf the original.
agreement,_the parties have the option to extend the agreement for up to six (6) additional years,.

.  bpntingent upon satisfactory delivery of services, available funding, agreement of the parties and
'; • Gbvernor and Council approval. The Department is exercising Its option to renew services for two

(2) years ofthe remaining four (4) years available. ,

Should the Governor and Council, not authorize this request, the Department's "ability, to
'provide essential neuropsychology services to patients at NHH, including the planned NHH High
'Security Unit,.will-be severely limited, putting patients at serious risk. ■ ' - ' ■ " ■

•  Area served: Statewide.

Respectfully^bmitted,

ifA. Weaver

Commissioner

Lo

■L--V' •
-.A.'

Tfie Department ofHealth and Human Services'Mission is'to join communities and families
\inprovidingopportunities for citizens toachieveheallhand independence. '



Oocusign Envelope ID: F675867A-7806-422C-A080-A6F1124E7A7C

State of New Hampshire
Department of Health and Human Services
'  ' Amendment#2

'^This Amendment to the Neuropsychology Services, contract is by and between the State of New'
Hampshire, Department of Health and Human ServicesX'State" or "Department") and Mary Hitchcock

" '.Memoriai Hospita! {"the Contractor").

Whereas, pursuant to an agreement (the "Contract''«)-appTOwetl iby the Governor and. Executive Council
on March 23, 2022 (Item #32),-as amended on May 31;;2023 (item #38), the Contractor agreed to perform
certain services based upon the terms and conditions-r^clfied in the Contract as amended and in
consideration of certain sums specified: and - .

WHEREAS, pursuant to Form P-37, General.Provisions.^the Goritract.may be amended upon written
agreement of the parties and approval from the'GovernoT3ncl!E7(ebutive Council; and

NOW THEREFORE, in consideration of the foregoing and ttsewiutual covenants and conditions contained
in the Contract and set forth herein, the parties hereto agree lo.amend as follows:

'  1. Form P-37 General Provisions, Block 1:7, Completion Date, to read: •

■' , June 30,2027. , • ' ' *
•  tv 2. Form P-37, General Provisions, Block 1..8, PriceiLimltatioh, to read: ,

■  • ■ ^ $936,013 - ' ■
■' '3.. Modify, Exhibit B Amendment #1, Scope of. Services, by replacing it in its entirety with Exhibit B

' Amendment #2, Scope of Services, which is attached hereto and incorporated by reference herein,

'  4. Modify Exhibit C, Payment Terms; Section 1. to read:

■  "1. This Agreement is funded by: . .
-1.1. 35.4% General funds. .

■  . • 1.2!'64.6% Other funds (Provider Fees,and Agency Income). ,

" 5. "Modify Exhibit C, Payment Ternhs, Section 3, to read
.  3. The Contractor shall provide services- under this Agreement based on the Budget below per

applicable State Fiscal Year.-The Contractor shallbe compensated to provide and deliver the
'  . , : services described in Exhibit B, Amendment,#2, Scope of Services, on the basis of.this Budget.

'^ !■; ■ Budget' ' - ■ ' , ;
" . Agreement.Perjod by. State Fiscal Year •.

■  :-SFY-2022 (3/1/2022-6/30/2022)

■ $108,192 , ■ .
SPY 2023 (7/1/2022-6/30/2023)

$334,313

SFY 2024 (7/1/2023-6/30/2024)

$117,009

SFY 2025 (7/1/2024-6/30/2025)

$122,860

SFY 2026 (7/1/2025-6/30/2026)

$124,945

SFY 2027 (7/1/2026-6/30/2027)

$128,694

6. Modify Exhibit C, Payrhent Terms, Sections 9 and 10, to read:
9. The Contractor must provide the services, in Exhibit-B, Amendment #2, Scope of Services, in

compliance with funding requirements. , ^

10. The Contractor agrees that funding under this Agreement may be withheld, in whole or in part,
in the event of non-compliance vyith the-terms and .conditions of Exhibit B, Amendmerit #2,
Scope of Services. ■ ' • ■ „ ■

'  ' ■ A-S-1.3 ■ ' .
■  . , ' ,iPage'1,.of.4

3/31/202

Mary Hitchcock Mernorial Hospital '

RFP-2022-NHH-02-NEURO-01-A02
./y. 7.12.23 , 5



Docusign Envelope ID: F675867A-7806-422C-A080-A6F1124E7A7C

.1. Modify Exhibit C, Payment Terms, Section 14.1.1, to read: ■

.  14.1.1 The Contractor and Department agree that the Contractor's failure to provide required
J. ' staffing, required services, tmeel the ■ peTfOTmance • standards and reporting

■  requirements as described jri Exhibit B, Amendment#2, Scope of Services, shall result
;  ' in liquidated damages. • • .

8. Modify Exhibit-C; Payment Termsi'Section 14.1^1, to read:

14.1.2.1 It will be extremely impracticable Brad :riifficult .ito deteTimiTiie-actual damages that the
- ■ ■ - , ' Departrhent will sustain in'The-event thatvthe Contractor breaches this Agreement by

.- . .V failing to maintain the required«taffiTngtleKelsonbylfeilirag tO:deliver the required services,
as described in Exhibit B, AmendmeratlS2,Sco,pepfSeivices:

,9. ;Modify Exhibit 0, Paym'entTerms, S8Gtipns.s14;3.'^Uhroqgh i14-3.4„ito<read: " "

14.3.1. Liquidated damages, if assessed,:shairi3ein.the amount of $1,000 per day.for each day
"  . ■' the Contractor fails to meet the ■geraerar and specific service requirements for each

■  . . Service Area as identified in Exhibit-Bj Amendment #2, Scope'of Services.

14.3.2: Liquidated damages, if assessed, shall be in the amount of $1,000 per day for each day^
'  . ' the Contractor fails to meet and imairatain the staffing levels identified in Exhibit B,

Amendment #2, Scope of Services.

■  ' 14.3.3. Liquidated damages, if assessed, shall be'.in the amount of $1,000 per day foreach day
the Contractor falls to meet the performance standards identified in Exhibit B,

' Amendment #2, Scope of Services.

14.3.4. Liquidated damages, if assessed, shall be in the amount of $1,000 per day for each day
i  the Contractor fails to meet the reporting requifemerits identified in Exhibit B, Amendment

#2, Scope of Services. . "
10.;Modify Exhibit C, Payment Terms, Section 14.5.1, to read:;

'•• • 14.5.1 The Contractor shajl be liable to the Departrnent for any losses incurred by,the Department
.  ' , ' . .which arise out of the failure of Contractor staff to provide the required documentation to

support medical necessity as identified in Exhibit B, Amendment #2, Scope of Services;-

y.

Mary Hitchcock Memorial Hospital

RFP-2022-NHH-02-NEURO-01 ■A02
V. 7.12.23

A-S-1 .-3

Page 2 of 4
3/31/2025



Docusign Envelope ID; F675867A-7806-422C-A080-A6F1124E7A7C

All terms and conditions of the Contract^and prior arnendments not modified by this Amendment remain"
in full force and effect. This Amendment shall be effective upon Governor and Council approval.,'

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have set their hands as of the date written below,' • . -

■  ; " • State of New iHaVrrpshire • . • '
.  „ Department ofTlealth and Human Services : . .

3/31/2025

Date

*DocuSi0ntd by:

jgpfl^FciEsbieen Marie Lapointe

Title. chief Executive Officer

Mary Hitchcock Memorial Hospital

3/31/2025

Date. •

■DoeuSigned by;

Merrens, MD

Title: chief clinical officer

j^./Mary Hitchcock Memorial Hospital • •

-A 'RFP-2d22-NHH-02-NEURO-01-A02
• V, 7:12.23 . ^

A;S-1.3-.
Page 3 of 4*-



Docusign Envelope ID: F675867A-7806-422C-A080-A6F1124E7A7C

The preceding Amendment, having been reviewed by this office, is approved as to form, substance, and
. execution. ' -

OFFICE OF THE ATTORNEY GENERAL

4/^16-/2025

Date

'DoeuSlfined by:

i*KirtV\;o

Guarino

Title. Attorney

I hereby certify that the foregoing Amehdment was approvediby the Governor and Executive, Council of
the'State of New Hampshire at the Meeting on: (date of meeting) ' ' , ■

OFFICE OF THE SECRETARY OF STATE

Date Name:

Title:

'• Mary Hitchcock Merhorial Hospital

RFP-2022-NHH-02-NEURO-0'l.-A02
v,-7.12.23 ' r' • ■

A-S-1.3

Page 4 of 4



Docusign Envelope ID: F675867A-7806-422C-A080-A6F1124E7A7C

New Hampshire Department of Health and Hunian Services
Neuropsychology Services

EXHIBIT B Amendmenl#2

Scope of Services

1. Statement of Work

1.1. The Contractor shall provide^heuropsychotogyservices at New Hampshire
Hospital (NHH) and the planned High Secianity'UJnit upon commencement of
operations. .. . ■ .

1.2. For the purposes of this agreerhent, all references"to days shall mean calendar
days. .

1.3. For the purposes of this a'greement, all.irefer-ences to business hours shall
mean Monday through Friday from.S 'AM ̂ '4 PM, excluding state and federal
holidays. ■ - . ■ .

1.4. No services in this agreement can be subcontracted by the Contractor.

1.5. ■ The Department supports training and educational programs for unlicensed
staff and/or educational trainees," but does not intend to incur any expenses as
the result of unlicensed staff and/or educational trainees learning in State
facilities. The Contractor shall provide. all supervision of unlicensed
staff/educational trainees,'including coverage during the primary.supervisor's

'  ■ leave time.,

1.6. • NeuropsvcholoQV-Services •

, 1.6.1. The Contractor shall provide a one half (0.5) full-time equivalent (FTE)
neuropsychologist who is physically present at NHH and/or High
Security Unit, Monday through Friday during normal business hours,

■ unless otherwise approved by the Department. The Contractor shall
'  ensure the neuropsychologist: .

T \ 1.6.1.1.- Has attained a. Doctor of Philosophy (PhD) degree in
■ Psychology or a Doctor of Psychology (PsyD) degree;

1.6.1.2. Has a minimum of two (2) years of post-fellowship
experience in;

1.6.1.2.1. Neurocoghitive screening;

1.6.1.2.2. Comprehensive neuropsychological assessment
protocols; and'

1.6.1.2.3. Comprehensive neuropsychological report
writing; and

1.6.1.3. Has experience in the integration of cognitive test results
with data from structural and functional brain imaging; and

■  ̂ 1.6.1.4. Has, at all times, an active Psychologist license issued by
the NH Board of Psychologists.

RFP-2022-NHH-02-NEURO-01-A02 Mary Hitchcock Memorial Hospjtal
r  *

•  . Page 1 of 11' '

Contractor Initials
BJH

D^&/31/2025



Docusign Envelope ID: F675867A-7806-422C-A080-A6F1124E7A7C ,

New Hampshire Department of Health and'Human Services
,  Neuropsychology Services

EXHIBIT B Amendment #2

■ 1.6.2. ■ The Contractor shall ensure,the biisite neuropsychology services are
" provided by a single individual,, except.when the individual is on leave,
to be approved by the Departmenl

1.6.3". At the request of the Gontnactoi,i1the.. Department's Chief Executive
Officer,, or State employed.desighee may, at their discretion, modify
the requirement for a single'neuropsychologist described in Paragraph
1.6.2 above.

1.6.4. At the request of the ContractoT, dhe Department's Chief Executive
• Officer/State employed designee may, at their discretion, waive the
requirement regarding two (2) years of post-fellowship experience,

"  referenced in Subparagraph 1.6.1.2.pbove.

1.6.5. The Contractor' shall . ensure- lhe neuropsychologist meets with
inpati'ent psychiatric and/ high security patients for whom a medical,

^ order for a neuropsychology service has been cpmpleted to conduct
. heuropsychological assessments and testing.

1.6.6. The Contractor shall ensure the neuropsychologist analyzes results of
neuropsychology assessments, * and completes neuropsychology
reports, in the format "requested by the Department; within seven (7)
business days of completing patient testing, which includes but is not
limited to: -

■1.6.6.1. , Reviewing past •• 'psychiatric, . medical records,
neuropsychological testing and behavioral incidents; and .

^ ^ 1.6.6.2. Providing recommendations for treatment. '
'  1.6.7.' the. Contractor shall ensure", the neuropsychologist participates In a

v. . . ' ' . .team-based care model, which'iricludes'but- is not limited to:- .
.  ' 1.6.7.1. "Actively contributing to patient treatment plans and,

^  . discussions.

■  . 1:6.7.2. • . Developing and maintaining .positive relationships with
Department staff, patients, families, advocates, community

■  ' ■ providers and other interest groups vital to the functioning
of the Department's system of care, including for the
purpose of transition planning, by adhering to the
Department's policies and'standards.

1.6.8. The Contractor shall ensure the neuropsychologist has the capacity to
act as an internal consultant to other providers, as identified by the
Department, relative to neuropsychology and its potential applications
and uses in .the context of patient populations.

fi/M
. RFP-2022-NHH-02-NEURO-01-A02 . Mary Hitchcock Memorial Hospital ''Contractor Initials.

R-l n ' ' ■ Pane? of 11 ■ • •Dat^31/202 5
A ' ' •' -1 . ' i ■ ' • . • ' ^ . — TT



Docusign Envelope ID: F675867A-7806-422C-A080-A6F1124E7A7C

r' New Hampshire Department of Health and Human Services
: Neuropsychology Services

EXHIBIt B Amendmeht#2 .

1.6.9. The Contractor shall ensure theneurofpsychologist has the ability to
^  ' appear and testify in allico,urt:and,administrativ.e hearings, as required

by the Department'. • .

,  1.6;1p. The Contractor shall deliwer^neuropsyjsbblbgydservicesto.NHH and the
planned High Security Unit .by:.

V  . 1.6.10.1. Providing highlyiquallfiedipersoratael;and '

1.6.10.2. Working withithe;New-Hampshire Department of Health
and Human {Services ("Department")' to continue
developing and refining an integrated mental health care
system by applying principles of managed care for clinical
treatment.

•• . < *1*

4  - 1 . * ^

.  i.6.11. The, Contractor shall recruit and.-T-etain "a .qualified. individual
■  . ("Contractor Personnel") to fulfill the requirements'described h'ereih - ■

within six (6) months of the contract effective date. The Contractor; ^
■' shall ensure: . ■ .

, 1.6.11.1; All Contractor personnel are employees, of the Contractor.

.  1.6.11.2., No Contractor personnel are considered employees of the .
State of New Hampshire.

1.6.12. The Contractor agrees that one half (0.5) PTE is equal to one half (0.5)
. - full-time employee who works,twenty (20) h6.urs per week. ■

■  f.6.13. The Contractor shall ensure all Contractor Personnel rheet and adhere

'tO-

1.6!13.i.' The codes of ethical conduct applicable to their .license
•  • category;- " • ^

'  ' 1.6.13.2. .Behavioral policies of the Department;

,  1.6.13.3. Department information security and privacy policies and ,
^  use-agreements, - which have been. provided . to the'

!  ' " ■ ■ .Co_ntractor;;and "

1.6.13.4. All other-human resource-related expectations of the
Department, NHH, and High Security Unit, as well as New
Hampshire Department of Information Technology (DolT)
security policies.

1.6.14. The Contractor shall ensure all staffing positions provided are
continuously filled or in active recruitment. The Contractor shall:

1.6.14.1. Provide the appropriate Department designee with monthly
updates on the recruitment process for all unfilled positions.

1.6.15. The Contractor shall be solely responsible for providing, at no
.additional cost to the Department, qualified, oredentialed, soffteient '

•  . ' • '\ BJH
RFP-2022-NHH-02;.NEURO-01-A02 . . . Mary Hitchcock Memorial Hospital ' Contractor Initials

B-r.O , , . •' PageSofll ' " - ' Da^31/2025



Docusign Envelope ID: F675867A-7806-422C-A080-A6F1124E7A7C

New Hampshire Department of Health and Human Services
Neuropsychology Services

EXHIBIT B Amendment #2

staff coverage to fill any gap in'ooverage'during any anticipated leave
■  . time, including" sick leave, vacation, or continuing medical education'

'  . , leave lasting more than three (3) consecutive days unless otherwise
agreed upon on a case-by-case basis by the .NHH CEO/-State

. ehiployed designee, and for providing appropriate transition between
staff,covering for those, on leave, ;Qualified sufficient staff coverage
means ■ personnel who meet or lexceed , the .qualifications of. the
vacating staff member who have current credentials to work at NHH. .

1.6.16. The Contractor shall track and report staffing levels by PTE units on a
monthly basis to the Department. The Contractor shall not be required

'  to provide hourly timecards for clinical staff.

' ' '1.6.17. The Contractor shall ensure the care needs of patients are fully
addressed by modifying the number of hours per week worked by Part-
Time staff, as requested by'the Department. The Contractor shall

' ensure Part-Time staff work the appropriate'number, of hours in
accordance with PTE allocation.

,1.7. Additional Requirements , •

1.7.1. In the event of a healthcare system emergency, including but not
^  ■ , limited to a local epidemic, pandemic,^ facility closures, or mass-

•  quarantine in which additional staffing or resources are required due
.'to a surge of individuals requiring services, the Contractor may also be.
required to adjust the total number of staff to fujly address the care
needs of .patients.

1.7.2. ■ All personnel provided by the Contractor shall be subject to approval
'■ ■ by the Department. The Department will inform the,Contractor of any

:  'applicable'Department designee for this purpose per position.

1.7.3. The Department, at , its sole discretion, may rescind, either
■  permanently or temporarily, its,approval of any Contractor personnel

■  ■ ■ ■ , providing any services'for any of the'following reasons:

1.7.3.1: Suspension, revocation or other loss of a required license,
certification or other contractual requirement to perform
such seK/ices under the contract;

1.7.3.2. Provision of unsatisfactory service based on malfeasance,
misfeasance, insubordination or failure to satisfactorily
provide required services;

1.7.3.3. Arrest or conviction of any felony, misdemeanor, or drug or
alcohol related offense;

1.7.3.4. Abolition of the role due to a change in organizational
structure, lack of sufficient funds or like reasons; or

RFP-2022-NHH-02-NEURO-01-A02 . Mary Hitchcock Memorial Hospital • ' . Contraclorlnitiais
ejH

B-1-.0 r. Page4oM1 .' . . . Da&/31/2025
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New Hampshire Department of Health and Human Services
Neuropsychology Services ■

.  EXHIBITBATnendment#2

.1.7.3.5. .' Any Other reason that includes, 'but is'not limited to:
' misconduct;..,violation ;of Department policy: violation of

■  " state, or'ifederal ?laws. and regulations pertaining to the
applicable Departrherit'service-area; or a determination

,  made by theBepartrneht thatfhe'individual presents a risk
,  to the- ;hea1th rand safety of any staff member or any

"  individual4served.ibyithe Department. . '

,  1.7.4.' In the event of such-rescission', the Department will, to the extent
possible, provide the Contractor with reasonable advance notice and

■ ■ the applicable reason.'The'Cdntractor shall ensure the applicable staff
member(s) are prohibited from providing services for the period of time

:  , ■ that the Department, exercises this right; No additional payments will
,  - be paid by the,State of New Hampshire for any staff removed from

,  . duty.by the Department for any reason. The Contractor:

■  1.7.4.1. Shall, unless the Contractor Personnel was removed.from
.  - providing 'services'. under Section 1.7.3.4., provide

,  -replacement personnel who meet all of the applicable
requirements under the contract, including but not limited

,  • . to being subject to Departrnent approval;.

.1.7.4.i2. Shall furnish within ten (10) business days replacement
■  : ■ • staff who meet all of the requirements for the applicable

'  . position if the. duration of a temporarily rescinded approval
y  ■ - \ " is greater than seven (7) calendar days. The Contractor

shall , be informed by the Department the anticipated
•  • ■ . > duration for which approval wiU'remain rescinded. "The;

" Contractor shall be responsible for providing," at no;
additional cost to the-Department, transition services to the
Department to avoid service interruption;

t  . '

,  ; • 1.7.4.3. May initiate, at the sole discretion'of the Contractor, any
>  internal , personnel actions against its ovyn employees.

Nothing herein prohibits the Contractor from seeking
•  information from the Department regarding the
Department's, decision, unless such information is
otherwise restricted from disclosure by the Department
based on internal Department policies or rules. State of
New Hampshire personnel policies, rules, collective
bargaining agreements, or other state or federal laws.

1.7.5. The Contractor shall ensure that, prior to providing the applicable
services for the applicable Department service area or facility, all
required licenses, certifications, privileges, or other specified minimum
qualifications are met for. all staff, and where applicable, are
maintained throughout the, provision-of services for the full termjQfethe'

'  ■ " ■ ' .■ ■ ■] SJH
RFP-2022-NHH-02-NEURO'r01-A02 Maty Hitchcock Memorial Hospital ' ' Conti^ctor Initials

B-1.0 • •' • PageSof-n . Da^31/2025 .
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Docusign Envelope ID; F675867A-7806-422C-A080-A6F1124E7A7C

New Hampshire Department of Health and Human Services
,  .. Neuropsychology Services

EXHIBIT B Amendment #2 .

'. , contract. The Contractor shall, ̂ provide, the applicable Department
designee with a copy of all such documents. The Contractor shall not
hold the Department'financially ilia'ble for any fees or costs for any
licenses, certifications or renewal cf same, nor for any fees oncosts

.  * incurred for providing copies of said'licenses or certifications.

■ . ' 1.7.6. In addition to any approvals required by the Contractor for ernployees,
,  'the Contractor shall ensure staff provide tirhely, prior notification to the

applicable Department designeefor any anticipated leave time, unless
otherwise stated herein for a'.specific position or service area. The

- • ' ' , ; " Contractor shall ensure that-all staff provided have a standard amount
of vacation and sick time, subject to the normal and customary
employee, benefits and policies of the Contractor, However, the
Contractor shall ensure staff abide by the State holiday schedule.

1.7.7. The Contractor shall ensure annual "performance reviews are
, completed for all Contractor personnel. The Contractor shall
incorporate feedback from the applicable Department designee for
such reviews. The Contractor shall ensure that goal development and
performance monitoring is responsive to the evolving needs of the
Department over the course of the contract period.

1.7.8. The Contractor shall -be responsible for managing all employee
'  ' ^ relations and performance management issues for the staff provided,

■  - in accordance with the Contractor's policies and applicable NHH, High
• Security Unit, and/or State of New Hampshire policies.

1.7.9. . Prior to commencing work, the Contractor shall ensure all personnel.
provided undergo the following criminal background, registry,

.  - • / Sicreening and medical examinations: • • .

•  ' 1.7.9.1. , Criminal Background (Including New Hampshire criminal
background);

1.7.9.2. Bureau of Elderly and Adult Services State Registry;

1.7.9!3. Division for Children, Youth and Families Central Registry;
and' .. ' ■ '

1.7.9.4. Physical capacity examination.

1.7.10. The Contractor shall ensure Contractor personnel assigned to perform
services under the Agreement comply with all Department
requirements, policies, and procedures relative to infection prevention,
mitigation, and control to mitigate the risks of disease transmission
prior to the commencement of services.

■  1.7.11. The Contractor shall ensure that the criminal background, registry,
screening. and rhedical examinations above are kept current as
required , and in accordance with the Department's confideetiality

■ ■■■■ ^ . ■ ■ ■ ' /"■ . ' ' .ejH
.RFP-2022-NHH-02-NEURO-01-A02 ' - ■ Mary Hitchcock Memorial Hospital Contractor Initials
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.. New Hampshire Department of Health and Human Services
,  Neuropsychology Services

EXHIBIT 8 Amendment #2

policy; the Department.receivescopies of ail.Tequired documentation
prior to the commencement of services;.and:the.Department is not be
responsible for any costsiinciirTed&n':obtaihing ;the documentation.

1.7.12. The Contractor shall mot .natilize lany . personnel, including
Subcontractors, to fulfill -thedbligatiohs of the contract, who have been
convicted of any crime of ̂ dishonesty, including but not limited to
criminal fraud, or otherwlseconvicled of any felony or misdemeanor
offense for which incarceration for/up to one (-1) year is an authorized
penalty. The Contractor shall initiate a criminal background check re-
investigation of all personnel provided every five (5) years. The
Contractor shall ensure the five (5) year period is based on the date of
the last criminal, background check conducted by the. Contractor or

■ their agents. ' '

1.8. State-Owned Devices. Systems and Network Usage

.■ 1.8.1. Contractor,personnel must use a-state-issued device, including, not
limited to computers, tablets, or mobile .telephones, in fulfilling the-
requirements of the contract. , The Coritractor shall ensure- all

'  Contractor personnel: ' .
1.8.1.1. . Use the information that they have permission to access

solely for the provision of services hereunder, or conducting
,  ■ , ' official'State business. All other use or access is strictly

■forbidden including, but not limited, to personal or other,
•  ' private and non-State use, and that at no time shall, except

. . as necessary to provide services hereunder. Contractor
. workforce or agents access or attempt to access

•  , : ; ! , information' without having" the express authority of the
,  ' Department to "do so;'

1.8.1.2.. Not access or attempt to access information in a manner
.  inconsistent with the approved policies, procedures, and/or

■  - agreement relating to system entry/access;
1.8..1.3. Not. copy, share, distribute, sub-license, modify, reverse

engineer, rent, or sell software licensed, developed, or
being evaluated by the State. At all times the Contractor
must use utmost care to protect and keep such software
strictly confidential in accordance with the license or any
other agreement executed by the State. Only equipment or
software owned, licensed, or being evaluated by the State
of New Hampshire, can be used by the Contractor. Ision-
standard sofhvare shall not be installed on any equipment
unless authorized by the Department's Information Security
Office;

•  . - . > DS
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New Hampshire Department of Health and Human Services
Neuropsychology Services

!  . EXHIBIT B Arnendmei3t;#2

^  ' 1.8:1.4. Agree that email and other ■electronic'communication
messages created, sent,".and received oh a State-issued
email system are'the. property of the State of ^New-'

'  . ' . Hampshire and to be-used ^for business purposes only.
Email isi.'defined as "".internal email systems" or "State-

' r funded email systems." The'Contractor understands and
-  ' - agrees that use of emailshallifollowDepartment-and State

. of New Hampshire standard policies; and
1.8.1.5. Use the internet ahd/6r. Intranet for access to and-

,  , distribution of information in direct support'of the business
of the State of New Hampshire according to policy of the

■ ' . Department. At no time should the. internet be used for
■" ■ .personal use. . .

-'1.9. Kev Performance Indicators

1 ,•

"1.9.1. The Contractor shall ensure the neuropsychologist complles'with the
following Key Performance Indicators:

-  1.9.1.1. Neuropsychology. Reports

-  .-.1.9.1.1.1? Completed, as noted in an* Individual Progress
Note in the patient's medical record,^ and hard

'  ' copy of the report submitted for filing with the
Medical Records Technician, within seven (7)
business days of completing patient testing.-.

.  1.9.1.1.2., Contents within assessment summary reports are
compliant with ,all Centers for Medicare, and

■  ;■ Medicai.d -Services (CMS) and Department
■  " dpcumentation requirements. , ■ .'

■  1.9.1..2. Standardized Process" .

.1.9.1.2.1.. Compliance with all . existing and future
standardized work processes with^ the goal of

.  . ■ " ;'■/ reducing variation .in care.
•i.9.1.3. Annual Reviews

1.9.1.3.1. Annual reviews are documented on all staff
provided by the Contractor. The Contractor shall
ensure performance evaluations are in
compliance with professional standards, for
evaluations' per'CMS and The Joint Commission
guidelines. , '

1.9.1.4." NHH and High Security Unit Policies

- ^ . ■ . , • c—OS

^  ̂ : &/M -
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New Hampshire Department of Health and Human Services
Neuropsychology.Services

-Exhibit s Amendment #2

1.9.1.4.1..; Adherenceto'NHH and High Security Unit policies
■  \ ,, ' ' 'including; '.but■not limited to policies on Medical"

'  . RecordsBocumentatiqn and Progress Notes.
2. Exhibits Incorporated ' .

■2.1. ■ -The Contractor shall use and disclbse'Protected Health Information in ^
1 . .cornpliance with the Standards forsPriwacyTOf Individually Identifiable Health;

■Information (Privacy Rule) (45 CFR Parts'iteo and 'T64); under the Health
,  Insurance Portability and Accountability Act (HIPAA) of 1996, and in

-  . ' accordance with the attached Exhibit I, Business Associate Agreement, which
has been executed by the parties. • ,

2.2. The Contractor shall manage all confidential data related to this'Agreement in
• accordance with the ^terms of Exhibit K, DHHS Iriformation Security.
^Requirements. . ■ . " ■

2.3. The Contractor shall comply with all Exhibits D through K„ which are attached
hereto and incorporated by reference herein. ' . -

3. Reporting Requirements

.3.1. The Contractor shall provide .monthly staff reports to'.the Department to-
sufficiently document actual staffing levels and services rendered. Monthly staff
reports shall include the following:' .

. 1 , * , , » , .

" V . 3.1.1." Monthly.staffing schedule;

'  3.1.2. Actual hours worked within the monthly reporting period; and
,  -3,1.3. Actual hours allocated to sick tirrie, leavetime.pr any other non-clinical

'  time within the-mpnthly reporting period. - .p,
4. Performance Measures

4.1. The Department will monitor Contractor performance by reviewing the
Contractor's compliance with the key performance indicators described above,

■  v: "and the monthly staff reports provided by the Contractor."

.4.2." The Contractor shall actively and regularly.coljaborate.with the Department to'-
enhance contract management, improve results, and adjust program delivery
and policy based on successful outcomes.'

4.3. The Contractor may be required to provide other key data and metrics to the
Department, including client-level demographic, performance, and service
data.

4.4. Where applicable, the Contractor shall collect and share data with the
Department in a format specified by the,Department.

5. Additional Terms ^ '

5.1. ' Impacts Resulting from Court Orders or Legislative Changes
—DS
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New Hampshire Department of Health and Human Services
Neuropsychology Services

EXHiBIT B Amendment#2

5.1.1. The Contractor tagrees ̂ hat.s to the extent ;future state or federal
legislation or court.orders.may have.^n Jmpact on the Services
described herein,■Ihe-State'bf New:Hampshire has the right to modify
Service priorities and expenditure requirements under this Agreement

"  SO as' to achieve compliance: therewith. !ln ithe event that any future
state or .federal legislation ;or court order impacts the Services
described herein, theIDepartmeht'-shall'iprovide.the Coritractor with
reasonable advanced notice of any necessary modification to Service
priorities and expenditure requirements. The parties agree to
cooperate in the implementation and planning of any such modification
and the Department shall consider Contractor's reasonable requests
with respect to such modifications. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the

■  ' ■ Department shall retain the final Yight to modify Service priorities and ,
•  ■ expenditure, requirements under this Agreement so as to achieve

compliance with any future state or federal legislation or court orders
that have an impact on the Services described herein.

5.2. Credits and Copyright Ownership

5.2.1. All dpcuments, notices, press releases, research reports and other
. materials related to and resulting from the performance of the services'

'  ■ of the Agreement shall include the .following staternent, "The
preparation of this (report, document etc.) was financed under an

.  .. ■ Contract with the .State.of New Hampshire, Department of Health and '
Human Services, with funds provided in part by the State of New!

,  ■ Hampshire a'nd/or such other funding sources as were available or
required.-e.g.,,the.United States Department of Health and Human,

"Services." '

5.2.2. ■ All materials purchased under the Agreement shall have prior approval
-  from the Department before printing, production, distribution or. use.

- 5.2.3. The Department shall retain copyright ownership for any and all
.  original materials produced; inclu-ding, but not limited to:

5.2.3.1. Brochures.

5.2.3.2. Resource directories.'

5.2.3.3. Protocols or guidelines.

5.2.3.4. Posters.

5.2.3.5. Reports.

5.2.4. The Contractor shall not reproduce any materials.produced under the
Agreernent without prior-written approval from the Department. ■

5.3. Eligibility Determinations

RFf?-2022-NHH-02-NEURO-01-A02 Mary Hitchcock Memorial Hospital Contractor [nitials
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New Hampshire Department of Health and Human Services
Neuropsychoiogy Services

EXHIBIT B Amenximent #2

5.3.1. If the Contractor is .permitted and required by the Department to
. determine the eligibility of individuals: such eligibility determination

"  , " shall be made in accordance twith.applicable federal and state laws,
' . regulations, orders, guidelines,^policies and procedures.

5.3.2. Eligibility determinations shall :be made on forms provided by the
Department for that purpose and shall be made and remade at such

:  ■' times as are prescribed by the Department.

5.3.3.

5.3.4.

In addition to the determination forms required by the Department, the
Contractor shall maintain a data file on each recipient of services
hereunder, which'file shall include all information necessary to support
,an eligibility determination and such, other information as the
Department reasonably requests in writing. The Contractor shall
furnish the Department with-all forms and documentation regarding
eligibility determinations that the Department may request or require.

The Contractor understands that all applicants for services hereunder,
as well as, individuals declared ineligible have a right to a fair hearing
regarding that determination..The Contractor hereby covenants and
agrees that all applicants for services shall be permitted to fill out an
application form and that each applicant or re-applicant shall be
informed of his/her .right to. a fair , hearing ' in accordance with
Department regulations.

6. Records

6.1. The Contractor shall keep records that include, but are not limited to:

6.1.1. Books,, records, documents and other electronic or physical data
evidencing arid reflecting all costs and other expenses incurred by the
Contractor in the performance of the Agreement, and all income
received or collected by the Contractor.

■  _ 6.1.2. . All- records must be maintained in accordance with accounting
procedures and practices, which sufficiently and properly reflect all
such' costs and expenses, • and which are acceptable to the
Department, and to' include, .without limitation, all ledgers, books,
records, and original evidence of costs such as purchase requisitions
and orders, vouchers, requisitions for materials,' inventories,
valuations of in-kind contributions, labor time cards, payrolls, and other
records requested or required by the Department.

7. Continuity of Services and Liquidated Damages

7.1. Liquidated damages are specified in, and may be assessed in accordance with.
Exhibit C, Payment Terms, Section 14.

.RFP-2022-NHH-02-NEURO-01-A02
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State of New Hampshire

Department of State

CERTHfJCATE

I, David M. Scanlan, Secretar>' ofSiateof ihc Stale of New Hampshire, do hereby certify that MARY HITCHCOCK MEMORIAL

HOSPITAL is a New Hampshire Nonprofit Corporation registered to transact business in New Hampshire on August 07, !889. 1

'' further certify.that all fees and documents required by the Sccretaiy of State's office have been received and is in good standing as

' far as this ofilce is concerned. ' • , " "

Business ID: 68517

Certificate Number: 0007142928

IN TESTIMONY WHEREOF,

I'hercto set my hand and cause to be affixed

the Seal of the Stale of New Hampshire,

this 1st day of April A.D. 2025.

David M. Scanlan

Secretary of State
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Daftm.Quth • DartmQut.h:HitGhcock Boards of Truste.es
Health , . ' ; ^ ' - • .

CERTIFICATE OF VOTE/AUTHORITY

1. Roberta L.'Hines. MD. do hereby certifV that: -

1. I am the duly elected Chair of the Boards of Trustees of Mary Hitchcock Memorial Hospital and

Dartmouth-Hitchcock Clinic (together, "Dartmouth-Hitchcock"). . . ' '

2.. The following is a true and accurate excerpt from the Amended, Restated and Integrated Bylaws of the

Dartmouth-Hitchcock Corporations: .

a. "ARTICLE II - Section A. Fiduciary Duty. Stewardship over Corporate Assets. As
responsible stewards of tax-exempt, charitable Corporations, members of the Corporations'

■; Boards have the fiduciary duty to oversee, with due care and loyalty, the stewardship of the
-  • • Corporations'assets and operations in order to create a sustainable health system that is population

focused and value-based, and to advance their respective corporate purposes. In exercising this
duty, the Boards may, consistent with the respective Corporation's Articles of Agreement and
these Bylaws, delegate authority to Board Committees and other bodies, or to various officers, to
provide input with respect to issues and strategies, incur indebtedness, make expenditures, enter
into contracts and agreements and-take such other binding actions on behalf of the Corporations

' as may be necessary or desirable in furtherance of their charitable purposes."

" 3. Pursuant to policy approved and adopted by the Boards of Trustees consistent with the above Bylaws

-  ̂ provision, the Chief Clinical Officer, Edward Merrens, MD, has subdclegated signature authority to enter

into contracts and agreements on behalf of Dartmouth-Hitchcock Clinic and Mary Hitchcock Memorial

■Hospital. ■ '

'■ 4. The foregoing authority shall remain in full force and effect as.of the date of the agreement executed or. -

action taken in reliance upon this Certificate. This authority shall remain valid for thirty (30) days from

the date of this Certificate and the State of New Hampshire shall be entitled to rely upon same, until written

■  notice of modification, rescission or revocation of same" in whole or in part, has been received by theState ^

of New Hampshire.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have hereunto set my hand as the Chair of the Boards of Trustees of Dartmouth-

Hitchcock Clinic and Mary Hitchcock Memorial Hospital this 19th day of March, 2025.

Roberta L. Hines, MD, Board Chair
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DATE: July 1 2024

COMPANY AFFORDING COVERAGE

Hamden Assurance Risk Retention Group,- Inc.
P.O. Box 1687

30 Main Street, Suite 330
Burlington, VT 05401
INSURED

Mary Hitchcock Memorial Hospital
One Medical Center Drive

Lebanon, NM 03756

(603)653-6850

This certificate is issued as a matter of information only
and confers no rights upon the Certificate Holder. This
Certificate does not amend, extend or alter the coverage
affoided the policies below.

COVERAGES

The Policy listed below has been issued to the Named Insured above for the Policy Period notwithstanding any
requirement, term or condition of arty contract or other document with respect to which this certificate may be issued. The
insurance afforded by the policy is subject to all the terms, exclusions and conditions of the policy. Limits shown may
have been reduced by paid ciairris.

TYPE OF

INSURANCE
POLICY NUMBER

POLICY

EFFECTIVE

DATE

^POLICY

EXPIRATION

DATE'

LIMITS

GENERAL

LIABILITY

0002024-A 7/1/2024 7/1/2025 EACH

OCCURRENCI:

DAMAGE TO

RENTED

PREMISES

CLAIMS MADE
MEDICAL

EXPENSES

PERSONAL &

ADV INJURY

OCCURRENCE GENERAL

AGGREGATE

OTHER PRODUCTS- .

COMP/OP AGG

$1,000,000

31,000,000

N/A

$1,000,000

$3,000,000

$1,000,000

0002024-A. 7/1/2024 7/1/2025 EACH CLAIM $1,000,000
PROFESSIONAL

LIABILITY

X
CLAIMS MADE ANNUAL •

AGGREGATE
$3,000,000

OCCURENCE

OTHER

DESCRIPTION OF OPERATIONS/ LOCATIONS/ VEHICLES/SPECIAL ITEMS (LIMITS MAY BE SUBJECT TO RETENTIONS)

Certificate is issued as evidence of insurance.

CERTIFICATE HOLDER

NH Department of Health and Human Services
129 Pleasant Street

Concord, NH 03301

CANCELLATION

Should any of the above described policies be cancelled before the expiration date
thereof, the issuing company will endeavor to mall 30 DAYS written notice to the
certificate holder named below, but failure to mail such notice shall impose no
obligation or iiabilit)' of any iund upon the company, Its agents or representatives.

AUTHORIZED REPRESENTATIVES
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CERTIFICATE OF LIABILITY INSURANCE
DATE (MM/DD/YYYY)

7/8/2024

THIS CERTIFICATE IS ISSUED AS A MATTER OF INFORMATION ONLY AND CONFERS NO RIGHTS UPON THE CERTIFICATE HOLDER. THIS
. CERTIFICATE DOES NOT AFFIRMATIVELY OR NEGATIVELY AMEND. EXTEND OR ALTER THE COVERAGE AFFORDED BY THE POLICIES
BELOW. THIS CERTIFICATE OF INSURANCE DOES NOT CONSTITUTE A CONTRACT BETWEEN THE ISSUING INSURER(S). AUTHORIZED
REPRESENTATIVE OR PRODUCER, AND THE CERTIFICATE HOLDER.

IMPORTANT: If the certificate holder Is an ADDITIONAL INSURED, the pollcy(ies)-nuistfiave.AODmONAL INSURED provisions or be endorsed.
If SUBROGATION IS WAIVED, subject to the terms and conditions of the policy, certain policies may require an endorsement. A statement on
this certificate does not confer rights to the certificate holder In lieu of such endorsement(s).

PRODUCER License #.1780862
HUB International New England,
275 US Route 1 , ,
Cumberland Foreslde, ME 04110

contact Lauren Stiles

PHONE FAX
(A/C, No. Ejrt); ■ . -iA/C, No):

lo{)1l^ss:-i-^T£nStlles@hublnternational.com

-INSURER(S) AFFORDING COVERAGE NAIC«

INSURER A^The^Grav Insurance Comoanv 36307

INSURED • • ^ •

Dartmouth-Hitchcock Health

1 Medical Center Dr.

Lebanon, NH 03756

INSURER B.iiMidwestsEmDiovers Casualtv Comoanv 23612

INSURERC;

INSURER 0;

INSURER E:

INSURER F: •

THIS IS TO CERTIFY THAT THE POLICIES OF INSURANCE LISTED BELOW HAVE BEEN ISSUED TO THE INSURED NAMED ABOVE FOR THE POLICY PERIOD
INDICATED. NOTWITHSTANDING ANY REQUIREMENT, TERM OR CONDITION OF ANY CONTRACT OR OTHER DOCUMENT WITH RESPECT TO WHICH THIS
CERTIFICATE MAY BE ISSUED OR MAY PERTAIN, THE INSURANCE AFFORDED BY THE POLICIES DESCRIBED HEREIN IS SUBJECT TO ALL THE TERMS
EXCLUSIONS AND CONDITIONS OF SUCH POLICIES. LIMITS SHOWN MAY HAVE BEEN REDUCED BY PAID CLAIMS.

(NSR

LTR TYPE OF INSURANCE
ADDL

INUP
SU8R

WYP POLICY NUMBER LIMITS

COMMERCIAL GE NERAL LIABILITY

)E OCCUR

-

EACH OCCURRENCE s

1 CLAIMS-MAC DAMAGE TO RENTED
PREMISES (Efl occurrencet s

MEO EXP (Any one oerson)

PERSONAL a ADV INJURY s

GEWL AGGREGATE LIMIT APPLIES PER; GENERAL AGGREGATE

_

pol'CyI 1 |loc
OTHER:'

PRODUCTS - COMP/OP AGG s

b
1 AUTOMOBILE LIABILITY

■  1

COMBINED SINGLE LIMIT
s

ANY AUTO

:heouled ■
rros .

BOOILY INJURY (Per berson) s

'

.OWNED •
AUTOS ONLY '

aIj^s only

sc
AL BODILY INJURY (Per ectident) s

NC
AL

PROPERTY ClAMAGE
(Per accldefltl

\ UMBRELLA LIAB

EXCESS UAB --

OCCUR

CLAIMS-MADE
•

EACH (XCURRENCE

AGGREGATE

OED RETENTIONS '

s

A WORKERS COMPENSATION
AND EMPLOYERS' UABILrTY ^ / n
ANY PROPRI£TOR/PARTNER«XECUTIVE rm

It yes. descflM under
DESCRIPTION OF OPERATIONS below •

N/A

SPX0702544 • 7/1/2024 7/1/2025

y PER - OTH-
^ STATUTF FR

•

E.L- EACH ACCIDENT
.  500,000

E.L. DISEASE • EA EMPLOYEE
s  . 500,000

E.L DISEASE ■ POLICY LIMIT
,. 500,000

B.Excess Workers' Comp

:  « •

EWC010235 ,  7/1/2024 7/1/2026 'NHOnly 1  . 1,000,000

1

DESCRIPTION OF OPERATIONS / LOCATIONS/VEHICLES (ACORD 101. Additional Romarfc* Schodul*. may (>• attaehod If mora apaca la rKgulrad)
Evidence of Workers Compensation coverage for

Cheshire Medical Center

Dartmouth-Hitchcock Health

Mary Hitchcock Memorial Hospital
Alice Peck Day Memorial Hospital
New London Hospital Association
Visiting Nurse Associates and Hospice of Vermont and New Hampshire

■CERTIFICATE HOLDER CANCELLATION

-  - NHDHHS
■  129 Pleasant Street

Concord, NH 03301

SHOULD ANY.OF THE ABOVE DESCRIBED POLICIES BE CANCELLED BEFORE
THE EXPIRATION DATE THEREOF. NOTICE WILL BE DELIVERED IN
ACCORDANCE WITH THE POLICY PROVISIONS.

AUTHORIZED REPRESENTATIVE

ACORD 25 (2016/03) '  / • ^ I- ©,1988-2015 ACORD CORPORATION. All rights reserved.
The ACORD name and logo are registered marks of ACORD . ' .
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Dartmouth

Health
Dartmouth Hitchcock Medical Center

Dartmouth Hitchcock Clinics

About Dartmouth Hitchcock Medical Center and Dartmouth

Hitchcock Clinics '

Dartmouth Hitchcock Medical Center and Clinics—members of Dartmouth Health

(https://www.dartmouth-heaith!or'g)—Include Dartmouth Hitchcock Medical Center, the state's

only academic medical center, and Dartmouth Hitchcock Clinics, which provide primary

and specialty care throughout New Hampshire and Vermont.

Our'physicians and researchers collaborate with Geiset School of Medicine scientists and ■

faculty as well as other leading healthcare organizations to develop new treatments at the

cutting edge of medical practice bringing the latest medical discoveries to the patieht.

Who are Dartmouth'Hitchcock Medical Center and Dartmouth Hitchcock
Clinics?

Dartmouth Hitchcock Medical Center

fT\

ssr/

■it
A

\:'i

Dartmouth Hitchcock Medical Center is the state's only academic medical center and the
only Level I Adult and Level II Pediatric Trauma Center'in New Hampshire. The Dartmouth
Hitchcock Advanced Response Team (DHART), based in Lebanon and Manchester, provides

. ground and air medical transportation to comrriunities throughout northern New England.
In 2024, Dartmouth Hitchcock Medical Center was named New Hampshire's best hospital

•• f* '

in the U.S. News 8 World Report Best Hospitals 2024-25 (https://heaith.usnews.com/best- ■

hospitals/area/nh/dartmouth-hitchcock-medical-center-6120170) rankings, recognized as high-
performing in 11 common adult procedures and conditions. We also are recognized for
high-performing Maternity Care/Uncomplicated Pregnancy, vyhich was part of the Best
Maternity Hospitals survey.- ■ ■ ■■ ■ ' • .

•  ' 'H
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Dartmouth Hitchcock Clinics

so

sai

Dartmouth Hitchcock Ciinics provide primary and specialty care throughout New

Hampshire and Vermont, with major community group-practices in Lebanon, Concord, "

" Manchester, Nashua, and Keene, New Hampshire, and Bennington, Vermont.' . -

Children's Hospital at Dartmouth Hitchcock Medical Center

Children's Hospital at Dartmouth Hitchcock Medical Center {https://chitdrens.dartmouth-

health.org/iocations-directions/iebanon-region) is New, Hampshire's only children's hospital and a

member of the Children's Hospital Association, providing advanced pediatric inpatient,

outpatient and surgical services at Dartmouth Hitchcock Medical Center.

1^. \

I

1

Norrls Cotton Cancer Care Pavilion Lebanon

Norris Cotton Cancer Care Pavilion Lebanon (https://cancer.dartmouth.edu/iocations-

directions/norris-cotton-cancer-care-pavilion-lebanon), one of only 57 NCl-designated

Comprehensive Cancer Centers in the nation, is one of.the premier facilities for cancer

treatment, research, prevention, and education.

Our mission, vision, and values

Our.misslon
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We advance health through research, education, clinical practice and community

partnerships, providing each person the best care, in the right place, at the right time, every

time. . ■ .

Our vision ' ' .

• Achieve the healthiest population possible, leading the itransformation of health care in our

region and setting the standard for our nation. .

•  .Our values '

• Respect

•  Integrity

• Commitment .

• Transparency . ■ •

• Trust

• Teamwork.

•  .Stewardship

• Community . ' ■

Copyright © 2025 Dartmouth Hitchcock Medical Center and Dartmouth Hitchcock Cliriics. All rights reserved.

Also of interest . .

Learn About Clinical Trials &■ Research {https://vvww,dai1mouih-hilchcock.org/research/(earn-about-ciinical-triflls-re5ear<;h)

Dartmouth Hitchcock Medical Center and... (htip5://vwAv!dartmouiii-hitciKock.ofg/aboui/history)

Collaborations (hltpsi/Avww.daitmouth-hiicbcock.org/aboul/collabotations).
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•Report of Independent Auditors

. To.the Board of Trustees of Dartmouth-Hitchcock Health.and'Subsidiaries'

Opinion ' . '

We have audited the accompan>ing consolidated financial statements of Dartmouth-Hitchcock Health
and its subsidiaries (the "Health System"), which comprise the consolidated balance sheets as of June 30,
2023 and 2022, and the related consolidated statements of operations and changes in net assets and of
cash flows for the years then ended, including the related notes (collectively referred to as the
"consolidated financial statements"). . '

In our opinion, the accompanying consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material
respects, the financial position of the Health System as of June 30, 2023 and 2022, and the results of its
operations, changes in its net assets and its cash flows for the years then,ended in accordance with
accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of
America (US GAAS). Our responsibilities under those sta'ndards are further described in the Auditors'
Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our report. We are
required to be independent of the Health System and to meet our other ethical responsibilities, in
accordance with the relevant ethical requirements relating to our audit. We believe that the audit evidence
we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

• Responsibilities of Management for the Consotidated Finaneial Statements ' '

. Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated financial
stafernents in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America,
and for the design, implementation, and maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation and

' -fair presentation of consolidated financial statements that are free^from material misstatement, whether "
• due'to fraud or error. ' " ~

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, management is required to evaluate whether there are
conditions or events, considered in the aggregate, that raise substantial doubt about the Health System's.
ability to continue as a going concern for one year after the date the consolidated financial statements are
issued. ■'

Auditors' Responsibilitiesfor the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements as
a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditors'
report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance but is not absolute
assurance and therefore is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with US GAAS will
always detect a.material misstatement when it exists. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement
resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery,
intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control. Misstatements are
considered material if there is a substantial likelihood that, individually or in the aggregate, they would .
influence the judgment made by a reasonable user based on.the consolidated financial statements.

fricewaterhquseCoopers LLP, 101 Seaport Boulevard, Suite 500, Boston; MA 02210
T: (617) 530 5000; F; (617) 530 5001, w^\'w.pwc.com/us
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In performing an audit in accordance with us GAAS, we:

• Exercise professional judgment and maintain prbfessionSskepticism throughout the audit.
• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement.ofihe consolidated financial statements,

.  - whether due to fraud or error, and design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks.
Such procedures include examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and
disclosures in the consolidated financial statements.

• Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an
opinion on the effectiveness of the Health System's internal control. Accordingly, no such opinion
is expressed.

• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of significant
accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluate the overall presentation of the

_ consolidated financial statements. • .
• Conclude whether, in our judgment, there are conditions or events, considered in the aggregate,

that raise substantial doubt about the Health System's ability to continue as a going concern for a
-  reasonable period of time.

We are required to communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters,
the planned scope and timing of the audit, significant audit findings, and certain internal control-related
matters that we identified during the audit.

Supplemental Information,

Our audit was conducted for the purpose of forming an opinion on the consolidated financial statements •
taken as a whole. The accompanying consolidating balance sheets and consolidating statements of
operations and changes in net assets without donor restrictions as of and for the years ended June 30,
2023 and 2022 (the "supplemental information") is presented for purposes of additional analysis and is
riot a required part of the consolidated financial statements. The consolidating information is not
intended to present, and we do not express an opinion on, the financial position, results of operations and
cash flows of the individual companies. The supplemental information is the responsibility of
management and was derived from and relates directly to the underlying accounting and other records
used to prepare the consolidated financial statements. The supplemental information has been subjected
to the auditing procedures applied in the audit of the consolidated financial statements and certain
additional procedures, including comparing and reconciling such'information directly to the underlying •
accounting and other records used to prepare'the consolidated financial statements or to the consolidated
financial statements themselves and other additional procedures, in accordance with auditing standards
generally accepted in the United States of America. In our opinion, the supplemental information is fairly
stated, in all material respects, in relation to the consolidated financial statements taken as a whole.

Boston, Massachusetts
November 17,2023



Docusign Envelope ID: F675857A-7806-422C-A080-A6F1124E7A7C

Dartmouth-Hitchcock Health and Subsidiaries
Consolidated Balance Sheets

June 30, 2023 and 2022

(in thousands of dollars) 2023 2022

Assets '•

Current assets ' ' '

'  Cash and cash equivalents .. . . $  115,996 $  191,929
Patient accounts receivable, net (Note 4) •  289.787 251,250
Prepaid expenses and other current assets j 184,104 169,133

Total current assets
j

589,887 612,312

Assets limited as to use (Notes 5 and ?) i ■  1,071,462 ■  1,181,094
Other investments for restricted activities (Notes 5 and 7) 182,224 175,116

.  Property, plant, and equipment, net (Note 6) - . ' ' 811,622 764,840

/ Right-of-use assets, net (Note 16) 55,528 58,925
'Other assets 193,333 -  172,163

Total assets > $  2,904,056 $  2,964,450

Liabilities and Net Assets

Current liabilities - / '
Current portion of long-term debt (Note 10) $  15,236 $  6,596
Current portion of right-of-use obligations (Note 16) 11,334 11,319

. Line of credit 40,000 .

Current portion of liability for pension and other postretirement
plan benefits (Note 11) 3,386 3,500
Accounts payable and accrued expenses '146,747 156,572
Accrued compensation and related benefits 137,467 190,560
Estimated third-party settlements (Note 3 and 4) 64,360 1,34,898

,  , ' .Total current liabilities . . - ^  418,530 503,445

Long-term debt, excluding current portion (Note 10) 1,098,962 •1,117,288
Long-term rlght-of-use obligations, excluding current portion (Note 16) 45,671 48,824

Insurance deposits and related liabilities (Note 12) • 91,349 .78,391
Liability for pension and other postretirement plan benefits,

- excluding current portion (Note 11) ■ ,  .206,305 ■  ' . 228,606
Other liabilities 173,918. 154,096

Total liabilities - ' ' 2,034,735 2,130,650

Commitments and contingencies (Notes 3,4. 6, 7,10,13, and 16)

Net assets . .

Net assets without donor restrictions (Note 9) 658,988 '  634,297
Net assets with donor restrictions (Notes 8 and 9) 210,333 199,503

Total net assets 869,321 833,800

Total liabilities and net assets $  2,904,056 $  2,964,450

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Dartmouth-Hitchcock Health and Subsidiaries
Consolidated Statements of Operations and Changes in Net Assets
Years Ended June 30, 2023 and 2022

. (in thousands of dolled) 2023 2022

Operating revenue and other support
Net patient service revenue (Note 4} '5 2397,157 $  2,243,237
Contracted revenue 84,346 '  77,666 -
Other operating revenue (Note 4) ,1608,875 534,031
Net assets released from restrictions 14,843 15,894

Total operating revenue and other support . .3,105,221 2,870,828

Operating expenses
Salaries 1,423,09^ 1,315.407
Employee benefits 332,386 322,570
Medications and medical supplies 725,480 649,272:
Purchased services and other 458,901 403,862
Medicald enhancement tax (Note 4) 85,715 82,725
Depreciation and amortization 90.457 86,958
Interest (Note 10) -  34,515 32,113

Total operating expenses 3,150,545 2,892,907

Operating loss (45,324) (22,079).

Non-operating gains (losses)
Investment income (loss), net (Note 5) 58,119 (78,744)
Other components of net periodic pension and post
retirement benefit income (Note 11 and 14)' (17,691) • 13,910
Other losses, net (8,530) (6,658)

Total non-operating gairis (losses), net ■  • 31,898 (71,492)

Deficiency of revenue, over expenses $  (13,426) ■■$ ■ (93,571)

Consolidated Statements of Operations and Changes in Net Assets — continues on next page

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

.  . 4 • .
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' Dartmouth-Hitchcock Health and Subsidiaries

Consolidated Statements of Operations and Changes In Net Assets - Continued
Years Ended June 30, 2023 and 2022

(in thousands of dollars)

Net'assets without donor restrictions

2023 2022

Deficiency of revenue over expenses $ ■  (13,426) . $ (93,571)
Net assets released from restrictions for capital '3,229 1,573"

Change in funded status of pension .and other postretirement .

benefits (Note 11) ■34,901 (32,309)
Other changes in net assets (13) ■  (23)

Increase (decrease) in net assets without donor restrictions 24,691 (124,330)

Net assets with donor restrictions
Gifts, bequests, sponsored activities 23,637 39,710
Investment income (loss), net • 5,846 "(7,010)
Net assets released from restrictions (18,653) (17,467)

Increase in net assets with donor restrictions 10,830 15,233

Change in net assets 35v521 (109,097)

Net assets

Beginning of year 833,800 942,897

End of year $ 869,321 $ 833,800

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Dartmouth-Hitchcock Health and Subsidiaries

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows

Years Ended June 30, 2023 and 2022

(in thousands of dollars) . ■ ■ . 2023 . 2022

Cash flows from operating activities

Change in net assets $  35,521 S (109,097):
Adjustments to reconcile change in net assets to , >

- net cash provided by operating and non-operating activities '

Depreciation and amortization ^  90,806 87,006

' Amortization of bond premium, discount, and issuance cost, net , . ' (2,779) (2.764)
Amortization of right-of-use asset 9.242 9,270

Payments on right-of-use lease obligations - operating (9.162) . (9.190)
Change in funded status of pension and other postretirement benefits ' ' "■ (34,901) - 32,309-
(.OSS (gain) on disposal of fixed assets (883) -  (523)
Ne( realized gains and change in net unrealized gains on investments (79.799) ■ 86,652
Restricted contributions and investment earnings (8,208) (20,151)
Proceeds from sales of donated securities •  3,818' - 10,665
Changes in assets and liabilities . ' '

Patient accounts receivable, net . (38,537) - (19,089)
Prepaid expenses and other current assets 1,984 (9,915)
Other assets, net (21,688) 2,517
Accounts payable and accrued expenses (31,082) 17,104

' Accrued compensation and related benefits . (53.093)' 8,490
Estimated third-party settlements (71,907) (120.117)
Insurance deposits and related liabilities 12,958 .(1,583)
Liability for pension and other postretirement benefits 12.486 (28,422)
Other liabilities 21,191" (56.687)

Net cash used in operating acdvities (164,033) ■ (123.525)

Cash flows from Investing activities
Purchase of property, plant, and equipment (129.321) (160,855)
Proceeds from sale of property, plant, and equipment '  1.214 613

Purchases of investments ' . • ' (71.410) (65,286)
.  Proceeds frorh maturities and sales of investments ! . 249.684 . 137,781

' Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities 50,167 (87,747)

Cash flows from nnancing activities
Proceeds from line of credit 979.500 • 30,000

' Payments on line of credit . (939,500) (30,000)
Repayment of long-term debt ^ • (81,907) (9,116)
Proceeds from issuance of debt , , ' ' ; • ' • 75,000 ■ . ...

• Repayment of finance leases . . (3.599) • (3,253)
Restricted contributions and investment eamings 8.208 20,151

Net cash provided by financing acUvities 37,702 7,782

Decrease in cash and cash equivalents (76,164) (203,490)

Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year 193,485 396,975

'  Cash and cash equivalents, end of year $  117,321 $ 193,485

Supplemental cash flow Information
Interest paid $  44,362 $ 42,867

- Construction in progress included in accounts payable and
accrued expenses 5,105 9,407
Donated securities 3,818 10,665"

The following table reconciles cash and cash equivalents on the consolidated balance sheets to cash, cash equivalents and
restricted cash on the consolidated statements of cash flows.

2023 2022

Cash and cash equivalents $  115,996 $ 191,929
Cash and cash equivalents included in assets limited as to use - 1,350
Restricted cash and cash equivalents included in other investments for restricted activities 1.325 206

Total of cash, cash equivalents, and restricted cash shown
in the consolidated statements of cash flows $• 117,321 $ 193,485

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Dartmouth-Hitchcock Health and Subsidianes
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

June 30, 2023 and 2022 *

1. - Organization and Community Benefit Commitments ' '

Dartmouth-Hitchcock Health (D-HH), its Members, and Iheir Subsidiaries (the Health System) is a
system of hospitals, clinics, and other healthcare service" providers across New Hampshire and

•  ■^Vermont. The Health System's mission is to advance'healthThrough,research, education, clinical
practice, and community partnerships, providing each person the best care,- in the right place, at
the right time, every time. The Health System seeks to achieve the healthiest population possible,

•leading the transformation of health care in the regiomand'setting the standard for the nation. The,
'  Health System's expanding network of services are the fabric of its commitment to serve the region

with exceptional medical care.

Dartmouth-Hitchcock Health (D-HH) serves as the sole corporate member of the following entities:
Dartmouth-Hitchcock Clinic (DHC) and Subsidiaries, Mary Hitchcock Memorial Hospitar-(MHMH)
and Subsidiaries, (DHC and MHMH together are referred to as D-H), The New London Hospital
Association, Inc. (NLH), Windsor Hospital Corporation (d/b/a Mt. Ascutney ;Hospital and Health
Center) (MAHHC) and Subsidiaries, The Cheshire Medical Center (Cheshire) and Subsidiaries,
Alice Peck Day Memorial Hospital (APD) and Subsidiary, and Visiting Nurse Association and
Hospice of Verrpont and New Hampshire (VNH) and Subsidiaries.

.'The Health System currently operates-one tertiary, ,one community, and three acute care (critical
access) hospitals in New Hampshire (NH) and Vermont (VT). One facility provides inpatient and

.  outpatient rehabilitation medicine and long-term care. The Health System also operates multiple^
.physician practices, a continuing care retirement community, and a home health and hospice
service. The Health System operates a .graduate level program for healtFi professions and is the
principal teaching affiliate of the Geisel School of Medicine (Geisel), a component of Dartmouth

.College. • •

.  • D-HH,-DHC. MHMH. NLH, Cheshire, and APD are NH not-for-profit corporations exempt from
federal income taxes under Section 501(c)(3) of the Internal Revenue Code (IRC). MAHHC and
VNH are VT not-for-profit corporations exempt from federal income taxes under Section 501(c)(3)
of the IRC.

• On December 6, 2022, D-HH entered-into an Integration Agreement with Valley Regional
-Healthcare, Inc. ("VRHC") and its subsidiary Valley Regional Hospital and its affiliates ("VRH"), a
critical access hospital located in Claremont, New Hampshire. The parties have submitted the.
transaction for regulatory review by the New Hampshire Attorney General with a target closing date
in early 2024.

Community Benefits
Consistent with its mission, the Health.System provides high quality, cost effective, comprehensive,
and integrated healthcare to individuals, families, and the communities it serves regardless of a
patient's ability to pay. The Health System actively supports community-based, healthcare and
promotes the coordination of services among healthcare providers and social services
organizations. In addition, the Health System seeks to work collaboratively with other area
healthcare providers to improve the health status of the region. As a component of an integrated
academic medical center, the Health System provides significant support for academic and
research programs.
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Dartmouth-Hitchcock Health and Subsidiaries
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

June 30, 2023 and 2022

Certain member hospitals of the Health System file -annuarCommunity Benefits Reports with the
State of NH, which outline the community and charitable benefits each provides. VT hospitals are
not required by law to file a state Community Benefit-Report.. The categories used in the-
Community Benefit Reports to summarize theseienefits are as follows: - • -

•  Community Health Improvement Serv/ces include activities carried out to improve community
health, and could include community health education {such as classes, programs, support
groups, and materials that promote weltness and'prevent illness), community-based clinical
services (such as free clinics and health screenings),, and healthcare support services
(enrollment assistance in public programs, assistance in obtaining free or reduced costs
medications, telephone information services, or transportation' programs to enhance access to
care, etc.). ' • .

•  , Health Professions Education includes'uncompensated costs .of training medical students,
residents, nurses, and other health care professionals '

•  Subsidized Health Services are services provided by the Health System, resulting in financial
losses that meet the needs of the community and would not otherwise be available unless the
responsibility was assumed by the government.

•  Research includes costs, in excess of awards, for numerous health research and service
initiatives within the Health System.

•  Cash-and In-Kind Contributions. occur outside.of' the System-.through various financial
contributions of cash, in-kind donations, and grants'to local organizations.

•  Community-Building Activities include expenses incurred to support the development of
. programs and partnerships Intended to address public health challenges, as well as social and
economic" determinants of health. Examples include physical improvements and housing,
economic development, support-, system enhancements, environmental improvements,
leadership development and training for community merhbers, community health improvement
advocacy, and workforce enhancement.

•  Charity Care includes losses, at-cost, incurred by providing health care services to persons
qualifying for hospital financial assistance programs. • "

•  ' The Uncompensated Cost of Care for Medicaid patients reported in the unaudited Community
Benefits Reports for 2022 was approximately $235,081,000. The-2023 Community Benefits
Reports are expected to be filed in February 2024.
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Dartmouth-Hitchcock Health and Subsidiaries
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

June 30, 2023 and 2022

The following table summarizes the value of the community benefit initiatives outlined in the Health
System's most recently filed Community Benefit Reports .for the year ended June 30, 2022:

(in thousands of dollars) .

Uncompensated cost of care for Medicaid • $ - 235,081 -

Health professional education ' 43,186 '
Subsidized health services 21,202 "
Charity care ' 16,011
Community health improvement services 15,'695
Research 7,254 • •

Cash and In-Kind Contributions 4.001

Community building activities ' 2,834
Total community benefit value.' $ 345,264

In fiscal years. 2023 and 2022, funds received to offset or subsidize charity care costs provided
were $439,000 and $452,000, respectively.

For fiscal year 2022, Medicare costs exceeding reimbursement totaled $157,615,000.

*2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Basis of Presentation

The consolidated financial statements are prepared on the accrual basis of accounting in
accordance with accounting principles generally accepted In the United Slates of America, and
have been prepared consistent with the Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) Accounting
Standards Codification (ASC) 954, Healthcare Entities, which addresses the accounting for
healthcare entities. The net assets,, revenue, expense's, gains, and losses of healthcare entities
are classified based on the existence or absence,of donor-imposed restrictions. Accordingly, net
assets without donor restrictions are amounts not subject to donor-imposed stipulations and are
available for operations. Net assets with donor restrictions are those whose use has been limited

by donors to a specific time period or purpose, or whose use has been restricted by donors to be
maintained in perpetuity. All significant intercompany transactions have been eliminated upon
consolidation. '

Use of Estimates

The preparation of the consolidated financial statements in conformity with accounting principles
generally accepted in the United States of America requires management to make estimates and
assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent
assets and liabilities at the dates of the consolidated financial statements and the reported amounts
of revenues and expenses during the reporting periods. The most significant areas that are
affected by the use of estimates include implicit and explicit pricing concessions, valuation of
certain investments," estimated third-party settlements, insurance reserves, and pension
obligations. Actual results may differ from those estimates.
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Dartmouth-Hitchcock Health and Subsidiaries

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

June 30, 2023 and 2022

Deficiency of Revenue over Expenses
The Consolidated Statements of Operations and Changes in Net Assets include the deficiency of
revenue over expenses. Operating revenues consist, of those items attributable to the. care of"
patients, including contributions and investment income (loss) on investments of net assets without
donor restrictions, which are. utilized to provide'charity and other operational support. Peripheral
activities, including realized gains/losses on sales of investment securities and changes in
unrealized gains/losses on investments are reported as non-operating gains (losses).

Changes In net assets without donor restrictions which are excluded from the deficiency of revenue
over expenses, consistent with industry practice, include contributions of long-lived assets
(including assets acquired using contributions which by donor restriction were to be used for the
purpose of acquiring such assets), and' change iri funded status of pension and other
postretirement benefit plans.

Charity Care
The Health System provides care to patients who meet certain criteria under their financial
assistance policies without charge, or at amounts less than their established rates. Because the
Health System does not anticipate collection of amounts qualifying as charity care, they are" not
reported as revenue.

The Health System grants credit, without collateral, to patients. Most are local residents and are
insured under third-party arrangements. The amount of charges for implicit price concessions is
based upon management's assessment of historical .and expected net collections, business and
economic conditions, trends in federal and state governmental healthcare coverage, and other
collection indicators (Notes 1 and 4). • , .

Patient Service Revenue •

The Health System applies the accounting provisions of ASC 606, Revenue from Contracts with ̂
Customers (ASC.606). Patient service revenue is reported at the amount of consideration to which
the Health System expects to be entitled from patients, third party payors, and others, for services
rendered, including estimated retroactive adjustments under reimbursement agreements with third-
party payors and implicit pricing concessions. Retroactive adjustments are accrued on an
estimated basis in the period the related services are rendered and adjusted in future periods as
estimates change or final settlements are determined (Note 4).

Contracted Revenue

The Health System has various Professional Service Agreements (PSAs), pursuant to which
certain organizations purchase services of personnel employed by the Health System and also
lease space and equipment. Revenue pursuant to these PSAs, and certain facility and equipment
leases and other professional service contracts, have been classified as contracted revenue in the
accompanying Consolidated Statements of Operations and Changes in Net Assets.

Other Revenue

The Health System recognizes other revenue, which is'not related to patient medical care but is
central to the day-to-day operations of the Health System. Other revenue, which consists primarily
of revenue from retail pharmacy, specialty pharmacy, and contract pharmacy, is recorded in the
amounts to which it expects to be entitled in exchange for the prescriptions. Other revenue also
includes Coronavirus Aid. Relief, and Economic Securities Act (CARES Act Provider Relief Funds)

.10
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Dartmouth-Hitchcock Health andiSubsidiaries

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

June 30, 2023 and 2022

■from the Department of Health and Human Services (HHS),-CARES Act Employee Retention
Credit Funds, operating.agreements, grant irevenue, cafeteria sales, and other support service

' revenue {Note 3 and 4). " ' ' ; .

Cash Equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents include amounts on deposit -vvilh financial institutions, short-term

'  investments with maturities of three months or less at thertime of purchase, and other highly liquid
investments (primarily cash management funds), which would be considered level 1 investments

_ under the fair value hierarchy. All short-term, highly liquid. Investments included within the Health
System's endowment and similar investment pools, otherwise qualifying as cash equivalents, are
classified as investments at fair value and, therefore, are excluded from cash and cash equivalents
in the Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows. ' , •

Investments and Investment Income (Loss).
Investments in equity securities with readily determinable fair values, mutual funds, governmental
securities, debt securities; and pooled/commingled funds are reported at fair value with changes in
fair value included in the deficiency of revenues over expenses. Fair value is the price that would
be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market
participants at the measurement date {Note 7).-

Investments in pooled/comrnihgled investment funds, private equity funds, and hedge funds that
. represent investments where the Health System owns, shares or units of funds rather than the
underlying securities in that fund are valued using the equity method of accounting with changes in
vajue recorded in the deficiency of revenue over expenses.

•Certain members of the Health System are partners in a NH general partnership established for the
purpose of operating a master investment program of pooled investment accounts. Substantially

' all of the Health Systern's board-designated and;assets with donor restrictions, such as endowment
■ funds, were invested .in these pooled funds by purchasing units based on the market value of the

pooled funds at the end of the month prior to receipt of any new addition's to the funds. Interest,
dividends, and realized and unrealized gains and losses earned on pooled funds are allocated
monthly based on the weighted average units outstanding at the prior month-end.

Investment income or losses {including change in unrealized and realized gains and losses on
investments, change in value of equity method investments. Interest, and dividends) are included in
the deficiency of revenue over expenses and classified as non-operating gains and losses, unless
the income or loss is restricted by donor or law {Note 9).

Fair Value Measurement of Financial Instruments

The Health Systern..estimates fair value based on a valuation framework that uses a fair value
hierarchy that prioritizes the inputs to valuation techniques used to measure fair value. The
hierarchy gives the highest priority to quoted prices in active markets for Identical assets or
liabilities {Level 1 measurements) and the lowest priority to unobservable inputs {Level 3
measurements). The three levels of fair value hierarchy, as defined by ASC 820, Fair Value
Measurements and Disclosures, are described below:

Level 1 Unadjusted quoted prices in active markets that are accessible at the measurement
date for assets or liabilities.

11
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-  Level 2 Prices other than quoted prices in active;jnaFkets that are either directly or indirectly
• observable as of the date of measurement. , -

Level 3 Prices or valuation techniques that are both :significant to the fair value measurement
and unobservable. • • . . • '

The carrying arriounts of patient accounts receivable, prepaid and other current assets, accounts
payable and accrued expenses approximate fair value due to the short maturity of these
instruments.

Property, plant, and equipment T .
•  Property, plant, and equipment, and other real estate are,stated at cost at the time of purchase or

fair value at the time of donation, less accumulated depreciation. The Health System's policy is to
capitalize expenditures for major improvements and to charge expense for maintenance and repair
. expenditures which do not extend the lives of the related assets. The provision for depreciation
has been determined using the straight-line method at rates which are intended to amortize the
cost of assets over their estimated useful lives which range from 10 to 40 years for buildings and
irnprovements, 2 to 20 years for equipment, and the shorter of the lease term, or 5 to 12 years, for
leasehold improvements. Certain software development costs are amortized using the straight-line
method over a period of up to 10 years. Net interest cost incurred on borrowed funds during the
period of construction of capital assets is capitalized as a component of the cost of acquiring those

.. assets. , . V -■ - •" .

Gifts of capital assets such as land, buildings,-or equipment are reported as support, and excluded
.  from the deficiency of revenue over expenses,, unless explicit donor stipulations specify how the

donated assets must be used. Gifts,of capital assets with explicit restrictions that specify how the
^ assets are to be used and gifts of cash or other assets that must be used to acquire capital assets

• ' are reported as restricted support. Absent explicit donor stipulations about how long those capital
assets must be maintained, expirations of donor restrictions are reported when the donated or
acquired capital assets are placed in service.

Bond Issuance Costs
Bond issuance costs, classified on-^the consolidated balance sheets within long-term debt, are .
amortized over the term of the related bonds. Amortization is recorded within interest expense in
the consolidated statements of operations and changes in net assets using the straight-line method
which approximates the effective interest method.

-12/
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,1 -

Intangible Assets and Goodwill
The Health System records within other assets: on '.the consolidated .balance sheets goodwill and
intangible assets such as trade names and leases-in-place. TThe iHealth System considers-trade
names and goodwill to be indefinite-lived assets, assesses them at least annually for impairment or
more frequently if certain events or circumstances warrant and recognizes impairment charges for
amounts by which the carrying values exceed their fair values. The Health System has recorded
$8,367,000 and $8,885,000 as intangible assets as of June 30,.2023 and 2022, respectively.,

Gifts

Gifts without donor restrictions are recorded net of related expenses as non-operating gains;
Conditional promises to give and Indications of intentions to give to the Health System are reported
at fair value at the date the gift is received. Gifts are reported with donor restrictions "if they are
Veceived with donor stipulations that limit the use of the donated assets. When a donor restriction

- expires, that is, when a stipulated time restriction ends or purpose restriction is accomplished, net
assets with donor restrictions are reclassified as net assets without donor restrictions and reported
in the consolidated statements of operations and changes in net assets as net assets released
from restrictions.

Recently Issued Accounting Pronouncements
In March 2020, January 2021, and April 2022, the FASB issued standard updates on Reference
Rate Reform in response to the planned discontinuation' of the London Inter-Bank Offered Rate
(LIBOR), a key interbank reference rate. The standard provides accounting relief to contract
modifications and optional expedients for applying U.S. GAAP to contracts and other transactions
that reference LIBOR or other reference rates that are expected to be discontinued because of rate

,,reform. The Health System Is currently In the process of evaluating the irnpact of adoption of these
standards on the financial statements.

3. ■ TheXOVID-19 Pandemic \ . -

On March 11, 2020, the World Health Organization designated COVID-19 as a global pandemic
resulting in an extraordinary disruption to our nation's healthcare system. In response to COVID-
i9, the Coronavirus Aid Relief and Economic Security (CARES) Act was enacted which provided
different types of economic, support to a vyide vahety of organizations and individuals. The Health

.. System employed several CARES Act provisions, with the most significant impacts summarized
' below.

Health and Human Services Provider Relief Funds

The Health System received $1,822,000 and $100,346,000 in CARES Act Provider Relief Funds
for the years ended June 30, 2023 and 2022, respectively.

In July 2020, HHS issued reporting requirements for CARES Act Provider Relief Funds, requiring
recipients to identify healthcare-related expenses that remain unreimbursed by another source,

' attributable to the COVID-19 pandemic. If those expenses do not exceed the funding received,
recipients will need to demonstrate that the remaining -funds were used to compensate for a
negative variance in patient service revenue. HHS is entitled .to recoup Provider Relief Funds

. awarded in excess of expenses attributable to the COVID-19 pandemic that were not reimbursed

13
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by another source plus losses incurred due. to the decllne'in patient care revenue. There have been
no recoupments through June 30,2023. . .'

Medicare and Medicaid Services (CMS) Accelerated and Advance Payment Program

The Health System received CMS prepayment advances; related to the CARES Act, totaling
$245,200,000. In addition, the Health System accumulated payroll tax deferrals of $33,100,000.
Repayment of funds commenced in April 2021. The balances of CMS prepayment advances and
accumulated payroll tax deferrals at June 30, 2022 were $54,890,000 and $16,550,000,
respectively, and are included in estimated third party settlements and accrued compensation and
related benefits on the Consolidated Balance Sheets. The amounts for CMS prepayment advances
and payroll tax deferrals were repaid, in full, during the year ended June 30, 2023.

The Health System continues to address the challenges and impacts of the COVID-19 pandemic,
including protecting the health and safety of employees and patients, as well as assessing the
availability of personal protective equipment and other needed supplies to be better positioned for
potential surges. Additionally, the Health System continues to evaluate'the impact of new or
.changes to laws and regulations at the federal, state, and local levels and the potential effect on
Health System staffing and • operations. At this time, the Health System remains unable to
accurately predict the full extent to which the COVID-19 pandemic will affect the Health System's
future finances and operations. " .

4. . Net Patient Service Revenue and Accounts Receivable.

The Health System reports net patient service revenue at amounts that reflect the consideration to
, which it expects to be entitled in exchange/or providing patient care. These amounts are due from

patients, third-party payers (including managed care payers and government programs), and
others; and .they include variable consideration for "retroactive revenue adjustments due to
settlement of audits, reviews, and investigations. Generally, the Health System bills patients and

■  ' third-party payers several days after the services were performed or shortly after discharge.
Revenue is recognized as performance obligations are satisfied under contracts by providing
healthcare services to patients. .

The Health System determines performance obligations based on .the nature of the services
provided. Revenues for performance obligations satisfied over time are recognized based on
actual charges Incurred In relation to total expected charges as this method provides a reasonable
estimate of the transfer of services over the term of performance obligations based on inputs
needed to satisfy the obligations. Generally, performance obligations satisfied over time relate to
patients receiving inpatient acute care services. For inpatient services', performance obligations
are measured from admission to the point when there are no further services required for the
patient, which is generally the time of discharge. For outpatient services and physician services,
performance obligations are recognized at a point in time when the services are provided and no
further patient services are deemed necessary.

Generally, the Health System's patient service performance obligations relate to contracts with a
duration of less than one year, therefore the Health System has elected to apply the optional
exemption provided in ASC 606-10-50-14a and, therefore, we are not required to disclose the

'  aggregate amount of the transaction price allocated to performance obligations that are unsatisfied

14
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or partially unsatisfied at the end of the reporting period. This generally refers to inpatient services
at the end of the reporting period. The performance! obligations for these contracts are generally
completed when the patients are discharged, vyhich .generally occurs within days or weeks of the
end of the reporting period. , . ' .

Established charges represent gross charges. They are not the same as actual pricing, and they
generally do not reflect what a hospital is ultimately entitled to for services it provides. Therefore,
they are not displayed in the Health System's consolidated statements of operations and changes
in net assets. . - ,

Hospitals are paid amounts negotiated with insurance companies or set by government entities,
which are typicaily less than established or standard charges. Gross charges are used to calculate
Medicare outlier payments and to determine certain elements of payment under managed care
contracts. Gross .charges are what hospitals charge all patients prior to the application of
contractual adjustments and implicit price concessions.

Explicit Pricing Concessions
Revenues for the Health System under the traditional fee-for-service Medicare and Medicaid
programs are .based on prospectively determined rates per discharge or visit, reasonable
(allowable) cost, or prospective rates per episodic period, depending on the type of provider.

•  Inpatient acute care services provided to Medicare program beneficiaries are paid using the"
prospective payment system (PPS) to determine rates-per-discharge. These rates vary
according to a patient classification system (DRG), based on diagnostic, clinical,- and other,
factors.. In addition,- inpatient capital costs (depreciation and interest) are reimbursed by
Medicare on the basis of a prospectively determined rate per discharge. Medicare
outpatient services are paid.on a prospective payment system, based on a pre-determined
amount for each outpatient-procedure (APC), subject to various mandated .modifications.
Retrospectively .determined cost-based revenues under these programs, such as indirect
medical education, direct graduate medical education, disproportionate share hospital,
transplant services, and bad debt reimbursement are based on the hospital's cost reports
and are estimated using historical trends and current factors. The Health System's
payments for Inpatient services rendered to NH and VT Medicaid beneficiaries are based on
PPS, while outpatient services are reimbursed on a retrospective cost basis, or -fee

- ," schedules, for.NH beneficiaries. VT outpatient beneficiaries are paid on a prospective basis
per outpatient procedure. . ' • .

Inpatient acute, swing, and outpatient services furnished by Critical Access Hospitals (CAH)
are reimbursed by Medicare at 101% of reasonable costs, subject to 2% sequestration,
excluding ambulance services and inpatient hospice care.

Providers of home health services to patients eligible for Medicare home health benefits are
paid on a prospective basis, with no retrospective settlement. The prospective payment is
based on the scoring attributed to the acuity level of the patient at a rate determined by
federal guidelines. ' . . . .
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•  Hospice services to patients eligible for Medicare ̂hospice benefits are paid on a per diem
basis, with'' no retrospective' settlement, provleled_ the .aggregate annual Medicare
reimbursement is below a predetermined aggregate capitated rate.

•  The Health System's, cost-based services to Medicare and Medicaid are reimbursed during
the year, based on varying interim payment methodologies. Final settlement is determined
after the submission of an annual cost report and subject to audit of this report by Medicare
and Medicaid auditors, as well as administrative and judicial review. Because the laws,

regulations, and rule interpretations governing Medicare and Medicaid reimbursement are
complex and change frequently, the estimates recorded could change over time by material
amounts.

Revenues under Managed Care Plans (MCPs) consist primarily of payment terms involving
mutually agreed upon rates per diagnosis,- discounted fee-for-service rates, or similar
contractual arrangements. These revenues are also subject to review and possible audit.

- The MCPs are billed for patient services on an individual patient basis. An individual
patient's bill is subject to adjustments, in accordarice with contractual terms in place with the
MCPs following their review and adjudication of each bill.

The Health System is_not aware of any claims, disputes, or unsettled matters with any payer, that
would materially affect its revenues, for which it has not adequately provided in the accompanying
Health System's corisolidated financial statements.

The Health System provides charity care to patients who are unable to pay for healthcare services
they receive as determined by financial conditions..-"-Patients who qualify receive partial or full
adjustments to charges for services rendered. The Health System's policy is to treat amounts

. qualified as charity care as explicit price concessions and. as such, are not reported in net patient

service revenue. ' •

■ Vermont imposes a provider tax on home health agencies in the amount of 4.25% of Vermont
annual net patient revenue. In fiscal years 2023 and 2022, home health provider taxes paid were
^579,000 and $627,000, respectively.

Implicit Price Concessions

Generally, patients who are covered by third-party payer contracts are responsible for related co-
pays, co-insurance, and deductibles, which vary depending on the contractual obligations of
patients. The Health System also provides services to uninsured patients and offers those patients
a discount from standard charges. The Health System estimates the transaction price for patients
with co-pays, co-insurance, and deductibles, and for those who are uninsured, based on historical
collection experience and current market conditions. The discount offered to uninsured patients

reduces the transaction price at the time of billing; The uninsured and patient responsible accounts,
net of discounts recorded, are further reduced through implicit price concessions based on
historical collection trends for similar accounts and other known factors that impact the estimation
process. Subsequent changes to the estimate of transaction price are generally recorded as
adjustments to net patient services revenue in the period of change.

The implicit price concessions included in estimating the transaction price represent the difference
between amounts billed to patients and the amounts the Health System expects to.collect based on
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collection history with similar patients. Although outcomes vary, the Health System's policy is to
attempt to collect amounts due from patients, including,co-pays, co-insurance, and deductibles due
from insurance at the time of service while complying with all federal and state statutes and
regulations, including but not limited to. the Emergency Medical Treatment and Active Labor Act
(EMTALA). Through various systems and processes the Health System estimates Medicare and
Medicaid net patient service revenue and cost report- settlements and accrues final expected
settlements. For filed cost reports, the accrual is recorded, based on those filings, subsequent
activity, and on historical trends and other relevant evidence. For periods in which a cost report is
yet to be filed, accruals are based on estimates of what is expected to be reported, and any trends
and relevant evidence. Cost" reports generally must be filed within five months of the closing
period.

Settlements with third-party payers for retroactive revenue adjustments due to audits, reviews or
investigations are considered variable consideration and, are included in the determination of the
estimated transaction price for providing patient care' using the most likely ampunt. These
settlements • are estimated based on the terms of the, payment agreement with the payer,
cprrespondence from the payer, and historical settlement activity, including assessments to ensure
that it is probable that a significant reversal in the amount of cumulative revenue recognized will not
occur when the uncertainty associated with the retroactive adjustment is subsequently resolved.
Estimated settlements are adjusted in'future periods as adjustments become known, or as years
are settled or are no longer subject to such audits,'reviews or investigations.

. For the years.ehded June 30, 2023 and 2022, additional increases in revenue of $24,098,000 and
$19,743,000, respectively, were recognized, due. to changes in estimates of implicit price
concessions for performance obligations satisfied in prior years. " •

Net operating revenues consist primarily of patient service revenues, principally for patients
covered by Medicare. Medicaid, managed care and other health plans, as well as patients covered

, under the Health System's uninsured discount and charity care programs.
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The table below shows the Health System's sources of total operating ,revenue and other support
presented at the net transaction price for the years ended June.30, 2023.and 2022.

A. 18

2023

'  (in thousands of dollars) PPS CAH Total

Hospital

Medicare $ 587,377 $  -106,370 . $ 693,747

Medicaid' 168,410 18,824 - 187,234

Commercial . 862,502 88,492 950,994

■  Self-pay 11,307 802 12;i09

■  •Subtotal 1.629,596 214,488 1,844,084;

•' • Professional 504,370 ■ 35,578 539,948

Subtotal 2,133,966 250,066 2,384,032

Home based care 13,125

Subtotal . 2,397,157

Other revenue 706,242

:  Provider Relief Funds - 1,822

Total operating revenue and other support $  3,105,221

- 2022 .

■  .(in thousands of dollars) . PPS CAH Total

Hospital

.Medicare $ 542,292 $  99,976 $  642,268

- Medicaid 158,121 15,739 173,860

Commercial 809,736 81,395 891,131

*  Self-pay ' . ■ 7,027 902 . -■ 7,929

Subtotal 1,517,176 198,012 1,715,188

Professional ^ 470,559 .  40,186 ..510,745

'• . . Subtotal ' ■ - , 1,987,735. ■ .  238,198 ^ 2,225,933

Home based care 17,304

Subtotal 2,243,237

Other revenue 528,762
Provider Relief Funds 98,829

Total operating revenue and other support $  2,870,828
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Medicaid Enhancement Tax & Disproportionate'Share'Hbspital
On-May 22, 2018, the .State of New Hampshire ;and alh New Hampshire hospitals (Hospitals)
agreed to resolve disputed- issues and enter nnto a seven-year agreement to stabilize
Disproportionate Share Hospital (DSH),payments, with iprovisions for alternative payments in the
event of legislative changes to the DSH program. Under the agreement, the State committed .to
make DSH payments to the Hospitals in an amount no less than 86% of the Medicaid
Enhancement Tax (MET) proceeds collected in each fiscal year, in addition to providing for directed
payments or increased rates for Hospitals in an amount equal to 5% of MET proceeds collected

.from state fiscal year (SFY) 2021 through SFY 2024. The agreement prioritizes DSH payments to
critical access hospitals in an amount equal to 75% of allowable uncompensated care (UCC), with
.the remainder distributed to. Hospitals without critical access designation in proportion to their
allowable UCC amounts.

During the years ended June 30. 2023 and 2022, the Health System received DSH payments of
approximately, $85,853,000 and $77,488,000, respectively. DSH payments are subject to audit
and. therefore, for the years ended June 30, 2023 and 2022, the Health System recognized as
revenue DSH receipts of approximately $83,582,000 and approximately $75,988,000, respectively.

During the years ended June 30, 2023 and 2022, the Health System recorded $85,715,000 and^
382,725,000, respectively, of State of NH MET and State of VT provider taxes. The taxes are
calculated at 5.4®/o for NH and 6.0% for VT of certain patient service revenues. The Provider taxes

are included in operating expenses in the Consolidated Statements of Operations and Changes in
Net Assets. '

Accounts Receivable ' •

The following table'categorizes payors into four groups based on their respective percentages of
patient accounts receivable as of June 30, 2023 and 2022>

2023 * 2022

Medicare 36%" • 38%

Medicaid 12% 12%

Commercial "41% 38%

Self Pay 11% .  12%

Total 100% • ' 100%
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' 5. - investments

The composition of investments at June 30,2023iand/2022-is'setforth;in'the following table:

. (in thousands of dollars) 2023 2022

Assets limited as to use

Intemally designated by board ' '
Cash and short-term investments ' $  6,988 $  31,130

U.S. govemment securities '80,595 126,222

Domestic corporate debt securities ' 271,321 234,490

Global debt securities • ' , , 37,092 68,610

Domestic equities . . 205,200 198,742

International equities •' 75,199 '  63,634

Emerging markets equities 37,080 34,636

-Global equities 77,479 73,035

Real Estate Investment Trust 2 2

Private equity funds 141,808 .138,605

Hedge funds 44,558 55,069

Subtotal 977,322 .-  1.024,175

Investments held by captive insurance companies (Note 12)

U.S. government securities 30,366 27,242

■ Domestic corporate debt securities 13,918 7,902

Global debt securities ' 13,180 7,595

•  Domestic equities •13,994 10,091

International equities 5,372 4,692

-Subtotal 76,830 57,522

Held by trustee under Indenture agreement (Note 10).
Cash and short-term investments ' 17,310 99,397

. Total assets limited as to use .  .1,071,462 1,181,094

Other investments for restricted activities

Cash and short-term investments 21,243 ' 8,463
." U.S. government securities; • , 27,323 27,600

.  Domestic corporate debt securities 45,864 37,343

. Global debt securities 5,282 10,059

Domestic equities 30,754 34,142

Intemational equities 11,054 10,698

Emerging markets equities 5,187 5,587

Global equities 10,281 11,153

Real Estate Investment Trust 18 19

Private equity funds 18,816 21,166

Hedge funds 6,368 8,852

, Other 34 34

Total other investments for restricted activities 182,224 175,116

Total investments $ 1,253,686 $ 1,356.210
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Investments are accounted for using either the fair vailue method or equity method of accounting,
as appropriate on a case-by-case basis. The fair value .niethod is used for all debt securities and
equity securities that are traded on active markets and are valued at prices that are readily
available in those markets. The equity method-lis >4jsed when investments are made in
pooled/commingled investment funds that represent'investments where shares or units are owned
of pooled funds rather than the underlying securities In that fund. These pooled/commingled funds
make underlying investments in securities from the asset classes listed above.

.The following tables'summa'rize investments by the accounting methqd'utllized as of June 30, 2023
and 2022. Accounting standards require disclosure of additional information for those securities
accounted for using the fair value method, as shown In Note 7. -

2023

(in thousands of dollars)

Cash and short-term investments

U.S. government securities

Domestic corporate debt securities
Global debt securities

Domestic equities

International equities
Emerging markets equities

Global equities

Real Estate Investment Trust'

Private equity funds

Hedge funds
Other

•  Total investments

(in thousands of dollars)

Cash and short-term investments

U.S. government securities '

Domestic corporate debt securities

Global debt securities

Domestic equities

International equities
Emerging markets equities

Global equities
Real Estate Investment Trust

Private equity funds

Hedge funds
Other

Total investments

21.

Fair Value Eauitv Total

$  45,541 $ ■  - $■ 45,541
138,284 - 138,284
122,320 '208,783 331,103

■  55,554 - 55,554
-  204,541 45,407 249,948

■57,221 34,404 91,625
267 42,000 ,  42,267

- 87,760 .87,760
'  . 20.- - 20'
- 160,624 160,624

456 50,470 50,926
34 - ■ 34

.$ ■ 624,238 .$■ 629,448 ■■$ 1,253,686

2022

Fair Value Eauitv Total

$  , ' '138,990 $ ■ -  $ 138,990
18T.064 -  ' 181,064
118,642 161,093 279,735
57,558 28,706 86,264

191,767 51,208 '242,975
47,631 31,393 79,024

298 39,926 40,224-
- 84,187 84,187

21 21

- 159,771 159,771
443 63,478 63,921

34 - ^34
■$ 736,448 $ 619,762 $ 1.356,210
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For the years ended June 30, 2023 and 2022, investment Income (loss) is reflected in the
accompanying Consolidated Statements of Operations, and Changes in Net Assets as other'
operating revenue of approximately $905,000 and $857,000, respectively, and as non-operating
gains (losses) of approximately $58,119,000 and ($78,744,000), respectively.

Private equity limited partnership shares are not eligible for redemption from the fund or general
partner. It is the intent of the Health System to hold these investments until the fund has fully
distributed all proceeds to the limited partners and the term of the partnership agreements expire.

Under the terms of these agreements, the Health System has committed to contribute a specified
level of capital over a defined period of time. Through June 30, 2023 and 2022, the Health System
has outstanding commitments of $79,753,000 and $75,070,000, respectively.

6. ' Property, Plant, and Equipment

•  Property, plant, and equipment consists of the following at June 30, 2023 and 2022;

(in thousands of dollars) 2023 2022

Land $  40,749 ::&  40,749

~ Construction in progress .  43,117. 163,145

Land improvements 52,054 44,834'
.  • Buildings and improvements •  ̂ 1,166,776 984,743

Equipment • r , . " ' • , 1,101,410 1,042,582

- Subtotal property, plant, and equipment 2,404,106 2,276,053

Less accumulated depreciation - ■ ) 1,592,484 1,511,213
\

A '  Total property, plant, and equipment, net. ' $  .811,622 :5  . 764,840

As of June 30, 2023, construction in progress primarily consists of four projects; the Family and,
Community Care Clinic located in Keene, NH, the renovation of inpatient wings as part of the
Pavilion backfill project located in Lebanon, NH. and two lab software upgrades to the. Lebanon
campus. The estimated cost to complete the construction in progress is approximately $10,700,000.

the .construction in progress as of June 30, 2022, included the in-patient tower, the emergency
department (ED) expansion and the central pharmacy/supply chain facility renovation. All were
placed in service during the year ended June 30, 2023.

Capitalized interest of $59,000 and $6,853,000 is included in construction in progress as of June 30,
2023 and 2022, respectively.

/  • »

Depreciation expense included in operating activities was $87,029,000 and $83,661,000 for 2023 and
2022, respectively.
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7. Fair Value Measurements

The following is a description of the valuation "methodologies for-assets and liabilities measured at
fair value on a recurring basis: . . . . .

Cash arid Short-Term Investments

. Consists of money market funds and are valued at net asset value (NAV) reported by the financial
Institution and cash which will be used for future investment opportunities.

Domestic, Emerging Markets and International Equities '
Consists of actively traded equity securities and mutual funds which are valued at the closing price
reported on an active market on which the individual securities are traded (Level 1 measurements).

U.S. Government Securities, Domestic Corporate and Global Debt Securities
Consists of U.S. government securities, domestic corporate and global debt securities, mutual
funds and pooled/commingled funds that invest in U.S. government securities, domestic corporate
and global debt securities. Securities are valued based on quoted market prices or dealer quotes
where available (Level 1 measurernent). If quoted market prices are not available, fair values are
based on quoted market prices of comparable instruments or. if necessary, matrix pricing from a
third party pricing vendor to determine fair value (Level 2 measurements). Matrix prices are based
on-quoted prices for securities with similar coupons, ratings and maturities, rather than on specific
bids and offers for a designated security. Investments in mutual funds are measured based on the
quoted NAV as of the close of business In the respective active market (Level 1 measurements).
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Investments are classlfied in their entirety based "on thejlovvest level of input that is significant to the
fair value measurement. The'following.tablesCset-forth the consolidated financial assets and
liabilities that were.accounted for at fair value on aTecurnngibasis as of June 30, 2023 and 2022;

■  2023 ■ ' '

.  ,

(in thousands of dollars)' ;• Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 ' Total .

Assets ,■

Investments, ^ -

Cash and short term investments • I5  45,541 g;  - g ■  - $ 45,541 •
U.S. government securities 138,284 - 138,284
Domestic corporate debt securities 41,351 80,969 ' -  • 122,320

. Global.debt securities 24,429 ■ 31,125 -  • ■55,554
Dorhestic equities • 200,252 -  4,289 204,^1

.  International equities 57,221 - 57,221
Emerging market equities . 267 - 267

Real estate investment trust 20 - 20

Hedge funds \ ■456 - ' 456

Other ■ ' 1  34 - 34.

Total fair value investments 507,821" 116,417 . 624,238

Deferred compensation plan assets'
Cash and short-term investments 11,893 -  • 11,893
U.S. government securities' •  40 . - ■  ■ •  - ,  40
Domestic corporate debt securities 10,453 .  . - .

- 10,453
Global debt securities ' 16 - .  - 16

Domestic equities " • ' 41,841 - .  - • 41,841
Intemational equities ^ 5,874 .  .5,874
Erherging market equities ■ . 21 " .  - r' ■ .  21

^ Real estate • : • " • 14 ■ -  - - 14

Multi strategy fund 62,689 ' ■ • - 62,689

Total deferred compensation
plan assets 132,841 ' ,  132,841;

Beneficial interest,in trusts - 14,875 . 14,875

Total assets $  '640,662 .5E  .116,417 " JE  . 14,875 $i  771,954'
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j

2022

(in thousands df dollars) Level 1 X-evel2 Level 3 Total

Assets
'

Investments ' ' < '

Cash and short term investments. $.. 138;990 ■  - $;■ '138,990
U.S. government securities 181,064 . - 181,064
Domestic corporate debt securities 1,768 116,874 - 118,642
Global debt securities -  24,745 t  . -32,813 57,558
Domestic equities ■  187,063 4,704 -- 191,767
International equities 47,631 • - 47,631
Emerging rnarket equities " " • . 298 • - 298

■ Real eslateinvestment trust 21 ■  - 21.
Hedge funds 443 ■. - • . 443
Other - 34 . 34

Total fair value investments ■ 582,023 154,425 - 736,448

Deferred compensation plan assets
•

Cash and short-term investments 8,053 - 8,053l
U.S. government securities 36 • - 36
Domestic corporate debt securities 10,874 - - 10,874
Global debt securities 964 - - 964
Domestic equities . . 33,742 - 33,742

•  International equities 4,911 .1, • 4,911
Emerging market equities 19.. .. ; • 19
Real estate ' ' .12 •  - - 12
Multi strategy fund . , .  . 57,964 - 57,964

Total deferred compensation ■
• •

planassets' 116,575. 116,575

Beneficial interest in trusts -
.  • 16,051 16,051

Total assets $  698,598 $  154,425 -$ 16,051 $ 869,074

There were no transfers into or out of Level 1, 2. or 3 measurenients due to changes in valuation
methodologies during the years ended June 30, 2023 and 2022. '

There were no liquidations of Level 3 measurements during the years ended June 30, 2023 and
2022.

... :
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8. ■ Net Assets with Donor Restrictions • '

'' Net'assets with donor restrictions are available for,-the following fDurpbses at June 30, 2023 and
-  2022: ' ' ;

(in thousands of dollars) ' . • 2023 2022

Investments held in perpetuity- $  88,926' $  84,117

Healthcare services • 38,596 36,123

Research 28,176 .27,477

Health education • • < ,• ' "■ 27,374 ■  ■ 27,164
Charity care • , , • 12,486 ^ 12,155
Other -  10,825 ,, 8,639
Purchase of equipment ■  ' . 3,950 ■ ■  3,828

Total net assets with donor restrictions $  , 210,333 1S ■ 199,503

'i'

Board Designated and Endowment Funds * -

, - Net assets include funds established for a variety of purposes including both donor-restricted
endowment funds and funds designated by the Board of Trustees to function as endowments. Net

, assets associated with endowrnent funds, including funds designated by the Board of Trustees to
'  * function as endowments, are classified and reported based on the existence or absence of donor-

imposed restrictions'. - . .

.-.The Health System has interpreted the NH and VT'Uniform Prudent Management of Institutional
Funds Acts {UPMIFA or Act) for donor-restricted endowment funds.as requiring the preservation of

, the original value of gifts, as of the gift date, to donor-restricted endowrrient-funds. absent explicit
•:-donor stipulations to the contrary. The Health System's net assets with donor restrictions, which
' are to be held in perpetuity, consist of (a) the original value of gifts donated to the permanent
. endowment, (b) the original value of subsequent gifts to be held in perpetuity, and (c)

accumulations to the permanent endowment made in .accordance with the direction of^the
'  applicable donor gift instrument at the time the accumulation is' added to the fund," if-any.

Collectively these amounts are referred to as the historic dollar value of the fund.
•, .1 " ' ' . ■ . t' ' . . ' ■ • ' • •

Net assets without donor restrictions include funds designated by the Board of Trustees to function
as endowments, the income from certain donor-restricted endowment funds, and any accumulated

.  investment return thereon, which pursuant to donor intent may be expended based on trustee or
management designation. Net assets with donor restrictions that are temporary.in nature, either
restricted by time or purpose, include funds appropriated for expenditure pursuant to endowment
and investment spending policies, certain expendable endowment gifts from donors, and any

, retained income and appreciation on donor-restricted endowment funds, which are restricted by the
donor to a specific purpose' or by law. When the restrictions on these funds have been met, the
funds are reclassified to net assets without donor restrictions.

In accordance with the Act, the Health System considers the following factors in making a
determination to appropriate or accumulate donor-restricted endowment funds: the duratiori and
preservation of the fund; the purposes of the donor-restricted endowment fund; general economic
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conditions; the ̂possible effect of .inflation and deflation; the expected total return from income and
the appreciation of investments; other"resburces.available; and investment policies. '

;'.The Health Systern'has endowment investrhent and spending policies that attempt to provide a.
predictable stream of.funding for-programs supported by its endowment while ensuring that the
purchasing power does not decline over time. The Health System targets a diversified asset

. allocation that places emphasis on investments in domestic arid international equities, fixed
income, private equity, and hedge fund strategies to achieve its long-term return objectives within

prudent, risk constraints. The Health System's Investment Committee.reviews the policy,portfolio
• asset allocations, exposures, and risk profiled on an ongoing basis.

The Health System, as a policy,- may appropriate for expenditure or accumulate so much of an
endowment fund as the institution determines is prudent for-the uses, benefits, purposes, and .
duration for which the endowment is established, subject to donor intent expressed in the gift
instrument and the standard of prudence prescribed by the Act.

From time to time, the fair value of assets associated with individual donor-restricted endowment

■ funds may fall below their original contributed value. Such market .losses were not material as of
..June 30. 2023 and 2022.

■ Endowment net asset composition by type of fund consists, of the following at June.30, 2023 and '
: 2022:. . . ' ' '

■  2023 ." • •• '' . '

•- (in thousands ot dollars)

Donor-restricted endowment funds

-V. Board-designated endowment funds

Vyithout With

Donor Donor .

Restrictions Restrictions Total

$•:. - - •$
28,'688" .

111,843 $ 111,843 • ;

-  ■ • 28,688

Total endowed net assets $ 28,688 $ 111,843 $ 140,531

2022

(in thousands of dollars)

Donor-restricted endowment funds

Board-designated endowment funds

Total endowed net assets

Without

Donor

Restrictions

With.

Donor

Restrictions

$  107,590 $

Total ,

107,590

41,344

$  41,344 $ 107,590 $ 148,934

41,344

>  .
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Changes In endowment net assets for the.years ended June 30, 2023 and 2022 are as follows:

'  2023

Without With

Donor Donor

(in thousands of dollars) Restrictions ' Restrictions Total

Beginning of year balances $  41,344 $  ■■ 107,590 $ 148,934 ■ .. '

Net investment return 212 1,305 ■  1,517
Cbntrlbutlons • 3,201 ,■ 3,201 •

Transfers (12,743) 2,561 (10,182)
Release of appropriated funds. (125) (2.814) . (2,939)
End of year balances $  28,688 $  111,'843 $■ 140,531; ■ ■

End of year balances 111,843 .
Beneficial Interest in perpetual trusts 13,954
Net assets with donor restrictions

,

$  125,797-

... 2022 f

Without With

Donor, , Donor
(in thousands of dollars)
'  ■ ^

Restrictions Restrictions Total
"T- ''

. . .. N , • »

Beginning of year balances $  41,728 .$ 108,213 $ .  149,941 •  f' ■ ^ ■

Net InvestmentVeturn (1,065) (3,998)- • (5,063) '  * A

Contributions • '  - ) 12,950 12,950
Transfers ' > • ' . . ■. .795 (7,105), .(6,310) - ■
Release of appropriated funds ■  ' (114) (2,470) (2,584) •

End of year balances $  41,344 ,$ 107,590 '$ 148,934

End of year balances -107,590
Beneficial Interest in perpetual'trusts" 14,903

Net assets with donor restrictions $. - 12^493 ■
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10.- Long-Terni Debt J

J  ̂

'  A summary of obligated group debt at June 30,'2023 and 2022 is as follows:

.  (in thousands of dollars) . .  2023. 2022

tl '

'  ' Variable rate issues ■

New Hampshire Health and Education Facilities . '

. Authority (NHHEFA) Revenue Bonds

.  • Series 2018A, principal maturing in varying annual
. ' . ' amounts, through August 2037 (1) $. 83,355 $■ . 83,355

Fixed rate issues

New Hampshire-Health and Education Facilities
-  '* Authority Revenue Bonds ' -  .

Series 2018B, principal maturing in varying annual
■  amounts, through August 2048 (1) - 303,102 303,102

■  Series 2020A, principal maturing in varying annual
amounts, through August 2059 (2) 125,000 125,000'

Series 2017A, principal maturing in varying annual
■  ■ arnounts, through August 2040 (3) 122,435 122,435

.'Series'2017B, principal maturing in varying annual
L  , --V; amourits, through August 2031 (3) - - ■,-109,800 109,800

.  Series 2019A, principal maturing in varying annual
..... ^ ' • ' amounts, through August 2043 (4) ■ "99,165 -  - '99,165

.  ■ • " • Series 2018C, principal maturing in varying.annual "
amounts, through August 2030 {5} ■  , 22,860' 23,950
Series 2012, principal maturing in varying annual. , . v ■  . ,

-amounts, through July 2039 (6) " ■ - ■ 21.715' ■  , .22,605
-  -A-. ' ;  ' Series 2014B, principal maturing in varying annual

amounts, through August 2033 (7) '  14,530 ■  14.530

'  t ,
Series 2016B, principal maturing in varying annual
•amounts, through August 2045 (8) 10,970 10,970

;• i" Series 2014A, prindpal maturing in varying anriual •

amounts, through August 2022 (7) 4,810

Note payable
Note payable to a financial institution due in monthly interest
only payments through May 2035 (9) ■  125,000 125,000

Total obligated group debt $  1,037,932 $  1,044,722
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A summary of long-term debt at June 30, 2023 and 2022its asfollows:

(in thousands of dollars)' , ' ' >' '<■ 2023 ' '/' 2022
Other ' ; . 1  ̂

"• - Mortgage note payable to the US Dept of Agriculture: , . *
'  monthly payments of $10,892 include interest of 2.375%

through November 2046 • ' "  2,343- . 15  2,417-
Note payable to a financiai ihstitution with entire

/' principal due June 2034; collateralized by land • ;
and building. The note payable is interest free 232 / '  247

• Note payable to a financial institution payable in interest free.
. monthly installments through Decernber 2024; . ,

-  " collateralized by associated equipment ' • ■ .  32 .' '55
, Total nonobligated group debt 2,607 .  .2,719

Total obligated group debt .  1,037,932 .  1,044,722

;  ■ Total long-term debt 1,040,539 1,047,441 '

Add: Original'issue premium and discounts, net • , ;  80,112 ' 83,249
,  Less: Current portion • . ■  15,236 . 6,596

Debt issuance costs, net ■  6,453 6,806. ■

'Z . , ' • Total long-term debt, net'. ' $ ■ '1,098,962 ■'■$ ■  , -1,117,288

'  'I - ■: •-

}  'r- ^

Aggregate anriual principal payments for the next five years ending June 30 and thereafter are as'
••-i" '. V •. ' follows: , ■ '

(in thousands of dollars)' • - - 2023 "

2024 $ : 15,236 •
2025 ; ■ ■ 19,363
2026 .. ■ ■ , ; 20,209
2027. ■ . ■ . ■ ■ . ' • 20,915 ■
2028 ■ , ■ ■ ; ■ . . • 21,574. .
Thereafter , ' • 943,242

Total ' $ 1,040,539

. Dartmouth-Hitchcock Obligated Group (DHOG) Debt

MHMH established the DHOG for the purpose-of issuing bonds financed through NHHEFA or the
"Authority". The members of the obligated group at June 30, 2023 consist of D-HH, MHMH, DHC,
NLH, MAHHC, and APD. The member's of the obligated group at June 30, 2022 consisted of D-HH,

■ MHMH,'DHC, Cheshire, NLH, MAHHC, and APD. D-HH is designated as. the obligated group
agent.

.  . . * - \

• .V;
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■' •. •'* Effective June 26, 2023, after approval, from the D-HH! Board of Trustees, Cheshire withdrew from
'  ' ' ■ . the DHOG. The Cheshire Series 2012 bonds and the related obligated group note securing the

.• Cheshire bonds, .will remain outstanding and .therefore constitute a continuing joint and several
,  obligation of the DHOG. ' - ■ '

Revenue bonds, issued by members of 'the DHOG,'are administered through notes registered in
the name of the Bond Trustee and in accordance with the terms of a Master Trust Indenture. The

•  ,, Master Trust Indenture contains provisions permitting the addition, withdrawal, or consolidation of
■  . members of the DHOG under certain conditions. The notes constitute a joint and several obligation

. of the members of the DHOG (and any other future members of the DHOG) arid are equaliy and.
^  ratably collateralized by a pledge of the members' gross receipts! The DHOG is also subject to

'  . certain annual covenants under the Master Trust Indenture, the most restrictive is the Annual Debt
.  , Service Coverage Ratio (1.10x). ' • , , -

(1) Series 2018A and Series 20188 Revenue Bonds

The DHOG issued NHHEFA Revenue Bonds, Series 2018A and Series 2018B. in February
■  . •. r - 2018. The.Series 2018A revenue bonds mature in variable amounts through 2037 and were

used primarily to refund a portion of Series 2015A and ,Series 2016A revenue bonds. The
Series"2018B revenue-bonds mature in variable amounts through. 2048, and were used

.  •' .. . primarily to refund a portion of Series 2015A and Series 2016A revenue bonds, revolving line of
'  . credit, Series 2012 bank loan, and the Series 2015A and Series 2016A swap terminations. The

.  ■ interest on the Series 2018A.revenue bonds is.variable; with a current interest/ate of 5.00%.
. The interest on the Series 2018B revenue bonds is fixed, with ari interest rate of'4:18%, and

_  . matures invariable amounts through 2048.

. , - (2) Series 2020A Revenue Bonds

DHOG.issued NHHEFA Revenue Bonds,-Series'2020A,' in February 2020. The Series
•y-': .- 2020A revenue bonds mature in variable amounts through 2059 and the.proceeds are being-

used primarily to fund the construction of a 212,000 square foot inpatient pavilion in Lebanon,
NH, as well, as various equipment. The interest on the Series 2020A revenue bonds is fixed,

.with an interest rate of 5.00%. ' ; ' •
• .*. t

(3) Series 2dl7A and Series 2017B Revenue Bonds

The DHOG-issued NHHEFA .Revenue Bonds, Series 2017A and Series 20178,'in December
2017. .The Series i2017A revenue bonds mature in variable amounts through 2040 and were,
used primarily to refund Series 2009 and Series 2010 revenue bonds. The Series 2017B
revenue bonds mature in variable amounts through 2031 and were used to refund Series
2012A and Series 2012B revenue bonds. The interest on the Series 2017A revenue bonds is
fixed, with an interest rate of 5.00%. The interest on the Series 2017B revenue bonds is fixed,
with an interest rate of 2.54%.

(4) Series 2019A Revenue Bonds

The DHOG Issued NHHEFA Revenue Bonds, Series 2019A. in October 2019. The Series'
2019A revenue bonds mature in variable amounts through 2043 and were used prirharily to

•  'A > ^ •
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V-

fund the construction of a 91,000-square foot expansion of facilities in Manchester, NH, to
include an Ambulatory Surgical Center as well as various, equipment. The interest on the
Series 2019A revenue bonds is fixed, with an interest"rate of 4.00%.

(5) Series 20180 Revenue Bonds J

The DHOG issued NHHEFA Revenue Bonds, Series 20180, in August 2018. The Series 2018C
revenue bonds mature in variable amounts through 2030. and were used primarily to refinance
the Series 2010 revenue bonds". The interest on the .Series is fixed, with an interest rate of
3.22%.' .

(6) Series 2012 Revenue Bonds.

The DHOG issued. NHHEFA Revenue Bonds. Series 2012, in November 2012. The Series
2012 revenue bonds rriature in variable amounts through 2039 and were used to refund 1998
and 2009 Series revenue bonds, finance the settlement cost of the interest rate swap, and
finance the purchase of certain equipment and renovations. The revenue bonds have fixed
interest coupon rates ranging from 2.0% to 5.0% (a net interest cost of 3.96%).

(7) Series 2014A and Series 2014B Revenue Bonds

The DHOG issued NHHEFA Revenue Bonds, Series 2014Aand Series 2014B, in August 2014..

^ The Series,2014A revenue bonds mature in 2022. The Series 2014B revenue bonds mature at
. various dates through 2033. The proceeds from the Series 2014A'and 2014B revenue bonds
vyere used partially to refund the Series 2009. revenue bonds .and to cover cost of issuance.

.  Interest on'the 2014A revenue bonds is fixed, with an interest rate of 2.63%. Interest on the

-  Series 2014B revenue bonds.is fixed, with an interest rate of 4.00%.

(8) Series 2016B Revenue Bonds > * ,

"The DHOG issued NHHEFA Revenue Bonds,.Series 2016B, in July'2016, through a.private
placement with a financial institution. The Series 2016B revenue bonds mature at various

"  dates

with an

through 2045 and were used to finance certain'2016 projects. The Series 2016B is fixed,
in interest rate of 1.78%.' *'• '

(9) Note payable to financlal lnstltution

The DHOG issued a note payable to TD Bank in May 2020. Issued in response to the COVID-
19 pandemic, the proceeds from the note will be used to fund working capital, as needs require.
The note matures at various dates through 2035 and is fixed, with an interest rate of 2.56%.

Outstanding joint and several indebtedness of the DHOG at June 30, 2023 and 2022 is
$1,037,932,000 and $1,044,722,000, respectively.

"^Jhe Health System Indenture agreements require establishment and maintenance of debt service
reserves and other, trustee held funds. Trustee held funds of $17,310,000 and $99,397,000 at June

. 30, 2023 and 2022, respectively, are classified as assets, limited as to use in the accompanying
Consolidated Balance Sheets {Note 5). In addition, debt service reserves of approximately $46,000

I %
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and $6,674,000 at June 30,.2023 and 2022, respectively, are'classified as other current assets in
• the accompanying Consolidated Balance Sheets. The debt service reserves are mainly comprised

- ' ̂ of escrowed construction funds at June 30,.2023 and 2p22.'t

'  • For the years ended, June 30, 2023 and 2022 interest'.expense on the Health System's long-term
,  ■ debt is reflected in the accompanying Consolidated Statements.of Operations and Changes' in Net
"Assets as operating expense of'approximately $34,515,000 and $32,11.3,000, respectively,„and

.  other non-operating losses of $3,782,000 and $3,782,000, respectively, net of amounts capitalized.,

11. Employee Benefits i ' *

Eligible employees of the Health System are covered under-various defined benefit and/or defined
contribution plans. In addition, certain members provide postretirement medical and life Insurance
benefit plans to certain active and former employees who meet eligibility requirements. The
postretirement medical and life plans are not funded.

The Health Systern's defined benefit plans have been frozen and, therefore, there are no remaining
- participants earning benefits in any of the Health System's defined benefit plans.

Defined Benefit Plans . , , - , ,, . , .
Net periodic pension expense included in employee , benefits expense,-, in the Consolidated
Statements of Operations and Changes in Net, Assets,"Is comprised of the following components-

"  .for the years ended-June 30, 2023 and 2022: V . . , - .

.  '(in thousands of dollars) ' • 2023 2022

.  Interest cost on projected benefit obligation, ; ' " $ 45,924 "$ 36,722
Expected.return on plan assets • (46,071) • (65i917) -

.V - ^ '• " Net loss amortization / ' 15,820 '■ ' 13,139'
Total net periodic pension expense " $ 15,673 ' $ (16,056)

The-following assumptions were, used to determine net periodic pension expense as of June 30.
•. - 2023 and 2022: ' ' ' ' .

2023 ' 2022

Discount rates ' " 4.40%-5.10% 3.30%
Rate of increase in compensation • > N/A N/A
Expected long-term rates of return on plan assets 4.40% - 7.25% 7.50%

<  * 4 '• *' . . ' , ^
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The following table sets forth the funded status andiamounts recognized in the Health System's
consolidated financial statements for the defined benefit pension plans at June 30, 2023 and 2022;

(in thousands of dollars)

Change in benefit obligation

Benefit obligation, beginning of year
Interest cost'

Benefits paid, '

•-Actuarial loss

Benefit obligation, end of year

Change In plan assets
Fair value of plan assets," beginning of year
Actual return on plan assets

Benefits paid
Employer contributions

Fair value of plan assets, end of year

Funded status of the plans

Less; Current portion of liability for pension

Long-term portion of liability for pension

.  . Liability for pension

2023 2022

$  ■ . 938,886 S5  1,140,221
45,924 36,722

•  (58,580) (54,864)

(59.480) (183,193)

866,750 '  =938,886

747,095.

'  s

958,864

1,229 (169,405)
(58,580) (54,864)

- ■  12,500

'689,744 747,095

(177,006). . (191,791)

(177,006) (191,791)

$ •• (177,0.06) $ (191,791)

As of June 30, 2023 and 2022, the liability for pension is included in the liability for pension and
other postretirement plan benefits in the accompanying Consolidated Balance Sheets. .

Amounts not yet reflected in net,periodic pension expense and included in the change in net assets
without donor, restrictions include $489,486,000 and $519;946,000 of net actuarial loss as of
June 30, 2023 and 2022, respectively. , - . •

The amounts amortized from net assets without donor restrictions Into net periodic pension
expense in fiscal year,2023 for.net actuariaf losses was $15,820,000.

The following table sets forth the assumptions used-to determine the accumulated benefit
obligation at June 30, 2023 and 2022;

Discount rates

Rate of increase In compensation

2023

4.85 - 5.90%

N/A

2022

4.40-5.10%

N/A

The primary investment objective for the defined benefit plans' assets is to support" the pension
liabilities of the pension plans for employees of the Health System, by providing long-term capital
appreciation and by also using a Liability Driven Investing {"LDI") strategy to partially hedge the
impact fluctuating interest rates have on the value of the pension plan's liabilities. As of June 30,

'34-



Docusign Envelope ID; F675867A-7806-422C-A080-A6F1124E7A7C

Dartmouth-Hitchcock Health and Subsidiaries
Notes to Consolidated Financial-Statements
June 30,2023 and 2022 - • - . _

.  2023, it is expected that the LDI strategy will hedge approximately 70.% of the interest rate risk
associated with pension Ijabilities. As of June .30, -2022, the expected LDI hedge was

.  . ■ approximately 70%. To achieve the appreciation and hedging objectives, the pension plans utilize
•  a diversified structure of asset classes. The aisset classes are designed to.achieve stated

. performance objectives, measured on a total return basis which includes income plus realized and
"  unrealized gains and losses. ' _ ■ ; • .

The range of target allocation percentages and the target allocations for the various investments
'i are as follows: .

Cash and short-term investments

U.S. governrnent securities

Domestic debt securities

Global debt securities •

Domestic equities

Interhational equities
Emerging market equities

Global Equities-
Real estate investment trust funds

Private equity funds
Hedge funds

Range of

Target
Allocations

0-5%

0-10

20-58

6-26

5-35

5-15

3-13

-  0-10

0-5 .

0-5

5-18

Target ,

Allocations.

'3%

-  5

■  ■ 42

4

17

7

4

6

I  . ,
0  .

II

, To the extent an asset class falls outside of its target range on a quarterly basis, the Health System
'..v-V: ■= '* -'-' Shall determine appropriate steps, as it deems necessary,-to rebalance the asset class.

'  ' • The Boards of Trustees of the Health System, as plan sponsors, oversee the design, structure, and
prudent professional managemerit of the Health Systern's pension, plans' assets, in accordance

.  with. Board, approved investment policies, roles, responsibilities, and authorities and .more
,  • specifically the following: • • , . •

'  • .Establishing and modifying asset class targets with Board approved policy ranges,

•  Approving the asset class rebalancing procedures,

•' Hiring and terminating investment managers, and

•  Monitoring performance of the investment managers, custodians and investment consultants.

The hierarchy and inputs to valuation techniques to measure fair value of the Plans' assets are the
same as outlined in Note 7. In addition, the estimation of fair value of investments in private equity

-  and hedge funds for which the underlying securities do not have a readily determinate value is
made using the NAV per share or'its equivalent as a practical expedient. The Health System's

. pension .plans own interests in both private, equity and hedge funds rather than in securities
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undehying each fund and, therefore, the Health'System;"generally considers such Investments as
Level 3, even though the underlying securities^ma^ not be difficult to value or may be^readily
marketable. ' -.i

The following table sets forth the Health System's pension plans'-investrhents that were accounted
for at fair value as of June 30, 2023 and 2022:

2023

Redemption Days'

(in thousands of dollars)- Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total or Liouidation Notice

Investments

Cash and short-term investments $ ;$ 10,667 $ $  10,667 Daily ' 1

U.S. government securities 22,919 - 22,919 Daily-Monthly.. 1-15 .

Domestic debt securities . ■ .96,004 ' • -250,964. - - 346,968 - Daily-Monthly 1-15

Global debt securities ' . - - - Daily-Monthly ' •  1-15

Domestic equities 89,391 26,849 - 116,240 Daily-Monthly 1M0 -

International equities 18,912 . 22,361 - 41,273 Daily-Monthly . 1-11
Emerging market equities - 26,743 - 26,743 ' Daily-Monthly 1-17

Global equities - 52,461 - 52,461 Daily-Monthly 1-17

Private equity funds . . 13 13 See Note 5 See Note 5

Hedge funds - 72,460- • .  72,460 , Quarterly-Annual 60-96

Total investments . $  227,226 $390,045 $ 72,473 $689,744 • •

2022

(in thousands of dollars).

Investments •

Cash and short-term investments

U.S. government securities ,
Domestic debt securities

Global debt securities .

Domestic'equities
International equities
Emerging market equities

Global equities •
Private equity funds
Hedge funds . .." ,

Total investments

l.evel 1-

• 124,686

^ 17,530

104,070

15,558

Level 2

$ 16,030 ,$

.  226,107

24,136 '

31,324 ■

20,406

25,487

54,787

Level 3 ' . Total .

• 14

86,960

$ -16,030

. 124,686

^'243,637
■ 24,136

■  136,394

. 35,964

25,487

54,787

" 14

86,960

Redemption

or Liquidation

Daily-.
Daily-Monthly

- . Daily-Monthly
Daily^onthly
Daily-Monthly
Daily-Monthly
Daily-Monthly

• Daily-Monthly
.See Note 5 .

, Quarterty-Annual .

Days'..
Notice

■1 •
1-15

1-15'
••• '1-15. .-

1-10
1-11
1-17
1-17

See Note 5
60-96 ■

$ 261,844 - •$ 398,277 $ 86,974- $ 747,095

• V.-. .-'r- 36;
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The following tables present additional information about 4he changes in Level 3 assets measured
at fairValue for the years,ended June 30i'2023.and 2022: ;

(in thousands of dollars)

Beginning of year balarices

Sales

Net unrealized losses

End of year balances

.2023

Hedge Funds

$  ..

. Private

Equity Funds

, 86,960 $

{13,013)'
(.1,487) _

72,460- $

14 $

ili
13 $

Total

86,974

(13,013)

' (1,488)

72,473

2022

(in thousands of dollars).

Beginning of year balances

Purchases'

Sales

Net unrealized losses

. End of year balances ' ■

Hedge Funds

)  15,512

■81,400
(2,152)
(7,800)

Private ,
Equity Funds

86',960 . $

15 $

liU
14

Total

15,527
81,400
(2,152)
(7,801)

86,974

The total, aggregate net unrealized (losses) gains included in the fair.value of the Level 3
investments as of June 30, 2023 and 2022 were approximately ($12,443,000) and ($543,000),
respectively. Hedge funds totaling $13,013,000 and $2,152,000 were liquidated in'2023 and 2022,
respectively. . • • - ' ■ • •

There were, no transfers into or out of Level 1; 2, or 3.measurements due to changes, in valuation
methodologies during the years ended June 30, 2023 and 2022.
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The weighted average asset allocation, by asset category,-ifor the Health System's pension plans is
as'follows at June 30. 2023 and 2022:

2023 2022

Cash and short-term investrhents" ;  . 3% -V ■  .2 %
U.S. government securities ■  5 ■ " ' 17 '

Domestic debt securities -  42 33

Global debt securities' 4 3

Domestic equities 17 .  18 .

International equities . 7 " 5 ■"
Emerging market equities 4 ,3 ■
Global equities .6- 7
Hedge funds -  - .12 ■ 12 '

Total 100% 100 %

•}

The expected long-term rate of return on plan assets is reviewed annually, taking into consideration,"
■I • the asset allocation, historical returns on the types of assets held, and the current economic

,  environment. Based on these factors, it Is expected that.the pension assets will earn an average of
7.25% per annum.

The Health System is expected to contribute approximately $15,888,000 to the Plans-in-2024
■  however actual contributions may vary from expected amounts. ■ •

• ^. The following benefit payments, which reflect expected future service, as appropriate, are expected
f  "to be paid for the years ending June 30 and thereafter: " . . .

-  (in thousands of dollars) . —

2024 " ■ .122,722 - ' - -
2025 ' . 58,784

,  . 2026 59,960
,  ' , - .. 2027 ■ . ■ _ 61.029 :
■■/r -- ' ' 2028 ' . 61,971 ■ ' .

'  - '2629-2033 ■ - 313,803

The Cheshire Medical Center plan was terminated effective June 30, 2022, pending regulatory
approvals. Following regulatory approval, the plan sponsor intends to distribute assets and settle
plan obligations through a lump sum offering to active and terminated vested participants and a
group annuity contract will'be purchased for any participant that doesn't elect the lump sum, along
with all participants currently in pay status, the benefit obligation for the plan reflects anticipated
disbursement costs and a terminal cash contribution to fully fund benefits will be made at that time."
The obligations reflect the cost of providing the lump sums and group annuity, described above, as
well as administrative costs and a terminal contribution which will be necessary to fund all of the
costs of terminating the plan. It is expected that the obligations will be settled by June 30, 2024 and
the plan termination liability will reflect econorhic conditions, lump sum election rates and annuity

.  pricing at that time. As a result, the final plan termination liability may be different from the amounts
shown in this report.
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; C

Defined Contribution Plans

The Heaith System has erripioyer-sponsored pians for certain of its members, under which the
■empioyer makes contributions based on specified percentages of compensation and empioyee
deferrai amounts. Jotai employer contributions to the plan of approximately $71,152,000 and
$64,946,000 in 2023 and 2022, respectively, are included in employee benefits expenses in the
accompanying Consolidated Statements of Operations and Changes in Net Assets.

Postretirement Medical and Life Insurance Benefits
The Heaith System has postretirement medical and iife insurance benefit pians covering certain of
its active and former employees. The pians generally provide medical or medical and life insurance"
benefits to certain retired employees who meet eligibility requirements. The pians are,not funded.

Net periodic postretirement medical and life benefit (income) cost is comprised of the components
listed below for the years ended June 30, 2023 and 2022:

(in thousands of dollars)' 2023 2022

Service cost ■ $ 357 $ 456
Interest cost 1,956 1,394.
Net loss amortization , 62 752

Total ■ • : • $ . 2,375 ' $ 2,602

The following table sets forth the accumulated postretirement medical and life insurance benefit
obligation amounts recognized in the Heaith System's consolidated financial statements at June"
30,2023 and 2022: , • .

.  (in thousands of dollars) - 2023 2022

.  Change in benefit obligation , ' ;
Accumulated benefit obligation, beginning of year $ 40,315 . $ 46,863
Service cost 357 456 "
interest cost " • 1,956 • 1,394
Benefits paid (3,588). (3,401) "
Actuarial loss " . ' ■ ■ (6,355) - .. (4,964)
Empioyer contributions - (33)

Accumulated benefit obligation, end of year 32.685 40,315

Current portion of liability for postretirement
medical and life benefits $ (3,386) $ (3,500)

Long-term portion of liability for "
postretirement medical and life benefits (29,299) (36,815)

Funded status of the pians and liability for
postretirement medical and life benefits $ (32,685) $ (40,315)

■  ■ , ,39
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As of June 30. 2023 and'2022, the liability for postretirement medical and life insurance benefits is
included in the liability for pension and other postretirement plan benefits in the accompanying
Consolidated Balance Sheets.

Amounts not yet reflected in net periodic income for the postretirerhent medical and life insurance
benefit plans,' included in the change in net assets without donor restrictions, are as follows:

(in thousands of dollars) , 2023 2022

Net actuarial (income) loss (1,970) 4,445

Total $ (1,970) $ '4.445

The following future benefit payments, which reflect expected future service, as appropriate, are
expected to be "paid for the years ending June 30, 2023 and thereafter:

(in thousands of dollars)

2024 ■ ,$ 3,486
2025 ■ 3,424 ' , '
2026 - . .3,396

.  ■ 2027 ^ 3,387
,  2028 ' 3,227

■  " • 2029-2033 . -14,893 ' •

In deterrhining the accumulated benefit obligation for the'postretirement medical and life insurance
plans, the Health System used a discount rates of 6.00 - 6.10% in 2023, and an assumed
healthcare cost trend rate of 6.50 - 7.00%, trending down to 5.00%" in 2029 and thereafter.

12. Professional and General Liability Insurance Coverage

- D-H, along with Dartmouth College,' Cheshire, NLH, ARD, MAHHC, and VNH are provided
. professional and general liability insurance on a clairhs-made basis through Hamden Assurance
. Risk Retention Group, Inc. (RRG), a VT-.captive insurance company. RRG cedes the-majority of

this risk to Hamden Assurance Company Limited.(HAC). a captive insurance company domiciled in
Bermuda,-and HAC cedes a portion of this risk to a variety of commercial reinsurers. D-H has
majority ownership interest in both HAC and RRG. The insurance program provides coverage to
the covered institutions, named insureds and their employees on a modified claims-made basis,
which means coverage is triggered when claims are made. Premiums and related insurance
deposits are actuarially determined, based on asserted liability claims adjusted for future
development. The reserves for outstanding losses are recorded on an undiscounted basis.
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!Selected financial data of HAC and RRG. ta'kenJfrom the latest,available financial statements at
June 30, 2023 and 2022, are summarized asifdilows:

9'

■2023

iHAC i-^RRG ■Total

(in thousands of dollars) ■
Assets ■$ ::93777 $  2,372 . $ 96,149
Shareholders' equity '  '13,620 50 13,670

2022

HAC ' RRG Total
(in thousands of dollars) .

Assets '$ 79.831 $  2,245 $ 82;076
Shareholders' equity 13,620 50 13,670

13. Commitments and Contingencies

• Litigation
The Health System is involved in various malpractice claims and legal proceedings of a nature
considered'normal to Its business. The claims are in various stages and some may ultimately be
brought to trial. It is the opinion of management that the final outcome of these claims will not have

• a material effect on the consolidated financial positioh of the Health System.

i
'/ 1/ .

Line of Credit
''The Health System has entered into a loan agreement with a financial institution, establishing

• access to a revolving loan of up to $100,000,000. Interest is variable and determined using the
Bloomberg Short-Term Bank Yield Index or the Wall -Street Journal Prime Rate. The loan
agreement Is due to expire October 3, 2024. The outstanding line of credit balance waS'
$40,000,000 and $0 as of . June 30, 2023 and 2022. respectively. Interest expense was
approxirnately $1,200,000 and $91,000, respectively, .and is included in the Consolidated
Statements of Operations and Changes in Net Assets. • ■ - '

14. Functional Expenses

Operating expenses are presented by functional classification in accordance with the overall
service missions of the Health System. Each functional classification displays ail expenses related
to the underlying operations by natural classification. Salaries, employee benefits, medical supplies

-  and medications, and purchased services and other expenses are generally considered variable
and are allocated to the mission that best aligns to the type of service provided. Medicaid
enhancement tax is allocated to program services. Interest expense is allocated based on usage of
debt-financed space. Depreciation and amortization Is allocated based on square footage and

•  specific identification of equipment used by department.
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Operating expenses of the Health System "by functional and natural' basis.are as follows for the
year ended June 30,2023;, •

(in thousands of dollars)

Operating expenses
.'Salaries

Employee benefits
Medical supplies and medications
Purchased sen/ices and other

. Medicaid enhancement tax

Depreciation and amortization
Interest

Total operating expenses

2023

"Program
Services

$ 1,238,158

293,359'

722,957 ,

•  305,192,

85,715

45;702
8,470

iManajement

and General

183,063

'38,778
2,517

•148,439

44,707

26,037

Fundraising

$  1,870.
249

6

5,270

48

8

Total

$ 1,423,091
332,386

725,480

458,901

85,715

90,457

34,515

$ 2,699,553 $ 443,541 • $ 7,451 $ 3,150,545

Program
Services

Non-operating expense

Employee benefits ,

Total non-operating expense

Management

and General

$  15,606 $

$  15,606 $

Fundraising

2.077 ,.$

"2,077 $

Total

8  $ 17,691

8  •. $ - 17.691
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Operating expenses of the Health System by functional and natural, basis are as follows for ithe-
year ended June 30,2022: '

2022

(in thousands of dollars)'

Operating expenses

Salaries

Employee benefits ••
Medical supplies and medications
Purchased services and other

Medicaid enhancement tax

Depreciation and amortization

Interest

Total operating expenses

Non-operating Income

Employee benefits • ^
. Total non-operating income

Prograin Management •  ̂

Services and General Fundraisina Total

$ 1.■129,572 $  184,533 $- 1-,302 $ 1,315,407
281,455 40,887 228 322,570
645,437 . 3,835 - 649,272

.  255,639 142,241 . 5,982 403,862
82,725 - . 82,725
42,227 ■ 44,675 56 ■ 86,958

9,116 22,987 10 32,113
$ 2,446,171 $  439,158 $  7,578 $ 2,892,907

Program Management
Services and General . Fundraisina Total

$  12,144' ■$■ 1,755 $  . 11 $  13,910
$  12,144". $  '1,755 $  11 $  13,910

N. .
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15. Liquidity " '
f

' The Health System is substantially supported by cash generated from operations. In addition, the
Health System holds, financial assets for specific purposes which are limited as to use. Thus,
certain financial assets reported on the accompanying Consdlidated^Balance Sheets may not be-

■ available for general expenditure within one year of the balance sheet date.

The Health System's financial assets available at June 3.0, 2023 and 2022 to meet cash needs for
• general expenditures within one year of June 30, 2023 and 2022, are as follows:

(in tho.usdnd$ of dollars), ' ' ' . 2023 2022

Cash and cash equivalents . $ ' ■ 115,996 $. 191,929

Patient accounts receivable 289,787 251,250

Assets limited as to use . .  1,071,462 _ 1,181,094
Other investments for restricted activities 182,224 175,116

Total financial assets $ 1,659.469 $ 1,799,389

Less:' Those unavailable for general expenditure
within one year:

Investments held by captive insurance companies. •  76,830 57,522

.  Investments for restricted activities. 182,224 175,116

■. Bond proceeds held for capital projects . . '  17.310 99,397
•  Other investments with liquidity horizons -

greater than one year 141,810 ^ 159,792

■  Total financial assets available'within one year . JE  ,1,241,295 $ 1,307,562

••'The'Health System used cash flow from operations of approximately $(164,033,000) .and
$(123,525,000) for the years ended June 30, 2023 and June 30, 2022, respectively. In addition, the

• Health System's liquidity management plan includes investing excess daily cash in intermediate or
long term investments based on anticipated liquidity needs. The Health System has an available

.line of credit of up to, $100,000,000 which it can draw upon-.as needed to meet its liquidity needs.
See Note 13 for further details on the line of credit. . "

'16. Lease Commitments

D-HH determines if an arrangement is or contains a lease at inception of the contract. Right-of-use
assets represent our right to use the underlying assets for the lease term and our lease liabilities

'  represent our obligation to make lease payments arising from the leases. Right-of-use assets and
lease liabilities are recognized at commencement date, based on the present value of lease

' payments over the lease term. The Health System uses the implicit rate noted within the contract. If
not readily available, the Health System uses an estimated incremental borrowing rate, which is

'  ■ derived using a collateralized borrowing rate,.for the same currency and term, as the associated
lease. A right-of-use asset and lease liability is not recognized for leases with an initial term of 12

'  months or less,-rather the Health System recognizes,lease expense for these leases on.a straight-
'  line basis,-over the lease term, within lease and rental expense.
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Operating leases are primarily for real-estate, including certain acute care facilities, off-campus
outpatient facilities; medical office buildings, and corporate and other'administrative offices. Real
estate lease agreements typically have initial terms-of S to 8 years. These real estate leases may
include one or more options to renew, with renewals that can extend the lease term from 2 to 5

.years. The exercise of lease renewal options is at the Health System's sole.discretion. When
determining the lease term, management includes options to extend or terminate the lease when it
is reasonably certain that the Health System will exercise that option.

■ Certain lease agreements for real estate include payments based' on actual common area
maintenance expenses and/or rental payments adjusted periodically for inflation. These" variable
lease payments are .recognized in other occupancy .costs in the Consolidated Statements of

. Operations and Changes in Net Assets, but are not included in the right-of-use asset or liability
balances in our Consolidated Balance Sheets. Lease agreements do not contain any material
residual value guarantees, restrictions, or covenants. • • , ■

The components of lease expense for the years,ended June 30. 2023 and 2022 are as follows:

(in thousands of dollars) 2023 ■ 2022

Operating lease cost ■ , $ ,9,590 .$ 9,573
Variable and short term lease cost (a) 10,608 ' 10,894

Total lease and rental expense $ 20,198 $ 20,467

Finance lease cost:

Depreciation of property under"ftnance lease
Interest on debt .of property under finance lease

Total finance lease cost

$ ■  3,778 $ 3,345

546 448

$ 4,324 $ 3,793

(a) Includes.equipment, month-to-month and leases with' a maturity of less, than 12 months'. •

'' Supplemental cash flow information related'to leases for the years ended June 30. 2023 and 2022
are as follows: , . . • - ' >.• , ■ ' .

' (in thousands of dollars)] - 1 ' • 2023 " 2022

'  Cash paid for amounts included in the measurement. , ' '

of lease liabilities: •

Operating cash flows from operating leases $ 10,067 $ 9,952
Operating cash flows from finance leases 546 448
' Financing cash flows from finance leases 3,599 3,255

Total $ 14,212 $ 13,655

' ;45^'
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Supplemental balance sheet4nformationtrelated to leases as
follows:- ■ * ,

of June 30, 2023 and 2022 are" as

(in thousands of dollars) 2023 2022

Operating Leases
Right-of-use assets - operating leases
Accumulated amortization

Right-of-use assets - operating leases, net

$  ■ 59,258 $

(26,731) ■

32,527

61,165

(21,222)

39,943

Current portion of right-of-use obligations-
Long-term right-of-use obligations, excluding current portion

7,799

25,386 ■

8,314

32,207

Total operating lease liabilities . - ■ 33,185 40,521

Finance Leases

Right-of-use assets - finance leases
Accumulated depreciation

Right-of-use assets - finance leases, net • ,

32,837

(9,836)

23,001

27,963

(8.981).

18,982

Current portion of right-of-use obligations
Long-term right-of-use obligations, excluding current portion

•  3,535

20,285

3,005,

16,617

•  Total'finance lease liabilities $■ 23,820 $ 19,622

Weighted Average remaining lease term, years
Operating leases." , -
Finance leases ■ ' '

■  7.54'

'  15.73-

' 7.73 -
19.77

Weighted Average discount rate •
Operating leases
Finance leases

2.36%
■  3.46%

2^24%
2.17%

The System obtairied $3.6 million arid $9.2 million .of new and modified operating and
leases, respectively, during the year ended June 30. 2023.

financing

The System obtained $8.9 million and $0.1 million of new and modified operating and
leases, respectively, during the year ended June 30, 2022.

financing
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Future maturities of lease liabilities as of June 30, 2023:are as follows:

.• (in thousands of dollars) Ooeratina Leases Finance Leases

Year ending June 30:
■  2024 ■ , . $  - 8,474 - $ . 4,265
2025 "5,841 3,336

2026 4,311 .2,869

2027 =  3,475 .  1,900

2028 2,784 1,701

Thereafter 11,340' 15,043 ,

Total lease payments' . / 36,225 29,114'
Less: Imputed interest ■  - 3,040 5,294

Total lease obligations ■'$ 33,185 $  23,820

17. Subsequent Events
The Health System has assessed the impact of subsequent events through November 17, 2023,

: ■ ■ the date the audited consolidated financial statements were issued, and has concluded that there

were no such events that require adjustment to the audited consolidated financial statements or
, disclosure in the notes to the audited consolidated financial statements other than as noted below.

On July 3, 2023, D-HH affiliated with Southern. Verrnbnt Health. Care Corporation and its
^  subsidiaries ("SVHC"), including Southwestern Vermont Medical Center, Inc. ("SVMC"), a 99-bed

community hospital'lpcated in Bennington.' Vermont. Integrating SVHC into the D-HH System gives
. p-HH an inpatient presence ih southwestern Vermont with reach into eastern New York state and

;  "northwestern Massachusetts markets! ■

In October 2023, the Health System issued a note payable in the amount of $100,000,000 to ID
'Bank., The note matures at various dates through 2033, and is fixed, with an interest rate of
6.17%. ' ' . ■ \ '
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pocusign Envelope 10: F675867A-7806-422C-A080-A6F1124E7A7C

Dartmouth-Hitchcock Health and Subsidiaries
:Consolldatlng Balance Sheets
June 30, 2023

•

Dartmouth- Alice Peck ' New London ML Ascutney ' "DH Obligated All Other Non- Health

Hitchcock Dartmouth- Day Hospital . Hospital and Group Obllg Group System
(in thousands of dollars) Health Hitchcock *. Memorial Association Health Center Eliminations Subtotal Affiliates Eliminations Consolidated

Assets .
'

Cufrent assets

Cash and'MSh equivalents $  2,375 S 202 S 40.750 $ * 32,082 S  11,462 $ -  S 86,871 . S  29,125 $ . S 115.996

■ Patient accounts receivable. r>et -  . 241.747 .  10.868. 11,022 . 7,607 ■  . 271,244 ,  18,543 . 289.787

■  Prepaid expenses and other current assets 19,552 210.275 2.374 !  2,449 2,009 (36.789) 199,870 2,619 (18,385) 184.104

'  Total current assets 21,927 ' 452.224 . .  ., 53.992 45,553 21,078 (36.789) 557,985 ' " • 50,287 (18,385) 589,887

- Assets limited as to use -  136.937 832.895 • 13.089 17,990 25,786 (16.760) 1.009,937- 61,525- - 1,071,462

- Notes receivable, related party • • &43.946 14.308 • 588 . - (844.777) 14,065 • (588) (13,477) -

Other Investments for restricted activities 5 ' 126,671 2.632 . 3,206 7.208 - 139,722 42,502 - .  182.224

Property, plant, and equipment net - 624,394 27.724 44,547 16,260 • .712.925 98.697 - 81.1,622

Right-of-use assets, net ' 344 " 32,819 • 14.967 286" 4,897 • 53,313 2,215 - 55,528

'Other assets' 1.943 168,736 •13,798 6.622 4.688 • 195.787 (2.454) . 193,333

Total assets S  1,005.102 $ ,2.252,047 s 126,790 $  118.204 $  79,917 S (898,326) S 2,683.734 S  252,184 S (31.862) s 2,904,056

Liabilities and Net Assets -

- Current liabilities

. Current portion of long-term debt" $  13.365 $ • $ 825 $  21 S  11 s -  S 14.222 $  1.014 .$ - • $ 15,236

Current portion of right-of-use obligations 204 9,136 "759 "49 422 - 10.570 764- - 11,334

Line of credit 40.000 40.000 40,000-

Current portion of liability for pension arid '

other postretirement plan ber>efits - 3.386 •  , - - - ■ 3,386 - - 3,386

Accounts payable arid accrued expenses 23.590 151.473 ' 5,300 3,975 8,173 (53.549) 138,962 26il76 (18.365) 145,747

Accrued compensaUon and related tienefits - 119.718 3.549 3,192 4,491 130,950 .6,517 ■- 137,467
. Eslirnated third-party settlements - • 28.560 12.588 18,245 - ,  - 69,393 .4,967 . 64,360

Total current liabilities 37,159 352.273 23,021 25,482 13,097 (53.549) 397,483 "39,432. (18,385) - .  -418,530

Notes payat^e. related party • 800.163 • 27,044 17,570 (844.777). •  . 13,477 (13,477) '

Long-term debt, excluding current portion •.1,028,666 25.113 21,958 11 (105) 1,075,641 23,321 .  ■ - 1.098,962
Right-of-use obligations, excluding current portion 140 . 24.333 • 14.786 243 4,635 - 44,137 1,534 - 45.671-
Irisurance de^sits and related liabilities - 89.947 322 253 283 - • 90,805 • 544' - 91.349
Liability for pension ar^ other postretirement i

, -

plan benefits, excluding current portion - 197.049 ' - . - 368. -  : 197,417 8,888 - 206,305
- Other liabSities - 148.553' -  366 2,065 . • 150,984 22.934 -  - 173,918

"  "Total liabilities • 1.065,965 1.637.431 60,451 ■ 55.098 35,848 .  (898.326) .  1.956,467 110.130 '  (31.8621 2,034,735

Commitments and contingencies - . ■ ■  . '

Net assets
' Net assets without donor restrictions (60,873) 476.653 63,708 58,347 35,455 - 573,290 85.658 40. 658.988

Net assets with donor restrictions 10 137.963 2,631 4,759 8,614 - 153,977 56,396 ■  (40) 210,333

Total net assets (60.863) 614.616 • -  66,339 63,106 44,069 . • 727,267 142,054 869,321
Total liabilities and net assets $  1,005.102 $ 2.252.047 s 126,790 S  118,204 S  79,917 s (898,326) S 2,683,734 $  252,184 % (31.862) $ 2.904,056

1
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Docusign Envelope 10: F675867A-7806-422C-A080-A6F1124E7A7C

Dartmouth-Hitchcock Health and Subsidiaries
Consolidating Balance Sheets
June 30, 2023.

D-HH

•  . . . and Other D-H and Cheshire and
' (in thousands of dollars) Subsidiaries Subsidiaries Subsidiaries

, Assets

:CutTent assets

Cash and cash equivalents $ 2,375 . $ 1,470. S  . 15,91,1
* Patient accounts receivable, net

. 241,747 - 17,253
• Prepaid expenses and other current assets 19,552 • 210,708 ■  1,504

. Total current assets 21,927 453,925 34,668

Assets limited as to use 136.937 860,436 13,376
Notes receivable, related party 843,946 14.308 •

Other investments for restricted activities 5 .  134,091 34,711
Property, plant, and equipment, net . 627,070 72,289
Right-of-use assets, net 344 32,819 2,145
Other assets '1,943 168,902 7,130

Total assets $ 1,005,102 $  2,291,551 $  164,319

Liabilities and Net Assets

- Current liabilities

• Current portion of long-term debt $ .13,365 $•- $  915
Current portion of right-of-use obligations 204 9,136 ' 735

Line of credit 40,000 .
Cument portion of liability for pension and

•  'other postretirement plan Ijenefits . 3,386 • .

'  , Accounts payable and accrued expenses 23,590 ■  152,515 - 22,818
- Accrued compensation and related benefits 119,718' 5,406

Estimated third-party settlements -  . 28,560 4,928

Total cunent liabilities 37,159 353,315' 34,802

Notes payable, related party . 800,163 10,477
Long-term debt, excluding cunent portion 1,028,666 25,113 20,907
Right-of-use obligations, excluding current portion 140 24,333 1,493
Insurance deposits and related liabilities - 89,947 •  . . 500
Liability for pension and other postretirement
plan benefits, excluding current portion 197,049 • 8.888
Other iiabillties .  - 148,553 1,500

Total liabilities 1.065,965 1,638,473 78,567

Commitments and contingencies -

Net assets

Net assets without donor restrictions (60,873) 507,534 • 37,307
, Net assets with donor restrictions 10 145.544 48,445

Total net assets (60.863) 653,078 85,752

Total liabilities and net assets S 1,005,102 $  2,291,551 • $  164,319

NLH

32,082

11.022

2.449

45,553

17,990

3,206

44.547

266

6,622

118,204

21

49

3,975

3,192

18,245

25,482

27.044

' 11
243

253

2,065

55,098

58,347

4.759

63,106

MAHHC and

Subsidiaries

11,691

7.799

1.992

21,482

27,090

7,209

17,593

4.898

2.231

80,503

36

423

8,312

4,564

13,335

17,570

89

4.635

283

368

36,280

35,609

8.614'

44.223

118,204 $ 80,503

APD and

Subsidiary

50,139

10,868

2,284

63,291

13.089

2,911
44,435

14,967

6,505

145,198

825

759

5,990

3.907

12.588

24,069

21,907

14.786

- 322

21,800'

82.884

59,404

2,910

62.314

145.198

VNH and

Subsidiaries

2,328

' 1,098 •
' 789

4,215

19,304

91

5,688

69

29,367

74

28

1,481

680

39

7.656

21,620

91

21,711

Eliminations

(55,174)

(55,174)

(16,760)

(858,254)

2,302

3.000

2,269'"
41
44

Health

System
Consolidated

,  115.996

289,787

184.104

589.887

1,071,462

182,224

811,622

55,528

193.333

(930,188) $ 2,904,056

(71,934)

(71,934).

(858,254)

15,236

11,334

40,000

■ 3,386

146,747

137,467

64,360

(930,188)

418,530

1,098.962

45,671

91,349

206,305

- 173,918

2.034,735

, 40 658,988

210,333

869,321

29,367 $ (930,188) $ 2,904.056
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Docusign Envelope ID: F675867A-7806-422C-A080.A6F1124E7A7C

Dartmouth-Hitchcock Health and Subsidiaries

Consolidating Balance Sheets
June 30, 2022 •

Dartmouth- Cheshire - Alice Peck New London ML Ascutney OK Obligated All Other Non- Health

Hitchcock Dartmouth- Medical Day Hospital Hospital and Group Oblig Group System
fin thousands of doBars). Health Hitchcock • Center Memorial Association Health Center Eliminations Subtotal Affiliates Eliminations Consolidated

Assets'

- Current assets

Cash and cash equivalents S 2.056 S 66,827 S 20.165 S 38,416 % 28,467 • $  11,327 S • 's 167,258 % .  • 24,671 S -  •$ 191,929
PaUent accounts receivat)le. net - 206,400 18,106 ,9,817 9,175 5,360 248,858 2,392 . 251,250

.  Prepaid expenses and other current assets 23,561 161,262 19,580- 3,522 4.452 1,472 (31,119) 182,730 (11.372), (2,225) 169,133

Total current assets 25,617 434,489 57,851 51,755 42,094 18,159 (31,119) 598,846 15,691 - (2,225) • 612,312

Assets limited as to use , - 301,000 858,919 12,665 14,680 16,005 25,753 (98.648) 1,130,174 50,920 1,181,094
Notes receivat)le, related party 842,052 11,557 - 803 . (853.609) 803 (603) . .

Other investments for restricted activities .  490 118,082 16,422 727 3,925 6,846 . 146,492 28,624 . 175,116
Property, plant and equipment net • .  585,064 63,067 24,757 45,973 15,526 - 734,387 30,453 - 764,840
Righl-of-use assets 1,362 ,  35,321 1,830 14,892 166 5,249 - 58,820 105 . ■  58,925
Other assets 681 .  146,516 1,187 .  14,391 6,573 4,983 . 174,331 (2,168) . 172,163

Total assets s •  1,171,202 S 2,189,948 $ 153,022 s 122,005 i 114,736 S  76,516 s (983,576) s 2,843,853 i 122,822 % .  (2,225) $ 2,964,450

- Liabilities and Net Assets

Current liabiilies

Current portion of long-term debt s • s 4,810 S 865 s 800 i 23 S s - s 6,498 i '  98 S $ 6,596
'Current portion of nght-of-useo()ligations 559- •8,514 689- 852 172 473 - 11.259 . 60 • . 11,319
• Current portion of liability for pension and • ,  ' -

' other postretirement pian benefits • 3,500 • - - 3,500. . . "  3,500
Accounts payable and accrued expenses .147,626 100,110 16,607 4,883 •  4,843 8,693 (129,967) 152,795 6,002 (2,225) 156,572
Accrued compensation and related benefits - 169,194 6,817 -,  ' 4,431 4,507 4.434 . •  189,383 1,177 - •  190,560

' Estimated tttird-party settlements 3,002 •  .68,876 122,999 - • 17,488 • •^21:886 • . 647 . -  134,898 .  . 134,898.

-  Total current liabKities 151,187 355,004 47,977 28,454 31,431 14,247 J (129,967) 498,333 .  ' 7,337 (2,225) 503,445

Notes payable, related party . 808,602 - ■  •- • 27,437 17,570 (853,609) • r. .. ■' .

Long-term debt excluding current portion 1.044.845 . 25,084 • 21,867 23,060 32 (110) . 1,114,778 2,510 . ■  1,117,288
Righl-okjse obfigations, excluding current portion 803 27,359 1,233 14,499 - 4,885 . 48,779 ■45 . •  48,824
Insurance deposits and related liabilities - 76,678 . 623 -  373 401 250 . 78,325 66 . •' 78,391
Liatiity for pension and other postretirement .

plan benefits, excluding current portion • 220,350 7,774 . 481 .  - 228,605 1 228,606
.Other liabiities • •  129,092 1,109 300 1,749 - . 132,250 -  21,846 . 154,096

Total iiabiities 1,196,835 1,642,169 80,583 66,686 61,050 37,323 (983,576) 2,101,070 31,805 (2,225) 2,130,650

Commitments and contingencies

Net assets
-  Net assets without donor restrictions (25,638) 418,255 53,646 •  54,590 .  48,974 31,078 . .580,905 . 53,352 40 634,297
.  Net assets with donor restrictions 5 - .129,524 18,793 729 4,712 8,115 - 161,878 37.665 (40) 199,503

Total net assets (25,633) '547,779 72,439 55,319 53,686 39,193 . 742,783 91,017 833,800
Total liabilties and net assets 1,171,202 s 2,189,948 s 153,022 s 122,005 s 114,736 $  76,516 s {983,576} $ 2,843,853 s 122,822 i (2,225) 5 . 2,964,450
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bocusign Envelope ID: F675867A-7806-422C-A080-A6F1124E7A7C

Dartmouth-Hitchcock Health and Subsidiaries

Consolidating Balance Sheets
June 30, 2022

D^H

0-H and
!  " Health

and Other . Cheshire and : MAHHC and APO and - VNHand System
(in thousands of dollars) Subsidiaries Subsidiaries Subsidiaries' NLH Subsidiaries Subsidiarv Subsidiaries Eliminations Consolidated

Assets 1 .

Current assets' \  ■
Cash and cash equivalents $ 2,056 $ 68.075 $  ■ 32.500 s - 28.467 S 11,631 S 47,894 % 1.306 $ . $  191.929
Patient accounts receivable, net - .  206.400 • ^ 18.106 9.175 5,431 9,817 ■  2,321 . 251.250
Prepaid expenses and other current assets 23,561 161.508 8.296 4.452 1.499 2,678 483 (33.344) 169.133

Total current assets 25,617 435.983 58.902 42.094 18,561 60.389 -,4.110 (33.344) 612.312

Assets limited as to use 301,000 884.007 13.183 16.005 26,979 14.680 24.088 (98.848) 1.181.094
Notes receivable, related party 842,052 11.557 - - • - •  . • (853.609) -

Other investments for restricted activities 490 125,614 37,124 3.925 6,846 ,  1,031 86 . -  - 175.116
Property, plant, and equipment, net . 587,739 66,385 45.973 16,947 42.436 5.360 . 764.840

Right-of-use assets, net 1,362 35.321 1,830 166 5,248 14.892 106 - 58.925
Other assets 681 . 146.699 8,316 6.573 2,526 7.292 76 . 172.163

•Total assets S 1,171.202 $ 2.226,920, S  185.740 S 114.736 s 77,107 s 140.720 % • 33,826 S (985.801) $ , 2,964,450

Liabilities and Net Assets t

Current liabilities

Cument portion of long-term debt $ - $ ' 4.810 $  865 S 23 $ 26 $ 800 $ 72 $ . $  6,596
Current portion of right-of-use obligations .  559 8,514. 689 172 472 852 61 -  ' 11.319
Curent portion of liability for pension and -  '• ,

- -

other postretirement plan benefits • 3.500 ■ • - . -
. - 3.500

Accounts payable and accrued expenses -  147,626 100.617 16,726 4.843 8,831 5.481 4,640 (132,192) 156.572

"Accrued compensation and related benefits - 169.194 6.817 ■  4,507 4.490 -  4.735 817 -  , ■- 190,560
• Estimated third-party settlements 3,002 68.876 . 22,999 21.886 •  647 17.488 1  •.

. 134,898

Total current liabilities '151.187 355.511 48.096 31.431 14,466 29.356 5.590 (132.192) 503.445

Notes payable, related party . 808,602 - 27.437 17.570 . ' (853.609)
Long-term debt, excluding cun-ent portion 1.044,845 25,084 21.867 32 110 23,005 2.345 1.117.288
Right-of-use obligations, excluding current portion 803 27,359 1.233 4,885 14.499 45 48.824

-Insurance deposits and related liabilities - 76.678 623 401 250 373 66 .  • 78.391
Liability for pension and other postretirement •

plan benefits, excluding current portion - 220,350 - 7.774 . 482 - - 228.606
' Other liabilities - 129,092 1.109 1.749 - 22.146 . . • 154,096

Total liabilities 1.196.835 1.642,676 - 80.702 61,050 37,763 89.379 8.046 (985.801) 2,130,650

Comrfiitments and contirtgencies
Net assets

.  Net assets without donor restrictions (25.638) 447.013 56.674 48,974 31.231 50.308 .  25.695 40 634,297
Net assets with donor restrictions 5 . 137.231 48.364 '  4.712 8.113 1  1,033 85 (40) 199.503

Total net assets (25.633) 584,244 105,038 53.686 39.344- 51,341' 25.780 833.800
Total liabilities and net assets $ 1.171.202 $ . 2.226.920 S  , 185.740 S 114,736 s 77.107 $ 140.720 S -- 33.826 $ (985.801) $  2,964.450
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Oocusign Envelope ID: F675867A-7806-422C-A080-A6F1124E7A7C

Dartmouth-Hitchcock Health and Subsidiaries

.Consolidating Statements of Operations and Changes in Net Assets without Donor Restrictions
Year Ended June 30, 2023

(in thousands of dollars)

Operating revenue and other support
Patient service revenue

Contracted revenue

Other operating revenue

Net assets r^eased from resfricUons

Total operating revenue and other support-

Operating expenses

Salaries

Employee l>enefits
Medications and medical supplies

Purchased services and other

Medicaid enhancement lax

Depreciation and amortization
Interest

Total operating expenses

Operating (bk) margin

Nonoperating gains (losses)
Investment gains (losses), net
Odrer components of net periodic pension and post

retirement benefit income

Other (losses) income, net

Total non^rperating (losses) gains, net

(Deficiency) excess of revenue over expenses

Net assets without donor restrictions '
Net assets released from restrictions for capital

Change in funded status of pension and other
postrellrement benefits
Net assets transferred to (from) affiliates

Other changes In net assets

(Decrease) increase in net assets without donor

restrictions

Dartmouth- Alice Peck New London ML Ascutney DH Obligated . All Other NotH Health

Hitchcock Dartmouth- Day Hospital Hospital and Group Oblig Group System

Health Hitchcock Memorial Association Health Center Eliminations Subtotaf Affiliates Eliminations Consolidated

$ $  1.888.079 $  98,605 $  87.855 S  63.606 $ S  2.138.145 $  . 259,012 $ %  2,397,157
3,834 141.562 149 - 51 3,657 (799) 148.454 336 , (64.444) 84,346

36,756 578.965 4,264 6,485 2.134 (43.983) 584,621 .31.811 (7.557) 608,875
• 12.763 100 316 284 ■ 13.463 1.380 . 14,843

40,590 2.621.369 103,118 94,707 69.681 (44,782) 2,684.683 '  292.539 . (72,001) 3,105.221

1,183,341 49,062 " 46,198 28,947 486 1,308,034 162,896 (47,839) 1.423.091
- 276,506 . 9.020 8.321 8,278 1,697 303,822 - 36,910 (8,346) 332,386

- 650,157 '  13,130 11,852 4,379 .  . 679,518 45,962 - 725,460

20,277 366.903 15.821 11,834 21,278 (18,642) 417.471 56,691 (15.261) 458,901

- 65.805 4.426 3.366 2.273 - 75,870 9,845 - 85,715

1 68,566 3,372 4.775 2,311 . 79,025 11,432.- . •  90.457

33.194 28.101 805 1.064 479 (30.386) 33257 1,544 •  (286) 34.515

53,472 2.639.379 95.636 87.410 67.945 (46.845) 2,896,997 325,280 (71.732) 3,150.545

(12,882) (18.010) 7,482 7,297 -  1.736 2.063 (12.314) (32.741) (269) (45.324)

" {.373 48.094 881 - J,113 915 (252) 52.124 ^  6,067 (72) •  58J19

. (16,269) -

-

- (16.269) .. (1.422) ' (17.691)
(10,643) 250 - 509 387 (1,811) (11.308) 2,437 341 (8.530)

(9.270) 32,075 881 1.622 1,302 (2,063) 24.547 7,082 269 31,898

(22.152) 14,065 8.363 8,919 3,038 - 12.233 (25.659)
-

(13,426)

-

2.139 56 ■ .26 233 -
2.454 775

-
3.229

37.322 •  . . 114 . 37.436 (2,535) . 34,901
(13,083)- 4,881 703 428 992 - (6.079) 6,079 - -

-  • (9) (4) • - - (13) - . (13)

i  (35,235) $  58.398 S  9.118 S  9,373 $  4*377 $ S  46.031 J  (21.340) $ $  24.691

i  . . . *
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Doojsign Envelope ID: F675867A-7806-422C-A080-A6F1124E7A7C

Dartmouth-Hitchcock Health and Subsidiaries

Consolidating Statements of Operations and Changes in Net Assets without Donor Restrictions
Year Ended June 30, 2023

(in thousands of dollars)

Operating revenue and other support
Petient service revenue ■

Contracted revenue

Other opera'Jng revenue
Net assets released from restrictions

Total operating revenue and other support

Operating expenses
Salaries

Employee tKnefits
Medications and medical supplies

Purchased services and other

Medicaid enhancement tax

'Depreciation and amortization
Interest

Total operatng expenses

Operating (toss) margin

-Non-operating gains (losses)
Investment gains (losses), net
Other components of net periodic pension and post
retirement tienefit income

Other (losses) income, net

Total non-operating gains (tosses), net

(Deficiency) excess of revenue over expenses

Net assets without donor restrictions

Net assets released from restrictions for capital
Change in funded status of pension and other
postretiremerit l>enefits
Net assets transferred to (from) affiliates
Other changes in net assets

(Decrease) increase in net assets without donor

restrictions

(13,083)

2,223

37,322

4,872

(?)

Dartmouth-

Hitchcock D-Hand Cheshire and

Health Subsidiaries Subsidiaries NLH

$ $  1,888,079 S  245,887 $ 87,855

'  3,834 141,815 84 51

36,756 581,102 •  15,548 6,485
- 13,358 ■ 747 316

•40,590 2,624,354 262,266 94,707

'  . 1,183,341 ' i144,785 46,198

. 276,506 33,677 8,321

650,157 45,073 11,852

20,277 369,991 44,961 11,834
. -65,805 9,844 3,366

1 .68,566 8,945 4,775

33,194 28.101 1,031 1,064

53,472 2,642,467 288,316 •  87,410

•(12,882) (18,113) (26,050) 7,297

1,373 50,245 .  2,389 1,113

•  . ■  (16,269) (1,422) .

(10.643) 250 2,361 509

(9.270) 34,226 3,328 1,622

(22,152) 16,113 (22,722) 8,919

Heahh

.  691

(2,535)
5,199

26

428

MAHHC and ' APD and VNKand System •
Subsidiaries Subsidiarv Subsidiaries Eliminations Consolidated

S  63,606 $  98,^5 $  ■' 13,125. $ $  2,397,157
3,656 149 - (65,243) 84,346

3,974 14,641 1,909 .  (51,540) 608,875

293 ■  129 . . 14,843

71,529 113,524 15,034 (116,783) 3,105,221

29.820

8,435

4,382

22,074

2,274

2,425

480

69,890

1,639

997

403

1,400

3,039

233

114

992

53,203

10,002

13,149

19,196

4,426

5,203

1,115

106,294

7,230

1,111

1,111

8,341

56

703

_(£I

(35,235) $ 60,521 $ (19,367) $ 9,373 S 4,378 $ 9,096 $

13,097 (47,353) 1,423,091

2,095 (6,650) 332,386

872 (5) 725,480

4,471 (33,903) 458,901
- . 85,715

542 . 90,457

201 (30,671) 34,515

21,278 (118,582) 3,150,545

(6,244). . . 1,799 . (45,324)

1,^ (329) •. 58,119

• (17,691)
60 (1,470) • (8,530)

1,280 • (1,799) 31,898

(4,964)
- (13,426)

• - " 3,229

. . 34,901

889 - -

• • - (13)

$  . (4,075) S -  $ 24,691
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Dartmouth-Hitchcock Health and Subsidiaries . ^
Consolidating Statements of Operations and Changes in Net Assets without Donor Restrictions
Year Ended June 30, 2022

Dartmouth- Cheshire

Hitchcock Dartmouth- Medical -

. fin ihoussndsol dollars} Health Hitchcock Center

Operating revenue and other support -

,  Patient service revwue S $  1,751,093 $  236,645
'  Contracted revenue 209 133,928 165

Other operating revenue 38,568 492,455 23,736
. Net assets released from restrictions 249 13,299 -  779

Tot^ operating revenue and other support 39,026 2,390,775 251,325

Operating expenses

Salaries' . 1,091,601 • ■  135,083
• - Employee benefits .  . 266,795 ,  ,• 31.761

Mediations and medical suppEes - 578,581 43.203

Purchased serwces and other 25,638 312,373 '  42,723
Metficaid enhancement tax -  . • - 64,036 . •  9,468
Depreciation and amortization •, 64,643 • 8,771

• ̂  Interest - 32,536 25,365 914

Total operating expenses 58,174 2,403,394 271,923

Operating (loss) chargin (19,148) (12,619) '(10,598)

Nonoperating gains (losses)
-

Investmerttincome (losses), net. (8,026) (58,973) {2,068)-
Other corhponenls of net periodic pension and post
retirement benefit income . 11,902 2,008

Otiier Oosses) income, net (3.540) (1,641) (542)

Total non-operating (losses) gains, net (11.566) (48.712) (602)

(Deficiency) excess of revenue over e:q>en$e$ (30.714) (61,331) -(11,200)

Net assets without donor restrictions .

Net assets released from restrictions for capital • 678 52

Change in funded status of pension and other
postrelirement benefits • (27,860) .(4,496)

- Net assets transferred to (from) affiliates ■  7,600 (19,385) 4,066

Other changes in net assets
• •

(Decrease) inaease in net assets wthout donor -

•  ""restrictions $  (23,114) %  (107,898) $  -(11.578)

Alice Peck ' New London MLAscutney
Day. Hospital Hospital and

Memorial Association Health Center Eliminations

43,266

10,302

12,26$

15,951

3,980

3,519

876

90,160-

13,845

OH Ot)lig3ted

Group
Subtotal

99,403 S

.21

4.146 •

435

104,005 .

{795)

J795[

13,050

2,571

15,621 S

79,754 $

22

7,527

190 ■

87,493

40,219

7,537

9,946

13,068

2,834

4,819

1,073

79,496

7,997

(1,114)

(1.113)

6,884

460

2,096

59,040 $

3,521

2,754

204

65,519

28,960

8,240

4.127

17,383

2,407

2,359

493

63,969

1,550

(1,555)

169

(1,386)

164

233

795

(60,573)
{50,711)

(111,284)

(45,229)

(5,842)

(32,862)

(29,530)

(113,463)

2,179

(210)

•(2,179)

9,417 S ' 1,240 $-

. 2,836,859

1,293,900

318,793

648,123

394,274

82,725

84,111

31,727 '

-2,853,653

All Other Non-

Oblig Group

Affiliates Eliminations

Health

System
Consolidated-

2,225,935 $

•  77,293

518,475

15.156

$

(16,794)

(72,741)

13,910

(66,353)

(83,147)

1,423

• (32,308)
(2,257)

m

(1)
2,257

17,302 S

. .458

16,731

738

-  $

(85)
(1,175)

2,243,237

77,666

534,031

15,894

35,229 ■  (1.260) 2,870,828

20,422

' 3,514
1,149

11(398

2,847

-  \.,386: .L.'

1,085

263

(1.810)

»

1,315,407

322,570.
649,272

403,862

82,725

86,958'
32,113

. ̂-59(716. . . (462) -• 2,892,907

■I
(4,487) (798) ■ (22,079)

,'(l003) . t' (78,744)

,  ■ -  . 06 . . -
i

- - 799 ...
13,910

-  (6,658)

.  - 15,937)

.(10,424) - .
799 (71.492)

(93,571)

150 1,573

(32,309)

_J231

(116,312) S •  (8,018) S (124,330)
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Dartmouth-Hitchcock Health and Subsidiaries
Consolidating Statements of Operations and Changes in Net Assets'vyithout Donor Restrictions
Year Ended June 30, 2022 .

^ (in thousands of dollars)

D-HH

'  and Other

Subsidiaries

D-Hand

Subsidiaries

Cheshire and

Subsidiaries NLH

MAHHC and

Subsidiaries

APD and

.  Subsidiary

VNK and

-Subsidiaries Eliminations

.  Health

System

Consolidated

Operating revenue and other support t  • .  *

Patient service revenue

Contracted revenue

Other operating revenue
Net assets released from restrictions

5

209

38,5S8

249

S  1,751,093

134,388"
• 494,363

13,873 .

S  . 236,645 S

165

23,794

' - 821 ■

79,754

21

7,527

•  190

S  59,041

'  3,521

4.370

204

$  99,403

21

14,587

548

$  17,301

2,708

•  9

$

(60.659)

(51,886)

$ ̂  2,243,237,
77,666

- . 534,031

15,894

Total operating revenue and other support 39,026 2,393,717 261.425 87,492 67,136 114,559 20,018 (112,545) 2,870,828

Operating expenses
Salaries

Employee benefits '
Medications and medical supplies
Purchased services and other

Medicaid enhancement tax

Depredation and amortization

Interest",

. 25,638

32,536

1,091,601

'266,795
578,581

.315,589

.64,036
64,643

25,365

135,116

31,770 .

43,203

42,938

9,469

8,895 .
914

40,219

7,537

9,946

"13,067

2,834

4,819

1,073

29,729.

■  8,361

4,126

18,072

2,406

2.483

493

47,352

-  11,169

12,297

18,915

3,980

5,595

1,204

15,534

•2,517

1,123

4,313

523

58

(44,144)

.  ■ (5,579)..

'  (4)
(34,670)

(29,530)

;  1,315,407
322,570

649,272

403,862

82,725

•86,958

32,113
Total operating expenses 58,174 2,406.610 272,305 79,495 65,670 •  100,512 '  ' 24,068 (113,927) 2,892.907

Operating (loss) margin (19,148) (12,893) •  (10,880) .7,997 1.466 •  14,047 ' (4,050)" 1,382' (22,079)

.'Non*operating gains (losses) '

Investment Income (losses), net
Other components of net periodic pension and post
retirement benefit income

Other (losses) income, net

(8,026)

(3,540)

(61,039)

,11,902

(1.641)

(2,163)

"'2,008
■  (542)

(1,114)

1

(1,663)

179

; (1.373) . , (3.155)

•  56

.. . ■ (2")

(i.171) •

(78,744)

13,910

(6,658)

Total non-operating (losses) gains, net (11,566) (50,778) (697) (1.113) (1,484) (1,373) (3.099) ■  (1.382) (71,492)
(Deficiency) excess of revenue over expenses (30,714) (63,671) -  .(11,577) - 6,884 (18) 12,674 (7.149). . (93,571)

Net assets without donor restrictions 1'. -
•*

Net assets released from restrictions for capital
Change In funded status of pension and other

•
834 . 53 '

«

460 •  . 226
-

. •  1,573

postretirement benefits

Net assets transferred to (from) affiliates
Other changes in net assets

7,600

(27,860)

(19,391)
(4,496)

,  4,108 2,096

(23)

47

795 2,571. 2.221
• -  (32,309)

■  (23)
'  .s (Decrease) increase in net assets without donor - .

restrictions ■$ (23,114) $  (110,088) S  (11.912) $ 9,417 "$ 1,050 ■ S 15,245 $  (4,928) $ $  (124,330)
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Dailnibuth-Hitchcock Health and Subsidiaries
Note to Supplemental Consolidating Information
June 30, 2023 and 2022

1. Basis of Presentation

The accompanying supplemental consolidating' information includes the consolidating balance
sheet and the consolidating statement of operations and changes in net assets without donor

, restrictions of D-HH and its subsidiaries. All significant intercompany accounts and transactions
'  between D-HH and its subsidiaries have been eliminated. The consolidating information presented

is prepared on the accrual basis of accounting in accordance with accounting principles generally
accepted in the United States of America consistent with the consolidated financial statements.

The consolidating information is presented for purposes of additional analysis of the consolidated
financial statements and is not required as part of the basic financial statements.
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CURRICULUM VITAE

NAME: Grant G. Moncrief, PsyD

Date Prepared: January 1, 2021

I. EDUCATION

DATES INSTITUTION

2015-2019 Pacific University, Portland, OR

2013-2015 Pacific University, Portland, OR
2004-2008 .Portland State University, Portland, OR

PRE-DOCTORAL TRAINING

DEGREE

PsyD, Clinical Psychology;
Neuropsychology Track
MS, Clinical Psychology
BS, Psychology, with honors;
Biology Minor

Dates INSTITUTION

.2018-2019 VA Portland Healthcare System,
Portland, OR

2017-2018 Sarnaritan Neuropsychology, Portland,
OR

2016-2017 Native American Rehabilitation

Association, Portland, OR . •
• 2016-2017 Markee and Moore Psychologists, Inc., .

Vancouver, WA

2015-2016 Oregon Health & Science University',
Portland, OR

2014-2016 Pacific University Comprehensive Health
Clinic, Portland, OR

II. POSTDOCTORAL TRAINING

SPECIALTY

Clinical Psychology Intern
(major rotation in
neurppsychology
Practicum Student

(neuropsychology)
Intern (psychotherapy)

Practicum Student

(neuropsychology)
Practicum Student

(neuropsychology)
Practicum Student

(psychotherapy)

DATES

2019-2021

INSTITUTION SPECIALTY

Department of Psychiatry, Geisel School Postdoctoral Fellowship in
of Medicine Dartmouth College, " ' Clinical Neuropsychology and-
Hanover, NH Brain Imaging Research



. . . Name: Grant G. Moncrief

III. ACADEMIC APPOINTMENTS

DATES . INSTITUTION ACADEMIC TITLE
,  ■ -9/2021- • Geisel School of Medicine at Dartmouth, Assistant Professor of"

Hanover, NH ' . -Psychiatry'

,  _ -.i 1 *

.  ' IV. INSTITUTIONAL LEADERSHIP ROLES:

DATE . INSTITUTION TITLE

2021- New Hampshire Hospital, Concord, NH Director of Neuropsychology'

V. LICENSURE AND CERTIFICATIOISJ (IF APPLICABLE): '

DATES LICENSURE/CERTIFICATION

8/2021- - ' Licensed Psychologist, New Hampshire (# '1542) . .

yi. HOSPITAL OR HEATH SYSTEM APPOINTMENTS (IF APPLICABLE):

DATES ■ " INSTITUTION POSITION/TITLE
9/2021- Department of Psychiatry, DHMC/Geisel-. Clinical Neuropsychologist.

School of Medicine, Hanover, NH v .
9/2021-,- New Hampshire Hospital, Concord, NH Director of Neuropsychology

VII. OTHER PROFESSIONAL POSITIONS:

DATES INSTITUTION POSITION/TITLE

• ■•2015-2018 ' School^of Graduate Psychology, " Graduate Teaching Assistant
'  ' Pacific'.University, Hillsboro, OR . . ' ' Neuropsychological Assessment

-.2013-2014 VA Portland Healthcare Systerri > • . Research Associate ,
.  Epilepsy,Center of Excellence, • ' ' • '

:  - Portland, OR
2010-2013 • VA Portland Healthcare System Research Assistant

Neuropsychology Service, Portland,
-OR

2012 ■ Department of Psychology, Portland Teaching Assistant, Behavioral
State University, Portland, OR Neuroscience

2008-2010' Department of Psychology, Portland Research Assistant
State University, Portland, OR

2009 VA Portland Healthcare System Mental Research Assistant
Health Clinic, Portland, OR

2016 Department of Psychology, Portland Teaching Assistant
State University, Portland, OR

VIII. PROFESSIONAL DEVELOPMENT ACTIVITIES
DATES INSTITUTION POSITION/TITLE

2 . .



Name: Grant G. Moncrief

IX. TEACHING ACTIVITIES:

A. UNDERGRADUATE (COLLEGE) EDUCATION
DATES

2012

2006

INSTITUTION

Portland State

University
Portland State

University

B. GRADUATE EDUCATION

DATES INSTITUTION

2018

2017-2018

2015-2017

Pacific University

Pacific University

Pacific University

COURSE TITLE

Behavioral

Neuroscience

Medical Psychology

COURSE TITLE

Neuropsychological
Assessment Lab

Neuropsychological
Assessment

Brain & Behavior

C. UNDERGRADUATE MEDICAL EDUCATION:

i. CLASSROOM TEACHING:

ii. CLERKSHIP OR OTHER CLINICAL UME TEACHING

ROLE HOURSATR

Teaching 40 hrs/yr
Assistant

Teaching 40 hrs/yr
Assistant

ROLE HOURS/YR

Instructor 80 hrs/yr

Teaching 50 hrs/yr.
Assistant

Teaching 50 hrs/yr
Assistant

D. GRADUATE

DATES

10/1/2021

9/2021-

■  .9/2021-

12/11/2020

1/4/2020

3/6/2020

8/2016-

10/2016

MEDICAL EDUCATION

INSTITUTION. COURSE TITLE ROLE HOURS/YR

DHMC

DHMC

DHMC

DHMC

DHMC

DHMC

Oregon Health
& Science

University

Applying for postdoc, •
licensing, & EPPP
Cultural. Diversity, &
Neuropsychology Seminar

-Series

Supervisor.of clinical • •
neuropsychology evaluation
Late Life Psychosis
(Neurology Grand Rounds)
Neuropsychological
Assessment of Epilepsy
Advanced Age and
Cognitive Function in
Schizophrenia: Implications
for Clinical Practice

Nervous System & Function

Presenter 1 hr .

Organizer 12 hrs/yr

Supervisor 600 hr/yr

Presenter 1 hr

Presenter 1 hr

Presenter 1 hr

Student 320 hr/yr

E. OTHER CLINICAL EDUCATION

Clinicaf Training of Predoctoral Interns (Neuropsychology track) and Practicum Students
In Neuropsychology:



Name: Grant G. Moncrief

DATES Student's Name Program Name ' Degree

9/2021- Hannah Darwazah Ferkauf Graduate School of Psychology PhD
_(internship) * • !

9/2021- , Murphy Harrell University of South Alabama (internship) PhD '

Clinical Training of Postdoctoral Fellows In Neurppsychology:

Dates Student's Name

9/2021-■ .ChristiTrask. PhD,
9/2021- Stephen Aita, PhD
9/2021- Bryce Jacobson, PsyD
9/2021- • Jennifer Lee, PhD

Specialty
Clinical Neuropsychoiogy
Clinical Neuropsychoiogy
Clinical Neuropsychoiogy
Clinical Neuropsychoiogy

SPECIALTY
"Clinical Neuropsychoiogy-

X. PRIMARY RESEARCH ADVISING

A. UNDERGRADUATE STUDENTS

B. GRADUATE STUDENTS

. C. NON-DEGREE PROGRAM STUDENTS (e.g., certificate programs, post-baccalaureate
programs)

D. MEDICAL STUDENTS
Not applicable v '

✓

E. RESIDENTS/FELLOWS

DATES MENTEE'S NAME

9/2021- Bryce Jacobson, PsyD

F. FACULTY , ,

G. Additional Information ' . ^

XI. ADVISING/MENTORING" ' . *

A. UNDERGRADUATE STUDENTS , ^

B. GRADUATE STUDENTS

C. NON-DEGREE PROGRAM STUDENTS

p. MEDICAL STUDENTS -
I

E. RESIDENTS/FELLOWS

DATES MENTEE'S NAME SPECIALTY

.4 "



Name: Grant G. Moncrief

F. FACULTY

. DATES MENTEE'S NAME SPECIALTY

XII. ENGAGEMENT, COMMUNITY SERVICE/EDUCATION:
Not applicable

XIII. RESEARCH ACTIVITIES:

A. SPONSORED ACTIVITY

9/15/2019-8/31/20221UG3NS112826-01 (Biumenfeld) •
NIH

"Thalamic Stimulation to Prevent Impaired Consciousness in Epilepsy (START)"
To investigate the feasibility and safety of thalamic CL stimulation in restoring consciousness for
temporal lobe epilepsy patients when focal impaired awareness seizures cannot be stopped by
medications, surgical or laser ablation, or by neurostimulation. •
Role: Co-investigator (Neuropsychologist)

G150255 (Sperling. Gross) . "12/1/2016-5/1/2022
Medtronic

"Stereotactic Laser Ablation for Temporal Lobe Epilepsy (SLATE)!*
To evaluate the safety and efficacy of the Visualase System for necrotization or coagulation of
epileptogenic foci in patients with intractable mesial temporal lobe epilepsy (MTLE)
Role: Other researcher (Neuropsychologist)

B. PENDING SUBMISSIONS

C. UNFUNDED

XIV. PROGRAM DEVELOPMENT

Educational

Neuropsychology, Culture, and Diversity Seminar: Developed monthly seminar series for
neuropsychology staff and trainees In order to discuss culture, diversity, equity, and inclusion in
the practice of clinical neuropsychology as well as research and neuroscience more broadly.
Seminar topics are broad and include guest speakers, journal club, case presentations, group
discussion/reflection on current events, and learning of practical clinical skills, etc. The primary
objective is to facilitate greater cultural awareness and skills for ethically working with diverse
populations^

XV. ENTREPRENEURIAL ACTIVITIES

XVI. MAJOR COMMITTEE ASSIGNMENTS:

National/International:



Name: Grant G. Moncrief

->

Regional

Institutional

DATES

2020-

2018-2019

.2015

ORGANIZATION/COMMITTEE

Diversity, Equity, and Inclusion
-Committee'

Department of Psychiatry
Multicultural Diversity Committee
Graduate Admissions Committee

ROLE INSTITUTION

Member DHMC

Member VA Portland Healthcare System
Member Pacific University. •'

XVIi: MEMBERSHIPS, OFFICE AND COMMITTEE ASSIGNMENTS IN.PROFESSIONAL

SOCIETIES: ^

Memberships:

DATES

2021-

2018-

2016- '

2011-

2011-

SOCIETY ROLE

Hispanic Neuropsychological Society Member
National Academy of Neuropsychology Member
.Society of Indian Psychologists - ' Member
International Neuropsychological Society Member
APA Division 40: Clinical Neuropsychology. Member

XVIII. INSTITUTIONAL CENTER OR PROGRAM AFFILIATIONS

DATES ORGANIZATION ROLE

2020- HOBSCOTCH Institute

XIX. EDITORIAL BOARDS:

DATES SOCIETY/JOURNAL

Team Member

ROLE

yx. JOURNAL REFEREE ACTIVITY:

DATES JOURNAL NAME ANNUAL FREQUENCY OF REVIEW

XXI. AWARDS AND HONORS:

DATE AWARD NAME

2019 Professional Student Senate Research Development Fund Award
2013-2018 Graduate Assistantship Award, Pacific University School of Graduate

Psychology
2016 Student Senate Research Grant, Pacific University
2015 Student Senate Research Grant, Pacific University

National/international committees:



•  Name: Grant G. Moncrief

[. . Regional Committees:

Institutional Committees:

XXII. INVITED PRESENTATIONS:

A. International:

B. National:

C. Regional/Local:

'  . Date TOPIC ORGANIZATION LOCATION
' 12/11/2020 • Late Life Psychosis Department of Neurology Lebanon, NH

■  Grand Rounds, DHMC ■

•' 3/6/2020^ Advanced Age and Department of Psychiatry, Lebanon, NH
'  , Cognitive Function in DHMC

Schizophrenia
•  ..1/4/2020' Neuropsychological Department of Neurology, Lebanon, NH

Assessment of DHMC •

Epilepsy

XXIII. BIBLIOGRAPHY:

A. Peer-reviewed publications in print or other media

T. Most-significant publications (no more than 151:
, 1: Moncrief, G. G., Aita, S. L., Tyson, B: T., Ab'ecassis, M.. Roth, R. M.,"Caller, T. A., Schmidt, ■

,  : S..S., & Jobst, B.^C. (2021).. Self-rated executive dysfunction in adults with epilepsy and
; effects of a cognitive-behayioral intervention (HOBSCOTCH). Epilepsy & Behavior, 21(A).

2:'^ Huckans, M., Boyd, S., Moncrief, G., Hantke, N. C., Winters,.B.,,S;hirly K., Sano, E., & Loftis,
J. (2021).. Cognition in active methamphetamine use versus remission. Journal of Clinical
.and Experimental Neuropsychology, 43(6).

3. , Aita, S. L., Moncrief, G. G., Greene, J., Trujillo, S., Carrillo, A., Iwanicki, S., Champ Morea, .
C., Gioia, G. A., Isquith, P. K., & Roth, R. M. '(2021). Univariate and multivariate base rates of

" . .. score elevations, reliable change, and inter-rater discrepancies in the BRIEF-A
•  ̂ ■ standardization samples. Assessment.-

4. - Aita, S. L., Zolding, E. Z., Greene, J., Carrillo, A., Moncrief, G. G., Trujillo, S., Gioia, G. A.,,'
Isquith, P. K., & Roth, R. M. (2021). Enhanced interpretation of the BRIEF2: Multivariate
base rates of elevated scores in the standardization samples. Child Neuropsychology.

5. Borgogna, N. C., Aita, S. A., Trask, C. L., & Moncrief, G. G. (under review). Psychotic
Disorders in College Students: Demographic and Care Considerations. Psychosis.

2. Other publications (excluding anv listed in part II

a. Original articles:

Not applicable

b. Reviews: :

Not applicable,
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d. Books/ book chapters/monographs:
Not applicable

B. Other scholarly work In print or other media
Not applicable ' ■ ' > • ■ • ' '' . - "

C.'Abstracts: Include both oral, exhibit and poster presentations.

'  ,1. Suresh, A., Wishart, H. A., Chan, A. M., Jacobson, 8., Moncrief, G. M., McKenna, D.,

Lowrey, C H.,. Hayes, C; A., Caldon, K., Meehan, K. R., & Hill, J. M. (2021). An Early.
Neurotoxicity Assessment Tool to Optimize Management After CAR T-cell Therapy .
[Poster presentation]. Northern New England Clinical Oncology Society, Burlington, VT.

2. Lee, J., Waszkiewicz, A., Moncrief, G. G., & Roth, R. M. (2022, February).
'  : Psychometric Properties of the NAB Naming Test in Persons with Epilepsy. [Poster

presentation]. International Neuropsychological Society, New Orleans, LA.

■^3. Jacobson, B., Moncrief, G. G., Aita, S., Waszkiewicz," A., Roth, R. (2022, February).
Executive Function Associated with Integrity of ttie Non-Epileptogenic Hemisphere
Based on Intracarotid Amobarbital Test in Persons with Epilepsy. [Poster presentation].
International Neuropsychological Society, New Orleans, LA.

' 4. Aita, S. L., Randolph, J. J., Moncrief, G.G., Fisk,'J. D., Wishart, H. A. (2022, February).
Comparison of Factor Structure of Self- and Informant-Reported Fatigue on the Fatigue
Impact Scale in a Multiple Sclerosis Sample [Poster presentation]. International ■
Neuropsychological Society, New Orleans, LA.

5. .Aita, S. L., Moncrief, G. G., Carrillo, A., Greene, J., Trujillo, S., Gioia, G. A., Isquith, P. ■
■  K., & Roth, R. M.'(2022, February). Clinical Multi-Group Examination and Comparison .

■  of Multivariate Base Rates of Score Elevations on the BRIEF2 [Poster presentation].
International Neuropsychological Society, New Orleans, LA.

■ 6. Moncrief, G. G.; Aita, S. L., Roth, R. M. (2021). Self-Rated Executive Dysfunction in
Adults with Epilepsy and Effects of a Cognitive-Behavioral Intervention. Poster
presented at the 2021 annual meeting of the International Neuropsychological Society,

■  eConference. • ' ,
7. Moncrief, G., Watts, A., Fallows, R., Mullane, A.- (2019). Preliminary assessment of

judgment In neuropsychological testing with older adults: Associations with education
attainment and performance-based functional measures. Journal of the International

.  Neuropsychological Society, 26(S1). Poster presented at the 2019 annual meeting of
• ^"' the International Neuropsychological Society, New York, NY.

. 8. Rindge, M., Moncrief, G., Daniel, M. (2017). Predictors of conversion from mild
cognitive impairment to Alzheimer's dementia confirmed by autopsy: A pilot study.
Journal of the International Neuropsychological Society, 24(S1), 73. Poster presented
at the 2018 annual meeting of the International Neuropsychological Society,
Washington; DC.

9. Moncrief, G., O'Neil, M., Tun, S., Storzbach, D. (2016). Cognitive reserve and
postconcussive symptoms reported by blast exposed Operation Enduring
Freedom/Operation Iraqi Freedom (OEF/OIF) Veterans. Journal of the International
Neuropsychological Society, 22(S1), 306. Poster presented at the 2016 annual meeting
of the International Neuropsychological Society, Boston, MA.



Name; Grant G. Moncrief

10. Moncrief, G., Scott, BJ., Tun, S., Storzbach, D., O'Neil, M. (2015) Cognitive reserve
and neuropsychological test performance In blast exposed Operation Enduring

^ Freedom/Operation Iraqi Freedom (OEF/OIF) Veterans. Journal of the International
Neuropsychological Society, 21(S1),"42. Poster presented at the 2015 annual meeting
of the International Neuropsychological Society, Denver, CO.

11. O'Neil, M., Tun, S., Moncrief, G., Storzbach, D. (2013). Cognitive impairment in blast
exposed Veterans'with a history of mTBI: A comparison-of cutoffs for impaired scores.
Journal of the International Neuropsychological Society; 20(S1), 40. Poster presented -
at the 2014 annual meeting of the International Neuropsychological Society, Seattle,
WA. ■ . ■ ' . ■

12. O'Neil, M., Hutson, L, Tun, S., Moncrief, G., Storzbach, D. (2011). Psychometric
properties and factor structure of the British Columbia Postconcussion Symptom
Inventory (BC-PSI) in Operation Enduring Freedom/Operation Iraqi Freedom (OEF/OIF)
Veterans. Journal of the International Neuropsychological Society, 17(81), 142. Poster
presented at the annual meeting of the International Neuropsychological Society,
Boston, MA.

13. O'Neii, M.; Hutson, L., Tun,-S., Moncrief, G., Storzbach, D. (2011). Postcon'cussive
symptoms reported by Operation Enduring Freedom/Operation Iraqi Freedom
(OEF/OIF) veterans: Effects of blast exposure and PTSD diagnosis. Journal of the
International'Neuropsychological Society, 17(81), 143. Poster presented at the annual
meeting of the International Neuropsychological Society, Boston, MA.

14. O'Neil, M.E., Hutson, L., Tun, S., Moncrief, G. & Storzbach, D. (2011). British Columbia
Postconcussion Symptom Inventory (BC-PSI) factors associated with blast exposure

'  and PTSD diagnosis in Operation Enduring Freedom/Operation Iraqi Freedom
(OEF/OIF) Veterans. Poster presented at the OHSU Department of Psychiatry
Research.Forum, Portland, OR.. ■ •

9.
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NH Department of Health and Human Services

KEY PERSONNEL

List those primarily responsible for meeting the terms and conditions of the agreement.

Job descriptions not required for. vacant positions.
•• 1

Contractor Name: Dartmouth Hitchcock

NAME J.OB TITLE .

ANNUAL

AMOUNT PAID

FROM THIS

contract;

; ' annual
SALARY

Grant Moncrief Neurpsychologist^' $80,508.50 $161,017.00

$0.00 $0.00

$0.00 $0.00

$0.00 $0.00

■ $0.00 $0.00

$0.00 $0.00
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l^rl A Weavtr

ilDteHm'Cdnnilniacr

, Dkfl MjUpolatc
Cfe ie r E]i«eadve Ofllcer

STATE OF NEW;iUMre

department of HE^TH and human SERVTCfcs

NEW H^PSHI^ HOSPITAL

\ iis.CLINTON STREET/,C0NC6^^
-  • 603471^^300' I^W«4345Eit-5300

, Tm: WW7IW5 Tbp AcceM; 'l40043M964 www.dbhj.nh.'gov

»  . March' 2;'2023

His Exc»liency, Govemor Christophe/ T:
' and theHonpfable
Slate House

'Cpncxjrd.'N^ Harripshire^0"33p,1i

REQUESTED ACtliQN

.  .Authorize :thfl/Dfpartment of Health;and Human ;Services, New Hampshire Hospital 'to
amend an existing contract..virtiich was.oHglnally cbmpetitively bid.;with MaiV HItch'codc Memorial
jHospital.(yc#177160},.Leba^^ NH, forMNe prbyisibh of Neurbpsyciiojogy. Seivioes at New
Harnpshire; Hospital :and the planned New Hampshire Forensic ,Hpspital (NH^H) "by
exerdslhg a contractTenei^| option,by increasing the price iimitatioh by $239,869 from $442 505^
;.to^82,374 and portending theicompletiori'dale from ;june'30. 2023 to'Juhe.30."2025; effe^ive-
July.1;;2023 or upon'Govemor,and Council approval v^ich'eVef is'later. 40% Gerteral Funds
60% OJher. Funds (Provider: Fees). - . - y

The;p|igjn|i;cpn|ra(rt .was apprpyed .byVQoye^^^^^
fS ' ^ ' • ' . '

.  :F"0d8fre anticipated,to be.^aijable In thefoilowing.accoo^^^ YearB-2024
?5^ ?025 upon the ayaila^^^^^ wntlnii^ appropriatlph of funds'in the futurep^rating budget. -

budget line items within the price lirnltatjon arid encumbrances between^
8^e f'?caJ;years:thrbugh;the.Budget.0fnce;|if riee " ' . * " "' ■ •
OS^Sr^WOplCWWOMO/H^ SOCIAL SERVICES, HEALTH AND HUMAN SVCS DEPT-
OF, HHSr NEVy, HAMPSHiRE HOSPITAL, NEW■HAMPSHiRE'HOSPITAL, ACUtE PSYCHIATRIC.
SERVICES .-- lim--

:#32.

;Stat®r
.Fiscal

Year
t —■ 1 - ■...

'Class /v .
Account Class Titie' Job '

• Nu'mbor
Current
Budget

jricreased '
;(E^crea8ed)

Amount

Revised
Budget

\

2022 '1K-500731 ^Contracts for .
Program Syc ' ; 94'05800'0 $108,192 $0 $108,192

2023 102-500731. .Cbhtiact's for
■Program Svc ' '94058000 ,$334,313 $0: $3^.313'

2024 '102-500731
1  ■ " ■"

Contracts for v
• Program Svc ' 94058000 $0 $117;009 $117,009

2025 ' 102:500731 'Contracts .fpr.'"
program Svc ,

• -s

94058000: /$122i^0; i  iizi.seb
(

• <
;■ "^Totai: $44^505 J$239,&69' :$682.374
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His.^cellency; Governor Chrletopher T. Sunuhu ̂
' and the Honorable Counc!)
[Page 2 of 2 - .• ,

r-'
^  ; EXPLANATION ^

"  the.Gontractor to continue lb deiiver neuropsychologyservice to New Hampshire Hospital and the planned New Hampshire-Forensic Hosbrtal bv
providing high y qualified personnel to.meet staffing needs and wortdn'g with the Depar^ent^to
cpntinue developing and refining an integrated mental health care system by applying principled
.of managedxare for clinical ireatrrient. The 'Contractor will contlnJe'to^proNdd^ a"o 5

—''® physically present at New Hampshire Hbspital Monday
■  "ri Pnday dunng norrnal business.hours, unlessxtherwiseapproved by the Departmerit Thewill continue to rneet with various inpationt psychiatric and/or forensic patients

to-conduct neuropsychological .assessments and testing, anai^e results^ of
neurppsycho ogy assessments and complete neuropsychology reports; The Contractor will also
■pro^e neurppsychology services at the planned NeVHampsh^25-bed inpatient forensic psychiatry facilr^ that is anticipated to be built by June 2025, " '

Approximately. 4300 Iridiyiduals will be served 'during State Fiscal Years 2024, and 2025.
The Departmentyrill.mbriltdr serviceaby reviewing patient.neuropsychology progress and

summary reports, and monthly staff reports: prpvLded by the .Contractor. '
. As referenda in Exhibit 'A. Revisions to Standard Agreenient Provisions. Section 1

the agreement .for up to six (6) aclditiohal years, contingent upon >
rn avaiiabie funding, agreement of the patties and Governor andCouncil apprpv^l if^ie Department is exercising, its option to renew services for two" (2) of ttte six

r(o}-yearsavailable. --• - - —v /..

" V a"^'Cpuncii,riot airttiorize.this request; the State's ability to provide•essentiai neuropsychology sejyices to adults :at NhfHiand the planned NHFH will be severely
^limited, putt.irig tJio^e indjYlduajslatxeripus. risk. • . . 7

Area .seived:'Statev^ride'; . •
- In the.eveht jhai ithe Qther Funds becorfie no jongeravailable/additiorial G'e'neraf Funds ̂

will not l^.r^uested to^uppo^ this pfogram
- ■ ■ 'V" ' ^

'  Respectfully submitted,!

.Lbri A; Weaveri'
.Interim Commissioner

(C

The Dej^rtmeril of Hunioh Sv-yiM^Mm^ communities and foniilies
■ ' ■ -t i'iPt9yV^i.'}t'>Pf^riutitii«sfor^ciUuni>lo:ochiet^.hedl^

■  " > ■ ■, • ^ v" - . . ■
:  z> - •- . - ■ • , . • . t- ,
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' .Docu'Slgn Envelope ID: C25C7CB3-7E60U9bO-9F5^DBFOOF6E587C

State of New Hampshire
^Department of Health andtHumah Services'

Amendment#!

This Amendment to :the Neurdpsychology Services contract is by and between the State of New
of Health, and'Human/Seiyices f'Slaie'; or "Department") and: Mary Hitchcock'

Memorial Hospital ( the Coritractpr'*). , . v. ' ;

®9reement (the "Contract";) .approved,by "the Governor and Exe'culiveCotincii
on ̂ arch.23, 20?2;(#32), the Contractor agreed to performpeilain services based upon the terms^and
conditions specified in the.Contrac!and'ln:con_sjderationpfpertain sums specified;!and
Whe^BEAS, pursuant to Form,P:'37, General Provisions;. Paragraph -IT and iExhitjit A. :F^e\nsions-t6
Standard Agreement Provisions, Section'1,.Revisions to Form P-37. General Provisions.-Subsectlon 1.1
.the Contract may be amended upon written agreement of the parties and approval from the Governor and
Executive Councili^and ' v emwi anu

Wf REAS, .the'parties agree, to extend the ierm..'0f the>greemerit, increase the price limitation 'and
modify the scope of iservicesjo.suppprt co.ntinued delivery of-these sen/ices; and ' \ .

' .'0 consideration of the.foregoing .and.the,mutuarcoyenants andxoriditiohs contained,in the .Contj;act and set forth-herein, the parties hereto agree tpvamend'as follovys; ^ '

1 Forni.P-37,GenerarProvisions, .Block 1.7; Completiori Date 'to read;

'  _ June 30,2025. ' ' . c-

.  j2. Form R-37, Generdi Provisions. Block 1.8, PVice'Limitatipn, to read:
,$682,374

3; .Form P-37, Gerieral Pfovjsjpns; BIpck 1,9, .Contracting OfTicenfor 'State Agency, to read:
,/Robert W; Moore, Director. •*"

A- ''^pdi.fylExhjbit 8, Scope of .Services:by,replacing1tMn,.its-entirety with" Exhibit 8 Amehdmenf'#T
Scopeof Services; • '

*  '5., 'Exhibit.C. Raymerit Terms,'^ertion '1-toTead;.
1. This Agreement is'funded by: '

T.I 40% General funds.

1.2 60% Other,Funds (P/pvider Fees)..

■ - .6. Exhibit C,-.PeymentTerms/Sectioh'3.*;to read:
3. The:-Contractor shail .,provide se"'rvices under-'thjs Agreement based bn the Budget

below per.applicable.State Fiscal Year. The Contractor-shall be'compensated to provide"
•  . and deliver the services described in "Exhibit B, Scope of Services, on the basis " of this

• Budget. ' " ' '

•I!

Budget v-: •
Agreement Period by State Fiscal Year

SFV 2022 3/1/2022-6/30/2022

.$108,192'

SPY 2023,7/1/2022-6/30/2023

■$334,313

SPY 2024 7/1/2023-6/30/2024

■!$3j7,b.69
SPY 2025,7/,1/2024-6/30/2025

^$122.860

[m
i^iy Hilc_hcock MemoriaLHdspilal'
■RFP-2p22:,NHH02-NE!JRp^^^ Ragefi "of 3 5/2/2023
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I^Slgn Ei^lope ID: C25C7CB8-7E6O-490(>-.9F5^BFODFpE58>C

'If

t-.

f:-

Arterms and conditions of the Contract;nqt modified by this Amehdrherit remain in full force-and effect
^ Amendment.shall be effective Ju^ 2023, or upon Governor and Cpuncil

*'A:

IN VyiTNESS hereof; the jjarties tiavesenheir hands asDf.lhe date,written'below,

■  ' State of New Hampshire''
Department of Heattt:!.,.and Human:Seryices

5/2/2023

Date

-OeeuSlgnM oy:

Wi,

iFR0FoBilAen.'Marte Lapplrite

c'hjef Executi.ve officer

■5/2/2023:

Date'

Mary; HitchcocV Memorial Hospital

Tit'©: Chief'Cliriical officer'"

•ii

1

t? V";

Marv.Hilchcock.Memoria) Hospilai
FtFP.'2022-NHH-;p2-NEURO;0l-A0l

AtSM;2-

,Page;2.of3;

'f:



Docusign Envelope ID: F675867A-7806-422C-A080-A6F1124E7A7C

■ execution.
, 'is approved as to form,'substance, and

■OFFICE OF THE ATTORNEY GENERAL "

5/4/2023

Date

OwuSlg»«d^;

obu»t
SfffeMBftobyn Guarinq

' Attorney

on; ;i (date of rneetjng)

'fX- . OFFICE PFTHE:SECRETARY OF STATE:

Date

4;. •

Name:
Title: "

ill

A'

'v

V.L •

Pi

Mary Hilchcock Me/n'oriai HospitaJ
, RFR.2022-NHH-02-NEURO^1VA0'i

.  A-S:1.2

Pa'ge~3pf3
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DocuSjgn Enve!<^'ID;.C25C7CB3-7E6(M900^9F58^p8FpbFDEM7C

New Hampshire Department of Health and Human Sefvices
•  Neurbpsychology Services . . -

EXHIBIT B Amendment #1

Scope of Services

Statement of Work,

iv

i-

1.1. The ContractbY shall prpyide^neuropsych'ology:^ New Hampshire
Hospital.(NHH)>nd..the' planned New Hampshire Forensic Hospitar(NHFH).

.1.2;.. For the:purposesof this agreement,all fefe/enjces to.days shall mean^calendar
.'days.: V

1.3. For ,the purposes of this agreement, all references to business hours shall
■mean Monday through Friday Yrom-^a AM to 4 PM. excluding,state and federal
holidays. ' ~ ■ -v

.1.4. No seiviceslnYjiis agreement can be subcohlracted by the Contractor. -
'1.5. , The Departmerit supports'trainlhg and educational; prbgrahris for'unlicensed

staff and/or^educational traihees, but^does not [ntend to Incur any expenses as ^
the result-of unlicensed,^ staff and/of .eduCationartrainees, learning in State
facilities. The .Contractor shall provide 'all, supervision of unlicensed
staff/educational trainees, including coverage during the primary supervisor's

..leave time.
.if ' •*

1.6:' NeuroDSvcholbQv Services "

1-.6'.1-. The Gohtractonshall provide a %e hajf:(0:5) full-time equivalent.(FTE|
"eurgpsychplogist vy.ho is physically.'presenf at,NHH 'and/or ,NHFH-

- ■.V Mori.day through Friday; during ^normal business h'duris'. phless
"otherwise approved by the Departmeht; Jhe Contractor shall'ensure-
the'neu.ropVychplp^ist;'
T.6.1.1. Has .attained a; Doctor of Philosophy ;(Ph"D) .degree ih

,, . Psychology or.'a Doplprof Psychoipgyj^PsyD)degree;.
Has a miriimum ;of two' (2) years of post-fellowship,
experience in:

r

1i6..1.2.1. NeWpcpgnitivescreenin^^
I-'®:?-2.2: Coniprehensive neuropsychofogical assessment"

■"protpcoisiand

1.6.1.2.3. Corriprehenslve neuropsyctiplpgical report
,1 writirig;:and

.1..6.1.3. Has experience' In the integration of cogYiitive test results
.with data from structural and.funclionaj brain imaging;.and

1.6.1.4.. Has, at all times.:.an adtivelPsychologist Ijcense-lssued by
the NH Board:of Psychologists. ' '

1.6.2.; Atjlhe, request o.f the Contractor,.the NHH GhieT .Executive .Officer
i(CEG) oY " their desigixee. Ypay, at their Ijiscretion^ waiv^^.the-

£JH;RFP:2022-NHH-d2-NEUROYl1-A01 Mary Hitchcock Memorial Hospif^^^ Coritractor Initials
'Pagelolii Oate5/2/20^
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New. Hampshire Department of Health and Human Services
Neurppsycholpgy Servhces . " '

EXHIBIT B AmendmEint #1

requirement regarding two (2) ;years of po.st-feilowship experience,
referenced in Subpara9raph1;6j..2. above,'

'.The.Cbntracto.r shall ensure ,the onsite neuropsychology services are
§  pfbvided-by a; ̂ single individual, except .when the Contractor." is

'  providing "staff coverage due td':the indiyidua'l, being on leave, in
accordance wit.h1;6."15 below.

1,.6."4. Arthe request of the.Gontractor, the Ntj.H QEO ortheir designee. may;
at jheir; discretion, modify .the .fequiremerit for a single
heuropsychdlogistdescribed in Paragraph 1.6.2 above.

;v .1 .'6.5. The-.Cphtractor shall ensure the neuropsychologist rheets with various
inpatient, psychiatric land/or forensic patients, ;prilfiarily adults, to
.conduct heuropsychdlogical assessments and'testing; ■ ■

■1;.6'.*6. The Confractor.shall ensure the neuropsychologist analyzes results of
neurppsychology- .assessments, and completes neuropsychology

Reports, in''the"'TorrTiat requesled, by the Departrnent. within-five (5)
.  business days,-oif cpmpleting patient testing, which .includes bu! is not-

limited.'to.:

.1.6.6.1. 'Reviewing all pasT psychiatric, medjcal Vecord's,
neuropsycholc^'jcaTtesting and behavioral incidents; and

"  • 1.-6.6,2. . providing recommendations for treatment.
,  ''' .1.'6.7. ■ The :Contmctof shallle'nsure the neuropsychqiogist participates in a

,te,am-based care model, which'fincludes but is hoi lirhited to:,
"1.6.-7.1. Actively opntributlng to patient treatrrient plans and

'  ' • discusstbhs:
l-.6.7.'2. Developing-and maTntairiing'positive'" ,relationships' .with

Department staff, patients, families; advocates, corrimunity
providers and olhen interest groups vital to the functioning
ol the^ QepartmenYs.. system of- care: iinciuding for the

"' purpose of •i'ransition planning, by adhering to', the'
'  ' Departmenfs'pOlicles and standards. '

1 ;6;8, The'Conlractor shalLensure the'neuropsychologlst'has the capacity to
•act as an internal, consultant tovpther providers, Jas Identified by the
!pepartment, relative to n^fopsychology and its po'tential appjica.tioos
and uses in the, context Of patient populations.

1..6.9. the Contractor sKall ensure,the neuropsycho'logisl has the ability to
-  . ;appearand testify in all cbUrt and administrative hg"arings, as required

"byrtJie,Department.'

"i.fe.lO. The Contractor shall deliyef neuropsychology services to'NHH and the
planned NHFH by: . /—o?. '

SJHRFP'^2022:NHH-02-ISEURO^0.i-M1' - MerybhdicbcK McmorialAps^lal Contractor Inillals

B-t.O .Pago'2o|:ii' ^ ,• .Dai^/2/2023,

'U
i
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,New Hampshire Department of Health and Human Services
'l^mjrppsycHology Services

^  EXHIBIT B Amendment #1

'  ■ 1.6.10.1. Providing highly.qualified personnel; and

"I Working with the'New Hampshire Department of Health
'3-nd Human iServices-^ ;("Department") to' continue
developing and/refining an integrated mental health care
systerri'by app!ying*;principleS'of managed care for .clinical,
treatment; i "' .

1.6.11; The Contractor shajl, re.cruit'and retain a qualified individual
T'Contractor personner) to fulfill the'requirements descritjed hereiii
'W'th'h six (6) morilhs of the contracj effective date. The Contractor
shall ensure:

'-1..6.1;1.1;. All Contractor personnel are employees of the CoritractpT.

1.6.11:2. ■ ;-N6 Cdhtractor persortnel, are co,nsidered'erripioyees of the
_  State-of New Hampshire. '

1.6;i2: The^Contractor agrees that one ha1f:(d.5) PTE is equal to one half (0.5)-
.full-lime employee who works twenjtV (20) hours per-week.'

'1,.6.i3r The Contractor shall ensure all Contractor personnel meet and adhere.
;to:

1.6.13.1. The codes of ethical ;cpnduct applicable' to their license
category;.

g  '1:6..13.2'.; iBehayioral policies pf.the Department;

1.6.13.3.. Department information security and'privacy policies and"
.use agreements, which have been provided, to the

■  Contractor; and ^

1.6.13.4. All pthef hVman Tespurce-related expeclations of tfie
Department, NHH,.and NHFH, as well as New Hampshire
Department of Information Technology (DolT) security
policies. . •

1.6.\14^ Thd Contractbr shall, ensure: ̂all, "staffing positions^, provided are
■■ continuously filled'br in active recruitment. The Contractor shall:'

.f.6.14.1-. Provide the approprmte.pepartment de.signee with monthly
updates.on the recruitment process for all unfilled positions.. ■

1.6.15. The Contractor shall be solely .responsible for providing; at no
■ additional cost to and subject to approval by the Department^.quajlfied,,
credentiaied.,sufficient staff coverage to.fill any gap' in coverage during
any anticipated leave time, includinq'sick leave, vacation, or cdhtinuing
medicai.educatioii.leave more thanlhre.e (3) consecutive days
■unless ojhervvise agreed upon on a'case-"by,-:case basis by'the NHH,
CEO, and for proyldjng.appropriate'transition,behveen stafftcoverih'g ,OrDa • •

A '

8-10 ■ Page Ipl'l 1 ' .
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New.Hampshire bepartment of Health and Human-Services
Neufqpsycholpgy Services

EXHIBIT B Amendment #1

J.*;

--.for those bh leave. .Qualified sufficient s'taff coverage means'pefs'onnel
who meet or exceed the qualifications of-the.vacating sta'ff member

' •who have current credentials to work ait NHh!
I.e.'ie. :-fhe C'ontractorshall track-and report staffing levels by FTE'Units bn-a

monthly basis.to the Department. The Contractor shall not be required
hourly.tirnecard.s foj'clinical staff.." "!

1.6..17. The "Contractor shall erisure the care needs,.of patlents-iare fully
^addressed.by modifying the number of hours pef'week wprtted by Part-.
Time staff, as.Tequested by ,the Departrnent. The Contractor shall
(ensure Paft-Jirne staff work the .appropriate number of hours .ii.. . -. _ .in

RHP-2022-NHH-02-NEURO-01;A01 Mary^HUchcock Memorial Hosf^tal Conlraclor Inliiafi/

,  ̂ accordance.with PTE.allocation

' ^^.7. Additiohal Req'uiremehts

^  In the'event of ;a''healthcare system emergency;, including'but not
■* limited to a local epidemic, pandemic, facility closures, of fniass-,

^quarantine in which additional staffing or/esources are required due
.  to a surge of individuals requiring services, the Contractor may also be

■required ltd adjust'the total number of staff to fully-address, the care
.= ••- needs bfpatients. ' 't*.

T7-2- .A'! personnel provided hynhe'Contractor shall be subject Jo-approval
by the Department. The Department.will inform .the Gontractbfof-any

;if" ' 'applicable Depa'ftmVritdesigh.ee.fqr'ihis,.purppse perppsjtjpn.
/ The pepaftment,- (at its' sole discretion, may rescind, either

■- ' . P®''rn3nently or ternpbrarljy, its, approval-of any Coht'ractbr personnel
providing'aay services foT'any of the .foirpWJhg reasons;

.. Susp_ensiph, revosafioabr btherloss^ofa,requifed1icens0.-.
i  ̂ certification or pther contractual requirement to perform'

such seiVicesTnder-the contract; ' * . -
il -Ti?-.?- ^PCbvJsib.n.o'f unsatisfactory service based on malfeasarice,

.misfeasance, insubordination or failure to s.atisfa'ctbrily
provide required services; ■= ■

^  Amest or conviction of any felony, misdemeanor, oadrug of"
•4 alcohol related offense; ' '

1.7.3,4. .Abolition of the role due to a change in organizational
structure.Jackgfsufficien.t funds or like, reasons; or

' ■ ■ 1:7.3.5; .Any other reason " that includes,, but is pot Jimi'ted to:
misconduct; yiolatlor? pf-Departrnent policy;, violation, of

'Sfate,.br .federal [aws and regulations pertalriing to'the
:;.v japplicable Department service area; or ..a determination

'm'ade,b"y.Jhe Dep'artfhent'that the individual presents a risk
■— '>-r:09 ' —

"s -I

iS-

6:i;9 . Page 4 of 1*1
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,^.tP the health and safety of any. staff member or any
' individual served by the Department.

1.7.4: -Ja the event' of^such fescissjon; the Department will,->to the extent
possible, pcpyide thejContractbr.With^ reasonable adVan'ce notice and
the applicable reason. The Cpntractojehall ensure the applicable:staff

;  . -niember(s) are prohibited from providing services for the period of time
that the Department exercises .this\rigt^t. No additional payments will
be paid by the; State of New Hampshire for any staff removed from
duty-dy the Deparlmeht.fo'rany reaspm The Contractor;

,  . Shall, unless the Contractor-personnel was removed froiti
'  ■ proyidihg services pnder Section .1.7.3V4.; ^--provide,

replacement personnel who meet 'all' of the "applicable,
requirements under She'contract, including burnot-lirTiited"/
to bejrig subject to:peparSment approval;- 'f--

.-V
«  ■'.*

•sv VV. ■

1.74.2.- ^Shal[iurnish within ten (10) business days replacemenf
.staff who meet all, of- the requirements for the applicable
ppsjtion if the duration of a temporarily rescinded approval
ts greater, ttian seven; :(7) calendar days.. The'Contractor
shall be.,infornied by the Department the anticipated
duration,'for which/approval will remain, rescinded-. The
Contractor shalh be. resjfohsible- for providing',' at no.-

s- '■ . addillbnal cost to theBepartmen'tijtrarisitiph services .to. the.
Department toiavdid serv|ceJnterruption;■

1.7.4.3... . ^^ay initiates, at the sole; discretion of the-'Contractbr. any^
.  internal personnel actions against its own employees.

Nothing- herein prohibits Jhe,' Contractor" from" seeking
information ,from. the Depailrnent regarding the
Departments decision- .unless such Inforrpatipn is
otherwise; restricted from disclosure by the Debartrrient
based on' mterna'l^pep'artmeht policies or,rules, StaVe 'of

.  , New Hampshire .personnel 'policies, riiles, collective
,  i b'a/ga'ni'ng.agreements; or other state or federal laws. , - .
The Contractbr^shall ensure :that, prior to providing the applicable-
services for the-applicable Department,^service are^ or facility, all
required llcerises. certlficatioos, privileges, or other specified minimum
qualifications, are met for qll staff, and where applicable, are
maintained throughout the provision of services for the full term of the
contract. The . Cpntractor shall provide, the-applicable Depariment
desjgnee wjth a copy of all .such document's. The Contractor-shall not'

'  Pbp^f^'T^srit ffriancially-'liable for^ any^ fees or costs for anylicenses, cerlificatipns or renre.wal.of'same^. nor for any fees Or costs
.  ̂ 'bcurred fpx providing copies pf-said licenses or cPrtiificattons^ps

RFP-2022-NHH-O2-NEURp-OVA0ii Mary HHtficock Memorial HcSpitat ConlracjOf Inilialj; ' ' ^
V  _ Page'Sofll; ' 08ie5/^P23

1.7.5.;
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1.7.6.

1.7.8.

:1.7:9.

,in addition to any.approvals required by the Contractor for employees
the Contractor-shall ensure staff:pfovide timely, prior notification to the
applicable pppartmenl designee for any anticipated leave time, unless •
gtherwise stated herein for a specific position or service area. The '
.  ®"sure that all staff; provided have a standard amountof,vacation and sick tirne, Subject to the normal and customary '
eiTjplpyee benefits .and pdllcles .of the Contractor. However the
Contractor shall ensure staff abide by the Stale holiday schedule'. "

,1.7.7., .Ttie .Contractor shall ensure annual performahce revibws are
.completed ^fpr all Contractor personnel. The Cortlractor' shall '
incorporate feedback ifrom. the applicable Department .designee for ■■

■" reviews. The. Contractor,shall ensure that goal development and..performance ,mpnitpring Is responsive to the evolving needs of the
.Department over the course of Jhe.confract'period. ■ .

stiall be responsible-for managing all employee-relations and perfcrmance management issues for the staff provided
Contractor's, policies and applicable NHh' ■'

NHFH,.and/or State of New Hampshire policies-.. * . '
,  Prior-to eommencirig work, the Contractor- shall- ensure all persorinel

■ "Pdergo the fqlbwing, .criminal background ' reqis'trV, , *screeninj;and medicalexarriihatb
;  ̂ -' il-7^9.1. ■ 'Criminal Background :(inciubing.New . S
u.; ' background):" ^ .

'  'V7A2:; , Bureau of EiderlyaM;Aduit,ServicesSlate.Reg^
-r- ; '1-7^9:3:. Divjsion-fpr Qhildren; %ulh and Families ■Central Reqisirv
'  land. ' . • ' ' r*'

*  * * •^ "V

1-7.9.4;; Physlcai icapacity'examination.

-7^eContractdnshalhensure*Gon'tracfor personnel assigned to perform .-services, .under - the Agreerrient. . comply with all Department
requiremenls. policies.:and.proWdures relative to infection preventibn^.mitigation, -and control to .mitigate the" risks .of disease 'transmissW

'.I .pnor-.tp,the commencement of. services-.
1.7.11. The Contractor shall ensure that the criminal background, registry

'screening and. medical exarninatlons above are kept current as•required v.and .in accordance with-the Department's confidentiality
policy;; the Department receives .copies of all required documentation-
prior to the'commencerrient of.services; and the Department is nqt.be
/qsponsible fpr any costs.incurred in Qbtaining the" documentatipii

utilize any .personnel". IncludThq■  Subcontractors,.tofulfill the objigalip.nsdnhe contract, who,hpye)fceen
■RF.R-2p22-NHH-p2-NEUR6.:^^^ .Mary Hitchcock MemoriarHw^ ,:c"ontractof.|ni.iia^^_

-  •? ' 'PaseS-om , -08165/2/2023"^
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>7-

s  '/•

' t: -'- . "

'k w ' ' f-.;

of-any crime of dishonesty, including but not lifnited 'to
cnminal fraud, or otherwise convicted of any felony-of misdemeanbr
offense for which incarceration for up to one '"(1) tyeaV is an. authorized

- penalty. The .eontractor.shalldnitiate a criminal background' check' re-,
V  investigatibri of all personnel provided, every .five (5) years."'The

Qohtraptor shall ensure (he five (5) year period'is, based on-the'datebf
■the lasj cnm.inal background check' conducted: by the Contractor or-
'theiragents. ' ' .

^  State-Owned Devices. Svstems and:Netwbrk Usanp
1:8.1. Contractor'personnel nriusl, use a stateTissued device, including, not

limited to computers; tablets, or rnobiie telephones, in fulfilling' the
requirements of the contract. The Contractor :shall ensure all
Contractor personnel:- .
X3J X' Use- the information Ih'at. they have permission .to access

>-r:: theprovjsion of services hereunder, or conducting .", official State business, All ptBer use or'access isptrictly
;r; forbidden including, but not, limited, to personal! or 'other

P''ivate and non-State use,.and that atbo time,shall, except
■7 necessary to"'proyide servjces-befeundef. Contractor

yvorkforce of' agents access or attempt to, access'
-information without having ..the express authority ■of, the"
-Departrtierit ibfdd sp: •'

"IJi:-.!-?. Nptiaccess qi; attempt to access information in a ^manner'
inconsistent with the approved policies,'procedures, arid/of

lagreerbent relating to system ent^^^ '
■  copy, :,share, distribute, ■subWicense. modify, .reverse

engineer, rent, .or. seli sdftwafe licensed, developed or
being evaluated by. the State.. At all times the'Contractor
;must'use uimost oare to protectjand keep such software
strictly ,confide,ntial in .accordance with'the license or-aqy
bther-agreementexecuted.by;the State.; Only.eq'uipmentor'
.software owned. Jicensed, ,or being evaluated by the'Slate'
of New,Hampshire can be. used bylhe Contractor. Non-'
standard software .shall not be installed on any eqiiiprrient
unless authorized by the Department's Information Security:
Office; ^ ^

1.8.1.4. /Agree that email and other electronic cpmmunicatibri
i: messages created, sent, and received on a Stale-issued

i  .email systern .are the; ^property of the Stale of New;Hampshire and .to be'used for .business pufposes'tonly.
r.- . -im.aii is defln.ed! as "internal email systems" , or "State-

^ RFJ»-M^-NHH-^2;NEyRCH),t:ioi. * Mary;Hitchcock Memprlal Hdsptial , pohlredor Wiitfi
°  - • >age7:oM.l- ' DaieS'/2/2b'2.3-.

'£JH
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..funded email systems." The •Contractor understands-and
agrees that use pfemail shall follow Department and state

r • rkf Maki UI o -I — I -i: - J ■of New.Hamp~shire Standard pojicles; and
1;8J;5. Use 'tfie inTemet and/of Intranet -for access to arid

Inidir^t supporl of the business
_  0^ the. State-of'New, Hampshire'a.ccordingTo policy. bf the^

>• Department. At no time.should the internet be used for
personaj use.

'1-9. Key Performance indicators

1.9.1. The Cdrilractbr shall ensure the^^njeuropsycholbgist complies with "the-
,following Key performance Indicators: '

\ ■ V.' * '■ Neuropsych'olo;gy Repbrts .s-
Gpmpieted; .as noted in an Individual Progress

".V Note in the patient's.medical record, and hard
K  ' .copy of the'Teport submitted Tor'fiiing

cv ■ Medical Records Technician, wiliiin five (5)
"" bVsiness days.ofcorhpleting patient-testing.

'  1-9.1.1.2. Contents within assessment summary reports ere
, pornpliant 'with a|l. Centers' for Medicare- and
' Medicaid . Services (CMS), and Department

r- •' ''■ ■ ■ fi ' documentation requirements. ' ■
i'.9.1.;2. : Standardized Process

< •2 !•

.'V

1.9.i:2.1T {Corhpliarice\'wltff al[ existing and future
■" '. -?*.?ndardi2ed,.work processes* with the goal,of, -i;

• felJucJng venatlbh in c^ . . ' ' -
■  1,9.T,3', Annual Reviews

1-:9."1.3.1. Arinual reviews. ,.are documented -oh all staff
'  'P^cvided by the Conjrectpr. The Contractor shall ■ .

ensure performance ' evaluations are in ' '
conipliance with professional standards for ^
evaluations per CMS arid The Joint Commission
guidelines.

1.9T"r4, NHH and NHFH Policies;
'' ■9.1.'4.1. Adherence to NHH and NHFH policies including,

.  -but not limited to policies on Medical, Records
Documentation .and Progress Notes. _

2. Exhibits lncorporated
2i^,. The ^Cofitractpr shall use! and disclose Protected Health- Inforrnalifln In

•RFP-20227NHH.:02;NEURO-0.1-A0t. : Mar>| HIichcckA Memoria ConlracfofihillVll- '
-  , Page-8oMl. - Date5/2/2023, ,



•r-

B-.lO •* Page9ofl'l ' Oate^/^/^O^

i.f

Oocusign Envelope ID: F675867A-7806-422C-A080-A6F1124E7A7C
^ .DocuSIgn Envelope ID: C25C7CB3-7E6p^9CK)-9F»-D8FpDFDE587C-

"  New Hampshire DepartmentpfHealth and Human Sen/ices -
Neuropsycholpgy Services

E)(HIBIT B Ameridmerit #1

compjiance with therStan'dards for Privacy-of Individually Identifiable Health
Information -(Priyacy Rule) (45.CFR Parts 160-.and 164) under the Health
Insurance Pbrtabilily and ^Accpuniability. ;Act (HiPAA) -of 1996; ,and In-

■'accordance with.-the attached Exhibit I/Business Associate-Agreement which
has been executed by the parties.

2',2. The,Coritra'ct6r shall;nhahage;all conn related -.to this Agreement'in
-r ... . . ■ ;r accordance "with 'the 'terms oF Exhibit. K. DHH.S Jnformatioh 'Secxirity

.  Requirements. •
2:3. The .Contractor shall comply with all Exhibits 'D through K, Which •are''attached

'hereto and incorporated By reference herein.
3. Reportir)g'Requiremehts

,  -The ipohtractpr shall provide monthly^.staff reports to [the lDepartment:4o' - '
sufnciehtly document actual .staffing levels and sea/ices rendered. Monthlystaff
repprts-shail include .the following: •»' i-; ' , ^ •

•1 -Sil.l., Monthly staffing schedule; -
■ 3.1.2:: 'Actual hours w/prked within the monthly reporting period; and

■  v.: 3.1:3., Actual hours.alIocated,.to sjck'time, leave,time, or'any other h'ohTcliriicai ■
^tinie withln'the monlhly repoHing;penod. '

;4,. :PeiTprmarice Measures; ■' ,.
:4,-'i;. : The :D,epartment wilt '111601161; .Contractor perforrnance by reviewing the:

•Conlractor s cornpliance with the key pefforhiance Indicators descriBed iaboye,
■  and the monthly staff Tepj5rtsp.!pvided ,by the;Cont ' ■ -

;4,2v ■ The iContractor shali actively and regularlyicollaborate with the Department to *
. 1, . entiarice■contract'management, improve results, and adjust program delivery

and policy based'6h:successfuToutcomes. '
" ' ' '*■ : , • .... );•.

4-.3'. The Contractor may be required tp'proyide other key dala'ahd metrics to the^.
Department; including clieht-level demographic, performance, and service ■

.■data. ' .' . , ■ ■
.4,4. ..Where applicable, the Contracldr shall collect and share data ;with the

Department in a format specified.by the Department.
*  — ^ - ... -

5. Additidnaf Terms

■5J,; Impacts Resulting from Court Orders or Legislative Changes "
i  ** * 'i'v. 5:1.1,.- The Contractor-agrees that, to. The .extent futu.re state or federal

■legislatioh -or icpurt orders may have an impact on the Services ;;;
■ described herein, the State;of New Harnpshire hasih'e right to modify. "> Service priorities and expend'itCire fequirehients utider this Agreement

so as to achie;ve-eompJiancd therewith. In the event fhat'any future
state or federal legislatiori pr court order impacts' the^Wbes

RF.P-2022-NHH-b2-NEUROi:oi-A01 . Mary;Hilch"cbcK Conlraclor Iniliala.

•• -V ,
It:
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described herein, the.lDepartrnent shall provide the Contractor wjth
reasonable advanced inotice of-any necessary modification to Service,
priorities ,and expendjlure requirements. The, parties lagree 'to

- cooperate in^the implementation .and planning of any such modification
5  and the Department shall consider Cpntractor's reasonable requests

,  ̂with respect to such, modifications, ■Nptwithstanding the foregoing, ttiie
Department shall,retain the*final rjght.lo modify Service priorities|and

... ' expenditure requirerfients. .under this ..Agreement so as to achieve
cornpliancerwith any future state or federal legislatip.n or cp.urt orders

i  Ihat have an impact dn-the Setvices.described herein.
5.2. Credits arid Copyright Ownership

;A|| docurpents, 'notices, press''Releases, research reports and other
•  .ipaterjials rela.tedJo,and ;resulling ;frpnf),lhe perfprrnanceof.ihe services

■  of 4he Agreement shall include the followirig statement, "The
preparation of this (repdii;'document etc.) was^ financed under an
Contract .with the State pf New Harhpshire, Department of Health and
Human Services, with„-funds provided in part .by the State pf Nev/
Harripshire and/or such other~fundlng sources as vvere avaiia'ble or
required, e.g.., the' United States .Departrrient of Health, and Human
Services." ?;•

.  . ■ ■ V !■- " "i-.y .
S.2;2, All materials purchased .under the Agreement sh'all have prior a^pprbval

■fXPJII the.Dep.artm.epj"befqre printing. p.roductiori, distributibn.P
t.;

'  ; ■' i5.5.3'- The' Department shall detain ^copyright ownership Tor anV ■pnd iaU
original materials produced'including, but riot limited to:

'  • - Brochures.

■  - - ■ ;5.2.3'.2. ' Resource'directdries.

S,2.'3.3. ' .Protocols or-guidelinesl .-t-;

5.2S:^_. Posters,;' . iu
.  ''5l2:3:5.. Reports:

j  .5.2.4.^ ,, The Contractor shall not repro'duc'elany material's produced under the
'  ' a * Agreemprit without prior wnUenapjDxovalYrprri'the Department.

5.3. Eligibility Determinations
;5;3.1. If the Contractor 1s permitted and' required by the Departriiehl to

determine the eligibil[ly of jridiyiduajs suph eligibility determination
^  shall be made'.in accordance with applicable federal and state laws;

i'-- jegulations,, orders, guidelines, poiicies.and procedures.

. - p.
or Ifiitida - •RFP-2022-NHH-02-NEURp-ppA01 MaryjHilchcock Mefnp'rtalHbspiialji ,.Contracl6r

8-i.O Page.lOoMI , " ■Da{e^/.2/2023
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'5.32. ;Eligibijity: deteVminations .shalUb forms -provided by the.
P^psrtment, for that purppseland'Shall be made ,and remade'at such
lj.Cnds. as are,prescribed by the Department.

Records

.6"

::6.1. The Contractor shall ke'ep" r^cdrds'tfiat Include,-but arenpl'.l.imite.d to:-
/ecords-, dqcuments and" dtfier lelectrohic or physical data

■  ■ j; ■' costs,and'olher.expehses Ihcurred'by the^"
^  . ■ .Gpntraptp/j .in ."the. peKorhi'afic'eVoif^the, Agreementr arid all Income

'■^^e'vedprcdyecle^^
A'l' records- must. be. itaintained. " in., accordance witfi 'accounting

. ■ ' . ■ procedures and practices, Which sufficiently and propedy. reflect all
'  SLfch icosts' and expen^Sr- ajld whTch are^-^ acceptable -to the

Departrrient, and to. .include^ without limitation. all 'ledgers, books,-.
records, and original.evidencejof costs siich as purchase r.eguisitiohs
and orde^^ rej;]ujsjtions for materials, inventories, ■■

•••■ .'VjJu.atiojis.oif in-kinicbhtrlbuti6n'^,'labqr"time;cards, payrolls,^ add'othkr
. . 'records re.quested;qr regulred'by the-lDepartiherit.

7. Continuify qfSeiyices and Liquidated Damages
7.-1. Liquidated damages are specifiedjn7,and may beassessed ih.accordance with,

Exhibit C;.Payment Terms,. Section-14'.

TV

1-4

5.3.3., In addition td thedejeirnination foTms required by the Department, the ".
,Conli]actor-shall iriaintain a^data .file on,.each recipient of sefvices.i

.  hsreunder, which f[|e shall include all iriformation necessary to support^
■ an eligibility determinaiipn and :suc1^ other- information as the

Deparimenl. reasonably requests in. writing. The Contractor shall ■ ■ *•
fui^hish the-Departrqent.with air-forrtis-and-documenfatior^ regarding •eligibility determinatlbnslhatihe. Qepartrnenl rnay request or require.''

5.3.4, .The ^:pntractor u.nderstandslhat ail applicants for services hereunder, .
as'well,asMndividuaIs declarea;rneiiglble hayq a'right.io a'fair hearing -
regarding that detefminatiori'. 'The Cbritractof hereby covenants and '
agrees .thaj all applicants, for services shall Be'perixlltted.tb fi ll put'an S

.a.pplicalion fdrrh and :that^each applicant: 'or re-applicant shall be '
informed of his/her, right to a fair hearing iri accordance with" h

; Deparlmenjjegulatb^^ - - • , - -

-r

f}.

RFP-2022-NHH-02-NEURq-01-AOi fc^ary r^tiiclKOCk MemoH'al.Hosf)^^ ) .Cpntractoflnitial^
..." ' • Pagei.ior.n' ; DateV2/2b23



Docusign Envelope ID: F675867A-7806-422C-A080-A6F1124E7A7C

Leri A. ShibfaKtM'

CenabtlMCr,

EOn UPelBtc

fatfeHmpUcf'
ExMtht'Ofnccr.

^ATE OF NEW HAMi^lRE

DEPARIT^NT OF HEALTH HUMAN SERVICES

. NEW HAMPSHIRE HOSPITAL .

36 CLINTON STREET. CONCORD, NH 03301
603-271-9300 1-900491.3349 EiL S300

:pu:.603-271:S395: TDD A^t: l-800-73^M
www.Ahi.nb;gov

:  Febfu^ 18, '2022.

His ̂ cdlency, Governor ChristopherT. Suhu^^
and ̂  Honorable C^ncil

■State'House
Cohoord, Nevv.Hampshire 03301

REQUESTED ACtlON

>^uthprlze the;Oep.aitnientef Heajt^^ Hurhan Seryjces. New Harnpshire Hospjtallvto
enter into a contract.with Mary Hrtchcpdt 'MempTial .Mpspjtaj {VC#t771TOj. Lebanori, NH, in the
amount of.$442,505 for the provision of Neurppsycholody ^rvlces at New Hampshire Hospital
(NHH) and the ^ahnedNew Hampshire Fbrerisic Hospital (NHFH), with the option to renew for
up to six (6) additional yearsj effective upori Goyembr and CburKii approval through June 30,
202^ Gerreraj Funds. Other Funds .(PTovidw Fees).

This r^uest represehts one (.1) of three:(3) corresponding requests.with Mary Hitch^ck
Memorial Hos^l for" the fbllowing 8ervl6^': '1) Neuropsychology S^ces; 2) Psychiatric and
Medicai. Services,' .and 3^ Clinical and Administrative Sc^^ This .request is corttiiigent u^^^
Governor and Coundl approyaj of airthree (3) requests.-'

. Furtds are araiiabie in the foiiowtng aafeuhtsTbr ^e^Fiscal Years 2022 and 2023',;wHth.
au^prlty to adjust budget lirie items within the price limitation and encumbrances b^^eri .

■|kate,fi8j^yeafe:thrpughtheBu^etOfRce;jfneededer^ . , . '
65-9&-94-«4dblC^50dddd HEALTH AND AND HUBSAN SVCS
DEPT OF, HHS: Nm tlAMPSHlRE HOSPITAU NEW H^PSHIRE HOSPITAU ACUTE!
reyCHIATRIC SERVICES

State
Fiscal Year

Ctasa/
Account Class title Job Number Total Ampunt

2022 102-500731 Cphtfacte for prgrn Syc. ; - 94058000 ; $108,192

,2023 102-500731 Gontrscts for Prgrn Syc . 94p58CX]p $334,313

Tote/ $442,505

EXPLANATION

The pepartnieiit.curTBrltiy has an ^ireement.With the Mary Hitchcock Memprlai Hospital;
-whiph was:cornpetitiyely bid in 2016, to providerphy^ciah, clinical, and admlnistrative.services in
seven (7) seryice. areas: New Hampshire ̂ Hpspitaj; Gtenclifr Home; Medlcald; 'Children, Youth,
:and Famiiies; ^hav1orarHealth;.EIder1y and Adult Serv^f^; and Oeyelppmentai Services.. Jh
eidsting agreement Iridudes anoption to renew services through June.30,2025.. Hovirever, House
BliJ 2 , of the:2021 Regularl^idatiye Session, appiropriati^ to the Department for the;
purpose of coristr^ a 2^bed f^risic psychiatric hospitd;

Thi^D^afywnibf Ni^bn Senj^ eommuiiiiit» <uid famUUt
^in pnmduyg o^okuniVit for. tMiiitM
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jH»$.Excellency.,Gov©mor Christopher T. Sununu
and the Homrable CourKil:
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Gon^uently. the Department needed to reass^s the existing contracted services to
incorporate the new. cllhical.nie^s arising from the plahhddrNew .Ham^hire Forensic. Hospital
arid released cdmpetitlve blds for 1) Psychiatric and Medical Services and.2),Neurbpsychplogy
Sen/ices. The^Sole ,Sour<M request listed to cprTtlnue the'other fiye, (5) service areas that
would have t^n corrtiriued undertheexistirtg agreement. The.Contraclor is,unjquely experienced
and qualified to prpyide the complex array of clinical , and administrative, services to the;
Depa^erit m these five,(5) service areas, .which eriable the Department to meet a wide range of
epecialized heajth.ahd clinical needs of

The following 'table outlines the Department's^ reprocurement strategy, "which Includes
ttirw (3) distinct.actions. The I^par1merrt:will tentiinate the cuiteht agreement upon approval of'
cbritrads/specified In the table.-^ noted tjelow, the heuropsychology, psychiatric, and medical
seryiciBS wmponerits of the existing contrad have been bid out to incorpqrate'the new forerTsIc
psychiatric, ho'spital rieeds rather man incorporating thern irrto an existing agreeme^^

Ropfocufemeht Strategy-

ipescrfptjon pf'
Service Area;

Prapurement DHH3:Area8 Served

.Neiirdpsychology ' RFP issued November 2021 NHH ^ '

ForensicHospital-'

Psychiatric .arid
Medical Services.

RFP issued July 2021 NHH

Glencliff

Forensic HbspitaP'

.Clirilcar " , " and
Administrative'

Services' , ,

'i *

New Sole Source " ' ' .• " Me.dicaid

Children, Youth, and Families

Behavioral Health

Elderly and.Aduft Services'

pevelppm.ental Service.s

•The Departrrient anticipates the ForenslcHospltal/WillopehIn State Fiscal Year 2024.

Apprpximateiy 4500 Iridividuats vwjl be served during State Fiscal Yeaip 2022 and 2023,
The purpose of this r^uest is for the Contractor to deliver neuropsychology se^ces to

NHH and the planned NHFH by providing highly qualified personnel to meet stafflng needs, and
working with the Depai^rnent tolcdritinue developing and refining an integrated merital health "care
system by app.'yl.ng principles of manag;^ care for clinical trisatment.

^ The Department'^11 monitor services by reviewing patleiit rwuropsychology progress and
sunimary reports, arid morithly staff reports.pro.yided' by theContractpr.

The Department .selected .the^Contractor through a competitive bid -process using a
Request for .Proposals (Rf:P) :that w posted'on the Departnioht's website from November 24,
2021 through December 22,2^^^ The pepartmerit receiv^ one (IXresponse.that was reviewed
end ecdrediby a team of qualified'indlviduals. jhe Scoring sheeUs at^^^

Asraferericed Iff Exhibit,^, Revislbhs-to Standard ̂ reemerii Provisions of the attached
agreemeriCthe parties have the option to e)derid the agreerhent fdr upto slx,(6) addrtiohal years.
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His ExMlle^, Gow^or CMsto^erT. Siinunu
andthoHonoreUe Councfl ~ ^ '
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contingent upon; satisfadory'delivery of services, availableifundlng. agreement of the parties, and
-Governor and Cduricil approval.

Should the Gbwr^or and Council not authorize this request,the S.tate'e ability tb^ provide
, Msentjal .rieuropsychplogy ac^Mlts at NHH and; the plarihed NHFH. will be severely

(irhited. puMng%bse individuals at se^
Area served: Slatevvide

'Respectfully-submitted,

Lori A. Shibinette

cbmrhlssioner -



New~Ham|>"shire Department of Health and'Humah Servjc'cs
Division-of Finance arid Procurement -

Bureau of Contracts and Ptocureinent

.  .. Scoring Sheet , , ,

Rrojoctld#. ̂FP.-2022-NHH-62-NEURO:
-rv. ^

ProlectTltlo iNouropsycholoav.Servlcos^"
.

Maxirnum •

Points' .

Availal}le*'

Ci'b; - ' v-'B

Wlchcdck'^ Mernori^ Hos^t^':. ̂
Techhicart .tT-""- " -• ■■■-, ^  J.,. • -

£jc)efienc8;(Ql")..''V. ■' . k
■ . - i/.

30.
--■ t.i B.-;- ■ —

G!inical:(^ractice;(Q2)': c •  . 35
—v.- -.t-^
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r'-'/sf"

aOzti .  . , . ';i2 -. ^
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't-

■  30
n-j.
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.-I-, : ■.. ,;j b
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.1 V "t -WCsi '.''ifc 6.
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Cost- "*r: ' .-. ..J
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D^uSignEhyetope ID: 28FBp25I^ACpM2CA-9C7l>9B^^^
F0RA1 NUMBER P-37 (version,12/11-^019)

/Subjicct:_lS'europsychoIbgy Services .(RPP-2022rNHHT02-NEUkOr01)

!N6tice: This agreement and all of itS;attachrnchts shali become public upori'submission to Governor and .
Executive epuncil/o^^ Any infofTnajjon.lhat is private, confidiimtiai or prp'pnetary must
be cjeariy, identified to thc;agcncy any agreed tp":ih wrltin'g^pripr to si^ing'thc contract.

AGREEMENT.

'thc State prNcw Hampshiit.and the Contractor hereby mulualiy 'agrcc^^^^^

■  ' -^eneralp^
;i. . fDEMlFlGATiON.
1.1 'State Agency Namc'

l^cw Hampshire Dcpaiimcnt bPHcalthand'Humah Services

1^ iStatc Agency Address

129"P.lcasant;Strcct

Cp^cpfd, NH. ,03301:3857^

r.3 Cohtraclpr Name

Mary Hitchcock MemonaiL^^

.|V4 •Gbritracioi

OneiMeyicai Center Diiye •
, Lebanon, hW, 0} 756

1.5. ■Cpritractor'Phohe
'Numbc'r

X603)-650-7549,

1_.6 A.ccbuht Number

-05-95.^^94001.0-.
.8:750.000]);

1 .yyCpmpJcUpnDatC;

•June 30/2023

1.8 Price Limitation

$.442,505.

1.9; .Contracting 6fncccfor!S.tatc Agency

:Nathdh:P. White,

1.10. State.Agency.Telephone Number"

(60.3)2;71.9«1. . .

1: n CphVractpr Sjgiiat'urc
■/T'OMuSlgtM^ by:

■  ■ -ehi/iijri, j, %mv-s;

"1.12 Na'm'eand-TitlcpfCpntra^^^^ • -

Edward i. Merrens,,.iMb; -chief Cli.nTcal OffHcer-
i;i3~^A^:?Signature'

•7~DocuSlg>ii^ by:

\ JdstA '^®^S/2/20'22

1.14. Name and Title of State Agcncjj Signatory • *'

.Joseph T'.. caristi chief Financial" oftfi.cer,
Lli'^pproval^^.'tlfc^^^ Dcpa'rtm.chl-of Adrpihistratidn, pivisiphbfPcrsbnricI '(ifqpplicahk)

By: iDirector, On: . • '

l.IS Approval by ihc.-Attorncy.General (Form,'Subsiancc;and E.\ecutiony(7/^tf/j/7/»cn6/e/E-'rOMuSlgftM
3/2/2022"

igpcsaicaaaut

1.1.7 Apprbyal by, the Goycrnorand l-xccutiyc^Cp X'f^PPJ'CPbJ^)

G&CJtetn'^numbcr:' O.&C Mating Date:

Page i of 4
Contractor Initials

•as

,Date 3/2/2022
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2: SERyjiCES TO. BE PERFORMED. ̂
'Hampshire, .acting" thrqugh. the agency identified in block 1.1
("Slate"), engages cdntmctbr -Identified ""in blocic, l.S

- :(-'dont"ractof'-) to.perform, and the Contractor shail perfdrtni the
work.or.ralcipf goods, or'boih,-identified and more particulariy
^described in, the attached EXHIBIT B; which is incorporated-
.herein by ixferencc-.("Scmces"y. •

;  3., EFFECm SERVICES;
:3.1 -Nqtwihstanding any ;prpyisiqh '-pf this Agreedicnt.;tqi the

,  contrary,'land-.subject to .the".'approval of the GPvcrrior and
Executive Council of thc State of New.Hanipshirc,-if,applicabie,_
•this Agreement, and all obligations ofthc parties hcreunder; shall
;bcc6rnc,.c(T(Xlivc-on' the dale, the.-Governor and'Executive
tCqu.ncil ;approyc this Agrccrhcm as. indicated, in block 1.17,

.  iun.lcis nonsuch .appro,\'aj Is fcqTjired,.i.n>vhlch.c^e;thc
.siiajl become cfrcctiyc on ih'c date thc'A^ccmcntjs sighe^^
thc'Statc Ageiky as shown irfblcwk l.i 3 ("Effective Date").
'3.2 .If,the .Contractor commences the Services' pribr.jlo'the
[EfTectiycPale, all S.ervices pcrfonncd by the C.orilractor prior to
.Xhc" Effective-Date'Shall bc,-p.crformccl at the sole risk ̂ of thc^
;Cqntractqr, arid in the event that this Agreement docS not.bccome
;efTecliyc, [the Staje' shall have no IjabiMty to. the Gdhtract.or,
including' without limitation,' ahy bbligaUoii. 'to. pay dhe.
ContrMtor.for any costs incurred or-..Scmces peHo.rmcd.
•Contractor-must completciall Services by-t.he.:GpmpIciipnJpate
:spccificd.in block 1.7.

4. eONOrriONAL NATURE OF agreement.
.NotwUhstandirig: any pr.o;yision of this 'Agrccm'cht; ̂to the
cqmrary,, ajPobligatibnsy'or thc^Sla^ hcreunder, jhcludihg,

..without-Jimilatlon, Ihclconlihuancc^of.paymchts'hb
•  con'tingcnl.upqn the availability nnd:contihucd appropnaiiqh of

funds affected by-any-sialc orTcdCral legislative.or,cxccutive
.  action; thai reduces, clirriinatcs or othcrwiisc modifies the
\ " appropnalioh or availability, of funding for this Agreement and
. \ :ihc Scope:fo.r,Services;provided i whole-or in.

part; In hp. event shaM the Stale be liable for ahy'^paymchts
'hcreunder ih'cxccss of; such avaiiableiapprppriatcd funds'; In'the
cvcnt'o'f a reduction 01; tcrminatibh of appfPpriated funds'; iKe
State shall havcUhc right to.-wilhhold.paym'ent until such .funds'
become available,rif ever, and shaH havc'lhcTighi to reduce or

.  .icfrfiihaic thc Services under-.thls.^Agrccmcnt immediately upon'
giylhglihc .Cpniractor notice of such Tcductibn or'termination.
'Thc;State shali npi.bc required to" transfer funds'frbm any other.
account or source to'the Account identified in block'1.6 in;th'e.
event furids!in.lhat Account arc reduced or.unavailablc.

5..C0NTRACT PRICE/PRICiELIM ITAtlON/
pa>tvient.
5.1 The cpnlract price, mcthod.pf payment, and terms of payment'
arc, 'identified and mbre.'particuiafty ,dcscrib.cd 'in EXIIIBIT C
which is incorporated herein by reference. ■

.'5.2 Tlic.paymcni by ihe. Stale of the contract price shall be ,thc
only and the complclc;rcimBiirscmcrit toHhcGontractor for nil.
cxperiscs.'of-whatcvcr. naiurcrihcurrcd by the Coniract'oriln ihc
pcrip'rmahce.bcrcpf, arid 'shall, bpj Ihc'torily arid the complete

corhpcnsati.ori.lo the Contractor for-thc Services, the Slate shall
have nojiability to the Contractor other than the contract price.
5:3 The StMc'reserves ;the right to offset from any. amounts
o.thefwiire payable to.,tHc Cd.ritracio.r undcf'this.Agrecmcnt;!ho'sc
liquidated amounts Vcqiiired 'of pc'riiiittcd byyN.H; ■RSA '80:7
through RSA'80:7-P or any other pfovisiph of law.
5:4. Notwiihsianding any. provision' in this AgrMment to the '• .

.  contraiy; and notwiihstanding-unexpccied circumstanccSf^iri no ,
cyerit shall ,the tolal of all payments authorized, or actually made
hcrcuridcr, exceed the Price Limitation sct;forth.in block 1:8!

,6. G0MPL1AN;GE.BV CONTRACTOR WITH LAWS ''
REGULATIONS/EQUAL EMPLOYMENT -

OPPORTUNITY.
6.r.'Jn. connection, with.-ihc performance" of the'ScrVicc.s, the:-
Contractor shall comply with :all applicable statutes, Jaws,

•  fegulatioris, and orders of federal,, stale, county .or municipal
authpfiiies which impose any pbligation or 'duly'upon the.
Gpntractpr, iricjudirig, but riot limited tb,;civil.'rlghis arid .equal .
cmpibymcni opportunity la'ws,, ;!h add ition, i f this Agrcemcrit i.s" •
funded in any part By moriics of thc'.Uriijcd States, theiCbritra^ . J

■- shall comply with alFfcdcral cxccutivc.orders,.rulcs, rcgiilalibris
•and slaiutcs,.and.witlVany rules, regulations and'guidclincs as the" ^
StaVc^o'r the United States-issue lo-implement thcscregulaiions.
The Cprifractpf'shall also comply urith all applicablcjntdlixtuai:
property lavys,
6.2 During the term ;of this 'Agwmejit, the'Cpritractpr.sh'an not.

'discrirriiriatc against 'employees or applicants for',criip|qymcrit ' ,
ibccausc of race, color, religion, creed; age, sex, handicap, SMuaf ; '
,orientation,tor national origin and will take offirmatiycactibh'to
:pre.verityuch.discriminaii6n., ' *
'■6^3-.;Thc Coritriic|6 lb.jjcrmit.thc.'State or United ,Stalc.s. •.

.  ̂ a'ccMs tb ariyqfihejl^britract^ records.arid,accounts for ,- • •
the purpose ofasccrt;airiirig cqmpljarice with^all rijl«, rcgulatioriis- . ,
'and -orders; and ithe covenants;^ terms; and ;cqriditipns, of this'
Xgrccmenl. • ' ' . . , ....

7. PERSONNEL; '
7n. Thc^Goritractbr shall at its own expense provide all personnel ■

, ncccssaiy tqpcrfbrm.thc Services. The. Cbri'tractor warrants that
:all ipcrsbnriel ieri^ged ii.n the .Services rshall 'be 'qualified'.to
pcrfbrm the 'Services, and shall b'c rprqp'crly licensed .arid ' .-
othcrwisc.'authorizcd.tb do so undcf'all applicable laws.,
7.2'Unless otherwise authorizcdin .writing, during the term of
;this'.Agrcemcnt, aiTd. for a period of six (6)' months after the ■ <'
Coniplctibn Date jn block ;j ;7i the Cqn'tractor sh'all ri'ol Hire, arid
:shan jioi permit any sUbcbnlractbr or other person; fi rm 'of
corporation with whom, it 'is- engaged in a 'combined effort to
;perform the Scr.viccs.tb hire, any person who is a Slate employee
or official,, who is. materially iinvolved in: the procurement,
adrniriistratiori or performance, -of this Agreement. -Thls-
Rfdvisiprishall s'urvi.vc tcfminaiion of this Agreement,
7.3,Thc"Coritractihg Officer sp'cc.i.nc'd in-biock 1.9,.of his or her
.successor,"shall bc'thc State's'rcpres'cri In the event bf.any
dispute :coricer;nin^ the micrp/ctatibfi .of this Agfcefrierii; the
Contracting Officer's decision shall be fi nal for the State;;

,Page.'2:6f 4,
Coritfactorjriitials

OS

Date'W^
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8.;EyENT QF DEFAULT/REMEDLES,
8.1 Ahy;bnc or mpre-of ihc followng acts c*-omissions of.ihc
Gontraclor;!»hairconstitutc.an cven'l of dcfault.hcreunder ("Event
of. Default'-')^' w
8.1.'] "failure io. perform the Services satisfactprMy or on
schedule;
8.1,2 failurc.to submit any report required hereurtde'r; aji^or
S.i-.O faiiurc'lo pcrform^^ pthcri'c^)venant;.icrm or'condition of
this Agreement.
8.2 Upon the occurrence of ony^Event of Default, the State,may
takcanyone, or morCi orall, ofthe follbwing actions;
8.2?] givc.the Contractor a written notice specifying the'Eyeiit of
Default.and requiring it.lo be remedi^ within, in the absence of
a greater or Mscr specification (30) days from the
diitc bfthe riptme; and jf the Event of Dcfault;is not timely cured,
terminate this AgrMmcnt, cfTcctwc tw6.(2) days after giving the
^Cpntractpr notice of tcnnination;:
'8.2!;2 give the Contractor D'written noticc specifying the Evcnt.of
;Dcfault. and suspending all payments to :bc made under" this
-Agrcemctit 'and.bfdcring ;lhat;thc pprtiph of the .cbntrtcl 'price
which would 'otherwiM accrue to- the Gbntractor ̂ during; the
period from the datc.brsuchmptice u'ntirsuch lir^^^ asMhCtSjate
dctciThincs'that;the Cphtrac'tpr'h^ cured the Event of Default
'Shall never phid to the Gontractbr;
8.2.ygivc the Contractor aAvrittcn notice specifying the Event of

.Default anci.MVoft.against any othcr^obligations the Stale may
owe to theContracior any.damagcs the Statc suffers by reason of
any;Evcnt.ofDcfaultVahd/of , -
8.2;4 give.thc^Coh.tractbra*written hpticcspeci^^^^
^Default, treat jthc-Agreement !as. breached, terminate . the
' Agfecrnent and pursue any of its remedies at iaw.or inxquiiy, or*

both.

8.3. No'failurc by ihe'Stale to.cnfbrcc, any.pro.visiohs hcrcdfaflcT-'
anyiEvcnt of Dcfault.shall be deemed 0:waivc_r of itif fights, wii.tu
regard to.' that ."Everit' of.- DcfaulV. pr'any.^sufe^^^ Event of
Pcfaull., l^acxprcss fai!urdfdcn(orcc m^^^ of Default_sha| I
bc'd<remcd!a waiycr ofjhc right of the Statetp enforce each and
all-.pf thc^.provisibhs hcrebf'ppoh.any further or other Evcril oA
Default on the part of theiContracior.

9. TEmiNATION.

9.1 Notwith'^ahding pafagrapK 8"; the • State, may,
dlscfctlbh, tcnnmaie the Agreement for any fc^n, jn' whole or
jn'part, by lhirty-(30j days written-noticc.to.thc.Gohtraclor that,
the Staic'is exercising its option,to tcrminatc.lheAgrcement.
9:2 In Ihc cvcnt of an early-tcrrhinaiioh of this Agrcerriefir for
any reason other than the" complciipn of the ScK'icxs, the.
Confractp'r -shall, 'Ot the State's diMrctiph, deliver .to the
CphfraciihgOfrjcef, ndljatcf tKaii n days after thedatc
.of.termination; a repo'rt ,("Tcrmina'tipn Report") describing in
"detail alj Serviccs.pcrforrhcd, and the contract pricc camcd, to
and including the,date of lerminalibn.. The form, subjcci mattcr,
content, and number of copies of the Termination; Report shall
bcidcniical to those of any.FinarRcport described in the attached
EXHIBn'iB.Jnndditip,ri,n,t tlicSjatc'sjdiscrciip^^ the Contfactp!;
shall, wiihiri 15 days pf nbticb.pf Mflylcrminari^ and

submit- to the State a Transition 'Plan' for ,sef\',iccs' under the
Agreement.

10. DATA/ACCESS/CONFIDENTIALlfV/
preservation,
lO.l As used in this A^ecmcnt, the'word "data'Vshail mean all
information anothings developed or obtained during the"
performance of, or.acquired or developed by rcason'bf, this
Agiccmcril-:including,>bui'hot limited ,tpj:all .siudics, reports,

•  files; formulae, suiVeys, maps, chaLfts.'sbuhd Recordings, video
recordings, pictbriplrcprpduclioh^ drawings, analyses,fgraphiC'

,  ■ represcritat.ibns,- computer programs, 'computer pirn tbuts,.motes, -
lcttcre,*membranda, papers, and documents, all'whether;
fimshcd or unfinished. "
.10.-2 All data and'any prepcrtywhich.has been rcccivcd frbm-
•the Siale.or purchased with funds'provid^ for thai, pu'rpp^
under thisAgrccment,;shall.bc the pfbpcfty of thc.Siate, aridi
shall be rctumed to .lhe:Siate upon demand of upbp^lcfmination
of this; Agreement for any reason.
10.3 Cbnfidcnlialjty of data shali be governed byN.H. RSA

•' chaplcr,9j-A,or.othcr-cxisting'iaw. Disclosurcm'f data, requires
prior written approval of thc.'Statc:

-1 (..CONTRACTOR'S RELATION TO-THE STATE. In thc
.  perforinancc of iltis Agreement'the Cbntfactoi-is in.all respects

an independent contractor, and '.is neither an agent nor -an
emplbyec bf the Sl.ate, Neither the Contractor-n'pf any!pf its
pffic'cfsj'cmplbyces, agents or members shall have authoriiy to
bind the State'or receive'nny bcncfilSi workers' compensation or
pthcr-cmolumcnts provided by the State,to ils cmployccsr

:i2. ASSiGNMENT/pELEGATIPN/SUBCpNTIUCTS.,
jl2.',l .ThC:.Cphtra4brshall, riPt:assjgh, or-bt^^^^
interest in this i^gfwinent witKbul the prior.\vrittcnmpticc";,which
shall be "prpvided to]tKe .State at IcasCfiftccn (15), days prior, tb;
thc^assignm'cht,.ahd a wriitcn consent of ihc.Statc. For purposes'

•  .of uhis, paragraph; a. ;Changc .of ̂ Control shall (institute,
assignment. "Change of Control", means (a), nvefger;
consolidation, or a iransaction.bf sc'ries of related trariMCtjbns in
which'a third party, together .with its. affiliates, becpmes; ihe-
difect or indirccf pvwer of fifty percent'(50%) or moje of the"
N'oting ,sha"rcs "pr'sjiTiilar pquity, intercstsi-.or combincdrvoiing^

"'ppwcrof liicCphtracior,;or (^^ of alTor substantially all
;ohhe'asseisofthe!,Gpniractor.'
12.2" None of the Services shall, be subcomraclcd; by the.

■Goritractor without pri.br vsTitlcn'nblicb and cpn'scnl bf the $tatel
"Xhe State is crititlcd'to'copicsof all subcontracts and assignment'
•agreements and shall not be bound by any provisions.contained-
in a subcontract or an assignment agrcement:to jvhich it is hot a,
party.-

13. INDEMNIFICATION. Unless otherwise excnVptcd by law,-
the Cohtractor shall' indemnify and hpid,hafnilcss:the-Stm^^^ its'
officers and.pmployc.cs,-from ngaijist any and all claims,:
lia^ftiics aiid costs-.fof'ahy pcrsorial mjuiy'or property damages,,

• patent p"rcppy,righfiit'fringcmcnt;orothcr:c!oims,asscrtpd against
' the Slalei iis'officers or.cmployces, which arise cut of (or.which

may bciclaimcd to. arise, out .of) thc.mcis oh bmi<^tptpt)f ;thc;
3 .of 4 ■

,Coritractof Initials^
■ ; • 'Date'37272W_



Docusign Envelope ID: F675867A-7806-422C-A080-A6F1124E7A7C

OocuSIgn Envelope id;.'28FBD256-AC69^2CA-9C7br9B59Ci7B5iw'

Contractor).or ̂ bcoritroctorc, including but not Jo the
negligence,.reckless or ihteritioiial conduct.- The State'.^hall.'hot

liable for any costs incutred by the Cohlractbr arising under
ilhis paragr^h i 3.'.Not\vithstandihg thcTorcgolng, nothing herein

. contdihedshail be deemied to constitute a waiver of the sovereign
:iihmunity of the State, which immunityis:hercby:reser>'ed,to the
State." This: covenant in paragraph 13 :shall survive.- the
Yermination.ofjhis Agreement,, i . .

4.4.;iNSyRANeE.
14,1 Thc^Cpntra;ctor shall, .at its sole'expense, obtain and
continuously; mintain in force, and. shall' ̂ require any

.  •subcontractor or assignee to obtain' and maintain, in force, the
•foltowingfinsurance:
.I'ft.1.1 commercial gcnc'ral liability:i.nsurancc.'against' all claims
,of bodily injury, death pf^propcrty damage, in amounts :bT not
less thani$l;POp,pop,per pccuifcnce m^^ a^rcgatc
)or c'xc^s; and - , • , •
14.1.2 special .cau'sc Of loss coy fonn covcring^all.property
:subject to subparagraph .10.2 herein, in ah amount not lessjhan
'80% ofthc whole replacement valuc.of the property.
14:2.The policies described in subparagraph iH. l hercin.shall be
on poli.cy fdrtiis and ehdoisemcrits approved for usc'iti thc,Slat_e
p.f:New"Hahipshire;.by .thc^ Pepartnienl of Itisurancei and
:i^!icd by insurers,licensed in the State of New Hampshire.
i4;3.Thc-Gonlractor, shall furnish to :the. Contracting OITlccr.
identified in blockT.9, or his or her successor, alccrtjficate(s) Of
insurance'for.'all insurance required under, .this. Agrccmeni.
.Cdntractor shall aiso'fumish.to the Contracting Officer identified

■  in block, 1.9,:6r;His,;or her, successor; c,crtificate(s) of insurance
/or all," rencwalfs) of. insurance requif^^^
Oatcr-than ten (1,0). days ipripi'Tp '.the 'c.xpiratipn date of.-each
irisurancc policy/" The ccrtificatc(s) of insurance'and any
^renewals thereof shall bcattached andarc incorporated hcrcin'by
'reference. - - / . .

,15/WORKERS'GOMPENSATlOlV:
;l,5.1 By signing this a^ccmcnt', Ihc Qonlractor agfefe)- certifies
.and warrants that the C6h,tractor is' ih,c^^
from, the requiremerits of N.H. F^A;chapter'281-A Cif'or^rs '

•.15,2: TO the extent thc Contractor'is sObject-to thc requirements
of N.H..r;SA chapter 281-A, Confractor/shali'maintaiiY and
require,any ;^subc.ontractor or, assignee lorsecurc and maintain,
payment ,pf Wprkera' Cpmpehsatloh jri.'cphncctioii with
acli\htics.which the person proposes to undertake pursuant to this
-Agreement. The Gontracior shall furnish the Contracting Officer
:identified in block' 1,9, or his or her,successor, proofof Wbikcrs'
.Compensation in the manner described in N.H. RSA chapter
)281-A and, any applicable fmewal(s).'thereof, which shalj be
attached and ,arc incoiqjprated.herein by reference. The State
shNi not be Tcspjpnsjbje fp'f payincnt -oT any) Wp'rkc'rs'
.Cpmpcnsatipri premiums or" for. other claim or benefit for
,Contractor,- or any subconlractbr or employee -of Contractor,
which might arise; utidcr applicable -Stale 'Pf.Ncw rHampshirc
'Workers' Gompcnsatibn laws in conneciion "with the
performance.of the,'Services undcr this Agreement.

.16. NOTICE. Any notice by a-;parly:hercto*to the other party
■shall be deemed to have b<ren duiy'dclivered or given at the lime'
of mailing.by certified mail.^postagc prepaid,^ in a.Unitcd States.
Post OfTice addressed to the"parties.at the addresses given in^
blocks 1.2 and .1 ;4, herein.

17- AMENDMENT.wThiYAgrccmcrit may bc)nmchded, waived
-or djschargcd only by an irislrumcnt'in writing signed by the'
parties'herelo arid only "after approval 'of such amendment,
waiver or. discharge by the Governor.and-Exccutive Council.of
the Stale ofNew Hampshire unless no suchapproval isrcquircd-
under the circumstances pursuant.to^Slate law, riile or policy.

18. CHOICE .OF:LA\yrAlSD FORyNl. This Agreement shalj
be.gPYemed, intcipretcd and constmed "in accordance iwiih the
lau^ pf the,Stale of Nc\v Hampshire, and iSfbinding upon and
iri'ure's to the benefit of the parties and their respective successors'
andtassigns. 'The woi^ing'uscd in this Agreement is the wording

;choscn by lhc.,partics!to express their mutual intent, and no;ru!e
of;Construction shall b,e:appHed agaihsl-6r in'favor of any party.
,Any actions arising oiit of this Agreement shall b'c brought'-.arid,
maintained in New Hampshire Superior Court which shall jiave)
e^cl.bsjvejurisdiciiqn thereof.; , ,

19. GONFLIGTLNG TERMS, in .the event of :a conflict'
between the terms of this.P-3'7 foim.(as modified in EXHIBIT

. A):and/or altachrhcnis and amendment thcrcof,.thc 'icrms of the;

.Pr3,7 Jas modified in EXHIBIT A)" shall control.

20. TUiRD PARTfES. The, parties hereto dp: not intend" tp
bcri'cfit any third' parties aridv this .Agreement, 'shall not: ;bc

- coristrucd'tp confcrany siich benefit.

21. .HEADINGS. The.headings throughout the Agrccmcril arc;
for reference pur^ses, only, and the words contained Iherciti:
shall iri^tip way Be held to explain, modify) amp|i fy-,pr" ajd in the
iritcfprctalipri, constfticliori of fncam rig of the "pfpvisions of, this;
^rccmcrit.,

22. SPECIAL" PROViSIONS: .Additional or modifying^
.provisions set.forth-irithe attached EXHIBIT A arc incorporated
herein byrcfcrcncc..

23. SE VERABJLIT.Y. In' the "cycrit any)6f the provision's of this.
Agreement arc held by-.a court of competent jurisdiction-to" be
contrary to any slate or federal law, the remaining provisions of
lhiS;Agrccmcnt.wi[l remain in full-force and effect.

24. ENTII^ AGREEMENT. This Agrccmcntj wHi^ Oiay ,bc
dxeclitcd in a.ri'umbcf of cpuptcipa'rts^^ each of which shall be
deemed, an prigihal, .constitutes the entire iagrccmcnl' and
undc.rstandihg between the "parties;, arid .supersedes all prior
agreements arid:undcrstandings .with respect io the subject,matter
hereof.

of4 '
Contractor Initials



Docusign Envelope 1D:.F675867A-7806-422C-A080-A6F1124E7A7C

ObcuSign'Envelope'lD: 28FBp250:^ACp9-42CA-9C7Dr9B59p7B5A5A9

.  New Hampshire pepartmeht of Health and Human Services
Neuropsycholo'gy SeiVlceS'

EXHIBIT A

Revisions to Standard Agreement Provisions

.1-;. Revisiohs-td _Fprm'P-37, GenerarPrpylsip ■ ^
l.j. Paragraph ;'3v;EffeAtiyeipate/Cpmpletipn of Services, is amended by adding

subparagraph 3.3 as follows: '

3:1 The parties may extend fhe Agreement for up to" six (6) additional years
from the Gompletipn pate, OTntingerit upon satisfactory delivery of
services, available.fundihg, agfeertiehtiof the parties, arid approval of the
Govemoriand Executive Cpuricii.
... . *

Paragraph' /.Personnel, is arTierided/t)y/iTipd^^ subparagraphs 7.1 arid.7.2-
toTead: ,

■ 7..T. The- Coritracior ishalf af its. own expense' pfovjde all personnel-
necessary to perfqrrrt the Seiyices. The Contractor certifies iKat all
personnel ehgage'd iri; the Services shall be qualified .tp perform the-

•. Services,, and shall be properly Ijcensed and othe.rwise.authprized to
dp so under ail applicable laws.

7.2. . • Unless, otherwise, .eulhOrized in; Writing, .during the- term of this,
■Agreement, .and for a period 'pf six (6) months after the Cdmpjetibn
-Date in block' 1.7, the CoritractPf-'&.'per^ririel irivplved iri Ihisproject,;

.  shall hpf hire, aridshati riot permit any'subcpntractpr or pther.pe^
ffrm' .pr corppratipn.-wijh whpm/it^^ cpmbiried-effort to
perform the Services- to hire, ariy.person who is.a State .employee or'

.  , oiFficral, v^o is materiailyjnvolyed in the procurement, administration ■
' ■ 'or .perforrhance of this. Agreemerif:. This-provision, shall survive

termihatiori of this Agreement. .

1.1 - - Pa/agfaph-.l.Terminatipn, is amended,by;rr)pdify|ng subparagraph(9;2 to read:'
'9.2 ■ In the. event of an early terrnihatioh of .this Agreemenffor any.reasoh

other than the completion ofTbe :Seivices,;the Contractorvshall, at the
;  , . .iState's discretion, deTverto the Gpntracting Officer, notlaterm^

(30)"dayeafter the dateof termination, a report.fTerrhiriatidn Report")
describing In detaif all rSeryices peifprmed, and the conffact pr'ice
earned, to and including the date of termination. The foitn, subject
matter, content, and numbero'f copies of .the Termination Report shall
'be jdenfical to thpse of ariy ■Final Repqrt described ■Iri the attached
Exhibit B. In addition, at the State's discretion,, the .ContVactor shall,
Within thirty j30.) days of npticp of early terminatipri, develop :and
submit 'to -the State a, Tr'arisitipri Plan for services "under the
.Agreemerit.- ^ ■

.1.4. Pai'agra'ph. A2, As.srgnm.Pni'pplega'tipri/Subcpntrac .is- amended ;by adding
subparagraph 12:3:asfpllpws.;

RFP.-2622-NHH-d2-NEURP-01 " -^ry.Hiichcb^ extractor lnlU8ls_
. . . - .. . 3/2/2022
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New.Hbmpshire bepartmerit of Health and Human
Neuropsychology Services

EXHIBIT A

■r. 1'2,3.-S,ubcoritractQrs Bre, subject fp the. same contractual condilibhs-as the
'Cbritractor ^nd the-.Contract is responsible to .ensure: subcontractor

-  . ' 'compliance with those conditions: The'Contractor shall .'have, written
agreementsyvith all subcpp'tractprs; specifying the'WprMo he performed
ahd iiow .corrective action shall be .-rhanaged if the subcohtractbr's

-  •- • ' performance is inadequate.. The! ■eontractpr .shall, .manage -the
siibcbhtractbr's performance bh ari ohgoirig. basis .and take corrective

•  -.action aSnecessary. The Contractor shall annually^ provide.the State with
.  , a list of all subcontractors proyided for under this Agfeenient and notify

'the'Stale of any. inadequate, subcontractor perforrnarice.
-■ P'aragraph 1.4, Insurance, iis-amended by modifying subsection 14:1.2. todblete

the1.e)d.in ,its;entirety and xepl^^
-  14.1:2. 'Professionai 'liability insurance,; in the-amount bf-'Sl ,000,000 per

Occurrence and $3,00,0,000 per anhUal,aggregate.'
'■ -1.6,. . Paragraph 14, Insurance, is amended by modifying subparagraph 14.2 to read:

14.2. The policies described in subparagraph 14.1 herein ,shairbeoh policy
.  forms and endorsements apprpyed for use ;in: the State,.of Ne\v

Hampshire by the N.H. Department of Insurance, and issued by
-  insurers.' licensed in theiState of New Hampshire or registered tb

'  : : ■' . Qpndu.cj ,busines.s in the Slate bf N
'  ' I.Tv Pafagraph'17, Amendment',.jsamehdedbyaddingsubparagraphjz^^^^^^

,  ̂ , 1.7.1 .lnthe:eveht:theSlate;.y/ishesto:ch'ahgethelocatloh(s)lhwhichthe
.  - services;arepertprmedby'thet)ontractorhereunder;in'.vvholeoriih-

-. V - .pa7t,The;;State shall:prb.videCbhtrabtbr with reas
'  : ■ . writtehmotice-of the same. Thereafter, the parties shali meet In good

■  faith ih;order to hiutually agree .upon possible adjustrnents to the
:  - . Terms'and-coriditibhs, if required, virfiibh shall .be docurhented iri the

form pf an amendment to .this Agreement in .accprdance-with
.  ̂ R3f39.C3.P.h '!l7-- . ' '

RFP-2022-NHH-O2^EURO^1' :ttary HUchcock.MOTortal Hos^lal ' Cbritractor, IhJOaJs
,  •' V. V y.. V 3/2/2022;
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New Hampshire'Departmerit qf Health and Human Services
Neuropsychology'Services

EXHIBIT B

I  Scope of Services '

1'; .Statement of Work^ " .

i.i. The ;Contractor shall provide neuropsycholbgy services at New Hampshire-
■  Hospital (NHH):and the'planned,New Hampshire Forensic Hospital (NHFH).,.

' ̂ For the purposes of Ihjs agreement, all references to days'shall mean calendar
"  ̂ days.

*'1,3; Tor the purposes of .this agreemerit, alj references to .business hours shall
■mean Monday, through Friday from:8 AM to.4 PM, ,excludirig':State;ahd federal

'  . holidays.
.  , , , ,Np services;in thj.s agreement can be subcp.hjracted by the eph

' — T.5. The bepartrheht-supportsTraining :ahd-educational hfograrris:f6f unlicensed
:stafT!and/or.educational trainees.;.but does not;intend,tO incur any expenses as
:the result .pf'unlicensed staff, and/pr-educational I'raiheesTeamihg'in Sta^^
facilities. The Contractor Shall ipfoylde' all superyisioii of unlicensed,
staff/educationai trainees^including coyerage^d.uring the primary superyisprS

■ . - • ' Jeave.linriel ' : .

1.6:. ■'Neuropsvcholoav-Services

■  ' , ■ . 1-.6,1. , The;. Confraclor Shall "prpYide Th full-time- equivalent- (FTB)'.
"  ' . . iheUfopsychologists who' ':afe, physically: present at^NHH l^ohday

through Friday during pprhial-husiness hours, unless otherwise; .
.  , .a.pprpyed by the. 'Department. The Contractor shajl, ensure each ■

.neuropsychologlst:-
■  - '• il,'6.1;;h Has attajhed a .Pbctpf, of PhJIospphy (Php) degre

•  Psychology 07:3 ppdprof P,sychplogy',(PsYP,).degre^^^^
l6.1 ;2. Has:a miriimUrh of.twP,'{2j years Pf postTellPWship experience

•in: . •

.  ■ ■ . ' _ T.6;T2.T.' iNeurocoghitiveScre^^ ' ,
^  ' , ' * ;lV6;;i.'2.2. ;Comprehensiye/oeurppsycholpgicaJ assessrrieri.t

.pfdtpcpls; and
"  1.6:.1.'2.3. Cbitipfeheh'sive neufbpsychPibgical report

wri.ting;;and
.3, Has expenehce.ih. the integfation of cbgriitive-test results with;
'  -data Wm structural and functional brain,imaging: and

1,6..1.4; Has, at allTimes, an'.actiye Psychoipgistljcenseissued by the
;NH Board of Psychoibgists-.;

T.6;2- -Ahhe request ofihe Contractor,The Deparl'ment,S;Chief'Executive".-
pfficer;pf 'the InpatienVMentShHeaJth ,System;may; at the

.... . RFP-2p22-NrtH^.2iNEURG^;i; ; Majy^Hitch^-Mem^ Conlractorlnilials,
, 3'/2/2022
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New Hampshire bepartment of Health and Human Services
Neuropsychology Services

EXHIBIT B

.  , waivd the requirement regarding two (2 j years of post-fellowship
.experience, referenced.'in Subparagraph 1.6.^;2..'above.

1;6.3;.; The-Cpntfactorshall :erisure:therieurcij3sychologists,meet.with, various'
- jhpatient ;psychiatric ;and/or forensic patients, primarily ̂ adults.: to.
.conduct neurppsychdlpgica.l assessments and testing.

" 1.6:4. The ̂Contractor shall ensure /heuropsychologists' analyze results' of
o'europsychology assessments and complete neuropsychology
reports iO' the format requested by the Department within.six (6)
business .days of cb'mpletirig patierittestihg, vmich includes but is not

,  iiimltedTp: ■ .

■16:4..1. Reviewing all pa§t- psychiatrici; medical .. records',,
;heurbp.sycholpgical testing and-behavjoral incidents;;and
Providing: recpmmendatio.ns for treatment;.

1.6:5.. The Cbntfactpr shairehsure rieuropsychblogists participate in a team-
.based care model,'which includesibutJs not limited to;
it.6.5; 1. .Actively contributing' 'to patient treatment, plans arid

discussions.

.  ■ ' ■1'.6;5:.2. Developing and mairi'taining posjtiye relationships' with
pepartmerit'slaffr patients,; advocates,, .community
providers.'arid other Interest groups, vital to, the functioning of
the■D.epariment's system pf'Qarei inCtudi.ngTorthe purpose'of

^  ' tran.sitiori Planning by'adh the'DepartmehTs policies
,  . ' . arid standards.

, 1.'6.6. ' The Contractor .shall ensure neuj-ppsychploglstspave the capadtyTb
act as internal consultants tb other providers, as identified ..by -the
bepartriierit, relative tooeuropsychology andjts.potential applications
and uses^in the context p.aliehtpppu

T'Q.T. T,he ebritraCtdrshair.prisufePeuropsycholbgjsts baVe t to
appear.and testify in all ,court andodmihistratiye hearings, asTequjfed
by.the pepartrrierit.

1.6.8. The CoritractoriShalLdellver n.eurppsychology services .to NHH anpfhe
plannedpiHFH, by: .

■  4;6.8.1.. Providirig highly qualifte'd.pefsbnnel; and
;1 ;6.8.2. Working with the New Harnpshire Depaitoen't pf Health and

' Hyman :Seryices ("Departmerrt"). to: continue developing .and
refining.an.Integrated meritaTfiea|thoare.,system;biy applying
:principies ,of:.managed 'carefprcljr),ical treatment;

D8

WP-2022-NHHr024^EURO:6i ' 'Mary Hilchcock Membrtal Hosj^lst Conlraclor Initials'
■  3/2/2022.
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New Hahipshire.pepartment of'H and Human Services
NeuropsyChoJogyServices

EXHIBIT B

The Conti^ctof. -shall recruit and retain qualified Individuals
fContracfbr Persoriher) to fulfill the fequiremerits describ.ed. herein

, within six, (6) .months of ih.e contract 'effective date, The Contractor'
shall eri'sufe: . . .. .

1.6.9.1. 'All Contractor Personnel aYeVemployeds of the Contractor:

1.6.9.'2. iNo' .Contractor Personnel are considered employees of the
.'State of New Hampshire.

1.6.10. The Contractor agrees that One (1) PTE is equal to one (i) 'full-time .
employee wlio works forty {40). hours per week,

'1-;6.11. The:Cohtractof shall ensure all CohtractorPersohnel m'ee'tand adhere,
to:

16.'11,T. The codes of ̂ ethical conduct applicable^ to their license
.category;

'1.6."112. Behayipral poljciespfihe Department;

T6{11.3. Department Infbfmatib^^^ security arid privacy-polities-and
;use agreements, which haye been provided to, the
Contrac.tpr; and - . '

1,6,'11:4. All other hurn'an fespuYce-related expectatioris of the:
•: Departm'ent,;NHH, and .NHFH,.aS;Wen.as.-NWHamps.hlre" ̂

.. .^ ■ . pppartmerit. .of Inforrnatipn Technology (bolT) :security -
policies. " .

1.6.12. The ..Cdntractbr 'shal^ ensure .all staffing positions-prpyjded are .
continupusiy filled or ip actiyeYecfuitiTieht. The Cpritractp^^^
1.6,12".T. f^rOvidethe appropriate'D'epartm'eht^d.esignee with monthly'

-  updates on'the recruitment process fpr all uiifill.ed positions:

1,.6.13'. The ..Cpntractdr-'Shall be spjely responsible for proyidlhg, at no
addiiiqrial costTo the. Department, .qualified, credenfialed, .aMfficient

" ■?taff cpvera.ge .tp-'filj any gapln cp'verage-during any-anticipated leaye
tirhe.- ihclUdihg sick leave, vacation, or coritihuihg medical education '■
leave .lasting more than .three (3)' consecutive .days unless otherwise
agreed upon oh a case-by-tase basis by :the NHH CEO, and flp'r
providing ■appropriate transition between staff'.cpvering {or.,thps;e on
leave. Qualjfied' sufficient staff coverage'means persorihel whp meet
or iexceed the qualifications- of the. .vacating staff .member who have,
ourfent credentials to work at NHH.,

i'.'6v14. The eontractor shall'track-and rppprt staffing I.eyels by PTE units on a
monthly basis to the Departrfient. The Cotilraclbr shall hbt.be r:equired
ffo pro,Vide:hbudy.fimecards for clinical sta

•  c-

-  I

;RFP-2022-NHH^2-NEURbr01 , 'MafyHiiaicbck Memorial Hdsf^^ Contractor Iniliais
'BlfiO- , - .Pago 30(11 -



Docusign Envelope ID: F675867A-7806-422C-A080-A6F1124E7A7C

bocuSIgn Enve|6peTD:!,i2.8F8p250-ACpW2CA-9C7D-?BA907B

New Hampshire Depatimentof Health and Human Services
Neuropsychology Services

EXHIBIT B

i.6;-15. The" Contractor shall ensure the care needs;of patle'nfe are fully
.. addressed.by modifying the.numbefof hdursperwe^ worked by'FTE
" and/or'Part-Tlrhe' FTE staff, as requested ,b"y the Department. The

^Contractor -shall ensure'paii-Time FTE'tStaff :Work- the 'appropriate
ntjmber ofhpurs.ln acGordahce with.l^

1.7. Additional Require'mehts

i j'.i. In'the eveiit of a healthcare syst'erh :erhergency, including but not
limited; tova local epidemic, pandemic, faaljty Closures,Vor. rnass-
quarantine in Which :additiona[ staffing or resources are required due

■  too/surge of iridiyidualsrecjuiririg ̂ ivicesVthe.dbntfactpr-m
required tb.adjust the total ;riumbef Of.staff, bo pailrtime.

.tefully address the; Mre; needs pfpaVents

X.J.i. ;Alj personnel provided by the Cohfractof shall be subject to approval
.;by thepepartment. The Department will infoim.the Contractor of^ariy
applicable Department designeeTof this purpose per position.

-"1,7,3,; The pepartment. atjts sole discretion, may rerscind', either permanently"
■ of ternpjorafily, its approvaLof any Contractor Personnel prpyiding any
-seryibes for any of theTpllowing reasons:

.  -P7-3;1 ■' iSuspensioh, revocation of other lo's's of ,a required license,
.certification,or otheroontractualTequlrernent.to perfofrn such-
iseryipec/.underthe .cpni^^^

1.7\3.2. PfpVisioh of unsatisfactory service based on malfeasance,
.misfeasance, Ihsubordjnatipn" or failure tp satisfactbrily
.provide, required services; ^

•  ' » .

.  •1.7.3:3. Arrest or'coPviction; of any felony, misdemeanor, or drug or
alcohol related offense:

'  ,f.7^3:4.■Ab6liti6n pf' the role due to a change-in organizational
'  , .atructufe;.lackof'sufficient funds pr.Jjkerea^^

•  . ' i;7.3.5. .Any other reason that "includes, but- is hot .limited to:
misconduct; violation pf Pepartrnenl pplicy; Yiplatlpn of state
or federal jaws and regulations pertaining "to the applicable
Departme'"nt service area; .of a determination made by the
Department that the indiyiduaj presents a risk to the Health
a.nd:safety ofariy staff mernber of any individual served by the
bepartrrieht.

1.7.4. in the.:eyent, of !such Tescission,.ihe DeRa.rtment will,- to the exteht
possible;proyide. the Cbntractpf with feaspnable advanced notice and
th.e^appjicable,reason. The Contractor shall, ensure theepplicable'staff

, mertiberfs) are prohibited from providing services for the period ofJifne
that the Department exercises this right. ;No ■additionarpayfn^''

RFP-2622-NHH-62WEU"R0^1" . Mary Morr^ . Cdhtrector InjliaJs'N
372/2022:
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EXHIBITB

be paid by the'State'of New Hampshire for any staff removed Trorh^
duty by'^the Department for any reason.The Contractor;

1:7.4.1; :Shail. urlless the- Gbritfactbf .Pefsonhei ̂ was removed from
■providing: services: .'under Section 1.7.3.4., ;provide:

.replacement' personnel- who meet all of the. applicable
requirements under the contract, including but hot lirtiit^ to"
being subject to Deparlment:approval;

■1-7^.4.2. Shall furnish within ten (ip)'business days replacemeht staff
who: meet'all of the requirements for the applicable position
iundqr the resulting contracts) if the durationpf a ternporarily

.  rescinded approval is greater than .seven .(7) calendar days -
■The: Contractor shall, be. informed by the. Department 'the.
[anticipated duration for which approval. wiJJ remain rescinded.
The. .Contractor shall be responsible for providing,, at no.
additional: cost to the Department, transition services to the'
Department to avpjd service interruptippX .

1.7.4;3.':May initiate, at the sole discretion of the Contractor, any
iiriterhal personnel actions against its own :employees. Nothing
rherein prphibils the-Gontractof from-seeking information :ffo,m
the bepartmeni,regardbg;the bepartrnent's decision,, unless
:such information is'.pthervyise restricted from; disclosure by the
Depa'rtrnent based ohihterhal-Department policies or."rules,-
;State;of New Harnpsfiir.e personnel policies, ̂ rules; collective
bargaining agreementSi or other s^te or federal laws,

17.5: The Contractor shall ensure that, prior to providing Ihe applicable
.services for/the. applicable Department .service area or facility, .all
required licenses; certifications, priyileges,. or other specified rninirn.um
quaiificatiOns iare met fef all staff, and where applicable, are,

. maintained .thrpughoui.the proyisipn oiF seryicesfprThefUII teem bf the'
contract. The .Cohtractpr; shalt.prpvide, the applicable Department

■  . .designee: with a copy of ;all such documents. The-Gontractof shall hot
holdrthe Pepartment financially liab|e'for any fees or costs for any
licenses;, certifications or renewal :of sarhe, .hof for anyTees; or costs'
Incurred for providing copies of said licenses or certificatipns.

1 ;7.6. Iri addition.to any approvals required by the.Cbntfactor-.fpr eniplpyebs,
-  ■ the'Contractorishall ensure staiff provide.timely, prior notification to the

applicableDepartmentdeslgneefor any antjcipatedleaye time,'Uriless
otherwise: stated herein for a specific position of" service :area. The
Conlractof shall, ensure that all staff provided have, a standard amount -
,.pf'yacatlon and sick ;tlme, subject, to .the nprmaj .and customary
employee benefes and pblicles of Ihe Contractor. .Howeveri.lhe '
CoritVactor shall ensure .staffiabide by the :3ta'te holiday schedCle?.^.

Ttim
RFP-20i25«iHH-02-NEORO^i t^ryiHitchcock Memorial Hbspltar. ■ Conlractof Ihmals ^ -
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EXHiBITB

1.7.7., The, Gbhtracior shall ensure annual perfbirnance: reviews are
completed for all Contractor Personnel. The Contra_Gtor shall;
'incorporate feedback-"from the applicable Department desighee-for
;such reviews. The'Cbntractdr.shall ensure that goardeveiopment an'd'
perfomian^ mpnitoring i.s respohsiye to the •eyolying needs of."the-
•Department over the course of ;the contract peno^

i:7.8; The-Contractor■ shall be, responsible for rrianaging eil. empioyee
relaUons and performance management:issues for the staff provided,

.ih'accordance with, .the Contractor's policies and applicable NHH,
'NHFR^ and^or State of New Hampshire/poljcies;.

■1:7.9: Prior to cOmmehd'ng work, thefCdntractOf shaliehsure all persphnel ;
.  provided. undergo, 'the .following, crirhinai background, "registry, '

screehirig and medical examina
1.7.9:1.^Cnfhihal' ;Backgrouhd :(including .New Hampshire criminai

background)':.
1.7.9.2., B.ureau dfiEiderly-and'^duJl Services State Registry;-
1.7.9.3. Division for Children, Youth and Farriiiies Geritfal Registry;

and '

Physical capacity examihat^^^^^
i .7.1 b: The GoritractOr shail ensure Contractor personnel assigned to peffoirn

eoiYices under the: Agreement' comply with all Department:
reqijifements, pojicies,.and;prpcedufee,reiatiye tol prevention,
mitigation, .anb eohtrOI" to- rhitigate risKs Of disease transmission" ^

■  p'rjorto the-commencement}of:sery^
'1.7.T1. The Contractor shall, ensure that the chmihal'backg^^ registi7i

:screehing and rh^icai examihatibns above are kept current as.
required and: .in accordance' -with ;the Departmen'ts. corifidentiality

■  poiicy;,the.p'epartm"e"htireceives'^ required ̂ dpcumentatioh
pnbr toihe cprnmencement of:services; and :the-DepartnienI is nbt'b
responsible for any costs incurred in ob'taihi'rig :the dociimehtatidn.

1>.12. The Contractor shaij nOt utiijze any personnel,. Including
SubcoritractorSi to fulfill the pbijgatipns of the co.ntract, who have been
convicted of any crirhe .of'dishonesty, including but not limited To
criminal fraud, or otherwise convicted of any felony or misdemeanor
offense for which'incarceration fprep-to one (I f year lean ;authori2ed

'  penalty. TheGontractof shaii initiate;a criminal background check- re-
investigatjon of all personnei provided e.very :five (5) years. The
Cbn.tfactqr";shall ensure the;five (5) year peripd is-based:on the date of
the last criminal :backgfound check conducted by the Contractor or
thdir-agents. , : /—"

;  ; : , ■ hgjwk,
RFP-2022-NHH-02:nEORO-01 ' 'MaYHitchcockMemorial Hosprflal ContractorInlbals-^""
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EXHIBIT B:

>1.8. Stat^Qwned Devices; Systems and Network Usage .

'j.'.B.il- Spntractdr'pefsbnnei.must^tfse^a'^tatesissued.device,- incjudipg, hot
.  /liiihited 'to, computers, tablets, or ■mobile telephohes, in fulfiilihg the
.  . requirements dr the contfact, The Gpntractpr^shair ensure all

.  ConWctof Personnel: . - ' > -
.  Use ;the Information that they have permission to access'

sblelyTorThe provrsioh of servicesihereunder; or conducting
official State business. Air .other use or access, is^striclly
forbidden; including, but not limited, ' to personal or other
private and.nbn-State use, ahd'that atpo timeahajli exceptas •
n;e;ce.ssary' ,to. .provide; services, hereunder,' G.ohfractor
workforce or^agents access or attempt to acce.S^^^

.  , 'vwthout bavihg the,:expresSfaufhority of the Departfnent-tb do
so; . ■ . "

'T.8;i.2. Not across or ;attempt,to: access infonnation in a manner
ihcohsistent with the appfoved policies, procedures, and/or

-  ' agreernent relating to;;system entry/access;
■  1;.8.;1.3. Not -copyi share; distribute, sub-ljcense, modify.^^^^^^

■ehgipeer.-rent,. oreelf sbftWareiicensed, develpp^
,  "evaluated iby.the;$,tate. ;At;a)r;tlmes^^^^^^

utfhdst ,care* tO:-pfotect;'bhd keep, such ̂ ^ftwafe:
.cpnfidenllaj Jn accordance'vyith 1hfe ticerise. or-any other''.

; agVeemerit executed' by the -State.- Only equipment.'or
rsoftware 'owned, jicensed\ orbeing evaluatedby the:'Siate of

.  : New. Hampshire: can; be. used by the;, .Contractor, Npnr
istahdard ^ftw.are shall hot be installed pn; any equiprnent
unless authorized by the bepartrherit's: Inforrhatioh Security
Ottice;

' ^

V «

,  • \ 1..8.1i4.- .Agree.! '.that^ email ' and, ..other 'electronic .'comm.unication
-  " V ; > .ibessageV created, sent, ahd-Tebeive^^^^

.  ' ieidail system-are the.p.ropeily of'the'State'pf New Ha_m
end to be;usedTor'b.usiness:puiposes'only. Email is defined'

.  ■ las 'Internal email systems" or "State-fu ernsiil systems."
The-Goritractor understands .a'hd.. agrees that use of.einall
shall follow . Pepartme.nt .and State, of New Hampshire
standard policies; and

1.6.1.-5. iU.s.a-theiinterhet and/or Jhtranet fo"r access to arid distribution
Of ■information: in dlre.ct- support of theOusinpssOf'the State of
:New Hampshire accordiqg to, policy of. the Departieent. At no'
■time should the fnternet "be.used for personal use. ■

1;9, Kev Peiformance lndicators

'RFP--20i22^HH-62-NE'URO-<ji Ma'/yHilchaDd(Mcm6rtal Hospital Conlraclof Initiate
i: 3'/.2/2622'

•B-.I-.O .Pege'Toflli , Dati?



Docusign Envelope ID: F675867A-7806-422C-A080-A6F1124E7A7C

:D6cuSignEnvelope'ID;'28FBb250^AC0&t42CA-'9C7b-9B5967B5A^
.w ,7 - ■ '
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EXHIBIT B

-■ The Cohtractbr shall ehsure. heuropsychologlsts wmply"-wllh the
f6llowing",Key Performanceindicatbrs: .

^  1.9.1,t NeurppsycMjpgy Reports ,
~  Cdrilpleted, as; noted in an Individual 'Progress"

•  Note. In .'the patient's medical irecoTd, and hard
copy of the report submitted for fi ling with the
Medical Records Technician, within Six (6)
business'days oficompletirig patjent testing.

.  1.9.1.1y2v Cohtehts within assessment sunima'r^^^^
-  compliant vyith; :all Cehters;Tof.. Medicare'and

.Medicaid jieryices (.CMS) arid Department
■  - ■ doGumehtatiohTequiremehts. ■ . ,

i9:i.2. Standardized.pr
'1;9.1,v2,1,: Cpmplianee 'wth. .aH. ..existing and 'future

standardized' Work processes with the. .goal of
r.edyci/ig'variation :in care.

Annual;Reyi0wS' '

1.9.1.3.1. Annual reviews are ddcumented' on .all- "staiff
pro.vided'bythe'Cdntractpr/The'CpnJractorvSh

'  ' " en.sure ■ perfprm^ are in
cbmpliarice with professional istahdafds: for

/  evaluations per-:GMS:and;'t^
■  ■ gliideliries. " . '

t;9.i:4:'NHH-ai^'NHF^
'1;9.1 Adhorence'tp NHH and NHRH PpHcies including,,

but.hot, limited to . policies^ on Medical Records
.  , . , . ; pocumenta'lionarid Rrpgre^^^^

2, [Exhibits Incorporated ,,

' 2.1. The Cdhtfactof shall usevahd disclose Protected Health' Information in
compliance with the'Standards for Privacy of Individually Identifiable Health
Information (Privacy Hule) (45 CFR PartsVieO and 1.64) drider the .Health
Insurance Rortability ;and Accountability Xct (HjPAA)! of 199,6; and in
accordance with the attached,Exhibit I, Business As^ciate Agreeriierit; Which
has beeri.execufed by the parties. ; . '

2;2. The Contractor shall, manage all confidential data related tp-this Agreement ip
[  accordance with' [the terms pf Exhibit. K; DHHS- Informatiori ■Security

Requiferrierils.
2[3. The Cohtractdr shall cpmplywith ajl Exhibits D through K, ,vyh'ich,are:^Qhed

r.

RFR-2022-NHH-02-NEURO^)1 Mary Hitchcock Momc>rial,Hospllai, Contractof Initials . -
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EXHIBiTB

hereto and ihcpipofat^ by reference herein.

3. Reporting Requirements ^

■JS.S. ■ The- 'Cpntraclor "shall provide, monthly staff .reports to- the- Department, to^
sufficiently document actu'al staffi'ng.ievels and "servicesTendered. Monthly staff'
reports shall inclUd.e theTollowing; ■ . i
'3'T.1. Monthly stajfmgschedule;; ' , ■ ,
:3.i.2. ■ Actual-n^'Ew^orked within^the monthly feporting^periodjiand
■3.I..3. Actual. PTE allocated to sick^timei leave time, or any other npn-clinlcal

'time within'the .mpnlhly fepprtihg Reripd..
4. ;Perfpfmarice Measure^^^^ " .

•  the: department- .Will monitor Gpntractor .perforrnapce by ..reviewing the
■e6ntVactpr's'.compnance-wi^ the key pertpmiance indicators 'describediabbye,
and'the monthly staff re^^^ provided by the Contractor.

4.2. The..Cohtractor:shaIj actively :and regularly collaborate with the Department to
enhance cpnlractnianagemeht, irriprove results, and adjust program delivery
and policy based'on successful oulcOmesr ' .

■4.3. ■ ■ The;pb,ntracto.r*rnay be .required ;tp, prgyid.e-ether key -data .and metrics .tp the;
'  Deplrtnient; iricludihg cjientTlevel demographlCi;.perfbr'mance;.and .service.

.data..-' ■■ ' ' ' ■

4.4. ^Where. appiica.biei the- Cpntractpr shall, collect- and; share.-bata: .with, the ,
■  .DepartrhentJh a.fbnriat speciified by the.Depar^

"5. .Additional Terrris '
.  JmpactsKes.uIhng from. Court Orders or

-5.1.1; The Contractor agrees that, to :the .extent future state ,br .federal
^  legisiatlbn-or courts-orders may .have an'impact on' the Services;

;  : ,des,crlbert'herein- :theStatebf.New
. 'Set^icennorities and expenditure requirements under this/jigreerhent

sp:as to achieve.compliance, therewth. |n the event that any
state or federal legislation or ■court' order inipacts the' Services
descnbed herein, the Department shall provide, the Contractor with
reasonable advanced notice of ariy necessary modification to SeiVice
prtprities and expenditure requirements. The; parties agree to
cooperate in the Implementatlqn .and planning of any such;
-friudiftcation and ;the Department shall- .consider' Contractbrls.
reasonable' requests with ir®sp®^ fe sisQh mpdifieations.
Notwithstanding, the fpregding, StheCep.artmen^^
ribht-tVmodify'Service pnbn'tieea'nd.expenditure re'quifefeen^^
ithisj Agreement :sp as:,to. achieve combliahce .with" any future.^alfi. or

'I . •

;RFP.2022::NHH^2-NEyRO^1 'Ktery Hitchcock Memorial Hospital
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EXHIBIT B

^ ■ ■ 'federal legislatidh drcourtdrbers^that.have an impiact oh the Service's
descnbed herein. ■ ■

5.2. ;Cre(lfts ahd 'dbpyright-Owne^
5.2.1. All dbcumerits, hotibes, pressreleases, research reports and other

materials -related to and resulting from the', performance of the
•services of the Agreement shall include the following statement, "The
preparation of this (report, -document etc.} Was firianced under an:

'-epntract with thevState of New Hampshire, Depailmehtef Health and
Human''Services, with funds pfovi'ded ln part by the State, of New
Hampshire and/br such other'fundihg sources as were, available .or

'. Tpqujred., e.g., 'th.e United -States iDepartment of Health and; .Hurn.an
■  ■ Sefyices."' ■ ' . / ' , ' . ■ ^

5.'2;-2. .^ll materials purchased, und.er the; 'Agreement shaji have prior.,
•approval from the pepailiTient'befp.re printing, p/oduction, distribution
or use..

5.'2;3. The/Deparbrient .shall retain bppyright ownership for any and al[
=  ■ 'pngi.nal}uater[als produced, i.nc|uding,;W

.  .5.2.3'.?t'. • .BfbchUfes.

■  ̂ ■ ■ :5.-2:3;2'.;: \Resourc.edirectbries. '

i5.2;'3.S. ' 'P.rotpools of guidelines.

" ,5.'2;3.4. . ,.Posters;

"  ;5:2;3i5. ■ IReports^; ■ . , ■ *

5..2;4-. . The'Contiactor shall not repraduce any materjalspfoduced uhdef the
, Agfeement-without pnor written approval .from'the.Departmeht.,

5.3'. Eligibility peterminations ^

5.3.T. If th®' f?9,nf.r3Ctbr-Js by the Department to.-
•  'determine: the .eligibility- of i'individuals "such' eligibility 'determinatiOh

ishajj be rnade jn accordance with applicable "federal, and slate laws,
.regulations, orders, guidelines, policiesand procedures:.

'5.3.:2. Eligibility dbterrriinations shall'be made on Torms provided by :the
Depaftmeht for that purpose and 'shall be made and remade at such
itimes as'are.presbfibed by the pepartment.

'5.,3.3. • ll.n adc^tiopto the determination^ by the .Departm.ent,.the
-COhtractof-shall mafhtaih'a datb; -fiie brt .eabh tecipieht of services
.hereunder, which .file" shall •ihclude-: all jnformaUon necessary- lb
support an eljgibility.determ.ihatrpn and such-other-inforrnatio.n asThe
•bep'a'rtfnerit-. iioa-soh'a'bly" ceqiieste In ^wfitirig. The Cbntractb.r. shall
ifurrii'sh the department with, alt forms, and documentation r^^fQinj

RFRr2022-NHHrO2-NEURO^)1 Mary Hitchcock" Mehior^ Hospllal " . '.ContracbriniDais.
3/2/2022:
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5.3.4V

eljgibility.determinations thatthe Department fnay febueistdr require.,
■" .'y '

The Gontractor understands that • all applicants for- services
hereunderVas well as Individuals declared ineligible "have a right to a:
fair hearing regarding that determinatibn'. The Contractor ;hereby
.coyenarits and agrees; that Jail applicants for services shall be
permitted tp fill putan application form and that each applicarit-of re^
applicant' -shalLbe irifdrmed, of his/her right to: a fair hearing .in
accordance y/ith Department regulations, . - . :

6. .Records
.6.'1. 'fhe'Cdhtractbra keep.fecdfds that include, but are not limited to:

'  e.i.l. Books, Tecords, dpcumehts and, other electronic or physical -data
eyidencingahdTeflectihg all costs and other'experises.'incurfecl^by the
Contractor in'the performance; of the Agreernent, and all Income
recejyed or coljected'by the

6^1.2. All records .must be maintained in accordance with accounting
procedures ahd'practipesi which^sCifficiently and properly reflect;all:such
co,sts:arid .expenses', and:'yyhJch a/eacceptat3leT6 the Depa'rtniehh ^
to include^withbut' iirriitation,; all ledgers, bookSijrecOrdsV and'original

.  . evidence of cQStsisucih as" purchase requisjtibns. and prdeia, vouchers,
requisitions for-m.aterlals, invehtpries, valuatipris of ih-kiri'd cOritribulidns^
labdfitime'ca^ds.-payrplisi. arid other records repu

• the bepartmeht.V ^
;w7:;, CpntinMlty of Seivices ahd U

'7:1. ■ iLlquldateddameges are.spec may be;assessed.jn:accordance-Mth,
■' Exhibit s, Payment Terms,rSectipn'il^

,  ■ ■■

RFPr2022-NHH-02-N.EyRO-0l
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EXHIBIT C

'  -I-

2..

^  :Pavment Terms

This Agreement |s funde^^ v'■ ^
t.l. 36%: General fuhds. , ! ■ ■■ ,

- 64% Other funds (PrpviderTees):, ; '
For the purposes pfithis Agreement:'
.2.1. The: pepartment - has Identified the Contractor as a. Contractor, Jh

:ac,cordancewilh'2CFR'200.331.
2.2.' The Depa^ept has, idehtrfied' thi& Agreerhenl as NON-R&D,-: in

;accprdance.with:2 CFR §200.332.

The" Contractor sha|rprc»y|de^ services under this Agreement jbased.' .on the'
Budget below per appHcable Service .Area;'and State Fiscal Year.: The
Contractopshalf.be compensated to provide and deliver the.eervices described
:in Exhibit B;'iSc6pe pTSeryices, on ifie basls'of this Bgdget.

Budget . '
Agreement Per od by State'Fiscal Year

■  -3/1/2022-6/30/2022' 7/1/2022-6/30/2023

$i08;192: - .  :$,334;3l,3

3.1. The Cdntractdr shall prdvide the Departmeht-a detailed personnel listihg
for ail staff performing, serVicesloh an,'annual basis for each:State Fiscal
year, .or rnpre frequently:as required; by the Department; to ensure: the.
accuracy of information 'contained-inerein :ahd proper .cost allocatipn.
The ContracloYshall ensure the.li'stihgs:
:3..1V1., ■ilheludelnfomiatidn'tha^^ but.is hot limited to:

IS'! 1.1 ci'. ■ .Staff names. . .
■ 13.1:1:2- Staff titles, ;
.3.t.l.3. iPers'onnel costs' inclusive of salary, costs, ■fringe

benefit'cpsts. and indirect rates.
3.1.2. Are iaa format as determined.ahdapproved by the'Departmeht.

3:2. The, Contractor shall autbmaticaiiy .reduce iinvdices by the appropriate
:amo.unt 'irhmediatejy -upon. a. position becoming vacant- and not being
backfilled with-a locuni.

3;3. ' The Contractor shall,.ensure ;all providers;and7or clinical staff areTu'ly'
creden'tialed-and enrolled''with insurance carriers prior to beginning

•  work.. 08

RFp.2022.NHH-0244EUR9^1

•'G-i;2 ;■

Mary Hitchcock'M^moHal H^pital
. Pago 1 of 6'

Contractor Ir^tials
3/2/2022

Data.
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EXHiBIT G

4. the Gontractdr shall,submit an invoice in a;form-salisfactory to \he Departnieht
' :by the'"tvventjeth"5[2b1hj wbrking:day ofithe identifies and-'

■.requests reimbursement for authorized .expenses incurred In'the, prior, month,,
with the exception of-^une invoices; wh'ich;shaltbe subrnitted..by the tenth (1

.  .of the fbllpwihg month, -the Contractor-shaii ensure the^invoice" is corhpleted,.
;'date,dland:retumed-to the.'Department'in order to initiate payment.

■5. -.f n lieu of hard copies, all .i.nvpices rnay be assigried an electrpnjcrsjgnature and
emailed .t6.NHHFinahcialSemces@dhhs.hh.Qbv.-or in voiCes.rnay be mailed to:

Fihancial Manager , .
.  . , Departmentpf: Heajth and Hum^^

■ NeW'Harhbshire Hospital, • :
'71.Sduth Fruit Street. . , " V '
Concord, NH 05301

6. The Department shail m'akemaymeht'to the .Contractor, wi'thiri thirty (30) days.
-Of receipt of each invoice/sub.sequent.toepproyal of.the submi.tted invoice; and
if sufficient' funds are available, .subject to Paragraph .4 of .the iGeneral
Provisions Form.Number P-3.7 oiF this Agreement.'

7. The ContVactpr. shall' de'signa.te :a -contact, person ,to resolve .any iquestjons, or
,  , , idiscrepancies re^afdW^ Ihycjicesr The C'oritractp'r shall:

7 A. Proyidei the Department'with :the hanie, title, telephone, number; fex
■number.and email addresspftheoontaptpersonv

7.21, Notify', the ;,Depamn the-;eyeriVthe''deslgriate,d cohtact' 'person
-' ■ . ^ chahges., ■ . " ■
8. ■ The'fiharih.voice 'shall b.e'due to Ihe'Cep.artmentno later than-forty (40) days

after the^cpntract completion date specified in Forrii P-37,, General Provisions
Block 1.7 Completion.Date.

' 9, Th.e, C,ontrac.tor must provide, the services: in :Exhibit: B', Scope .of Seryices, :|n
-  corh'pliahce with funding'requirements. ;
10. The ,C.ontractpr.agre.es that funding-under this Agreement may be withheld, in

■whple-'Or in part, in the event ofhoh.TCompIianCe with therterms and conditions
of Exhibit B, Scope of Services:

11;; . Noty^ithstanding'anything to the contra.^ jierein.-;the .Gbntraetpr agrees: that
•fundirig underUhifagreement may bVwithlYeld; in whble^orin part, iriJthee.Vent
of hon-compliahce yvith .any Fed.eral.m.r State law, ru.l.e :pr regulation applicable
to the. services: proyl.ded, of If the said'sefVices or products have ;npt; been
satisfactorily completed Jn ^accordahce'with the terms arid, conditions :6f ,this
agreem.ent. ' . ;

RFR-2022-NHJ^2-NEURO-O1

C-1.2 ' •

Maiy,Hitchood( Memorial Hospital,

-  Page-^pfg'

;Gonlraclor InilialS'.

Datot

•D8

f3/2/-2022
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EXHIBIT C

12. Nptwlthstarid^ Paragraph: i 7 of the.'G'eheral PrbVisiohp Fpfm' Pr37, changes;
,  [irnited to; adjusting .amounts .wltbin -the ipcicp limUatidn and adjusting

*' * 'ehdumbrances.ibetwepp/Sta^ .Rscal."'Years'and'budget;cl.ass-,lirf€i.s'through.th^^
■ Budget- may pe made by written-agfeemeht' ofPoth^^^^^^
obtaining; approyarpf the: Executiye:\Couhcil. if needed. and

"  - ' ■ . justified;"', , ' , ■ — ■ . ■

•' Audits-- ■ ■ ■ . ■ ■

•  i:3.T; phe ^Contractor . must . empil , an annual' " audit , to
mPlissa.sTmbnhfSdhhs^rih.dovJf-anVibf the:fol!owihq^cQhditlQns.exist: -

•'jSoricjitlbnvA.j- ifte. .C'ohtrkctbhexpende'd $756,000 or more; IP
.federalfunds/ecelved as a subreclpient pursuant tQ/2vCPR

^  ■ 200,during the mo'st;fecehtly.cp'm

13:1.2. C^h.ditldn. B"- th'e•.dontcabtor is subje'cftbaudit 'pufsuant tP-'the•
•  of ,NH RSA 7:28," l|l-b,,pertaining'tpPhan^^^

■brgariizatibns.receiving support:of $1.,p00Vp6^^ 1.
-  ' -1.3:1 .;3'; Condition C - The Gontractor is a public company and required

^ by Seburity- and Exchange Gpm.missio.n: (SEC), regulations to,
V  -submitan annual financial audit.
;■ ' 13;2.. If Gpnditipn A exists,jthe Contractp^^sha^l:subrn'it an annUariSinglPaudit
:  performed by an independent Gert^ Accountant i.CPA j:ip the,

v. .Pepartmbn^wJthlaO.Oi days)after:ffie;cdmpletibP of the. sihg^
,  upon: ;s,u6miss,i,on of the Cpntracbr's: single, audit to" the. €eUe

.  Pl^yhbObouse.^TOnducted ih\accpfddnce,wi,th;the,requ,l^
.PM 20,0, ;Su'bpart Fdf ;the" Unlfbrrh Admiriistra^^

-  ■ jprinciples, and AuditiRequirerhehts.for Federal 'a^
'  ■ , ' il3.-3. ;if'Cbnditioh B or Gonditiori'.G 'exists, -the Cbntractpr,shall 'submit: an ■

' ranhual iinancial, audit perforrned'ty ah independent CPA within ,126:
.  days after'the clps.e pf-the:Con

l3."4:. In .'additidn^tg, .and iffbtMni- any.lway. in P.f thd.
'  •• • , Gontraet, it Is understbod Jand ^agre,ed by-the, Gontra,ctdr''lhat- tKe^

:Cbntra"ctoTshall be held'.liable.for ahy'.stat^ or federal aud[tdxcepl,ipns;
rand shall return to Ihe Gepaiirrient ra il payments made under the,
■Contract to iwhich, exceptloh has been taken; or which: have: been;
disallowed because.df such,an exception.

T4. liquidated Damages:
14.1. Cohtiriuity of Services:

il.li. The^Gontra'ctor and Gepartibent ;agree ■that" the Gphtfactof'^
failure: tp' prpyidd required .Staffing; r^ui'red.-.'servic'es, {or

:  . ^ -the perfdrrnance .stahdards ;and'\reporting; rpquiremecfe-a,s>

•RFP:2022-NH"H-02^

■ .Cri:2., ,

Mary Hlichcodc Merhbrlai Hospital:

Page'3pf.6-

bohlfactorjnilials.

• bate
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EXHIBITS

. r " . • • described 1p Exhibit .Scope of S_ejyices;- -shall xesult^ln
'  ■' 'lliquidated damages;- f ^

■  Ihej'Gbntcactonand the Departmeht:agre^ . .
•I4."1v2.l;1t .vy]ll be. d^dremely impracticable ,and, ^d^^

" ' \ . d'eterifiine,actu'al: damd^es tbat the'bepa^^
' \ ' ■ ;sustain -in;the eyerifthaj the Contractpr breaches this;

.  Agreement by-failing to maintain.trie required.sta
.  . .'leyelsor by^failing to-deliverlrie required sew^

'  , " described'in Exhibits., Scope.pf Serv^^
,  . ' , ^ t4.l 5.:2; Any such;:breach:;by the .Contractor

.  ̂ disrupt the:bepartmehl's^bpefatiorie impact its
.  ■,abjlity/,tp:,rnee0ts:6bligaii6nsand.',|ea^

„  . darriages pf ah Uncertain .amount'as'Well, as; ;a::-
.. . reduction ofiservices; and

T,he:liquidated damages as specifiedjhih
Paymeht^ems,. are reasonable and fair and riot

,  intended as a.penaily..
'  ■14.2; fJotiftcatipn:!

, ,v. ■ \ . 'i4'.2.'J. •th'e^iPepartment shall- make all .assessments of. .liquidated;
,  ̂ ■ daniages.-.Prior-to, the: iriipo.sitfon pf liquidated damages^
■■ " despribed herein; theBepad'menf shall is

■ T'W- tei^ed'ies-thaf'V^li-lhclu iasi^applica'bldilhe-TbllovWng:
^  " ■f;HJ2;1.,i0A^cltatibn dflthe.Qori'tractprovision^v^^

^ The remi^ies .to be applied, and the date the
,  - . - ■ remedies'^ '.shall "be. 'imposed' (cure pe'ridd). .A;

.■reasonable pure period will be; determined ,by,'the'
•  - D,epartmerit;based'6nseryice type; and'tp the exten^^^

/possible, the,hptibaMi not be.less,.tHari:30 days;
ThebasJs.forthePeparlniehlS^deferrriination.'thatthe

'  remedies shall be" inipbsed;
■14.20.4, ;A request for-a ■written Corrective; Action Plan, from'

the Contractor below; and '

14,2,1.5, the; timeframe' arid procedure, .for .the -Gonlractor fo.
dispute the Depaiirnent's determination,

'14-.'2.-2-. ' The;Cohtractbr'shaII siibmjt the written 'GoiTO<^jye'-Acliph. .P|an
.referenced.Jn Subparagraph |4;2;t4 "abovefo the.bepartmeht
■fo.rleYipw within Sye;'(5): bu.sihe'Ss •days'of receiyih'g •notification

•  * 'Ss'Sp"ecifiedah-Subsectip"n,l^!2/N^

RFP-2022-IJ/HH-02:NEURp^.1.

' -J. ' " •/. " • ■ •

M^pnsl Hosf^tal
P89V4of6

ConlTBCtor Initials •'

Date
3/2/2022:
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.  V ' EXHIBIT e
•  ->■
'■ i"

- 14;2/3rTfie'Contrdcbragrees IhattheiGdjre^^^^^
•  toithe Departmeht'sipproVai prior tb ifeiniplementation'.V- . ,•

•i . - ■ 14.;2.4, Np liquidated, ciamages: vyilji be; ass.essedi against; Contractor if
■  tile parties havb agreed itb a "Cbrrectlvei Action and the'

Contractor.isjn c6rhpliance,with'th.e terrns;of the Cbrrectiye
.Actionplanr^ \ '

■  -^A'.2.6. Jf the failure tb^perform bythe Cbhtfactof1S:ob
'  the. cure period as .specified/In the'^Cbrrective Action ,Plan,;as .

■  ' ■* ' ' ^approved by- thev Departmerit^ damages ,may'be
"  s : • . • ' -impo'seti •relrbS'ctiveiy tb the> dale' ofrfiailurel .to'.-peifbmi" a^na will -

-'cbntiriue until the .failure is. cured.;or; any resulting dispute is
- ' , ■./resolyed;,in 'the 'GQntm \ - ; ;

-  1:4.2':6.:,The fcohtrbctbr^s dispute^bfli^^ damages on;ferhedie"s
shalr hot stay'.the. eWective date, pf ;the: p.rbpoeed Jiquidate^^

■ ^ ' damageebrfemedie^^^ , . " .
1;4f3 Liquidated :bam"ag^^

Liquidated: .damages, ;if as.sessed.i'jshali Be in the- ampunt of
4l; 'pOp\pef day forveach ■day-the'Cpn'tfa^^^
general.'and specific: iseiyice. requiferherits for each •;S,ervice'

■ Area:asjBehtifiedln:.Exhibit;B
.  14.'3'.2:;. I Liquidated-daihages. ilf ass^^^^^ in the ambuht 'of

$i,0-00;per .day foe each day/the'.Goritracbrifails to.meet'and
^maintain .the .staffi.ng;{e.yelsrjdent.ified:\in

'  , Services; . • ' -
, ■ 1^;3- Liquidated damages, tf^assessed^ ;shail,be inVthe amount iof
'■ ■ ■ ' /$f ;pOO per day for eaeh;day-the-'pohtractbr,fails to. m

performance;■ ̂ stepdards ■ idehtffi in E)<hiblt^B, Scope,oif
"  . , Sen/ices. - ■ .

'.'■i4;3:4. ■Liquidated vdamag.es,, ifv^asses.sed', ishall 'be: in the. amount-of".
V  -'ilidbo p'e^da'y 'fpr-ea'ch day.'th.e- dpnira'ctor fe lls".to nieet'ih'e

/ ■ . • repbrti.hg' '.regiiirement^: jldentlfled 'in Exhibit 8", Scope' of
Services'; •

T4..3,,5. Liquidated damages,^ if i.assessed, shall lappily 'until fthe.
":cpntfactdr cures;the failure cited,ihth&.^
Subsection ^4.2, or until the resUlting^ dispute is resolved inJh.e
Gontfactoc's-faypr.. ' .

14:3.6. The -bhidupt pf . iliqujdat'ed da^ assessed by-
'  , . , beparthient "shail;riot;exceed'the;price limitation-in;ForriijP-3.7,
,  . • , . GeneralBrpyisjohs,'Blocks

•OS

RFP-2022-N,HI:I^2:N.EU,RO-01
'■ . 1 " '
"di.2'.;

Maiy Hll'choock Me*noria1 Hospliai; . rcbnlra'ctbr IniUals-,  -•• • ,<3/2/2022
..^Pa^'5,6f 6" ' • • ' . -

, ' ^ - . . ..

Dato

• r-t..
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:  ' V New.Hampshire Depa^
Neuropsychoiogy Services .. ' "

'  • ; exhibit c
I. • , . . - . ' ' , • . '

;  ..V.' 14'.3.7:r During the term of .this Agreement and the period for
\ V ■ ■ ■ " ; .. .. . hereuriderrthe Depai^ment; the^Unjted. S^^^
\  ' -.Health ;and.Human Services,.'arid ariy■^bf their designated

>  - . . 1 , ".representatives ShalJ' haye access^ to all repbits; arid record
maintained'pursuant-tp .the :Agreement for purposes of aud

,  ... ; .examination, excerpts arid .trariscripts. Upbri-the.p^^^
■  ■■ , ' ' '■ ' the.pepartm'enipfthe*maxirnum;numberofunitsp^

- , . ' .. the -Agfeemerit arid upon payTnerit of- the price limitation
.  hereunder,,the Agreement arid;alithe;bbiigatlbns of the parties

^  ■' .heVeunder (except such-obligations as, by the terrns of'the
.  Agreement are to be'performed after the end of the term of

■  ■ ■ ' ' , Agreement and./dr survive, theterniinatibri ofrthe,.A^^^
.  ■ ■ ■■■ shair-tenriinate:-p]:pvidp,d:'hpwever; to

.  V ■ ■ .Final ExperidibfeHepbrt the-Departrrient shpll dts^^^
.  " ^ ■ expenses claimed/by Ithe-Gontractbf as costs herebridef the

^  ; , Depaftm"ent shall tetalh Uie'ngHt.ai its^discretipn^ dedupjt'jihe
'  amountpf such axpensas: as are. disalibwed.br^tb recover-such

'  sums from the.Gontractor. ^

.14:4:, .Assess^rlarit:■-

■„ - , , v The pepartmerit, shall be^ efititiecl "lb assess and recover
.  djquidateddam^ages..cum.ulatiyely:undereachsection^^

J  ■' to any given iricideht; ■ \ '
T4.4'2i;'-Assessnient and recovery- of liquidated' damages "b'y the

.  ̂ ' 'Department shall; be in'addition .to, ..and noVexcl,^^^^
■  ' ■ " • vother remedies,.'iricludirig actual damages,asimaybe-available
-  / . .V. to .the pepartmeni for breach of contract-bbt^

'  , > > • ^nnityrandahajlbpt precludeThe pepart.ment;from;recove
^  ̂ *.:da.mages related, to bthyr acts or bnii'ssibris by the, Cbh'tractpr

' pnder th'is^Ag.reernent. Imposition of liquidated .darnages sh^
■  :hbt;1iriiit the nght of the^Department ■to term^^^^

-  ■' v. ■ '■ (for default as prbyided,in'peiagraphS'bHhe.General Provisions-
;  ; ■ ':{P^37). . .. . ■ -

~  14-5, Damages Related to Failure to bocUrnent Medical Necessity:
14.5.1. The Contractor shall be Habje to ithe pepartrnent for^any losses

jihcurfed by'the bepartment "vvhich arise out of the tailure. of
Contractor-staff\tp provide the- required: documentatibn to
support ■medical necessity as .identifi.ed: in i.Exhibit B. Scope of
.Services. ' '

RI;P-2022-NHH-p2-NEljRO.^1 •, Hllchcpck Memcwfel.Hospltal Contractor Iniiials
y " . ' • . I3/2-/2022.C-,1.2! P8oe;6of,0 Dat^ ■ '
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7 . . New-Hampshire Department of Health and Human Services
■;> f ' Exhibit:D

CERTIFICATION REGARDING DRUG-FREE WORKPLACE REQUIREMENTS .

'The^Vendof Identified. in;SecUpn-i.3 pMfie General Provisipris.agreesitp comply with the provisions of
.;Sdctions 515^5160 prthe^prug-FreeW^^ '1pC^.90, fltle'V;- Subt]t|e^p^

, . •^^U;S:C. iTO'lj^etseq'), shd further agrees to'have'the Contractd/'8'representative,.as identified in Sections
■ ■ ■. -''i:ifahb'1.f2-of;the General Prbvisjons execute^the following Certification': ' . / '

■ALTERNATIVE I -F0R:GRANTEES. OTHER THAN.INDIVIDUALS

/ uS'DEPARTMENT OF'H^LfH AND HUMAN S^ '
-liS DEPARTMENT OF EbUCATION-. CONTI^CTbRS

\US DEPARTMENT"OF AGRICULTURE- contractors;

Thls-.ce'rtificatiohcis required by the regulations Implementing Secti6hs:5;i51'-5,160;of the'Drug-Free
• *. - vydf1<pIace 'Act,df'1988 (Pub.,'L 10.0-690, Tjtle V. Subtltle'Di ATU.S.C.aOl etiseq.). The.JS'nuajy-SI.

•l!?.89",regulatipris were amepded and publi.sh^^ Part ll ofthe' May;25,199.0 FederarRegisterripages
. • •2i68jr21,691 j, and require certifica|iph, by gfantees'{ahd by infererice'isub,-grantees .

. pqnVractprs),-prior to awardj thai they Will, maintain^ wpr^pia.ce. Section 3d.i.7..6.3p{c) bf:the
Tegulatidn'proyides that ja;grantee (and-by lnference;-sub^rantees and.sub^ is.a .State
niay.electtomake one certificatidn'tb the bepartment;in'each federal ifiscal year injieu pfcertrficatw for
eath grarit during the federal fiscal yearxovered by the .certification." .The certificate set out tielowjs a •
.'rna.terial represenlationlof'faclqpoh which r'elianc'elis placed v^eh the agency awards the grant. False
.certificatiori or .yl.olatip'h 'of t.h'e.'certifi.catibn shall be.'grouridsToTsuspensioh of payments; siis'pe'nsibn of
.terminatib.n of gfafjts, bfigovemmerif wide. sVspeh^^ of d.eb'arThen.t. Cbntr^ctdrs.uslhg this foffh should

'send-itto;

•  ■ . ■ edmm'issioner.. . ' •
,;f^H bepa"rtm"enl:pf Health;and Human Services: .

■  , ■ A'129 Pleasant" Street,> . ' '
.iXoncofd, NH:0330T-S505< ' ' •

•' H ;. ' the granteede'riifie.S 'lhat It will Or .will continue to pfovide. admg-free ^'rkplace by:
.  ̂1.1". Pqbl.ishing"aste|ementmptifying employees that the Untey^ul manirfacture;^

.  . . dispensing,;pbs^bsion:or use.qf a controlled substance is prohibited In-theqrantee's.
'. ' 'V workplace and specifying the;actions that.wili be;taken'agalnst employees for vioiation of such

' / •; pro.hibitibn; 1 ; " . . •
'1.2. E6t.ablishihgsan;bngping"'dfug^ffee:awafeness pfbgfam

Tj2:i. The dange.rs}pf .drug abuse^
i ;2:2: T^eQ^^htbe's policy; of "maintaining a df^^^^^^

.  ■ ■ -.■1;2r3. • A.pyiayaiiabiVdfug.c^ fehabjjitatipn,-and empibyee;as"s]stanpe':pm '
■ ^' ^2:^; .The;penaitlesthatmaybeimpo.sed:uponernpipyeesfprdrugabuse-yj6^^^

'* . bccufriri'g In the .workplace;
1".3., Makifig jt'a re'quirement'itha't each employee to.be "engaged In the peffofrhan'ce.df-.tKe.gfaht be

giyeh a cppy'bf the statemeritrequired by pafagra^p.h (a)^
-1.4., Notr^ng the .empioyee;ih the statement-required by paragraph (a) that, ;es econditibn of

employment under the grant^'the employee .will
t:4.i. .Abide by.the terms of-the staternent; and.
;1;4.2. Notify the employer:in ;writing.of his:of her'cbnviction for-a viblation'.of B crirriinal.drug'

statute.p<yurring"ih"the w laler-thah'fiye calendar days after-such
.cpriyjclipn;

Niptifylnythe^gen^^^ ten calehdar.deysf.aft^ recelylhg;nbtlc.e,und.ef .
sub{>ara9raph;1,4:2Trpm ahemplpyee;b/"ot.hew^ cbnvictibn.
Empldyefsfbf.cbnyicied'employees must,^ npfice; lnc[uding posili.pn tiileijib eyery'grant
officer on whose grarit.activity the convicted employee was wotking.iunless the Federal agency

.  \ 'iE^ibif D'-CertincaOonV^ardlng'Dm^ . yendpr.lniljals
.Workplace,Requirements ._ ■•2/2/2022

■  ' Page''iJdf;2 . Date' ' •



Docusign Envelope ID; F675867A-7806-422C-A080-A6F1124E7A7C

.  , 'bocuSIgn Envelop© ID: 28FBb256-A"cV9i*2CA-9C7b-9B5907B&

'  "KJewHampshire bepartme'nt:of.Hea!th and Human Services
•  "'A' V:, -ExhibltDr

;  -has designated a central ppirit;f6r thfeT^elpt prsuCh 'Nptice shall include the •
^  , Identificatipn num.ber(s).qf each aff^ ■ ' -

lerThiriatipri, consistent with the'requirementsiofith^ Rehabilitation Act of 19,73. as .
•  • ' " samend^:;br

■  . 1.-6;2. 'Requinpg such employee to participate.satisfactprjlyiin a dfUQ 3^
-V ' ■■ . . /eh;abilliatipn..prqgram approved for such purposes Ijy a Fede"ral..'S^^

. ~ \ - law enforcement; or other appropriate agency;, -• • .
•  ; 1.7. iMakinga good faith effort to continue to maintaln"a.drug?free workplace through

_  implementation of paragfaphs Y.l, 1.2,,1:3.1:4; 1.5; and 1.'6.,

•f ; " . 2." The'.grantee rhay insert inlhe-space-'provided below the'site(s) for the performance of work-dphe in'
v  - ' /%> \,.\cpnnection,wJthtti.e;-,speci^^^ ■ ' " " •. *

,  ■■'PJace.Vf p6'forrnance{(sireetaddre"ss, city; county,.state,.'Zip cpde)^^^ ' ■ ■

Check, if there are.woiitplaces oh file.that are hol.idehtified'here.

Vendor!!^,arne: ,

DoeuS^ntd by: '

jl. i
'  . ;;>"_pate

r*

•» ' i- r '

N •' Mercens., :.md.,
Titip- ;chi ef :Glj.n'i cal dffi cer

I ;>•

•OS.

-•CUCHHS/n07l3.',  ... ...

' E;^ibll D -jCerlincaUoh f^arding Drug Free
'  Wqriiplace Requfrem^

" Page)2.qf 2'"

Vendor Initlals-

• .3/2/.2O22;
■Date; •' •



Docusign Envelope ID: F675867A-7806-422C-A080-A6F1124E7A7C

, P!XuSlgn"Enyel6pelp;28FBD250;AC0W2CA-9C7D-9BW

^ ̂ New Hampshire.Department of Health andiHuman Services
^  ̂ ExhibitE.

■CERTtFICATION REGARDING LOBBYING

11
•■and 1,12 of Ihe General Prpvis!ohs;execute~t^^^^

■  OSDEPARTMENTiOF health'And HUMAN-SERVICES. CONTf^'cfORS ■ • • •
. -US DEPARTMENT OF EDUCATION .-CONTFWGTORS^ - - - ..w ^ .

- \ "US DEPARTMENTrOF AGRICULTURE- e

Programs'(indicate applicable program covered):
^fTemporary Assistahce\toNeedy;Famiiies under

■ XHlld.Support Enforcernent Prograrn under tlllp jV-p ' - ' ' ^
tS'ocial.Services Block Grant'Program under ■

;• *Medicaid Program,u^^ . , - . . .
' ; •CbmrnuhitySefyipeVBIdckGra^^ ' 1
.r; *Chjid;CarepeVdldpmehtlBlock^ .. . ■

The undersigned certifies, to;the bes;r6f'his 'or her khpwiedge a"nd .bielief, that":

' -1." No Federal appropriialed funds have been paid.orwill be-pajd by dr on.'behajf>d'f:m undersigned, to
any p,er;s6n for influencing br attempting to, influence an'offiper.or,employee of any agency,'a Member

'  V of Cpngfess. anjbfficeporernployee of Congress; or an'employee of a Membenof Cbngress in
-  ■ , ponriectipri'witjilhe ayardlhglof^hy^Fe'deral.cohtra^^^ renewal,.amendrneht, or
V v; 'modiflcailpn of any Federarcontract, :grarit,;lpah, pr.cppperative agreement (and by.specific'mention

;  sub=^rantee or sub.c6ritractpr^^^ • ■ ' -

. :2; - Ifiariy funds other than'Federal app'ropriated'funds;fiaye',b^^^^ paid pr will be paid tpanyljjerspn.^f^
irifluencing brattempting to ihfluenc'e.an officer or employee pf any agency, a Mertiber of Cbngress,-

.ari officer oremplbyee;of Congress, 'or an employee of a.Mefnber ofiCpngfess'in cpnhectlbn with this -
.Federal cphtract, grant, Ipari, ,or cooperative agreernent (ahd by.specific merition subJ^rantee or sub-

~ r-iconiracior), the undereighed shall complete and-sulfmittSt'a'ndar^ Form .ILL, (Djscldsure Form to
V-" -, in!accordaricp,wth*ft8;iij'stjrUclip^^^^^ jttebh'ejdrand identified:as Staridard,.Exhibit-,E-l.).

.3! The.uhdersigned shall require'that the'language of this certfficatiph'be.included In ihe award
'  .document for sub-awards atral! tiers (including subcontracts,- sUbTgrantS; and cohtracts^under 'granfs,

Ipahs, and .cpoperatlve agf.eemehts);'ahd that:ali,sub-recipients:shall,certifi('and disclose acojrdingiy.

thlscertiflcatiph]is;a.matenal:representalion of factppph which raliance was^^
■ , was made or enferediinto. .Subrnission'oMhis certification is a.prerequlsitetorrhaklng or.entefihg into .this,

transaction lmposed by.'Section"i352, Title 31-.. U.S. Code.-. Any perspntVyhP'fails to fi le the required
.certification shall be.subject Ip a civil pehalty:bf not less than $TO,6b6 and not morelHan $ibO,()pp for

'  .eath'such failure;, ' ' '

VendorName:

-DoeuSIgMdby:

3/2/2021 i: 'M)'
Date' . Me.rrehS;,. i:Mp

Title, .^chi ef .GTihical oT-f-i Ger

ExhtollE-.Certiflcatjon'Regardlng lobbying . ' •' ^Vendor Initials

-OS

-  • • ' ■ , 3/2/2022
• cu/DHHS/»ip7i3 . P^-.l.ofi -" . - -Dale'
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DpiuSign.Enveiop^ ID: 28fBD250-AC0W2CAi9G7D;9B5907B5A5A9.'

'  Now Hampshire Department of HeaKh and Human Sen/lces
■  ■■ ExhlblfR ■

•  CERTIFjCATIONiREGARDING-bEBARMENT. SUSPENSION
'  AND OTHER RESPONSIBILITY MATTERS' .

representative, as, idem^ m Seetion$lTl=1:and :1.12 ;of the ,GenerdrProvislbris execute the fblio.vvihg
Oettificfltionf ' • - .Certification;

instruction's FOR CERTIFICATIPN; ; J.. . "
1. By signmg'arid subrnlttlng this proposal (cbhtracij; ihe'prospecUybipriman' partici is prpylding:lhe

\cerfification .set-pat below. . , . . , ' " ^ ^ .. .

2;. the lhabiiity of.a personHo.provideJhe.certification.required.below.-will hot necessarily result ih;dehial'
of-participatlo'n in thisicovered transaction. .If h'ecessaryi the:prospective participant.shall.subh^^^

'',explahatidn;6fwhy it".cannotprbvide,thec«rtificatibn; The certificatibhor explahatipn'will-be ' '
,  ' .l.tHi, *Ua KILJ .oim^'UIi irWon Qan(iAAc'''/rtMM•cohsldered'ln^cohhectibn with the NH.DbpartmehllDf^Hea|th an ,Seivices'^.(DHhlS) • '' y>  - r jo enter,iritp.. this trahsactipn. Hpweyer.^fajlpre prthe'pr^spectiy'e priima^' • '.detefminatidnwhethe^^

particip.aht to.furhi.sh a/certi.ficaii^^^ such person from,participation" in
this.transaction:

,1 ,

V - ./ •

,3. The certification in thisxiause is a material representatibri of factlupbh whlch' reliahce'wa's placed
■  •'wheniDHHS determined to enter into this frahsactiori. If ittilater'de,termihed.that;the pfbspective
iprirnaiY.pardcipaht knowingly.rendered ah errdhedus certificatidn, Iri additibn to, other rerhedies
,ayailable\t6 the^Federal G6y.eThrhent;;DtH)HSJhay teiminatCth^\tranw^^^^^

/ThepfOspecti'ye primary participanFshajl.provjdejmrn notice to'the-DHHS agericy^to
whprn'this;prpppsal jcontract)'1ssubrTijtted'ifatanyTimethe:prospective prii^aiy participahtle

'•.'♦koi iio-/«ort>Vtl^Q(inn\u^c'Arrnneniie \*/hon ciIhmiHciH r(r-hfl'f?-hernmfl errdhedus hv reasdh of chande'd

■  • • -4:^
^

/ .- ."•'.^:^: --'"that jisoertificatibn" was"errone6us when s or-ha's becomeeffbheous by ,reason of changed
.. -r - " circurhsiances. > • * '

■5;, The.terhis:-oovefed transacb6n;'"deliarred." "suspended."'ihelig . ■
•* --ti^hsactidri'.Vparticipaht." "perspn," 'primary, cpyered-tfah^^ "principal,' "proposal." and

■  : >blu;ntarily:excruded/-as usd^ this clause.ihaye the;riieanings set put in the Defirillions and
■iCoyerage'secfions pf'^e;ruiesjmplejTienting Ekecuilve 0^^^ See the -

I  '-;attached;defihifi ' • • '. . . ' •

'6: The-prospecfive primaty'parliclpatit'agrees by submittihg thisTjropoisal (contract) that,'sh
•.p76"posed:covered'trahsactioKbe enTered.iritd,'it shall not knbvvingly ente.r'jntp any Ipwei; tier cpyered:

-• ■•trahsactidhwilh'a.perebh Whb;jb debarred, pryojuntarily ..
-  '''from par1icipatjph-)h tWs cpyered^tmnsactipn.ynlesso by DHHS.; ^ •

.7; The prospective primary participant furtherogreesiby submitting this proposal that it wjll ihclude the •
xlause tiUed 'Certificatibn Regarding Debafrherit. Suspension. lneligibiIity;an,d'Volunlary;EXc|,usipn r.
Lower Tier-Covered Transactions," prpyided by pHHSr'wtHput nipdificatjpn..in alljowex tier cpyered
trarisactidhs_a'rid in ail sbiicitatjpns fpf l.pwertier cp bansactipns.

8. A participanV'in a covered transaction may rely upon a certification of a prospective particlpant ih^a
lower tief covered'transaction that it7s not debarred' ^ ineligible, dr lnvoluntarily excluded
frorp the^covered transaction, un!ess:it,kfiows-that the certification is erroneous. A'pafticiparit m,ay
decide the melhod'and frequency bywhjdhjt detefmihes.the eligibility:pf its;principals.;Each
particlparit rfiay, .but is nbt'requifed to, check .the .Norip,f^.bcurem,eht Ust jof exdude^^ parties);

9. NbthihgiCbntained In, trie fpreg'oingsriairbe cpristrued-.to.requjreostaW pf aisysiem of rewrds
In'order to render in goodTaith^the certification requlred by.:this clause. The.knowiedge andi^; '

.  ; I jgJAVlL
,, •*:" - ExhiWl.F--'Cartirical}bn;R^8iding DebirrriM^^^ tCgntfactorinittois^ ' ■

•  . -A^d'Olhef Respond ' . .'•3/2/20,22
•ciw>HH3/uo7i3',.'' - -v. - ' " Psijo, 16f,-2 _i ' ' Pat?——
* I-" / ' "■ ' ' • - ' .
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;. New Hampshire Departmont.bfHealthand'Human'Servlces
.  ■ Exhibit F .

•  • • • • ^ ..I.

-  informatipn;6f a participaht;is:ript:requireb!t^ exceeithat which^ls normally ppssessed.by'a'^p^ .
person In the ordina^'^urse of businsss^ " ...

10. Exceptfpr.transactibhs auUioiized uhderparagraph ,6;df»these instructi6ns/if;a'paiiici , ■
covered trahVacUph Kndwingjy^ent'erslntb aMdwer^tierCoVered Van

A sUsp,ended/debarred;.irieligibte exclude from participatibn'ln thls trahsaction. in
. addition"tobtfierreme^ the Federal g6vemme"nt;;DHHS;rnay iermihat'e this tranMctibn,

^  for cause;brd^^^ •

VPRiMARYCOyE^^^^ ■ ^ ■ ,
The.pVosp'ecbye pniriary pai^clpant certifi^^^ the best oYlts'knowledge:'ancl belidf, that'jt'bnd-lts •

_  •'principals:; ' ■ i , . "• ' V •'
-11'.1./a"re;hot:presehtlyJdebarred, suspehded.vpropbsed'fdrdebarmeht^declared inellgible^^

j. . y^lyhtarilji.excluded-from coverbd transactib'hs'ljy any F.^
' 1i1.;2;> h"ave'not ynthinja,threeryear;penpd,pre^ b'eeh cohvictedbf or had;
'  , .> <a.clvjl judgment render^^against them for cp'miTiissipn of ̂ ^ ,

OTnnectipn.wth qbtainlngVa.ttenipIng to pbtain,for.:pe Sfete or Ibdal).
' V - , »transac"tlon,;pria^C9ntract'un.der:a Rublib transaction; yiplatipn.o.f Federal pr/State an^^

.  " statutes or:Mmmi'ssl6n:of'embenlernenVth bribery; Jalstotion-orid^^
•."records/niakirigfalses^temeht'srbrr^^^

1-1,3; :are n"pt;pre.sehUy ihdicted forpthefwjs byia goyernmental entitY /
'  ■ '(Pj^erai.'State.'or Ippal) with cbnimissidri ofahy'pf the; offenses'ehum^^^

,pfithlSiCertiflcaiipn::^^^ • . ;• ■ ■ . - " •" " >
.f 1 ihaye not within'a'^three-year,p^^^ this^applicatlph/prdppsal hadpne"pr mpfe public

^yansacyons.lF^eral,; State prlpcaij terniinated;fpr^^^^^ . - " ' _

•12^ WhereitheprospecUye primaiy partjclpanllS;unable:tb'certify.tO:any of the'Staternente "" .
; ,Mpertificatidn;;suchpr6spective.participarit;shall:attach;an expiahatidh to this prpposaI.(^ , ,

lliOyyER-XJERCOVEREPJ^^^ •

•' •• -voluntarily excluded from partlclpaOon ,ln;thls ,transactlpn by any federar^
1,3.2. where the^prdspecyyefpwar;lier partclparjt:is,unable'tb'certify,t6,any,pf th^ . ■ "
•  prospectiye.pa'rticiparitdhall attach ah.explariatipn'to'thispropd^ . ..

•If; Thenarpspeptiye-idwer fu.'rtheragreesrby sub^ this prdpbsal (cbhlract) that It will
^ include this clause Regarding Debafmeht, Ineliglbllity. and.'

•' ;\/p|unta^;Exclusipn.'-!Lpwer;Tler^ without;mpdificatibn,m lower tier cdyered.
itransactlons.and In'ali-solicltaildns for lower tier covered transactions. • ^

.' *

V : "

i  : •

1' / ,..

.'•v. ' '

Date

iGphtractor N.a.me;

—0«cuSloA*tf by:

TlUe:

; Mepcens;, 'ilD

•Ch'i ef' tl-ini cal. Offi cer

J'.. i.-. r ,v /cupHHS/no7;i3;

ExhIblt'F ~'Ce>tjflcatkih-R^ardihg Debameht; Sus'^li^bn
' ■ ■ OthwRespbnsibilliy Mattere:page:2;;^"2; ^ .

•^ Cqntra'Aof Initials

•DS.

.3/2/2022
V • . Dato •

t  • ^

'* ''i

- *r' • ' '
^ M J

'  '.C
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,  . ;New HampsHlrcibepartment bfrtealth and Human Seivices
ExhlbltG '

CERTIFiCATibN OF COMPLtANCE WITH REQUIREMENTS PERTAINING TO
,  FEDERAL NONPISCRIMINATION. EQUAL TREATMENT OF FAITH-BASED ORGANIZATIONS AND

.  - , ■ .'WHISTLEBLQWER PROTECTIONS-
■' . ■ V ■ . ;j , . \

' The-Contractbr-identified in Sectibri'1:3;bf,the Genera Provisiorislagrees by sigriature bf-the Contractor's ;
':repre>enjative as.ideniifi^^ and'id? bf^the General provisions, to execuje;,the following ,i

'[\'fcertification;; • . . . • -

■' iQonfractoi' wili corriply, and!vvi!l"require:any..subgrantees 6r/.sut>corilractors:tb comply,, wlth.any applicable
'  " ' '^- federal nondiscriminaliofi requirerherits, which,nriay include;

-- i'the-Omhlbus'Crirne'.Cbntrol ahdiSafe Streets Act of 1968'(42 U.S."C.-Sectibh 3789d) \vhich prohibits
■  recipients of federal funding under this statute'frbmdiscnminatirig, eilher1h;employmerit practices or.In .

•the.delivery.pf.seiyices br'ben^^ basis of race, colbr,. religion,'.hatbnal origin, ahd.s'ex. tbb'Act

: ' ■■ " "-'the Juvenlle Justice!Delinquency Prevention.Act;6f 2P02-(42 U:S.C. Section 5672{^
" ' . * \ ■feference,ithe:civii rights\obligationsi6tthe Safe Streets JVct.' ^Recipients of federal flinding.under this.

'  s^ule are prohibited frpm.discnmin'ating, either infemplbyment'practices orin the delivel^ of'services or
: . , - benefits, on the basis o'f.race, color,'religion, nationalbriglh, and:Sex. The Actincludes^Equal

•  ,Employment,Opp6rtuhity Plah'fequiremenls;
'. --the-Civll RigHt8.Aci.of.15!B4-(42:-u:S.C. S.ecti9n 2dO0!ji; wbjcb-pfbhlbltisr^cipients^^

.  'assistance from di.sc.rimjnati.ng bn'theibasis of race, Cbibr." or national brigin'ih any-.program or activity):
,  ■ • [Vthe RehabilitationlAct.bf 1973 {29, U.S;C,.Sectipri; 794); which;prohibits ra Federalfinancial

^  ' assi^ance from discriniinatingTo.n the basis of disability, in regard to employment and the.deliyeiy:6f
;  •services or benefits, in apY.program or actiyit^^^ , ' ' • ■ • , - . . l. '

. rtlie Americans with Disabilities Act'of .l990;(42.LJ;'S;C.'SecJio'ns'12i3_1,-34), Which prohibits .-
, ^disCriminatibh and ensures equaloppdrturiity fOFpefsbns.wlthbisabilities ernplbyment, State arid local.

',gpvemment.serVices,."publicaccommodati6ris.'wnime/'cial.facilities,-ari~d transpbrta^^ ^
.V ' -'.■-'the.Educatidn Ariieridriierits 6f';1972;(20 U:S..C. S.ectibris 1681,1683; 1685-:8.6),.w^^^^

■  ■ ;djscrml|.riatibn ph'the'b'asisbfs'eX'iri.feder^^ •

>  ̂ the.'Age:..pi^^crimjn Act-pf j975:(42.U.S.G, Sectionsbl Q6-^"7), which;pro>ibils dlscri^ the " ■basis'ofagein programs or actjyifie^^^ F^eial financlaljasslst^anw^^ It does ribt include
fernployment^djscrimjna^^^ . ' " ,

.  ' ' .-28:C.F.R.- pt.-31 (U.S. Department.of Justice Regulations -.OJJDP.Grant Programs);;28 C.'F.R. pi. 42
■ . ., - ■ .(U.SI b'epaitment'of JusticeiRegulatibris - Nbndrscnrrilnatlbn: Equal Erriplbyment Opportunity; Policies

' J; •ahd'Pfocedures);'Executive*.OixlerNo. .1327,9 (equal prbteclibn bf.theJaVs fbrlfaith-based, arid cqm'munity, .
■- ' -'brgariizati.bp^ .Order:Np!;i 3559, which provide fundanjenta priri'dples .arid-bblicy-makjn'g . • * .

'  'criterlajfor pattne>shlps''^th;faJ|K-based arid.heighbdrtfbodprgan^^^ , ■

r 28-C'.F.R. pt.:"38'(U'S; Department of, Justice Regulatiorisi-'Equal Treal'meht for Faith-Based
Organlzalldhs); and Whistleblower pfotec,lioris;41 U.S:C.'§4,712 and-The.Nationai.Defertse Authorization

/Act (NDAA) for Fiscal.Year 20l3 (Pub.,L. 112:239, enacted January 2,-2Pt3) the Pilot Prograrn. fpr
Enhancerrient'of .Contract,Employee Whjstlebiower Protections,, vyhich protects employees a'gainsl.

'  reprisarfpr:ce.rtajn..wti|stle''bb^^^ iricpnnectipn with federal grant's and:contracts.;
t

The certificate set out below is a m.aterial representation of fact upon which reliance is placed when the
•agency awardithe.grarit. False .cert.ificatibn or violation of the certification shall be grounds for
:suspensi6ri-br,paynients,,'susperisi6ri or terminatibri ofgrants; or go.vernrnerit wide suspension or

^ debafrrierit. ' . ' '

■  . , 'Exhibit G
.  ■ ■ * , 'Cbrilractpr triltials^- —

^  .}A2/2022; .

r '*
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i  , ■
Exhibit G

/, I
s. -

,  .^ ";,ln the"eyent;a:Fe'^^ court or"Federal'br'State a^mihistra finding of
'' discnmination aWef a clue;pro^ss heariilg on;the grounds of race, cplpr/religipn,, natipnal .^^^^ or sex

i against a recipient of funds, the;reci|iien'twilJ fgrvyard;a.copy^pfl^^^ to thejpMce.fpr GfvH Rl^
'  !liie/appllcablexontracting agency;6r division-within thVOepartrnent of Heaith and Hufnan'Seivices;and •

..

V . V•  represe'ntatiye as. Identified in Sections i'. 11-and 1 ;,12;bf the Genera|i;Prbvisions.,tq;execule the fplldwing"
■certification:- ' ■ .

'  l; _ By signing and submitting this proposal (contract) the:Contractor agrees to comply with the provlsions:
-  Ihdicated'aboVei

•I '.

-  •> ■«

'3/2/2622.'

Date

-y

Go.nlractpr,Name;'

'OMuSIentd by:'

.  I .AiP
Name^^d'^r^^^ .Merrens/ MD"
Title: Chief clinical Officer

'  »t _.
•>■1 ' ^

-Extti^'G . • i- •
•/ • ^ .:CQritrac{QfIhlllals^- ■ ■

j- '.C«rt/csfld(ro<.CciTipMm~vrttf)rb(^«(MnUpM*ir^ioF*d«iilNdnd>Khrtdr<altoii'Eiii^TM
■' ;«ndVWiteWjtowfpMwJlon* • .

•  '8(27/14 • --• . ' .V " "■ , , ,3/2/2022'
Rwir.!it«m4 * ■ . ■ Poge2;,of 2 ■ " Date '

I. ^  «.

. - . * . r
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:  : ̂  .New Hampshlre!bepartment of Health and Human Services
i  - ; - " ' - : • . Exhib'itH

■ « V-

CERtiFICAfION REGARDING ENViRONME TOBA'CCO SMdKE>

•;. • ^PUBlic Law''l03-22T, Part G t Erivirbhmehtal Tobacco Smokie; -alsb'Khbwn as,the Pro-ChlldreniAct;6f-1994;
-(TlcO.irequlfel^tHat'smokingrt^^ be^penhlttedlln any ̂illon,bf anp or-

i./ contractedfbr by'ah enUly and.used.TOutinely.prf.eguIartyifprith dby cafe; .education,
.6r;libi^ry:services to .children underthe age of 18, jf,lhe>eiVlces'are'fupd,ed by'Federaj p/^ramseither

-  ■,direcljy or through-^tate or IOMj:goyemrnents,;by FederaVgrant. cpntract.Jpa The-
-  law dbes not apply/to childreri's'services.provided in'pnyate:r^ facijitles funded^spielyjby-j
V Medicare.or Medicaid'lijndS; and portions.of'facilities.used'fortnpatient drug oralcdhortreatment.' iFailure

to comply with the provi'sfons of the law may.fesult in,the-,imp6sitlon 6f:'a civil mohetafy'penalty of uyto-
.  .Sl0'00,per;day and/or^the Irnposition of ah admlhislratlye,compliance order on the/responSible entity:

CThe-Cbhtractor identified ifrSectioh 1:3 of the*G:eh>VarPrpyision signature'Ofihe Cohtractbr^^
•  representative as idehtlfied in'Sectibh-1;1,TaM1v'i2;oM^

'ceftificatlon:;. ' - . ,

,1;'•'■By sighing and submittihg tKis contract;:the Contractbrfagfees tb make teasohable efforts to comply".
''7'With aii.applicabIe piovisi6hsof:PubliC:ilaw-1.03T227,.Part G,-kndwh as the;ProrChlldreri Act>of,19;94.

.•fV ; .z-";

• Contf actor N am'e;

-DeeuSlgni»d by:

■' , /r 3/2/2022
•Date

Tit'®: ^dh:le'f 1 nicaT offi cer

^  A-

.. r-'i:.

t-.- .f

■ 1 _

,CU4^yh0713:

'Exhfcli H -lCertjTicaU^^ ,
' Environmental Tobacco Smoke' " • '

Contractor Initials

G'ps
Page 1*011

,  . 3/2/2022-
Date: li

• t:



. r •

.,j r .

Docusign Envelope ID: F675867A-7806-422C-A080-A6F1124E7A7C
I

(DowSlg'n En\wlope;ID; 28FBD250^ACd9-42C>;-9C7D-9B5^,7B5A5A9 ;

■  New Hanipshire Department of Health and,Human Services , •

ExKlblt'l '

■  ■ ■ . BUSINESS ASSOCIATE-'AGREEMENT ;

-  ̂ ■ The:eontract9r"iaei:itifiGd in Sectioh 'l^^o^the General Provisions (Fonti: P-37)
("Ajgreem'ent") agrees; as "a'Susihess j^spciafe, J9 cprnplY.'yyith.th0"Bealth;lhsurancePpjfebl|ily'
ahd.Accountability Adt; Pubiiciaw r04^19lVthe;Stanc|ards,for;^^^^^

■  - ' Indivlduaily Ideritifiable-Heaith'infom'atioh, 45^CFR Parts;i60/i62i.-and1.^ (HiPAA),,
. V provisions of thel^llTECH./^ct^-Tltje-Xin}^^^ 'Parts 4'&2:pUhe.ArhVrican'RecoverY'ah"d'

■  Reinvestmerit Act or2p69/42..0'SC, 1;79H et se^
'applicable, to be bdund by the prbyisioris'bf the ConfidentiaiUy.ofSubstance Use Disorder .

, Patient Records, 42;USC s. 290 dd-2,_42 CFR Part 2. (Part 2), as any rhay be amended from
;  tjmetotime. . - . ' ■ . . - - .

r  ̂ "XA), Definitions: .^ / - ' ' '

^  ' - a': '"fejiiSinesk-Associate-' shall mean the'Co'ntract6r.and "its .a^entsVvvhp ■re.ceive, dse, or have:
" ' iacdessAd: protected health inforniationXP,HiJ as derined inXhie

■,Agreement'f BAA"),and the Agreement; and "Covered Ehtit>^'SrtaJ! mean Xhe'$tate of New
. Harnpshire. Departrnerit df-rie'allh arid Hurhan Services.

'%. ' The foIJoWihg tertristhaye 'tfi'e>arne^meaning:ae^^ in .HiPAA, t,he;HltECH Actiand. ■
Part'2.a's they may^beamended from fi ■ ■ j

■'.V, .V v-' -; ; ' , '^Breach.-iGoverediEntityr ^Desighated Recb.rd;:Set;^!bata
;  , ,.pe;signatedjRecOrdSet:"-^

:  , - ■ "Pnvacy.Rule_,"'"*Re9uired.by ;iaw," "Security'Ru

■ 'c; - "Vrptected Healih I reformation" ("PyrA'asused ih;XhlsAgreemeht'fhean's pro
■  ■■"' • " .^info^mation definedMri:^ 45 e,FR;A60.;1p3,Aihii]©d t^ received,. •

' \6r used,by.BusinesS'Associatefrombr'dn'behalferCovered Entity,"and Inciude^s an^ Part "
,  :2 records relating to substance use disonder; If abplicabje; as defiried.belbw.

:  ; ;d:.., "Part:2>ecord" meanS'ahy*patienXApewrd;";relaAingAp
-  ' Iriforrhatioh," as defined ia/42iCFRPart2^ . ■ { ■

fe., "Unsecured Protected Health' ihfonT)atioh'\mearis;prbtected health information that is not •
se'cOred by-a technolpgy.standard that renders protected heaithjrifbrrTiatio'n.unusable,.
Uhreiidabje:.' or'ihdepipherable.topnaUhoiized Indiyiduais and is developed or.endoreed by
a standards developing b'rgariizatibn.that is,accrediteclA)yithe;;Am National Standards
Institute,-; '

(2). BusihRRS AssoniatfiUse anH^nisnlriRure of Prbtected'Health information.

' a." • Business Associate shall 'not use., disclbse, maintaJnr/store..:6rtfahsmit Prbtecte^g|ilth.■|rifdrnfiatiori\(RHI) except as reaspnabty-necessary to provide the^sbrvices oiitiin^^^jl
. .Exhibit B; Scope of Services, of the Agre.em.eot. Further;' Business Asspciate,. ihcwalHglA

^  .Exhibit 1; . 'ContractbrlnUlah

HcalUi Injurance Portability Act' ^ . 3^2/2022.
.Buiiheji^jociatp^^^ ;

"  "-v
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New Hampshire Department of Health and Hitman Services,

:' . .. . ^Exhibit r

but not;limlted to all itssdirectors; officers, employees, and agents,, shall prot^ RHI as
required by HipPA,and'42:CFR Part 2,:and"npt use, d^ose; iTiairiteiri,-stpre;.orfta^n^ PHI Iri"
-any manner.tbat wwld coristitOtd a vioiatibn of HIPAA Qr-42 CFR Part 2.

j;

b. V oBuslh'es$.Assdciate.may.use.6r^^^ PHJ.vas"iappllcal).li9:' ' ■ .
1, For the proper nrianagernent;and;'ad}Til.nistratlon pf::,t^ :

•  . !l, .A;srequired by-law,. pursuant t_d the temislset forth in para^^^
below;,, ' ' •

III. A^fding 'to the HIPAAifhInimum necessary standard; and •
jV'.. Fqr.dataiaggregatlbn purposes for the .health care operationsof the Covered

.V.-

v.

.c- ■ To the.eJrtehtiBuslhess Associate is-penpjtted,under the-BAA-p{.the.AgreementJto; • '
.  • .' ..disclose PHI to any'thlrd;pa(^ or;subcpntractprrprior to making any,,dJsclosure; the'

BusinessAs,spciate:m;ust;dbtain;:a;buslhess'associate:agreemeht,^^^
.: subcoiitractbr, that.cdmplles with HIPAA and ensures that-all fequlremehfe ahd '

/restrictions; placed on ,the'Buslness Associate as part of this BAA with the-Cpyered.Entity,, ,
-are included Ipihose business asspciate:agreem^^ with therthird party, or subcontractor

d. The Business Ass6ciate"shall hot/disclose ahy'PHl.in response to'a request or deniand-
^. 'for disclbsureivsuch as by a' subpoena oreourt' orde'ri on the basis that it is, required .by

:l.aw,:V^thput first notifying ,^ Entftyisp .that Cpyered Entity can.determlrfeh^ ■
r V 'j protect the PHI.. If. Qbv;ere.b E^ 6bjects. to..tKe disclosure, theBuslhesv^ agfees' !

:  'to refrairi'frdmfdisciosing the PHLand. shall cooperate with theiCove'red.,Entity In any effort • . '■
V' .''^the-Cbvered^Eritlty undertakes,to.copjeX-the rbquestjlprdisclo.surei subpbenaj.pr^bther •

-  -31egarprpces,s;if,applica.b^^ to Ra_.hj2.rec6rds,*the BuSihess"Associate shall resist: • " -
■■ariy effp^s to accessyparl:? records ^ :

.^(3) :'.QbllQations' ahd^Activitiesrof Business Assbciatei:

•a. 1 Business Associate•shali imp^^ apprbpriale safeguards.'to p^^ uhautHdrized
'uCe;dr:disclosurd ofiairPHI in accordance with'HIPAA.Privacy'Rule.and'Security Rule:
Vi^th regard fo'elecJqriic.pHl,..andP '

' ■ .VV,' '
d'. ' Jhe.Business .Assbcjateshall ,immediately Covered Entity's: Privacy Officer:al. . .

the foilowirig emaira'ddress, bl^HSPrivacvOfficdr@dhhs^nh.Qov after the;Busihess-
;AssociaTe. has;deterrh.ih8d'that any use or disclosure hot" provided for"by its contract,-
'including any known dr-suspected-privacy or-secujity incident.or breach,has occurred
potentially .exposing or cprnprpmising the PHI.- this Includes inadvertent pr accid.ental
uses or disclosures ofCreachesdfiMnsecured.prbteCted health ihfdrmalidh.

G. ■ ,ln the eyent-of a breach, the'Busihess Associate shall,cornpIy with the.ternis df'this
■Business^As.s'pciateAgrb,emerit;all appiicable,Ctate:anifederal lay^ and.regulations,

•  ;and any additjohalrequirements of the'Agreement.-. ■

Exhibtt.l - ■ '■ - .'Cbntr3Ctorinltialj-

•  . : - ■ ' .Hcatthinsurancc'Porbbili.tyAct- . ' . . ' , . " . 3/2/^2022- . .
'. '4. ■ '' - • . - Bu'jlness ^Jpdaia.^w , ••
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. d. the Business As^odlate'shall perfdrm.a risk assessment^ based on the information
available at tHe'time It "t^cbrffes "aware of ariy'knovvn or suspected priyacy.or security .

-  ' , breach as described above and cornmunicate the risk assessmeht tb the Covered
^  ' Entity./The risk assessment shall includei.but notbe.lirhited to":

■  I;. Theaature and e)dehl:6f the,protected;health.Yhfdrrna,tibn;inyoJved,Jric
' types of identifiers and the likelihood of re-idehtificatibh; , ■ ,

II. The unauthorized person who.accessed, used,•discibsedi^brreceiyedthe
prptectedVea|th\inforrnation; • . . " ' • , . , .

III. Whether the-pro.tecte"d.!hea!thMhforrhatiohwa^^ aCtually 'acquired or viewed; and ■
;iv. Hoyv the risk'of loss of confidentiality to the protected health

j  /tnfp|Tnatipn;hasbeen rnitiga^^^^ ■ . .

e., - ■ r The Buslhess-As'sbciate-shall cbrnplete a riSk-aSsessment;,report pt the conclusion of lts
"tricident or breach i'nvestigatipn and provide the,findings ih,a wntten:reporttothe

.  ■ ;ebyered EntiV as;epon as practicable after the cpncluslon of the Busihes's Associate's
'irivesligalion. " - • ' .

fr- Business^ssOciate;shall makeav'ailable.all of itsjnternarpblicies:,aha.prbced^ books
and records reiatihgt.pthe'use aiid.disclpsure:^^^^^ receivedtrom, orcreateder
■received .by therBusih^ss.AsspCiatepn.b^^^^ Eritjty'tpthe'U&SGcretarye ■

r,., . ^Health and Humah'Servicds fdr^pUtposes^btdetermlnihg the Bus'ihess;Assoclate'sahd .
- , the feovered.Eptity's^cp^ with^MIRAA.ahdthe Phvacyehd Security .Rule, apd ■

' ."■s Paili;Ifappllcafe ,

.('■

;g".. 'Business Assbclate shall "require.'all ,bf1ts busihessVassociateSth^'receive, uSe'pr have
.  . -accessjb.PHIpnderHhe'.BM orthe Agreement;/tb>agree in writing tbedhere tothe!

/  ■ ■ iSame; restrictions'andeondrtions .on .the use and disclosure:pf;PHj
,  ' . ilhcluding the dutytbretum or destroy thePHI-as proylded under Section (3)n, and an
' X . ' <agreenierit!thatthe:ebyereb'Ehtity-:shallbe'cbnsidered a,direcUhird'par^,.b •

■,the.Buslness,Assbci.ate's'business assodat'eagreemehts with BusinbsS Associate's
intended busine'ss;asspciates,-whp'.will'b.e;rece^ pursuantHp:this.BAA,^with'

.  !KgHis.ofGnfprcemVhtan.djndemnifica'lion from such business';assbciates'wh
^  r - :gpverned by standaKl/pr6vislbh#13 of this.Ayre.ement for the.purpose:©^^^ ■ ,

. ■ ' Pisclosbre;pf:p'rote.cted'_health/infprm^^ * , ^ , ■

'  = ■ h. Within ten '(10) busipessbays of receipt of a written request from Covered.Entity,
Business. A'ssbciate" shall make.'ayaiiabielduring pprmal business hours at Its.pffices all

'  ' rbcbrds, books, agreements,.policies and procedures'relating to the use anddisclosure ■
■ of PHI to.the:Gpvered'€htitY;--cfor purposesofenabling. Covered.£ntity.'t6: determine'

-  Business Asspciate'socmpiiance with thefterms.pf the BMand'the-Agfeemeht.

i. Within: ten'(10) busihessidays ofTebeivihg a'written:requb.s.t fi:om,C^ Entity,
Business Asspcjate shalj-prpvide^access-tp PHl in a Designated Record, Set to the
G.bvered, Eptity, bf'as directed by:C.by.ered Entity-.fe to rneet the

f  ■ reqbifements"uhde?^Vt5CFB^Sectibn.164;5^
■  . ■ ■ ; -

'  ' bthibm, .ContfactoMnfttais V —
.  . , . Health Insurance RorUbllily Act- ' .3/2/2622

'  . .. ' ^ " . . ' • •• ;Bu$inc5S.A5$«Jate'^re.em^^ . ■ . .

•ti'' ' ' ■ ■ • . \
'■ V'.v- . . ' • .v, : • ' ■
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'j;; ^ ' Wjlhjn ten'(10)'b.uslnesldays'^of recei request'from Coyered^ntjty for^an.
amendment of PHI or afrecbrd about ah iridivlduaj contained in a Designated Record
'Set; the Business-Xsso'ciate shaj)''makeeuch PHravailable to Covered. Entity for '
emendmeni and incprpprate any such amendment tpenable Covered Entity to fulfil

.  pbligatidns urideh4dCFR SeGti^^ ' '

k: . Business Associate shall document any. disclpsures'pf.PHi and m'formation' related to .
any disclpsures as^wou/d be required;f0i;Covered Entity respond to a' request-by an

■ Individuaifor'an acdbuhtihg ofdiscldsures'of-PHl ih;accorda'rlce with 45 CFR'Section
- m.SlQ.

vyithi.n'ten,(iQ);'business dayepf recei^ request from Goyered Entity for a, .
request for an'accountiog.of disclosures of Phil, Busihess Associate shall rnake ayailable,
tb'.Covered Ehtlty,.suchJnforrhati6h asi'Govefed. Entity'may require to fulfill its-obligations;
tb,prbyide an accpunting of disclosures y4th:respecti^ 45 GJR . .
■Section: i.64.528, . •

•ml • In the event any-individual requests access.tp.,amendment of, or accounting of PHI
directly from 'the Buslness Associate; the Business Associate sha.lj within five ,(5):

<' "business days forward such; request tb .Qoyered Entity. Covered Entity shall have'the
fespohsibiiity^bf respOhdihg to fOrwarded .requests. However, if .forwarding the

.  Jhdividuars-.request.tb CbvefedEntity wbuldoause.Cbvere^ EntityorjheBusihess. ,
.'Asspcjate to violate HIPAA and the Pnyacy apd Spcunty Rule,.the Business Associate-
ishail instead respond..td the':individua];s:req;uest;as required, by such.law and no'tlfy

.  . •^'.^Co^eredEhlity bffsuchVespbhseiasjSb.on.aspra^ " , v* '

n:; ■ ' Wiihin;thjf^.'(30) business dayspfterrninatto reason, jhe
.  ' ■ , Business Associat'e'ihall return or destroy, as'sp^ifi^ by Covered Entity; all PHl

- ,received;frpm"-brofeated:br:fecelved:by-the.Busihess''AsSociateJn connection vvith, the
•  Agreement, and-shair.not>etain any';cbpies or'back-ups of such RHI in any form or

■  ' .pjatfprrn.; .. • • •- .

'I. ilfjetum'.brdeWuctibhJshbtfeasible. brthe-dispositibh.bftheP^ , >
..-:been ptherwise.^agreed tb in the Agreemerit, Business Associate shall . .
l.cbntinue.fe;eirtend'.the:protections'pM^^^

:  further Uses and disciosufesohsuch PHJ,^^
.  ■ ;rptUrh prde^fu.ctipnjhfeasible'for as long.as:th;e Business Associate

• maintains such PHI. If .Covered Entity; in.its sole.diScretlbn, requires that
•  .the Busihess Associate deStrqyiariy or. all'PHI,'the Business Associate. -

shaili.certify to Covered Entjty that the PHI ha.s been destroyed.-
j

'(4) iOblioations bf CQvefed Entity

.ia.' iCo.yered Entity-shajT notify business Associate of anyjchangps or |imita\ioh(s) jh its-
Hptice of Privacy Practices provided to individuals in accordance with 45 CFR Section
*1^:520, tb the eiirteht that-such change or limltatibh m'ay affect Buslhess A'ssbciate'a
iuse;0/^disclosujG pf PHL A current version .of Covered Entity's Notj :gJAlAl

■  ' Othibiu ContractorInltiab' \ _■ • •

V  ' • ' 'HealthJnsurai^eJPgrtab^^^^ . . '3/2/2022 J-
i " _ Builncis'Asjxiate ^reemem -.Pate L—

-  . , I • . ..] , ,• - ■ • '■ ' '
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practices'.and any changes.thereto will be posted on the Covered Entity's website:
httDsV/wWw:"dhhs.nh.qovyoos/hlDaa/Dublicat"ions.htrn ■

b;. Cbyered Entity shall promptly'notify-Bu'sihess Associate,ofanybhanges'ln, or revocation
,pf permissipn prpylded to Goyered Entityby Individuals.whose.PHI may bo used or
disclosed byjBusihess Asspclate under this.BAA, pursuant to 45GFRSection;l 64:506
•or 45 CFR .Section'164.5d.8'

c: '^vered entity shall prpmptly hptify Business Associate of any Testrictions on the iise or
;dlscioslJre of PHl thatCovered Entity hab.,a9reedtp;in;,accordance:vyit^^ 45 CFR-164.'522.-
;tb'thee)dent that, such restrictibh;may:^ect'Business .Associate's use;.or(:iisclo,sure; of
:phi.

(5)^ iTermfriatibn of AQreement'for Cause

jn.additlon'to Paragraph''9'6f the General Rfovisio'ns (P-37).bf th"b Agreerriehi. the.
'Covered Entij^'may immediately ,teiTnlnate4he;Agreernent upon Covered 'Entltyis
khdwledge of a material breach by Business Associate of the Bushess-Associate;.
^Agreement. The-'Coyejred. Eritliy may either ihimedlately terminate the Agreement of
pfoyide anippppftunity toriBuSiness AssOciate:;t6 cure the alleged breach.vvithiri.b

■ 'Jimefrarne specified by Covered Entjty.

'.f6V /Miscellaneous " - ' . •

>q: Definitions. Laws. and^Reaulatorv References. All laws and regulations used; herein;
bhallTefertjD those lav« and regulatiohs;as amended from tirne to tJme;;.ATeference i.n ,
■the Agreernentv as-amended to include this.^HibitN.,to,aiSectio in HIpAA' or;42 :f?ar;t 2,
means the" Section as in effect or as amended.

b: .Amehdrhent;"Govefed.EMitvand.Business>AssoCia1e'agree tptakesuc actionas.is
necessary to .amend'the BAA frbm time'tbtime as;is hecbssaiy 'fpr Cpyered

';anb/or Business Associate to comply with Ihe.ch'ahges.ih the feguiremehtsOf . •
■ ■HIPAA',T42 GFR.f?art^\other ap .

Data Owhership. The Business Associate acknoy^edgesthat it has no pvyriefship rights-
"vwth>respect:tp the-PHI, provided, tfy.or created on behalf of,Covered Entity.

Int'erpreta'tibn. The:partles'agree that any ambiguity in the'BAAand the Agreement'
shall be resoivecf to permitGo,ver.Bd .Entityand.the;,Busine'ss.Ass^^ cprriplyvyitti
HIPAAand42CFRPaH2:

•»- * t -r i

'^Exhibit I iContractorinltiais '

Hpalth.lnsurance PprVa^
Dusiness AssocIate'A(rc«ment' Date

3y.2/2022'
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■SeareQation. If any ierm pr.coodltlori of this BM or th'e.applicatidn:thereoflo. any •
perisph(s):pr:circumstance.^ invalid, such invalidity shaH'ript affect other terms or
whdjll6ns.'^iclixanjbe;glyen effect without the'lnyalld term pr conditjon; to this end.the.
termj iand.ponditlpns'pf thls.^hibiljyarpdec!^

Surviyai. provisions lh'thls:BAA regarding the .use ahd disclosure of PHI-, return or
'destfuctidh of PHI, extensions of. the protections df;the BAA in sectipn.{3j ji the"
^defense arid Indemnitetion provisions of section; (3j e and Paragraph-13..df the ■
'General ProyisiOns (P$7) of the Agreement, shall'survive the.te^mir^atl6h;dflthe,B^A

,IN\WITNESS-WHEREOF, the pa'riies.hereto have duly executed this Exhibit I.

' ' I

Qepartment.pf Health and Human'Services

dby:.

rSigh^fure'c^^fhorized Representative
joseph T.., .Garisti •. • .

bartmouth-Hitch'cd.ck

. . . . \
'Au>ru^ . ,

>  —
Signatureiof Authorized. Representative

Edward 0\ Merrens,. md

;Name of Authorized Representative":Narhe:.6f Authorized Repfesehtatiy^ ' '

chief Financial _offtce;r.i;3NH^ Hospital; Ghief Clinical officer
':Tit!e:of.Authorized Representative' " . 'Tltle:6f.Authorized Representative;
' 372/20.22; • , . . . • ■; 3/2/202-2

:Date'^ . .Date-

.1 "•

1  - ;

•' v " 'f , '' ;

,  ' "v V

Exhibltl iCofitractor Initials >

_-HbaUh'lnsyrancV^
iBuslhessAssoctoleAgreement . . ,  'Oate,

3/2/2022-
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CERTIFICATION REGARDING THE'FEDERAL FUNDING ACCOUNTABILrTY AND TRANSPARENCY
^  ACTIFFATArCOMPLIANCE" ^

, The^Federai FMndin9;Accouhtab]lity/and Transparency, Act (FFATA)Tec}uires prime awardees of individual
Qfarits equal to prgreater (nan $25,p,Op.^an'd.awarded .dn.dr after October 1, -201 to,report on

aissb,elated first^tlersub^grants of $25.'6oo,dr 'm'ore. If the'
Initiaj.award.is below $25,000 but subsequeni grant modificatipris resu award, equaljo.or over-

reqyiremente, as of the date.of Ihe.'award.:
Jn accordance with^2-CFR Part 170 (Reporting .Subaward and Executive Com^nsation information) the .
Pepartment.df Health and Hurrian Services (DHHS) must report the following "information for any. ' '^  'subaward or contract, award subject.to the FFATA reportlrig requirements:
1; Name'df entity- • • ^ '

-2., Ampuntpf avrard
'3; iFundingragency:
AX'NAJGS code for contradsV G^DA prpgrarn riurhber fprgrah , • '

.5!j. Program source- • " ■ -j
.  -6; Award title descriptive of.the puipose of the;funding action " * -

T. "Lpcatiqhpftheentityv " ' '' • : • - • ,
-' 8/Priricipie:plaM;Ofpertom " ■ . . .
•9. Unique Idefntifier of the entity
:ld; TptaJ cbmpen^tip.n'and name to'p five executiyes.if:-.
"  • Mpre than 80% of.annuargross revenues are;fromfeFederal gbvemmerit, arid those

revenuesVare greater than ,$25M, annuaiiy'and
^  . '10.2. Conipe'nsation informatiqn j's not airea'dy ay,ailab|e:th,rpugh repprting'to the SEC.

Prime grantTecipientis must submit FFATA,required^data by the end of the month.vplus 30 days- iniwhich
.the award or awardtamendrherit is'^ -
;T!)® idsrit'.rijsrt in. section 1.3 of the General Provisioris.a'gre'es to cbrriply with the provisions of
Tb® federal Funding Accouri^^ Transpareripy Act, Public Law 10.9^282-and'Public Law 1107252^ '
;and 2 CFR Part, 1,70 (Reporting Subavyard,and Executi.ye Gonlperisation lrifOrrhatiori), and further agrees
' to have the Contractoris repfesentabye. es identified ln;SectiQns'i;1.1and 1'. i'2=of the'General Provisions'
.execute the foilov/ing.Certification: ' .
The belcw.named Contractor agrees to provide:neededlnformatibri as outl'ined aboye to the,NH-
Pepartnijent.of HeallhXarid Hum^' Services .arid to comply witti. all applicable-provisions of the ■Federal .

♦ FIrtancJal Accpuntability'and Transparehcy •

. s;-
3/272022

' Date

GpntractofiName:

c—; DocoSigntd by:..

chief cliriica.l Officerr

^ibft:J -^Cfrtlfiratton Ri^anJIng tho:F©d©f8l Funding . CcmtractorJhlUab
-CUOHHS/110713 • Page 1 W2i," ''7 '- V 3/2/2022.

Datei — '



Docusign Envelope ID; F675867A-780e-422C-A080-A6F1124E7A7C

D<^S|gh EnvelOf« ID: 28fBD25I^AC0H2CA-9C7b^eB5W7BS\^^

New Hampshire Department of Health and Human Services

FORMA

", y^'ithe';Cpntrac'tor ideritifieitf-lh 'SecUbn i.S'pf the General Provisions. I certifytliat the responses to the
below listed-questlpns are,tm^^ ..

-  .QYLXERHbAQL4 ' . , ' - .
1. the DUNS number for VQur entity is: - - - ,

'2'. Jh Vour business brprgahization^precedihgic^ fisMl year.-did your business oigqnization
: -\:receiye;('l).80 percentpr.more.pf your annuaj,grpss:reyenue in u7s^,federal"contractsJ:Subc6ntracls.

'loans; 'grants, suli^ranis, and/prxooperatiye agreemente; and''(2)'$25Vp00^P00 or more inxnnual
.  ;grosSfevenijes,from U.S. jfedefarcontracls. subcontracts, loa'hsl grahtis.:subgrarits, and/or"' • > •

•cpoperativeagreernents?-

Xi
.NO • YES

■  •= Mf'the'answer t6/#2 abbye is'Nprstppl^
'  ■ ■ ■ '' ■ ■

•  ! •Ifvthe answer ̂  #2 aboye isYK^

•3;, "poes'the public'have access to.lnfprmation.ab6ut;the cbmperisatlon of.the executtyes'in ypur-
'business or organization through periodic reports filed under section 13(a) .or-1^ Securities
•: ExchangeAdt;dM934;;(,15U,:S.C.78m{a).:-7^^^^ prse;ctipn.61Q4;ohhe Internal Revenue Cpde of
1986? '

.KlO: •YES-

-  If the answerto'#abbve iS'YES; stoph . '

. If theranswer to:#3 above iis'NbV:please:ansv/er thetblldwlhg;'

A.- The nameVand.co'mpehsatlon of.the fiye;hiost;highly compensated bfficers.Jn ypurbusinessipr
o'r'ganizatibri are" aMolli^r '

..l^anive;

- Name:

Amount:;

.'Amdu'rit:-—

Name:

Name:". "

• Nam8:_

Arhpurtt:.-_

, AmountV

Arinountr-

'.\i. '• • ^ cwowi/l 107.13 •

Exhlbii:J-OortifiMli6n.R^afdiH^ Funding
,A6coyntablii^'^/CndtrahipMncy'Ad'(FFATA) Compliance

"""'pageZ'qf?;' "

.Contractor Initials^

o$-

''372/2022
Date

4  ̂

• i f
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N%w Hampshire Department of He

DHHS, Security Requirements
. ' Exhibit K

A. Pefiriitions; • . '

^The:foil6wing tenhs mayrb'e reflected andrhavc the.described meaning in this-documerit:

i. ''tBreach^means'tHe loss;of cbrilr6l,.cpmprqmiscj:unautHorized,disclbsure,.
unauthorized acquisition, unauthorized access; pr*any'simi]ar term'refem to

•  isitiiations where persons other than.autHorized ii'sere and fbr anether than.auihorized
purpbsie have access or;pptfentiaj ;ac,cess to pbisdhallyjdehtifiabie.info^^
whether* physical or electronic. With regard to/Protected Health Infqrmalionj
"Bfeach'';shall have/the'same.meahihg-;.as'thc!ter^^ in sectioh 1.64;402:*.of'
Title-45, ,'Godc'ofF^era! Reg^^^

' 2, ' "GomputerfSefcurily Incident'-' shall have thc.;sarnc meaning '•.Cornputcr'Securi^^.
Ibcidenf^.in?sectibn two (2) of NIST Publication'800-bl,Computer Secufilyilriciderit

' Handling G_mde,;Natipnal Jnstitutje ofStandards and ftechnoi^^ Pejjartrrfent
^of Gommerce;;

3. "Confidehtiai Ihfbrriiatioh,'' "CdnTidential.Dala," oT''bata""(aS defined imExhibit K);
;  ■ meanX^ajl/cbnfidenti.arinfpm one party tp;the:;pthcrS^^^^^ as all

medical, health^;fin^cial,-jpublic assistancc benefits and personal-.infoiTOation:
iric'ludihgAvitliput limita Sub'stahce;Abu'se;Treathi>iht:Rec^^ CaWRecQfds, .

•' Protected,HeaUh Information and^Pcrsphaliyddentifiabje Infpr^^^

Gonfidenti'ai Information,alsojncliides anyandiall'infomiation'owned or^managed by
the StatepfNH -^created, receiyeifrbm orph.b^^ the D'epartmeht.of Health-and

■  , , Hum^ ServicesXpiiHS) pr access^.in,^^ pfperforming contracted services, ,
-;of whiclvcollectioh, disclo'surej'protection. and disposition is gbvcriied by.state or

.. federal lavv Qf-regdlalipn. Th but is;hQt'Iimited to Protected,
.'Health In'format^^^^ Personal In'fonnatipn (PI), Personal Financial:lnTomiation

' (PFI);)E^erai TaxilnforniaUbn {^'I)/SbciaL
Industiy XPGl)- and or'other senshiye.-Qrtdxod^^

4. "End User'''hieahs. any persbh or-entity. (e.g., contractor's employee,"business
assobialej Wbcontractpr,' otiierdownstream user,'etc.)'thatreceiyes^DHHS data'lor
derivative dala,in accordance with the terms of this Contract.

5. "l-IIPAA";meahs .the" Healthdnsufaricc Pdrtabi lity aiid Accountability Act on996.and'
.the rcgu.latiOns promulgated diereunder.-.

6;^ Incident'-inieans amactrhat-pot^ a"seeurity'poijcy;;which incm
-suceesafuraltbmpts).t'6-gaih;Uh"^a access'fOra system:o

" dtsruptionpr d'enjaj.of.service, the unauthofizcd-.u^^^

ii^ril. 2020 ' . . lEjWWtK;' ' . CdnlrartbrInitiate ^
^  . ' ■ ' , ipHHS l.nfomiaUoh -• *' ' _ . ' ' " * ,

• - . ^ • .SewrttyJReqy^^ _ 3/2/2022 •
i  •. ,* • • ' < ' Page-iofS ' • Date : •

•  • . ... ■ ;v ->. r . •
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DHHS Security Requirements:

Exhlbif.K '
&

'istpragc of data; and changes ipfsystem-hardware, firmware, or. software:
,ch'aractieristics withdut'lhe.o.whCr's.kribwledge, ihstmc'tibn, or corisent. incidents'
mclude .the.-ioss-.pf data through theft, or device mispiacernenti loss ormisplacement of

'  hardcopy documents, and misrouting of physical of electroriic-documehts or mail.-.

I.> ^"Open.Wireless Network".meahs:any;nelw.brk or segment of a:network,that is .
bot designated by tlie.State, of New'Hampshire's P'epartrnent.of Information
Technology or delegate as a;prptected network (designed, tested, ahd.appfoved,'

= ■ . by means.'of the State, to transmit) will be cphsidered an open network and hot
-  •,./,adequate]y-:secure:.forihe:triuismjssiPn of.unencrypted PI^ ̂

.  / Confidential'DHHS da't^ . ' - . , ■

:8., "Refsbnal Informati.Pn" (or "PI") means infprhiatipn.which can.be .used.tobistinguish,
,. ..:pr tracean1ndiy'^P.3'-'? '^ as.their name, social security nuniber,.personal

"iinformafion.as defined in New Hampshire. RSA-isD.-C: 1.9, biometric records, 'etc.,,
alone; Pr-wHen.cpnibihed with ptherp;ersPrial pf ideiftj^ inforrnation w_Kichj.s

^Jinked or-ljnlcabl.e tp n'speciftc individual, such^asdatc.and place 6f:birdi, mother^s
.■rnaideri name, etc..

\  .(): "Rfivacy.iRule" slialfinean flie Standards. te'r-PrlyaCy of indiyi'd^^
; Health,InfpmiadQn'at"45 G.p.RvParts 16b:and-f64; promulgated under HIPXA by the

Uiiited Stafes Department ofHcallh and,Humah-Servrces. -

iO. "'p'roteeted.'Heal^ '(pr ''PHr') has.the same.meaning ^S:provided in the
'  'definition pf'-'Pfolected'Health Information" in the HIPAA Privacy Rule at 45 C.K.R-.

^  .§d6dip£- ■ ■ ■ - , . ■ . ■ , ; .
II.;-''S.fccurity RulV^sba.Il.nieon.the'Sccurity^^ ' '
.  .-Protected Health.Infpnnation at 45"G.F:R'. Part.:r64,,:Subpart Ci'andd'mendments ,

d  fthefcto'. , • ■ • '

12;.. "ynsecu_red;Prdtccted HeaJtlvInformation" means.Protccfed Health Infonnalibh^thal is
not secured by a technology standard that renders Protected Health Information
Uhusabie; p.nfeadab.le, pr indecipherable to unauthprized-individuals and is developed,
or endorsed byia;Standards;developihg organization that is accreditedby.the American
NatibhafStahdaid.s Ins^^^

' 1 responsibilities PF dhhs and the gontracto^

-A.. Business Use and'Disclosure of.Gpnfidential Ihiofmalibh.

-  The pbhtfactofniust hot usej.yis.clpse; maihlmhor.transmit Cbrt Informfthon

April. 2020 - . ; ExhiliVK'
DHHb.lnfonnation'

ISecurily Requirement
-  .-.Page^iof8 '

Contractor Iriill^.

Date
:3/2/2p2'2
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DHHS Security'Requiremehts

ExfiibitK-

;excepi as requjrcd'pf permitted under tliis jCbhtract or'reiquired by law: Further,
'Contractor, •includihg'but'not,limited.to-all'its directors, officers, employees'and
-iagCntsVmustmot use, disCl6*s,e,.m^^^ transffiit PHI ih ahy manner.'that.'W

•  ' )Constitute a viplatipn\of-,lHe Privacy .and .Secuiity-

2. The'CoritraclofTniist hot disclose any Confidential .Ihforrhation.in response lo a
Ipquest fpf disclpsufe on the basis.tha.t it isT^'iiired by law^ m'fesporise to Ksubpbena,
etc.-, without first nptjiym^ so that DHHS has ̂  pppprtunity.tp cOnsent or
pbject tojlhe disclosure. • , • . '

'3... ■Thc-Cphhacloragreesjhat DHHS .Datafpf'deriyaiiyc there End '
,  ysermiist only.beiwed pursu^^^^ • -

. n; -METHODS OF SECURE TRANSMISSION OF DATA

1,. .Applicatiph 'EhcfjTtibn. If -CPhtfactpr is tfansmittrng DHHS .Data ppritainihg'
'Cbnfidenjtial.Data betSvech applications, .the*'Contractor attests: the appJicatipns have
been evaluated by an expert-; loipwlcdgeahlc; in cyber 'security and' that- sajd.

•  ■ applicatioh's-enc^ptioh,capabilities ehsufc':secufe..transhiisslon'via the ihterhet.
1  . 2\ Cpihputer.pisks ahd.Pprtable;St6rage-D'eyi.ces\Cphtractor.may ript;USC;CompW^^

ppitable'stprage:^^^ a thumb; drive;"asd method pa_ta./
'3v, 'Encrypted Email. Cpntractpyniay only eniplpy email lp:jratismilGpnTidentiarDa^^

remail is encrvp'ted^and.being-sent/toTand-being received by email.addresses.of persons
authorized. to;feceive s.uclf ihforiUatibn:.

•4'.. ,,Encrypted Web/ Site. iEGphtractpr Ts emplpying the. Web 'to ^transmit .Confidential
■'Data, .'the'secure-spckcl;;layers, (SSL)' mu.si bje used and the web site must.be secure..

SSL encrypts data-transmitted via.a.Wcb site. . .

^5. File HosfihgScrvices,;alsb kno.\vn as FiieEliarinf Sites. Gohtraclbf.mayrho't use.-file "
Koslirig seiwices, such-as'brppb'bx of (joogle Cloud.S^ Cohfidential- .
baia.;

6: .Ground .Mail-Service: Contractor may only transmit Confidential Data via certified
•gipUhd mail .wilhiii the .cbnlihehlal U;S. and whenfseht to a hamed indiyiduaj,.

■1\ .Laptops and PDA: Jf Gpntractpr is; emplpy.ing pprtable.^ devjces to .u-ansmii
-Cdnfidential- Data-said devices must be encrypted aiid passwordrprotccted..

.81. iOpen Wi.reless:Net\vorks. Contractor may not l'ransmit GonfideniiahData via an open
.. wireless: network. End User must eniplpy a viftuah private net'syork :(VPN) when
/fembtely.,lfarisrhitiing^yia.aiLopeh.wire|es.srnct\v^^^
.ReinPte yser Cbm.miinipatlPjt IfGonfractoriaemployihgirempte cP

April, 2020' . ExhlbllK- Coh^ctor InlUate
"  r ' " ■ . " , ^OHHS InfofTh^fOh

'  - ' ,• 1 . Sow^ly.Requlrr^o^^ " ' ' " 3/^2/2022
Page3of8 Date
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DHHS Security Requirements;
Exhibit K ' •

■  accesis'or transmit Gorifideritial Data, aisecurc.rncihdd of transmissioh of rerriote
access,Jwhich complies.vvithithe. terms and cbhditibris of Exhibit:K, must be used.

10; SSH :Filc TraXsfefPfotoc also, known as Sceurc Filc'Tfansfcr P If.
■ContrabtprJs;employing.mi;SFTP to transmit Gonfide^^^^ C>ata,.End User wiU;
stm,cture'the;Folder:Md.access:priyjlegcs to prevent inappippnatc^disclosure of
information;: ;SFJ^'f6lders and sub-:folders used for'tr^smittmg Confidential Data will

>bc coded for"24^hpur autOFdeletionxycle (i.C; Confidential Data will be deleted every 24
...v

:  u,
••J

' - ' 1 f/Wireless:Deyices.:IfContfactbr is ifahsihilting Confidentiai'Data via wireless devices, all
•  \data:must,be ,encryp;te^'to prevent inappropriate disclosure oTjnforitiation.: -.

ja. MtENTioN'Ai^D biSPOSif IDENtipiABLE RECORDS
•  . ' • ^ I '

•  * * • ' . '

The Contractor wilfonlyretajh.DHHS^ and any deriyaiive of the data for Uie duration of,
'  'tlus Cdhtractv After siich time, the Cohb'aetor .will Have, thirty (3.QJ days to destroy'the.dala
'  ;ahd.any derivatiye^ih whatever fpriti it may.ejcistjJuhless; pthenvise,required by law of,.if ft is

- Hnfeasjbl'e to relurnior destroy DHHS Data, iprotectipns are cx^nded ip such" infonnation, in
-  •' • ^accordance with thc;teiTninalionpfoyisidnLiS;in' thiS'^S^^^^ this end; thelparties m'usi:

■A;^ ReteiidOn ■

'1. - "The G,ontraclorligrees ft,wili,not store', transfer or process data-'c^^^^^
•  * conhec'tipn with.'the services rendered under this Cbntractou'iside df the-Unifed '

iStates: This.Thysical. locarion:requi"refhent shail aiso applylh'the^implemchtation Of.
cloud cpmputibg, clbuftseryice or cJoud storage capabilities, and,includes bqckup,
data and Disaster Recovery ;locations.

2... /TheCbhti'actor ■agrces.lb enisure propersecufitymohitbring^^^^^^ are iftplace; ■
id detwTpiptehtiaLsccun cyents.that can;i'mpact;StatfeJof systems-and/or

.  ;Depafbndhl,.cbhfidchtialdhtbfmatioh;fQr cQhftact6r-proyidcd systems-access
utilized for pumpses of carrying put this; cpntracl.

3: TheContraclbf agfceisio provide security awareness aridieducatioh for jts..End Users
:ih support of prbtecting'bTOS Confidenliai information.

•  4. -Tlie Contractor agrees to retain all electronic an'd hard copies of Gon'fidential'Data
iri,a;sccure'lo.catibh and.'idehtified.iri section ly. A.2

5. . The Confractor^agre'es'.CpnfidenljaJ Data stored jft must' be in b
.FedRAMP/HITEGH compliant solutibn'andxomply with.all'applicable statutes and

. fegulatioiW:'rcg^ding thepnvacy.;and security. All sciycrsiaiid;dc,vices';inust;havb
■currently-suppprted.ahd hardened'pp,eratmg::systems, 'curreni;;upda

;
.Anrii ,7090 ExhiWtk , , CdntfBClQr ipfUais;Apri!.;2p2p

■''X

. DHHS Infb^Uon . - ' '
^cyrity Roguironfionts 372/2022.

■.Pago 4 of 8 Palo
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New Hampshire Department of Health ahffH Services
DHHS Security Requirements -

"  ' ' • ^ • .ExhibitiK ■

,'maintaiheciariU anri-yiralijanli-hacker^ia^^
utijilies. THe enylrpnment, as a \vhole, must.have.aggressive.intrusioh-detection.and'

.  ̂ firewallprotection. .

6'. Xhe Contractor agrees"to, and'ensures its complel^ cooperation wjth the Stale's
Chief InfoiTnadon Officer in thc:dclcctidri of ahy:sccurity \diiherability of the

.  hosting inCrastnicture;. '■

B,. Disposition

-  itlhe.'Gpnhectpcmamtaihs.'ainy'Confide ;infermati6fir6ri. iits/sy^tcms "(pr, its..sub:-
xdnfractor systiems) and it lias not dOiic; so previously, the Gontractor wil| implement

"  . policies.and.prpcedures.to ensure^that anyiSlprage nieyia pri which such data iiiayb.e
.irecprded willfeerendered,unreadableand'ihat the.d'ala will'be unrrecover'able wh.eh

tlie storagc^fhedia is dispjosedVof. UpplVfeiqucst; the .Gpnttacxoirwjll prpyjde, the
. Pep^;rhent wjdi'copies of'these policies',arid-With'wnlien documental
" dempriStfatjhg coiripliarice The writien documentaliPn will mclude:

- aji dctails'hecessary to demonstrate data contained in .the storage media has liee^
rendered .tinr^dabje and;uh-rw^^^^ Where applicable^-re^latory and:

:; ■. . prpfessioriaj'Standards forrelentipn'fequiremenls may ^ by the-
Slate and GpntractPrpnpr^i^^^^ * ' - :

'  ■ L .yn!ess;pthenyise specified':MMlliin thirtypO)'days^
"  iCoritfact,; Cohfractor-agrces toldestioyi£ai:h"^:cdpies of Confidential,

,  ■ ' .;secure/metho.d:si^^^ as;,shredding.
2. 'yhlcss;p.thcnyise spccifi'cd,-within'thif^;'(3j)j days of iheTenhihiatidh oifthis

Contract, 'Cohtractor=agrees td compieteiyldestrpy'all 'electrbnic Confidential Data
"  by'meahs Of data crasurp, also known as sccurc data wiping.

.tv;SPRpC,EpyRES FpR^SECURITY; ' .

-A.- Cdntractonagrees to safeguard th;e'i)HHSpaja received under, this Contract; and any
derivative data or,fUes.i;as, follows:!

1 The Cbritractbr'will maintain proper sCcurity^ lo-protccrDepartment.
confidential information collected, processed, managed, and/or.stqred:ih;the delivery
:of contracted services.

V 't

1 The Contractor-will maintalnpplipies and procedures ito protect.Departmenl
•confidential information throughoui'theihfoiTriatibri jIf^ycl'e,- Wherei-applicrTblc. (from.
-creiailionV tr&sfdnnati,dLh,;u^by.s.t^ and' scourc*destractipn)=regar^ media-

. Apri). 2020. • Exhibit K •ConlractprlnllialS;,
pHHS Infomalio^^ . ■ '

iS«6uni)( f^uiromonls] . , • 3/2/2022
' . " .Pa^'Sofa'" . .. 11,—-
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Exhibit K. . ' . ■

■  lused to stofe'.UiC'data (i-e., tapc/disk/'papef^ , '

:3. Thc Qpntracjor wXli maintain appropriate authentic
contractor.systems that.collect, transmit, or store Department confidential mformation
•\yherejappUcable'.,

■.4' :jf the Gphtractof will be sub-cpn^cting anyxprc'functions,of the engagement
supp'orting'thesei^ices for State of New,Hampshire, the Contractor .will.ensure End-,
Oser will maintaih an intcmal.process or processes that defines-specific security-

.  . .expectations,^d.mpnirn compliance to security requirements that at a minimum, •
■matchthose.-fdr the.Goritractor, including.bfeWh'n

'5. The Cpnuactor.will work with,the pepartmcnt to sign aridobmply Svith all;appiicable
■State of New Hampshire,and.Departmen't.systemaccess and authorization policies and

.  prj^ediires, systelhs;access forms, and comjD.uter useigreemehts as
and majniaining access-to-^y Department s>^tem(s). Agreements \yill be cbhiplet

'and si^ediby'the'GOhtracidr andany applicablc^sub-con'tfaciors pfibr to system access
^bemgauthprized, * '

i  _ . . - ■
,  " -6. If the Department determines4he Contractor is a Business Associatepursuant.lbj^S-

;CER 16b.'[,0X'the Contfacfor, .will execute aHlPj^.Business Associate
*  ' ' • /(BAAXwitl\'the P,epartment and is responsible for maintaining compliance with;ihe

agreement. • : . . r.'

.y " 7; ThoCOntr^aCtOr,will not store any Statc'bf N'C.w Hampshire ,
o'lTshbre/or buiside'the boundaries pTthe United States.unlessmrior'exprcss wri^^^^ ■
cqhsent'is Obtained from'theihfdmaatioh: Security Ofnccdcaderehip.mcrabef within
the Department.

. 8. ;.pata S.ccunly B.reach-Liabilityl lh'Hheevent'ofahy compu'tcrtsecurity incident;
•inCjdcnt;br!breaCh,GontraCtOf;'shaj.imakeelTpfts
breach, 'prdmplly take'.measures to prcvent 'future'breach:ahd,minimize:any .damage or,
joss Vesultmg«frdm the, breach. The Stale shall recdyefTrom the-ContraciofalrcO.sts.Of'
response.'and recovery from the brcachj incjudihg bul nol limited to; credit monitonng

■  1sefvices,'mailihg'cosl"s and costs associafedAviih website and telephone call center
;S.eiwiceV.neCessary dub.tp^^^

9. Cohtractdr must, comply .with all applicable staliites ahd regulations rcgarding'thc
"privacy and,sec,urity;of Gopfidentiaj Informatioh, and m.ust'in all Other respec.ls"
maintain jhc privacy and sccunty-of PI'and PHI ata level and scope .that is.;noi less
than the levpl and scope dpHlPAA Privacy ahdvSecunly;Rules.(45 G.F.R.-Paits 160.
andib4);ahd.42 .GJ.R/Part 2 fpf irtdiyiduaily identifisbj^

.';,^4"2026 ■. ,_.Exl^UK,
DHHS Ihfomialipn'

•Securily Requiremenlsi
Page's "ore
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1 • ■

•• • ' ihealthJihfprrhatfqn^^^ . ' .

»  ; 10. .Contractor agrees to establish' and maj'nt&in appie'pm administratryc..M^ .and;"'
physical.safeguards to prptect-the cpnfidentialiiy of ihe Confidential Data and to. '
prevent t^aulhprizediise'or access to.ifThe safeguards musYprovi;de a.leyfel.e^^^
•scojje of se^urityltliar i's ndt lcss than the level aitd scope of security ,requirements
'cstabjishi^-by'.the^State of.Ncw Hampshirei-Departme'ntpf Information T^lyiology.
Refer'to.''X{endor'Resburccs/Pfdcurenieni:at.https://ww\y;nh.gov/dbit/vehd^^^
^for'theDcpajtmeht of Infpfmatipn Techno^ guidelines,'standards,-and'
prpcurement infohna]ipnj:elating'ip vendors^' .

'  11Cohfractor agfees;tb'mairiiaih .documenled.Breach nolificatipn. and ihcidentvresponse'
process. The Cpntractpr must notify.the DHHS Security-OfTice and;iheTrograrii
Contact via the cmai 1 addresses.pro.vided. iri-Scctipn VI of this 'Exhibit, immediately
upon the Cohtfactpr determ.ihihg'.tha.t a'b^^ of security Incident has occurred and'
that DHHS conildential InformaUoiVdala niay been exposed or compromised.

, This includes-a confidential iiriformatidh bfeach,;p;omputef security- incidcht, "or
■  . ■s'uspected.breachtwhichaftects.ermCludcs'any Styte'"ofNew,Htf^

'; cpnncct.tp the'Statep'fNew-Hampshiremetwork. . • ■ ,

12. CoritraclorimustTestricpacCess tp'"the"Cohfidehtialbata;;obtm • ' . .
.. Sorilract tp; prily Ehd.Dsers whppeed such DHHS.Da'ta to peTibfm

' ■ * . - ; their official dutiesin',connccti6n"-with puipos^ idenHfieb;inThis Contfact; - ' -

V . 1.3.. TheCVhtfaCfor js'respphs^ Useroveieigh|,and.cpmpliancc with th
-  ' tenns>and'eondi.lions of iheicomract and Ej^ibitK. •

.  - DHIHS rese|ycs.,the-ngBt\^^ onsite mspeetions-to monitor compliance with this
-•Contract, includingahepriyacy-and sccufityvfcquircmiCrits pfovided in'hereiiij HIPAA,,
.:and-;6thef.appliCable lawserid Fcdefal regiUati.phs-Untii Suchtime'the Confidential Data

•  ;isdisppscdpfin'accoMancewiilrthis'Cbhiract. ' ' ' '

V;. LOSS REPORTING

the Co.ntfactorm.usfinimedjately nptify the State's privacy Officer, Infofmalioh.
iSccurity Office and Program Manager of-any. Secu'ritydncidehts and Brcacheses
specified in Section ly, paragraph;! 1 ahoye,

The Contractor must.further imndle-and feppfldhciderits and Breach'es.'ihyolvirtg PHl.in
','accbfciance with.pHHS's'documCnted..lnCid,c^^^ Handling and' Breach Noiificahon

.  ■- ' 'prpcc.duies.and in accordance wjth^ the HIPAA. Pfivacv-ahd Security'Rules.' 'In.addit|,9"n
.  / . ■ - ■ i(

•April, 2020 ' JEi^lill K,. .CpnlraOlpfltiltiafcS;,
•' ^ , tjHHSJnfprmaUpn. . •

.  ' :SecuriiyRBquirefnenis' . ^ - iS/Z/iOH
1  ibalQ- • . •

. t
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I;

to, and no,twi^standing, Contractor's compl|ance;witli:al[:applicablc obligations and
procedure,.Contractor's procedures.miisi also.addrcss.ho.w,the.Contractor . •

1. Identify incidents;- > •- :

2: petermine if personally identifiable:^ involved in Incidents;

3.. -iReport suspected or cohfirmcd Ihciderils as-rc^uired in this Exhibit of P-37;,

4i- jdehtify'ahd convene a core response group to determine the risk level of Incidents
and determme riskTbasedTesponses to Incidents;-and . , ,

^5. ^Determine whether Brcachrnotificaiibn is:re^uired,,and, if so,;.idehtify~^"pro
• Breach nohfibation methods,- timing, source;,and contents;frqm among djifferent
'options, andbcaf .costs-associated with the Breach notice as .well as.any ihidgation
measures: ^ - . " , .

Incjderits 'and/of Breaches that implicate RI must be addressed,andtfeported, as
applicable,Th'accofdahce-mtii:NH RSA'359\C;2^^^^

yi.: PERSONS TO cdi^T^

AvP.HHS contact for Data Managemcrit or Data Exchangedsslies: ^ •'

DHH S ihfdmatibrhS.ecurifyPffic

"D: pHHS.contacts for, , " - " '

■  'DHHSPfivacyOfficer@dhhs.nh.g6v ' ' .

C. DHHS-cohtacf fof Ihforfnatioh Secufitydssues:

pHHSJnfp.nnationSecuntydfi1,ce@

p. pHHS cphtactj'fpr^BrcachVhpti . . "

DHHSInfonnattoriS'eCufiiyOffice@dhhs;nh.gov

'DHHSPfivacvQfllcef@dhhs.iill.t:ov , '

^!. 202P' •.;.-..,ExhibilK,
■ 6HHS:lnfOfm8tlon

'Secunty:Requlr6rn6nts
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